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(1)  These performance highlights represent the results of continuing operations. See Note 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on February 11, 2022 for further details.

(2)  Adjusted diluted earnings per share and free cash flow are non-GAAP financial measures. A reconciliation to the comparable GAAP financial measures 
can be found in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on February 11, 2022.

At a Glance
Founded in 1888, Hubbell Incorporated is a global manufacturer of high quality, reliable electrical 
products and utility solutions for a broad range of customer and end market applications in the 
Electrical and Utility Solutions Segments.

ELECTRICAL  
SOLUTIONS SEGMENT

NET SALES

Hubbell Electrical Solutions (“HES”) 
consists of businesses that design, 

manufacture, and sell stock and 
custom electrical products including 

wiring device products, rough-in 
electrical products, connector and 

grounding products, as well as other 
electrical equipment.

$1.9B

TOTAL SALES

$4.2B

UTILITY
SOLUTIONS SEGMENT

NET SALES

Hubbell Utility Solutions (“HUS”) 
consists of businesses that design, 

manufacture, and sell a wide 
variety of electrical distribution, 

transmission, substation, and 
telecommunications products.

$2.3B

OPERATIONS HIGHLIGHTS
(As of December 31, 2021)

HEADQUARTERS MANUFACTURING  
LOCATIONS

Shelton, CT 53
EMPLOYEES DISTRIBUTION CENTERS
19,300 14 10

COUNTRIES  
OF OPERATION

PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS(1)

2019

2020

2021

$3.7

$3.9

$4.2

Net Sales
($ Billions)

2019

2020

2021

$7.14

$7.25

$8.05

Adjusted Diluted EPS(2)

2019

2020

2021

$520

$430

$424

Free Cash Flow(2)

($ Millions)
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A Letter to Our Shareholders

(1)  Represents the results of continuing operations. See Note 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in our Annual Report on Form 
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on February 11, 2022 for further details. 

(2)  Adjusted diluted earnings per share and free cash flow are non-GAAP financial measures. A reconciliation to the comparable GAAP financial 
measures can be found in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our Annual Report on Form 
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on February 11, 2022.

Hubbell successfully navigated through 
a dynamic operating environment in 
2021. While the ongoing impacts of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and related supply 
chain disruption presented headwinds 
throughout the year, Hubbell demonstrated 
our resilience and commitment to execute 
on each of our strategic pillars. We achieved 
strong financial results in 2021 while 
reshaping our portfolio to generate value 
for our stakeholders and enabling Hubbell 
to more effectively deliver on our long-term 
strategy.

STRONG FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE(1)

In 2021, Hubbell generated sales of 
$4.2 billion, adjusted diluted earnings per 
share(2) of $8.05 and free cash flow(2) of 
$424 million. We increased our dividend 
by 7%, the 14th consecutive year over year 
increase by Hubbell. 

2021 HIGHLIGHTS
We completed the reorganization of our 
Electrical Solutions Segment that we 
commenced in 2020 by merging three 
separate operating groups into a single, 
unified segment. We also continued to 
integrate and grow the acquisitions we 
closed in late 2020 in both our Utility 
Solutions and Electrical Solutions segments.

We actively managed our portfolio in 2021 
to drive value for our stakeholders, most 
notably through the divestiture of our 
Commercial & Industrial (“C&I”) lighting 
business, which was announced in the 
fourth quarter and closed in February 
2022 for a sale price of $350 million. 
This represented the largest divestiture 
in Hubbell’s history, and creates a more 
focused portfolio with higher growth 
and margin characteristics. The proceeds 
from this transaction will enable us to 
deploy additional capital on behalf of 
our shareholders at attractive returns. 
Hubbell has a longstanding track record 
of effective capital deployment, which 
includes the successful integration of 
three 2020 bolt-on acquisitions across 
both segments.

Going forward, Hubbell has a highly 
focused portfolio with leading positions 
across the energy infrastructure. 

Strategically, we are committed to 
providing our customers with reliable and 
efficient critical infrastructure solutions 
in utility and electrical applications. We 
believe our portfolio sits at the intersection 
of two significant sustainability megatrends: 
grid modernization and electrification, 
and that Hubbell is uniquely positioned 
to assist our customers’ transition to a 
smarter, cleaner and more resilient electrical 
infrastructure.

In 2021, Hubbell issued its inaugural 
sustainability report (available on Hubbell.
com), which showcases not just our ongoing 
commitment to environmental, social and 
governance issues, but also demonstrates 
how Hubbell’s products and solutions 
further enable sustainability initiatives for 
our customers.

To ensure the continued success of our 
employees, we focused on employee 
development and inclusion while increasing 
our investment in mental health and 
wellbeing programs for our employees. We 
transitioned our office employees to hybrid 
work schedules, allowing them the ability to 
balance their work week with both in-office 
and work from home days. And this 
summer we held an enterprise-wide Global 
Recharge Day – a day for our employees 
around the world to relax and recharge. 

Hubbell was recognized by Ethisphere 
as one of the 2022 World’s Most Ethical 
Companies. This was the second time 
Hubbell has achieved this recognition and it 
reflects Hubbell employees’ commitment to 
doing the right thing every day.

LOOKING AHEAD
I am excited for 2022 and the opportunities 
that exist for our business. I look forward 
to continuing to execute on our strategy 
and delivering for each of our key 
stakeholders.

Thank you for your continued support.

Gerben W. Bakker
Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer

GERBEN W. BAKKER
Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Hubbell Incorporated

$424M 
Free Cash Flow(2)

$4.2B 
Net Sales

$8.05 
Adjusted diluted 
earnings per share(2)
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About Hubbell
 

Recognized for our innovation, quality, and deep commitment to serving our customers for over 
130 years, Hubbell Incorporated (“Hubbell”) is a best-in-class provider of high quality, reliable 
electrical and utility solutions for a broad range of customer and end market applications.

Our Strategy

Our strategic focus is on delivering a comprehensive suite of leading-edge, high-quality electrical 
and utility solutions. We seek to achieve this through acquisitions of complementary businesses 
in established markets, as well as by investing in new product development to help our existing 
products retain their market leadership. 

Our Solutions
Our reporting segments, Hubbell Utility Solutions (“HUS”) and Hubbell Electrical Solutions (“HES”), 
support the energy infrastructure and empower and energize communities through innovative 
solutions In Front Of The Meter, On The Edge, and Behind The Meter.

HUBBELL UTILITY SOLUTIONS HUBBELL ELECTRICAL SOLUTIONS

UTILITY TRANSMISSION DISTRIBUTION COMMUNICATIONS 
AND CONTROLS

DIVERSIFIED APPLICATIONS OWNER/OPERATOR

ELECTRlC NON-RESIDENTIAL

GAS RESIDENTIAL

WATER LIGHT INDUSTRIAL

TELECOM HEAVY INDUSTRIAL

IN FRONT OF THE METER

In Front of the Meter is where utilities transmit 
and distribute energy to their customers. This 
is the backbone of the grid.

ON THE EDGE

The Edge consists 
of smart meters 
and communication 
systems which 
connect utilities with 
owner / operators 
and allow energy and 
data to be distributed 
back and forth.

BEHIND THE METER

Behind the Meter is where owners and operators of 
buildings and other critical infrastructure consume 
energy.

http://Hubbell.com
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Sustainability at Hubbell

HUBBELL’S ESG AREAS OF FOCUS

Across our Company, we remain focused on embedding sustainability 
into our overall business strategy. Our environmental, social, and 
governance priorities reflect our commitment to energizing the 
communities that support us.

PRODUCTS WITH IMPACT 

We pride ourselves on delivering products and solutions that 
make critical infrastructure operate efficiently, safely, reliably, 
and sustainably. Our products:

•  Enable efficient use of natural resources across utility  
infrastructure

• Facilitate the transition to renewable energy

•  Increase energy efficiency in buildings and homes

•  Protect critical infrastructure for enhanced safety and  
resilience

HUBBELL’S  
SUSTAINABILITY GOALS

Reduce our absolute Scope  
1 and 2 greenhouse gas  
emissions by 10% by 2025, 
compared to a 2019 baseline

Reduce our absolute water 
consumption by 10% by 
2025, compared to a 2019 
baseline

ENVIRONMENTAL

Climate change

Energy & emissions

Water & waste

Products with impact

SOCIAL

Inclusion, diversity & equity

Employee health & safety

Employee recruitment,  
development & wellbeing

Community impact

Product quality & safety

Supply chain responsibility

GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance

Business ethics &  
integrity

Data privacy &  
cybersecurity

EXPANDING OUR ESG PROGRAM AND DISCLOSURES 

In 2021, Hubbell published its inaugural sustainability report (available 
on Hubbell.com). This milestone reflects our dedication to building 
a cohesive ESG strategy intended to drive long-term value and 
accountability through meaningful progress and transparent and 
credible disclosures.

The 2021 Sustainability Report(1) highlights Hubbell’s ESG strategies, 
programs, and progress toward our goals. Explore the report, and our 
2022 Sustainability Report(1) to learn more about our sustainability 
aspirations and accomplishments.

2021
SUSTAINABILITY 
REPORT

(1)  The information within the 2021 Sustainability Report, the 2022 Sustainability Report (available on Hubbell.com), and any other information on 
the Company’s sustainability webpage that Hubbell may refer to herein is not incorporated by reference into, and does not form any part of, this 
Annual Report. Any targets or goals discussed in our sustainability disclosures and within this Annual Report may be aspirational, and as such, no 
guarantees or promises are made that these goals will be met. Furthermore, statistics and metrics disclosed in our sustainability reports and the 
Company’s sustainability webpage are estimates and may be based on assumptions. We are under no obligation to update such information.
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Board of Directors

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

John G. Russell
Chairman of the Boards of 
CMS Energy Corporation and 
Consumers Energy Company 
(Electric and natural gas utility).

Board Committees:
 • Compensation, Chair
 • Executive
 • Finance
 • Nominating and 

Corporate Governance

9

Bonnie C. Lind
Retired Senior Vice President,  
Chief Financial Officer and 
Treasurer of Neenah, Inc.  
(Global manufacturer of  
technical specialties products, fine 
paper and packaging).

Board Committees:
 • Audit, Chair
 • Executive
 • Nominating and 

Corporate Governance

6

John F. Malloy
Chairman, Retired President  
and Chief Executive Officer of 
Victaulic Company (Mechanical 
pipe joining systems).

Board Committees:
 • Audit
 • Executive
 • Finance, Chair

7

Jennifer M. Pollino
Executive coach and consultant 
with JMPollino, LLC (Leadership 
development, talent management 
and succession planning firm).

Board Committees:
 • Audit
 • Compensation

8Gerben W. Bakker
Chairman, President and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company.

Board Committee:
 • Executive, Chair

1

Carlos M. Cardoso
Retired Chairman of Garrett 
Motion Inc. (Transportation 
systems).

Board Committees:
 • Compensation
 • Nominating and Corporate 

Governance

2

Anthony J. Guzzi
Chairman, President and Chief 
Executive Officer of EMCOR Group,  
Inc. (Mechanical, electrical construction 
and facilities services).

Board Committees:
 • Compensation
 • Executive, Lead Director
 • Finance
 • Nominating and 

Corporate Governance

3

Rhett A. Hernandez
President of CyberLens, LLC 
(Cybersecurity and strategic 
planning firm).

Board Committees:
 • Audit
 • Finance

4

Neal J. Keating
Retired Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer of Kaman 
Corporation (Aerospace and 
industrial distribution).

Board Committees:
 • Compensation
 • Executive
 • Nominating and Corporate 

Governance, Chair

5
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MEETING INFORMATION
Date and Time
Tuesday, May 3, 2022 at 9:00 a.m.

Location
Hubbell Incorporated
40 Waterview Drive, Shelton, CT 06484

Record Date
March 4, 2022

Notice of 2022 
Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY 
OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE ANNUAL MEETING OF 
SHAREHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON MAY 3, 2022.

This Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement 
and the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
the year ended 2021 are available at www.proxyvote.
com. Have your Notice of the Internet Availability of 
Proxy Materials or proxy card in hand when you go to 
the website.

You may revoke your proxy at any time prior to its use by 
any of the following methods:

	z Delivering to the Secretary of the Company written 
instructions revoking your proxy;

	z Delivering an executed proxy bearing a later date than your 
prior voted proxy; or

	z If you voted by Internet or telephone, by recording a 
different vote on the Internet website or by telephone.

If you hold your shares in street name, you must follow the 
instructions of your broker, bank or other nominee to revoke 
your voting instructions.

Items of Business
PROPOSAL 1  
Election of 9 directors.
PROPOSAL 2  
Say on Pay: advisory vote on the compensation of the named 
executive officers.
PROPOSAL 3  
Ratify the selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our 
independent registered public accounting firm for 2022.
In addition, any other business properly presented may be 
acted upon at the meeting. 

Record Date
If you were a shareholder of record at the close of business 
on March 4, 2022, you will be entitled to notice and to vote 
at the Annual Meeting.

By order of the Board,

Katherine A. Lane
Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 

March 21, 2022

Your proxy is being solicited for the Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders (the “Annual Meeting”) of Hubbell 
Incorporated ("Hubbell" or the "Company"), or any 
adjournment, continuation, or postponement of the 
Annual Meeting, on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
the Company (the “Board”). Hubbell pays the cost of 
soliciting your proxy. On March 21, 2022, we mailed a 
Notice of the Internet Availability of Proxy Materials to all 
shareholders of record advising that they could view all 
of the proxy materials (Proxy Statement, Proxy Card and 
Annual Report on Form 10-K) online at www.proxyvote.com 
free of charge, or request in writing a paper or email copy 
of the proxy materials free of charge. We encourage all 
shareholders to access their proxy materials online to 
reduce the environmental impact and cost of our proxy 
solicitation. You may request a paper or email copy of the 
materials using any of the following methods:

	z By Internet: Go to www.proxyvote.com  
	z By Phone: 1-800-579-1639 
	z By Email: sendmaterial@proxyvote.com

How To Vote 
Your vote is important. Please vote as soon as possible by 
one of the methods shown below. Make sure to have your 
proxy card, voting instruction form, or notice of Internet 
availability in hand and follow the instructions.

BY TELEPHONE
You can vote your shares toll-free by 
calling 1-800-690-6903.

ONLINE
You can vote your shares online at proxyvote.com.

BY MAIL
If you have requested a paper copy of the proxy 
materials, complete, sign, date and return your proxy 
card in the prepaid envelope.

IN PERSON
Shareholders who attend the Annual Meeting may request 
a ballot and vote in person. If you are a beneficial owner 
of shares, you must obtain a legal proxy from your broker, 
bank or record holder and present it to the inspectors of 
election with your ballot to be able to vote at the meeting.

BY SCANNING
You can vote your shares online by scanning the QR code 
on your proxy card. You will need the 16-digit control 
number on your proxy card.
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Proxy Summary
This Proxy Summary highlights selected information contained in this Proxy Statement. It does not contain all the information 
that you should consider to determine your vote. You should read the entire Proxy Statement carefully before voting.

Annual Shareholders Meeting

DATE: May 3, 2022

TIME: 9:00 a.m. 

MEETING AGENDA: The meeting will cover the proposals listed 
under voting matters and vote recommendations below, and 
any other business that may properly come before the meeting.

PLACE: Hubbell Incorporated,  
40 Waterview Drive, Shelton, CT 06484

RECORD DATE: March 4, 2022

MAILING DATE: This Proxy Statement was first mailed 
to shareholders on or about March 21, 2022.

VOTING: Shareholders as of the record date are entitled 
to vote. Each share of Common Stock of Hubbell 
Incorporated (the “Company’’) is entitled to one vote 
for each director nominee and one vote for each of the 
proposals.

Voting Matters and Vote Recommendations
A quorum is required to transact business at the Annual Meeting. The presence of the holders of Common Stock, in person 
or by proxy, representing a majority of the voting power of the Company’s outstanding shares constitutes a quorum for the 
Annual Meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes are counted as present for quorum purposes.

Proposal
Board’s Voting 

Recommendation Page

Proposal 1 –  Election of Directors  FOR 
each Nominee

13

Proposal 2 –  Advisory vote to approve Named Executive Officer (“NEO”) compensation 
                      (“Say on Pay” vote)  FOR 34

Proposal 3 –  Ratification of the selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2022  FOR 72

The Company does not intend to present any business at the Annual Meeting other than the items described in the Proxy 
Statement and has no information that others will do so. The proxies appointed by our Board of Directors (and named on your 
Proxy Card) will vote all shares as the Board recommends above, unless you instruct otherwise when you vote. If a matter not 
described in this Proxy Statement is properly presented at the Annual Meeting, the named proxies will have the discretion 
to vote your shares in their judgment.

Our Vision and Values
Hubbell is a global manufacturer of high quality, reliable electrical products and utility solutions for a broad range of customer 
and end market applications in the Electrical and Utility Solutions Segments. Hubbell is committed to doing business in ways 
that are principled, transparent and accountable to our shareholders. We believe doing so generates long-term value.

Our Vision is to be an exceptional supplier, a valued investment, and a rewarding
employer. Our commitment is underscored by the four pillars that guide us as a company.

 
SERVE  

OUR CUSTOMERS 

 
OPERATE  

WITH DISCIPLINE

  
GROW  

THE ENTERPRISE

 
DEVELOP  

OUR PEOPLE
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Proxy Summary

2021 Performance Highlights
We measure our progress not only in terms of our financial accomplishments, but in the best interests of our shareholders, 
suppliers, customers, employees and the communities in which we operate.

OPERATE 
WITH DISCIPLINE

We delivered on our commitments to shareholders.

Performance Summary(1) 

$3.7$3.9
$4.2

20202019 2021

$7.14$7.25
$8.05

20202019 2021

$430 $424

$520

20202019 2021

NET SALES
ADJUSTED DILUTED

EARNINGS PER SHARE(2)
FREE CASH FLOW(2)

$4.2 billion $8.05 $424 million 

(1) The performance summary represents the results of continuing operations. See Note 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on February 11, 2022 for 
further details.

(2) Adjusted diluted earnings per share and free cash flow are non-GAAP financial measures. A reconciliation to the comparable GAAP 
financial measures can be found in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on 
February 11, 2022.

OPERATE 
WITH DISCIPLINE

We executed a disciplined plan of capital deployment.

CAPITAL DEPLOYMENT 
($ Millions)

$90
Capital
Expenditures

$11
Share
Repurchases

$217
Dividends

  Announced 7% dividend increase.

  Deployed $217 million in dividends.

  Invested $90 million in high return capital 
expenditures.

● Investment in the Company   ● Return to Shareholders
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Portfolio Management

GROW 
THE ENTERPRISE

Hubbell executed on portfolio management in 2021 to create higher growth and 
margin characteristics for the Company.

As important as it is for Hubbell to grow our enterprise, we also recognize the importance of portfolio management and critically 
reviewing any businesses that may no longer be core to Hubbell’s strategy. In 2021, Hubbell completed the disposition of a small 
business in its Utility Solutions Segment and further announced the entry into a material definitive agreement to sell its commercial 
and industrial (‘‘C&I’’) lighting business in its Electrical Solutions Segment, which disposition closed on February 1, 2022. The sale 
of the C&I lighting business is the largest disposition in Hubbell’s history, with the sale closing with a cash purchase price of $350 
million, subject to customary adjustments with respect to working capital and net indebtedness. The C&I lighting business designs, 
manufactures, and sells LED lighting and control solutions for commercial and industrial customers and generated approximately 
$509 million in sales in 2021.

Delivering on our Strategy 

SERVE  
OUR CUSTOMERS

We streamlined our organizational structure to drive productivity and long-term 
growth for our shareholders.

	z Finalized the reorganization and realignment of the Hubbell Electrical Solutions Segment (formerly three operating  
groups into a single operating segment). 

	z Continued to drive new product development and renewed focus on large scale product innovation.
	z Expanded Hubbell’s digital commerce capabilities and launched a new customer satisfaction survey.

COVID-19 Actions 

DEVELOP  
OUR PEOPLE

The Company effectively navigated the global COVID-19 pandemic in 2021.

2021 was the second consecutive year Hubbell navigated the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on our employees, businesses 
and other stakeholders. In 2021, Hubbell experienced supply chain and sourcing issues, as well as labor pressures caused by 
COVID-19, but Hubbell mitigated these challenges while continuing to deliver our critical products to our customers.

Hubbell continued its enterprise-wide focus on safety measures and protocols relating to COVID-19 for our employees and at 
our locations. These included, but were not limited to, social distancing and enhanced cleaning protocols, PPE provision and 
guidance, quarantine and COVID-19 exposure protocols, enhanced site safety measures, vaccination and testing information and 
reporting. The Company conducted numerous training and development sessions across its sites to ensure continued compliance 
with evolving local, national and international laws and requirements. Hubbell also continued to have regularly scheduled steering 
committee meetings related to COVID-19 throughout the year led by senior leaders, as well as topic specific sub-committee 
reviews and updates led by cross-functional teams.

Global Recharge Day 

Hubbell is focused on supporting its employees.DEVELOP  
OUR PEOPLE

Recognizing the impact on our employees of the challenges faced in the last 2 years, Hubbell also made several additional 
investments in the health and wellness of our employees. We provided market competitive levels of sick pay leave and expanded 
our global wellness and mental health resources. To show appreciation for our employees’ efforts to serve our customers and 
deliver throughout the pandemic, we provided our employees around the world with a Global Recharge Day. This paid day off 
in July of 2021 allowed our employees time to relax, refresh and recharge, and was also an opportunity for our Company to 
reinforce the importance of time away from work and the importance of mental health and wellness to Hubbell.
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Proxy Summary

Corporate Governance Highlights

OPERATE 
WITH DISCIPLINE

The Board of Directors exercises strong corporate governance practices and principles.

Hubbell’s Board operates in accordance with its Corporate Governance Guidelines that establish its governance framework 
and processes. The Board remains focused on oversight and execution of Company strategy and review of enterprise risks, 
including: COVID-19, cybersecurity, financial performance, operational planning, talent, succession, human capital management, 
ESG, compliance and culture.

INDEPENDENT BOARD
8 of 9 Director nominees are 

independent, and the independent 
Lead Director has broad authority 

and leads sessions of the independent 
Directors at every Board meeting. All 
Board committees except one consist 

entirely of independent Directors. 
There are no related party transactions 

with our Directors.

VOTING RIGHTS
Each share of common stock is 

entitled to one vote. 

OVERSIGHT AND REVIEW
Hubbell’s Code of Business Conduct 
and Ethics applies to all Directors. 

The Board and each standing 
committee conduct annual self-

evaluations and make adjustments 
and enhancements as necessary. The 

Board takes seriously its oversight 
of the Company’s risk management, 
succession, strategy and compliance 

programs.

COMMITMENT
The Directors meet regularly in Board, 

Committee or Special Committee 
meetings. In 2021, we reached out 

to investors representing 66% of our 
outstanding common shares as well as 

proxy advisory firms and other third 
parties. All of our Directors attended 

the 2021 Annual Shareholder meeting.

COMPENSATION
Director compensation is reviewed 

and benchmarked annually with our 
independent compensation consultant. 
The majority of our Directors’ annual 

compensation is equity. There are 
stock ownership requirements in place 

for all Directors.

DIVERSITY
Director nominees are evaluated on 

their background and experience, with 
an overall commitment to diversity. 
33% of the Director nominees are 

diverse. 56% of the Director nominees 
have served for 10 years or less, with 

44% serving for 3 years or less.

Hubbell’s Board of Directors takes its role as stewards of corporate governance for the Company seriously and achieved a 97% 
attendance rate at meetings of the Board of Directors and Committees of which such Director served as a member in 2021. 
The Board recognized the significant changes the COVID-19 pandemic had on Hubbell and remained dedicated to ensuring 
there was ongoing review and oversight as the Company navigated the pandemic.

  CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY   SUSTAINABILITY

  The Board, as part of its typical annual reviews, revised 
and updated its Corporate Governance Guidelines and 
Committee charters to, among other things, memorialize 
the enhanced and regular oversight by the Board on 
cybersecurity, ESG, and human capital management.

  Published Hubbell’s inaugural sustainability report. 
This milestone reflects our dedication to building a 
cohesive ESG strategy intended to drive long-term value 
and accountability through meaningful progress and 
transparent and credible disclosures.

  Expanded the Board’s focus on succession planning and 
talent review.

  The Company’s climate change, sustainability and other 
ESG programs and strategy are reviewed and monitored 
regularly by the Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee (“NCGC”) and the Board.

 BOARD REFRESHMENT  CYBERSECURITY FOCUS

  Added a new Director to the Board, Mr. Rhett A. Hernandez, 
in March 2021, ensuring the continuing infusion of new 
talent and perspective to the Board. 

  Cybersecurity is regularly reviewed by the Board via its 
Audit Committee; the Company further increased its 
investment in and training on cybersecurity prevention 
measures and added a Director, Mr. Rhett A. Hernandez, 
with specific cybersecurity expertise.

 See additional details on page 20 .
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Sustainability

SERVE 
OUR CUSTOMERS

Hubbell is committed to all its stakeholders.

Hubbell’s commitment to incorporate social responsibility and sustainability initiatives has been a vital part of our business 
model for years. Our obligations to shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers and the communities we serve goes well 
beyond providing products and services: we have the opportunity to improve people’s lives and the world around us. With 
that ambition, however, comes a responsibility to view our core mission through an environmental, social and governance 
(“ESG”) lens. 

Hubbell’s focus on sustainability not only helps us identify and mitigate risk, but also helps us to uncover opportunities 
that drive our performance while enabling our many stakeholders to thrive. ESG is a critical part of Hubbell’s multi-year 
strategy. Hubbell’s Board reviews and discusses the Company’s ESG programs and related climate change and human capital 
management issues throughout the year.

Notable ESG achievements in 2021, include:

COMMUNITY DIVERSITY SAFETY CLIMATE CHANGE

174
CHARITIES AND 
NON-PROFITS 

THAT EMPLOYEES, 
DIRECTORS AND THE 
COMPANY DONATED 

TO OR VOLUNTEERED 
FOR IN 2021

PUBLICALLY 
DISCLOSED 

ENTERPRISE EEO-1 
LEVEL DIVERSITY DATA 

FOR THE FIRST TIME 

45%
DECREASE IN 

OVERALL TOTAL 
BY RECORDABLE 
INCIDENT RATE             

SINCE 2015 

MADE PROGRESS 
TOWARDS OUR GOALS 

OF 10% REDUCTION 
IN OUR GREENHOUSE 
GAS EMISSIONS AND 

WATER USAGE BY 2025  

2021
SUSTAINABILITY 
REPORT

EXPANDING OUR ESG PROGRAM AND DISCLOSURES
In 2021, Hubbell published its inaugural sustainability report (available on Hubbell.com). This milestone 
reflects our dedication to building a cohesive ESG strategy intended to drive long-term value and 
accountability through meaningful progress and transparent and credible disclosures.

The 2021 Sustainability Report(1) highlights Hubbell’s ESG strategies, programs, and progress toward 
our goals. Explore the report and our 2022 Sustainability Report(1) (available on Hubbell.com), to 
learn more about our sustainability aspirations and accomplishments.

RECOGNIZED AS ONE OF THE 2022 WORLD’S MOST ETHICAL COMPANIES
Hubbell was recognized by the Ethisphere Institute as one of the 2022 World’s Most Ethical Companies. 
This was the second time in a row Hubbell has been named to this list and it reflects the Company’s 
and our employee’s commitment to compliance and driving an ethical culture.

 See additional details on page 28 .

(1) The information within the 2021 Sustainability Report, the 2022 Sustainability Report (available on Hubbell.com), and any other 
information on the Company’s sustainability webpage that Hubbell may refer to herein is not incorporated by reference into and 
does not form any part of this Proxy Statement. Any targets or goals discussed in our sustainability disclosures and within this Proxy 
Statement may be aspirational, and as such, no guarantees or promises are made that these goals will be met. Furthermore, statistics 
and metrics disclosed in this Proxy Statement, our sustainability reports, and Hubbell’s sustainability webpage are estimates and may 
be based on assumptions. We are under no obligation to update such information.
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Proposal 1 Election of 9 Directors See pages 13-19 
for further information.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE  FOR EACH NOMINEE FOR A ONE-YEAR TERM.

The following table provides summary information about each of the nine Director nominees. Each Director is elected annually 
by a plurality of votes cast. Existing committee assignments of the Directors are described below. Each nominee is a current 
Director of the Company and possesses the qualifications and experience recommended by the Nominating and Corporate 
Governance Committee, and is approved by our Board to serve as a Director.

Our Director Nominees

AVERAGE TENURE

7.4
years

AVERAGE AGE

3
61-65
years

3
55-60
years

3
66+
years63

years

DIRECTOR NOMINEE 
COMPETENCIES AND PROFILES:

CEO Experience

●	●	●	●	●	●	●	●	●	  6

Financial Experience

●	●	●	●	●	●	●	●	●	  8

Gender or Ethnic Diversity

●	●	●	●	●	●	●	●	●	  3

Independence

●	●	●	●	●	●	●	●	●	  8

Manufacturing Experience

●	●	●	●	●	●	●	●	●	  8

Risk Management Experience

●	●	●	●	●	●	●	●	●	  9

Age 57

GERBEN W. BAKKER
Director since: 2020

Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Hubbell Incorporated
Committee: 
Executive (Chair)

Age 64

CARLOS M. CARDOSO
INDEPENDENT

Director since: 2013

Retired Chairman, Garrett 
Motion Inc.
Committees: 
Compensation, Nominating 
and Corporate Governance

Age 57

ANTHONY J. GUZZI
INDEPENDENT,  
LEAD DIRECTOR

Director since: 2006

Chairman, President and CEO, 
EMCOR Group, Inc.

Committees: 
Compensation, Executive, 
Finance, Nominating and 
Corporate Governance

Age 69

RHETT A. HERNANDEZ
INDEPENDENT

Director since: 2021

President, CyberLens, LLC
Committees: 
Audit, Finance

Age 66

NEAL J. KEATING
INDEPENDENT

Director since: 2010

Retired Chairman, President 
and CEO, Kaman Corporation

Committees: 
Compensation, Executive, 
Nominating and Corporate 
Governance (Chair)

Age 63

BONNIE C. LIND
INDEPENDENT

Director since: 2019

Retired SVP, CFO and 
Treasurer, Neenah, Inc.

Committees: 
Audit (Chair), Executive, 
Nominating and Corporate 
Governance

Age 67

JOHN F. MALLOY
INDEPENDENT

Director since: 2011

Chairman, Retired President 
and CEO, Victaulic Company

Committees: 
Audit, Executive, 
Finance (Chair)

Age 57

JENNIFER M. POLLINO
INDEPENDENT

Director since: 2020

Executive Coach and 
Consultant, JMPollino, LLC

Committees: 
Audit, Compensation

Age 64

JOHN G. RUSSELL
INDEPENDENT

Director since: 2011

Chairman of the Boards of 
CMS Energy Corporation,  
Consumers Energy Company

Committees: 
Compensation (Chair), 
Executive, Finance, Nominating 
and Corporate Governance
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Proposal 2 Say on pay: advisory vote on the compensation of 
the named executive officers.

See pages 34-58
for further information.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE  FOR THIS PROPOSAL.

Shareholder Engagement

SERVE 
OUR CUSTOMERS

Robust 2021 shareholder engagement process.

Hubbell’s 2021 advisory Say on Pay vote on executive compensation was 97%, consistent with votes we have previously received 
on Say on Pay, which averaged over 91% support for the last 10 years. The Board of Directors and Hubbell’s management 
team continue to focus on shareholders’ perspectives on our compensation programs and pay for performance philosophy 
and engage in a robust program of shareholder outreach.

In 2021, Hubbell reached out to our top 30 shareholders (representing approximately 66% of Hubbell’s share ownership). The 
calls were led by a cross-functional group of senior leaders and helped inform the Compensation Committee’s review of the 
executive compensation and sustainability programs, supplemented by additional advice and benchmarking provided by 
Hubbell’s independent compensation consultant, Exequity LLP.

Shareholder Outreach
In addition to the Say on Pay engagement calls described above, the Company also regularly engages with its shareholders 
over the course of a year on diverse topics such as financial performance, compensation and pay for performance matters, 
corporate governance and ESG (including climate change and human capital management). Even in the midst of the COVID-19 
pandemic, Hubbell continued its dialogue with shareholders via virtual conferences, and in-person meetings and calls. We are 
committed to not just continued engagement with our shareholders, but to reviewing and applying the feedback received, 
and have consistently modified our pay and ESG programs based on the feedback received in these sessions. Hubbell 
management routinely reports out to the Board and specific Board committees on the substance and nature of its shareholder 
communications.

Hubbell values the input and insight it receives from its investors.

How we engaged with investors
We invited our largest 30 shareholders (representing 66% of our share ownership) to discuss Hubbell’s pay for performance 
programs and design, sustainability programs, governance matters and strategy with senior leaders.

We regularly report our investors’ views to our Board of Directors, and the Compensation Committee considers these 
views when developing our executive compensation program.

We engage with analysts through quarterly conference calls, our investor relations website, meetings, calls and conferences.

We also conducted calls with shareholders on human capital management and sustainability focused issues.
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As a part of our shareholder outreach program, we heard many different points of view from our various shareholders. We 
listened intently to the feedback we heard, sought to understand the perspective of our shareholders and endeavored to be 
responsive to their input, as outlined in the following table.

What We Heard How We Responded

Interest in the impact of COVID-19 on 
Hubbell’s compensation programs 
and business.

All short and long-term awards for 2021 will be paid out according to the plan 
design and targets set by the Compensation Committee. No modifications or 
changes to Hubbell’s programs were made as a result of the challenging operating 
environment caused by the pandemic, demonstrating that our compensation 
program is well-balanced and aligns pay with performance.

Ensured market competitive levels of sick pay for our employees, while expanding 
wellness and mental health programs globally.

See page 5 for additional details about Hubbell’s programs relating to the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

Provide more disclosure on the ESG 
program.

Hubbell released its inaugural sustainability report in 2021 (available on Hubbell.com) 
that provides details on Hubbell’s ESG program commitments and products that 
help drive a more sustainable future. See page 29 for additional details.

Compensation program is well-
designed, and shareholders have 
preference for a program that 
is designed to reward strategic 
performance and shareholder return.

Each planned change for 2021 was reviewed and discussed with shareholders 
during our outreach in 2020. Following those sessions, we implemented planned 
enhancements to the compensation program at the beginning of 2021, specifically:

(1)  Added a strategic component (of 20%) to the short-term incentive metric 
for the new CEO, aligning such design with the design of the balance of the 
NEOs and intended to further drive strategic priorities such as ESG, diversity, 
safety and acquisitions; and

(2)  Simplified and enhanced our Long-Term performance share program (see page 
38 for more details), increasing the importance of total shareholder return in 
the design. Shareholder feedback was supportive of the design changes made 
for 2021, with no other compensation design recommendations for 2022.

Ensure that compensation programs 
are aligned with shareholder 
interests. 

75% of Hubbell’s awards are performance based. In addition, we elevated the role of 
Relative Total Shareholder Return in our Long-Term performance share program by 
moving it from a modifier of the other metrics to represent 1/3rd of the overall award.

 See additional details on our shareholder outreach and engagement on page 25  .

Executive Compensation Highlights
DEVELOP 
OUR PEOPLE

Our compensation program is designed around pay for performance, informed by 
our shareholder engagement.

Elements of Compensation
Hubbell compensated its named executive officers (“NEOs”) using the following elements for total direct compensation in 2021:

Target Compensation Mix

Targeted 
at 50th 

percentile 
of peers

Element Description CEO Other NEOs

Salary A competitive level of cash is provided to attract and retain 
executive talent.

16% 27%

Annual Cash  
Incentive

Amounts awarded based on achievements with respect to the 
Company’s financial goals and individual performance against 
strategic objectives.

17% 22%

Long-Term 
Equity Incentive

A mix of equity awards designed to drive Hubbell’s performance and 
align executives’ interests with shareholders. 75% of equity awards 
are performance-based.

67% 51%
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Pay for Performance
Hubbell’s compensation program is designed to achieve the following pay for performance objectives:

Align executive pay to our Company performance and drive our business strategy. 

Attract and retain key talent. 

Align the interests of executives with our shareholders by utilizing effective pay for performance. 

Deliver competitive and fair compensation.

WE 
HEARD 
YOU Short and Long-Term Incentives

 Incentive Programs Changes For 2021 
Hubbell made the following changes to its compensation programs for 2021, based on both what we heard from shareholders 
in 2020, as well as our experience managing through the pandemic environment:

CEO SHORT 
TERM  

INCENTIVE 
COMPENSATION

Added a component representing performance on strategic initiatives, at 20% weighting, to our 
CEO’s STI design. This change allows the Compensation Committee to further prioritize and 
appropriately reward performance on critical metrics including inclusion & diversity, sustainability / 
ESG and acquisitions.

LONG TERM  
INCENTIVE  

FOR ALL NEOs

Simplified the performance share grant (while maintaining the weighting at 50% of the overall 
equity award) to include 3 metrics (versus prior design of 3 metrics plus a modifier).

Replaced Trade Working Capital as % of Sales with Relative Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”). 
This change elevates the role of TSR in the program to ensure internal performance objectives are 
aligned with shareholder return and provides balance between relative and absolute performance.

For 2021, the payout scale for relative metrics will be aligned to a quartile payout approach.

We believe these changes continue to drive our overall pay for performance philosophy and allow greater focus on Hubbell’s 
strategic imperatives.

 Short-Term Incentive Design for CEO
For 2021, the Compensation Committee added a component to the CEO’s short-term incentive award design representing 
performance on strategic initiatives, at 20% weighting. This change is illustrated below.

EPS

Strategic 
Initiatives

FCF

FCF

EPS

2020 2021

20%

80%

65%

35%

This change allows the Compensation Committee to further prioritize and appropriately reward performance on critical 
metrics including inclusion & diversity, sustainability / ESG and acquisitions. Additionally, this design ensures alignment with 
the performance goals of the other NEOs, who already have a portion of their annual bonus (20%) tied to strategic initiatives 
and objectives. 
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WE 
HEARD 
YOU

Performance Share Metrics - relevant to our Strategy and aligned with investors

The design changes to the Performance Share program elevate the role of TSR, provides a balanced portfolio of metrics utilized 
in the short and long-term program, and ensures a combination of relative and absolute metrics in the program. This change is 
illustrated below.

METRIC
2020 

Weighting
2021 

Weighting

RELATIVE SALES GROWTH 1/3rd 1/3rd
No change – continued focus on Hubbell’s growth initiatives, 
including organic growth, new product development, and 
acquisition performance.

OPERATING PROFIT 
MARGIN 1/3rd 1/3rd

No change – focuses NEOs on improving pricing, productivity 
and cost while executing operational objectives including 
footprint optimization and product rationalization.

RELATIVE TSR Modifier 1/3rd   Elevated from modifier to metric in 2021, ensuring a 
more critical and direct link with shareholders.

TRADE WORKING CAPITAL 
AS A % OF SALES 1/3rd N/A   Removed from long term incentive program to ensure 

simplicity and focus.

Specific details on these metrics may be found on pages 38-39 in the Compensation Discussion & Analysis section.

The 2021 changes to our compensation program are based on feedback from our shareholders 
and are focused on the metrics and priorities most critical to Hubbell’s long-term success.

Proposal 3
Ratification of the selection of Pricewaterhouse 
Coopers LLP as the Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm for 2022.

See pages 72-74
for further information.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE  FOR THIS PROPOSAL.
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1PROPOSAL 1: 
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Director Qualifications and Experience

Proposal 1  Election Of Directors
The Board has fixed the number of Directors who shall be elected by the shareholders at the 2022 Annual Meeting at 9. The 
reduction in the size of the Board reflects the untimely and recent death of one of our Directors, Mr. Steven R. Shawley.

Each Director nominee possesses the appropriate qualifications and experience for 
membership on the Board of Directors.

Director Qualifications and Experience 
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (“NCGC”) works with the Board at least annually to determine the 
appropriate characteristics, skills and experience for the Board and its individual members to properly oversee the interests 
of the Company and its shareholders. 

The NCGC recommends candidates for Board membership using the selection criteria outlined in the Corporate Governance 
Guidelines (the “Guidelines”) and other factors it deems necessary to fulfill its objectives. Candidates are evaluated on the 
basis of their individual qualifications and experience and in the context of the Board as a whole. The NCGC considers diversity 
when creating the pool of candidates from which it selects potential Director nominees. Such diversity includes gender, race 
and ethnicity. The objective is to assemble a diverse Board that can best facilitate the success of the business and represent 
shareholder interests through the exercise of sound judgment.

Below is a list of certain of the qualifications and experiences sought by the NCGC in recommending candidates for nomination 
to the Board:

	z Ability to make independent analytical inquiries 
	z Marketing, finance, operations, manufacturing, or other relevant public company experience 
	z Financial literacy 
	z Professional background 
	z Education 
	z Corporate governance experience 
	z Experience as a current or former public company officer 
	z Experience in the Company’s industry 
	z Academic expertise in areas of the Company’s operations
	z Cybersecurity experience

In determining whether to recommend a current Director for re-election, the NCGC will also consider past attendance at 
meetings, service on other boards and participation in and contribution to Board activities.

Each Director nominee possesses the appropriate qualifications and experience for membership on the Board of Directors. 
As a result, the Board is comprised of individuals with strong and unique backgrounds, giving the Board competence and 
experience in a wide variety of areas to serve the interests of the Company and its shareholders.
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1 PROPOSAL 1: 
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Commitment to Board Integrity, Diversity and Independence

The Board is committed to refreshment and selection of talented candidates.

Commitment to Board Integrity, Diversity and Independence
In addition to ensuring that our Director nominees possess the requisite skills and qualifications, the NCGC places an emphasis 
on ensuring that the nominees demonstrate the right leadership traits, personality, work ethic, independence, diversity of skills 
and experiences to align with our performance culture and our long-term strategic vision. Specifically, these criteria include:

	z Exemplification of the highest standards of personal and professional integrity 
	z Potential contribution to the diversity and culture of the Board
	z Ability to devote sufficient time to performing their Board and committee duties 
	z Independence from management 
	z Willingness to constructively challenge management through active participation in Board and committee meetings 
	z Subject matter expertise

The NCGC also believes that, in addition to diversity of personal characteristics and experiences, diversity of service tenures 
and Board refreshment also facilitates effective Board oversight. The NCGC demonstrated its continued focus on Board 
refreshment and on selecting diverse candidates with Mr. Hernandez’s appointment to the Board in March, 2021. 

The Board nominated nine candidates for election as Directors.

Nomination and Election Process 
Hubbell’s Directors are elected at each Annual Meeting of Shareholders and hold office for one-year terms or until their 
successors are duly elected and qualified. The Board of Directors nominated nine candidates for election as Directors. In the 
event that any of the nominees for Director should become unavailable, it is intended that the shares represented by the 
proxies will be voted for any substitutes nominated by the Board of Directors, unless the number of Directors constituting 
the full Board is reduced.

In searching for qualified Director candidates for election to the Board and to fill vacancies on the Board, the Board may 
solicit current Directors or members of executive management for the names of potentially qualified candidates, consult 
with outside advisors, retain a Director search firm or consider nominees suggested by shareholders. All Director candidates, 
including any Director candidates recommended by shareholders, are reviewed and evaluated by the NCGC in relation to the 
specific qualifications and experience sought by the Board for membership (as discussed in the “Director Qualifications and 
Experience” section on page 13), and the Board’s needs at that time. A candidate whose qualifications and experience align 
with this criteria is then interviewed by members of the NCGC, other Board members and executive management to further 
assess the candidate’s qualifications and experience and determine if the candidate would be an appropriate fit. Candidates 
may be asked to submit additional information to support their potential nomination and references may be requested. If the 
Board approves of the NCGC recommendation, the candidate is then nominated for election by the Company’s shareholders 
or appointed by the Board to fill a vacancy, as applicable.

Any shareholder who intends to recommend a candidate to the NCGC for consideration as a Director nominee should deliver 
written notice, which must include the same information requested by Article I, Section 11(A) (2) of our By-Laws, to the 
Secretary of the Company. Any such notice should be delivered to the Company sufficiently in advance of the Company’s 
annual meeting to permit the NCGC to complete its review in a timely fashion.

Directors are elected by plurality vote. Plurality means that the nominees who receive the most votes cast “FOR” their election 
are elected as Directors. Votes withheld and broker non-votes will not affect the election of Directors. Pursuant to the terms 
of our Director Resignation Policy, any Director in an uncontested election who receives more votes “withheld” from his or 
her election than votes “for” his or her election must promptly tender his or her resignation to the Board. See page 25 for 
additional details on this Policy. Broker discretionary voting is not allowed, so if your shares are held by a broker and you have 
not instructed the broker how to vote, your shares will not be voted with respect to Proposal 1.

THE BOARD UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE  FOR THE ELECTION OF EACH OF THE 
DIRECTOR NOMINEES FOR A ONE-YEAR TERM.
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ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Director Nominees

All of the nominees are current Directors previously elected by the Company’s shareholders.

Director Nominees
The nominees are proposed by the Board to stand for election at the 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and to serve 
as Directors until the 2023 Annual Meeting. All of the nominees are current Directors previously elected by the Company’s 
shareholders. 

Our Director nominees offer a diverse range of skills and experiences in relevant areas.

Skills and Experience
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Public Company Board Experience 
(other than Hubbell) ● ● ● ● ● ● 67%

Business Development and Strategy ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 100%

CEO ● ● ● ● ● ● 67%

Cybersecurity and Technology ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 78%

Financial ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 89%

Global Experience ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 89%

Manufacturing ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 89%

Risk Management ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 100%

Background

Years on Hubbell Board 2 9 16 1 12 3 11 2 11 7.4 years 
Average

Age 57 64 57 69 66 63 67 57 64 63 years 
Average

Gender or Ethnic Diversity ● ● ● 33%

Born Outside of the U.S. ● ● 22%
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ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Director Nominees

The following biographies provide certain information about each nominee, including each nominee’s background, age as of 
the annual meeting, and relevant experience in more detail. 

Age 57

Director 
since: 2020

Chairman, 
President and 
CEO, Hubbell 
Incorporated

GERBEN W. BAKKER
Committees:

	z Executive (Chair)

Directorship:
	z None

Skills and Qualifications:
Mr. Bakker brings to the Board extensive financial, operational and strategic planning 
experience and a strong background in the manufacturing industry, including:

	z Served as the Company’s President and COO from June 2019 prior to his appointment 
to CEO in October 2020.

	z Served as President of Hubbell Power Systems from 2014 until June 2019.
	z As President of Hubbell Power Systems, Mr. Bakker oversaw a multi-year period 
of strong performance and built an industry-leading electrical transmission and 
distribution components business.

	z Led Hubbell Power Systems through 12 acquisitions, including Aclara (the Company’s 
largest to date) in 2018, growing the organization from $921 million in net sales to 
$1.8 billion in net sales in four years. 

	z Member of the Board of Trustees of Manufacturers Alliance. 

Mr. Bakker has served as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since May 2021 and President and 
Chief Executive Officer and a Director of the Company since October 2020. Previously, he served as the Company’s President 
and Chief Operating Officer from June 2019. He served as President of Hubbell Power Systems from 2014 until June 2019. 
Mr. Bakker began his career with Hubbell Incorporated in 1988 as a manufacturing engineer with Hubbell Wiring Systems.

Age 64

Director 
since: 2013

INDEPENDENT

CARLOS M. CARDOSO
Committees:

	z Compensation
	z Nominating 
and Corporate 
Governance

Directorships:
	z Freudenberg 
Group, since 2021

	z Stanley Black &  
Decker, Inc., 
since 2007

Prior Directorships
	z Garrett Motion Inc., 
2018 - 2021

Skills and Qualifications:
Mr. Cardoso brings to the Board CEO, COO, manufacturing, international business, and 
public company board experience, including:

	z Significant manufacturing and operations experience having served as President 
of the Pump Division of Flowserve Corporation, a manufacturer/provider of flow 
management products and services; Vice President and General Manager, Engine 
Systems and Accessories, for Honeywell International, Inc., a technology and 
manufacturing company; and Vice President Manufacturing Operations for Colt’s 
Manufacturing Company, LLC, a maker of firearms.

	z Membership on the board of Stanley Black & Decker, Inc., a public company and a 
diversified global provider of hand and power tools and accessories.

	z Formerly served as Chairman of the board of Garrett Motion Inc., a public company 
and a provider of transportation systems.

Mr. Cardoso has served as the principal of CMPC Advisors LLC, an investment advisory firm, since January 2015. He previously 
served as Chairman of Garrett Motion Inc. from July 2018 to April 2021 and Chairman of Kennametal, Inc. (publicly traded 
manufacturer of metalworking tools and wear-resistant products) from January 2008 until December 2014. He also served as 
President and Chief Executive Officer of Kennametal from January 2006 until December 2014. Mr. Cardoso joined Kennametal in 
2003 and served as Vice President, Metalworking Solutions and Services Group and then as Executive Vice President and Chief 
Operating Officer before he became President and Chief Executive Officer. 
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Director Nominees

Age 57

Director 
since: 2006

INDEPENDENT

LEAD DIRECTOR

ANTHONY J. GUZZI
Committees:

	z Compensation
	z Executive
	z Finance 
	z Nominating 
and Corporate 
Governance

Directorships:
	z Emcor Group, Inc., 
since 2009

Skills and Qualifications: 
Mr. Guzzi brings to the Board CEO, COO, manufacturing, strategic development, 
operations, consulting and public company board experience, including:

	z Serving as Chairman, President and CEO of EMCOR Group, Inc., a publicly traded 
mechanical, electrical construction, and facilities services company.

	z Extensive experience in manufacturing and distribution having served as President, 
North American Distribution and Aftermarket and President, Commercial Systems and 
Services of Carrier Corporation, a subsidiary of United Technologies Corporation.

	z Past experience as an engagement manager with McKinsey & Company, a prominent 
management consulting firm.

Mr. Guzzi has served as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of EMCOR Group, Inc. (a publicly traded mechanical, 
electrical construction, and facilities services company) since June 2018. Previously, he was President and Chief Executive 
Officer and a Director of EMCOR from January 2011 to June 2018 and President and Chief Operating Officer from 2004 to 
2010. He also served as President, North American Distribution and Aftermarket of Carrier Corporation (HVAC and refrigeration 
systems), a subsidiary of United Technologies Corporation from 2001 to 2004 and President, Commercial Systems and Services 
in 2001.

Age 69

Director 
since: 2021

INDEPENDENT

RHETT A. HERNANDEZ
Committees:

	z Audit
	z Finance

Directorships:
	z USAA Federal 
Savings Bank, 
since 2019

Skills and Qualifications:
Mr. Hernandez brings to the Board significant cybersecurity expertise and strong strategic 
and operational leadership experience as a retired Lieutenant General of the United 
States Army, including:

	z President and founder of CyberLens, LLC, a cybersecurity consulting company.
	z Current Cyber Chair for the United States Military Academy.
	z Served as the first commander of the United States Army’s Cyber Command/2nd 
US Army (ARCYBER) where he was responsible for the operations, defense and risk 
management of the Army’s networks, systems, and cyber security organization.

	z Prior U.S Army commands include the Deputy Chief of Staff, Army Operations; 
Chief, U.S. Military Training Mission, Saudi Arabia; and Commanding General, Human 
Resources Command.

	z Serves on the Board of Directors of USAA Federal Savings Bank.

Mr. Hernandez has served as the President of CyberLens, LLC (a consulting company that focuses on cybersecurity, strategic 
planning, and risk management) since 2013. Previously he served in the United States Army for almost forty years, rising to the 
rank of Lieutenant General at the time of his retirement.

Age 66

Director 
since: 2010

INDEPENDENT

NEAL J. KEATING
Committees:

	z Compensation
	z Executive
	z Nominating 
and Corporate 
Governance (Chair)

Directorships:
	z Form Technologies, 
since 2021

Prior Directorships:
	z Kaman Corporation, 
2007 - 2021

Skills and Qualifications:
Mr. Keating brings to the Board an extensive history of senior executive leadership and 
board experience and a strong background in international operations, distribution, and 
mergers and acquisitions, including:

	z Formerly served as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Kaman 
Corporation, a publicly traded aerospace and industrial distribution company.

	z Served as President and CEO of Kaman Corporation from 2008 to August 2020.
	z Past experience as COO of Hughes Supply and Executive Vice President and COO of 
Rockwell Collins, Commercial Systems.

	z Former Managing Director and CEO of GKN Aerospace and Director of GKN plc, an 
international aerospace, automotive and land systems business.

	z Member of the Board of Trustees of Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University.

Mr. Keating served as the Executive Chairman of the Board of Kaman Corporation (a publicly traded aerospace and industrial 
distribution company) from 2008 to April 2021. Previously, he held the position of President and Chief Executive Officer of 
Kaman Corporation from 2008 to August 2020 and President and Chief Operating Officer of Kaman Corporation from 2007 to 
2008. From 2004 to 2007, he held the position of Chief Operating Officer of Hughes Supply (a wholesale distributor acquired 
by Home Depot).
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Age 63

Director 
since: 2019

INDEPENDENT

AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 
FINANCIAL 
EXPERT

BONNIE C. LIND
Committees:

	z Audit (Chair)
	z Executive
	z Nominating 
and Corporate 
Governance

Directorships:
	z Mission Produce, 
Inc., since May 
2020

	z Tamarack 
Timberlands LLC, 
since January 2022

Prior Directorships:
	z U.S. Silica Holdings, 
Inc., 2019 - 2021

	z Federal Signal 
Corporation,  
2014 - 2018

	z Empire District 
Electric Company, 
2009 - 2017

Skills and Qualifications:
Ms. Lind brings to the Board CFO, Treasurer, financing, manufacturing, mergers and 
acquisitions, and public company board experience, including:

	z Served as Senior Vice President, CFO and Treasurer of Neenah, Inc., a global 
manufacturer of technical specialties products, fine paper and packaging from 
June 2004 until October 2020. 

	z Past experience as Assistant Treasurer of Kimberly-Clark Corporation, a manufacturer 
of personal care, consumer tissue and health care products.

	z Membership on the Board of Mission Produce, Inc., a publicly traded worldwide 
avocado business.

	z Formerly served on the Board of U.S. Silica Holdings, Inc., a publicly traded 
performance materials company and one of the largest domestic producers of 
commercial silica.

	z Formerly served on the Board of Federal Signal Corporation, a publicly traded 
international designer and manufacturer of products and solutions that serves 
municipal, governmental, industrial and commercial customers.

	z Formerly served on the Board of Empire District Electric Company, a utility generating, 
transmitting and distributing power to southwestern Missouri and adjacent areas.

Ms. Lind served as Senior Vice President, CFO and Treasurer of Neenah, Inc. (a publicly traded technical specialties and fine 
paper company) from June 2004 to October 2020. Previously, Ms. Lind held a variety of increasingly senior financial and 
operations positions with Kimberly-Clark Corporation from 1982 until 2004.

Age 67

Director 
since: 2011

INDEPENDENT

AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 
FINANCIAL 
EXPERT

JOHN F. MALLOY
Committees:

	z Audit
	z Executive
	z Finance (Chair)

Directorship:
	z Victaulic Company, 
since 2006

Skills and Qualifications:
Mr. Malloy brings to the Board many years of senior management, operations, economic 
and strategic planning experience having served as the CEO and COO of a global 
manufacturing and distribution company, including:

	z Serving as Executive Chairman of the board of Victaulic Company, a privately held 
mechanical pipe joining systems company.

	z Served as President and CEO of Victaulic Company, a leading worldwide 
manufacturing company, from 2006 to January 2021.

	z Over fifteen years of experience in various senior level strategic planning positions at 
United Technologies Corporation.

	z Holds a Ph.D. in economics and has taught courses in Economics at Hamilton College.

Mr. Malloy has served as the Executive Chairman of the Board of Victaulic Company (a privately held mechanical pipe joining 
systems company) since January 2021. Previously, he held the position of Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer from 
2006 to January 2021, President and Chief Executive Officer from 2004 to 2006, and President and Chief Operating Officer 
from 2002 to 2004.
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Director Nominees

Age 57

Director 
since: 2020

INDEPENDENT

AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 
FINANCIAL 
EXPERT

JENNIFER M. POLLINO
Committees:

	z Audit
	z Compensation

Directorships:
	z Crane Co., 
since 2013

	z Kaman Corporation, 
since 2015

Prior Directorship:
	z Wesco Aircraft 
Holdings, Inc.  
2014 - 2020

Skills and Qualifications:
Ms. Pollino brings to the Board extensive senior management experience, public company 
board experience and a strong background in accounting, finance, corporate governance, 
intellectual capital, and organizational issues, including:

	z Serving as an executive coach and consultant with JMPollino, LLC since July 2012.
	z Over 20 years in senior executive and general management roles with a leading 
aerospace products company.

	z Past experience in finance and accounting as Vice President, Finance and Controller of 
two Goodrich Corporation divisions and Controller of a savings and loan association.

	z Certified Public Accountant.
	z Serving as a Director on the Board of Teach for America - North Carolina.
	z Member of the Advisory Board of University of North Carolina - Charlotte, Belk College 
of Business since 2010.

	z Serving as a Director of the National Association of Corporate Directors - Carolinas 
Chapter.

Ms. Pollino has served as an executive coach and consultant with JMPollino LLC, a leadership development, talent management 
and succession planning firm since July 2012. Previously she served as Executive Vice President, Human Resources and 
Communications, at Goodrich Corporation from February 2005 to July 2012, when Goodrich Corporation was acquired by 
United Technologies Corporation. Prior to that, she served in various other positions of increasing responsibility during her 
20-year tenure with Goodrich Corporation.

Age 64

Director 
since: 2011

INDEPENDENT

JOHN G. RUSSELL
Committees:

	z Compensation 
(Chair)

	z Executive
	z Finance
	z Nominating 
and Corporate 
Governance

Directorships:
	z CMS Energy 
Corporation, 
since 2010

	z Consumers 
Energy Company, 
since 2010

Skills and Qualifications:
Mr. Russell brings to the Board many years of experience as a public company executive 
officer and Director in the utility industry and possesses a strong background in operations, 
regulated utilities and governance, including:

	z Serving as Chairman of the Boards of CMS Energy Corporation (“CMS”) and 
Consumers Energy Company (“Consumers”) and as a Director for over fifteen years in 
the aggregate.

	z Serving as the President and CEO of CMS and Consumers and previously as COO.
	z Over thirty years of both hands-on and leadership experience in the utility industry, an 
industry that represents a significant part of the Company’s overall business.

Mr. Russell has served as the Chairman of the Boards of CMS and Consumers (a publicly traded electric and natural gas utility) 
since May 2016. Previously he served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of CMS and Consumers from 2010 to 2016. He 
also held the position of President and Chief Operating Officer of Consumers from 2004 to 2010.
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Corporate Governance
The Board exercises strong corporate governance practices and principles.

The Board of Directors has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines (the “Guidelines”) to assist the Board in the exercise 
of its responsibilities and to best serve the interests of the Company and its shareholders. The Guidelines reflect the Board’s 
commitment to good governance through the establishment of policies and procedures in areas it believes are critical to the 
enhancement of shareholder value. It is the Board’s intention that these Guidelines serve as a framework within which the 
Board can discharge its duties and foster the effective governance of the Company. The Board of Directors met 8 times in 2021.

Governance Snapshot

Shareholders have identical economic and voting rights - each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote.

Directors are elected annually by shareholders to serve a one-year term.

Corporate funds or resources are not used for direct contributions to political candidates or campaigns.

Independent Board members meet regularly in Executive Sessions, without management present.

 44% of our Board has a tenure of three years or less.

To maintain a diverse Board, Director nominees are evaluated on their background and experience and also gender, 
race and ethnicity.

Director compensation is reviewed annually with advice from our independent compensation consultant and 
benchmarked for competitiveness.

There are no related party transactions with our Directors, officers, and significant shareholders.

Our Director Resignation Policy requires any Director who fails to receive a majority of the votes cast to promptly 
tender his or her resignation.

Board and committees may hire outside advisors independent from management.

The Board receives regular reports and updates on key areas of strategy and risk for the Company, including, but not 
limited to, cybersecurity, climate change and ESG, and human capital management. 

The Board engages in a multi-part self-evaluation review on an annual basis in which Board and Committee matters 
are reviewed and discussed, and changes and improvements are implemented.
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Board Leadership Structure 

An independent Lead Director counterbalances a non-independent Chair and fosters effective 
collaboration and communication among independent Directors.

Chair
The Company’s By-Laws require the Board to choose the Chair of the Board from among the Directors and provides the 
Board with the ability to appoint the CEO of the Company as the Chair of the Board. This approach gives the Board the 
necessary flexibility to determine whether these positions should be held by the same person or by separate persons based 
on the leadership needs of the Company at any particular time. The Board believes that there is no single, generally accepted 
approach to providing board leadership, and that each of the possible leadership structures for a board must be considered 
in the context of the individuals involved and the specific circumstances facing a company at any given time. Accordingly, 
the optimal board leadership structure for a particular company may vary as circumstances change.

Mr. Bakker has served as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since May 4, 2021 when he was elected 
by the Board to serve as Chairman following the retirement of former Executive Chairman Mr. David G. Nord on such date. 

The Board has determined that combining the roles of Chief Executive Officer and Chair is best for the Company and its 
shareholders at this time because it promotes unified leadership for the Company under Mr. Bakker and allows for a single, 
clear focus for management to execute the Company’s strategic and business plans while being appropriately counterbalanced 
by an independent Lead Director.

Independent Lead Director
The Board has established the position of an independent Lead Director to serve a three-year term. The Board believes that 
a three-year term is appropriate for the Lead Director as it affords greater continuity and allows the Lead Director to gain a 
better understanding of Board and management dynamics and build relationships with the other Directors. The Lead Director 
is responsible for:

Board Leadership Providing leadership to the Board in situations where the Chair’s role may be perceived to be 
in conflict.

Executive Sessions Coordinating the agenda and chairing executive sessions of the independent Directors regularly 
throughout the year and at each regularly scheduled Board meeting.

Liaison Regularly meeting with the Chair and facilitating communications among the Chair, management and 
the independent Directors.

Spokesperson Upon request, acting as the spokesperson for the Board in interactions with third parties.
Succession Working with the NCGC and the Chair to review, refresh and oversee the Company’s succession plans.

Currently, Mr. Guzzi is the Lead Director and is expected to hold this position until the 2022 Annual Meeting. Following the 
2022 Annual Meeting, the Board shall, upon recommendation from the NCGC, appoint a Director for the next three-year 
Lead Director term. The Board believes that its present leadership structure and composition provides for independent and 
effective oversight of the Company’s business and affairs. The Board consists of current or former CEOs, CFOs, COOs or 
senior executives of major companies in similar industries or military leaders, and its Audit, Compensation, and Nominating 
and Corporate Governance Committees are composed entirely of Directors who meet the independence requirements of 
the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”). Mr. Bakker is the only Director who is a member of executive management. Given 
the strong leadership of Mr. Bakker as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, the counterbalancing role of the 
Lead Director, and a Board comprised of effective and independent Directors, the Board believes that its current leadership 
structure is appropriate at this time.
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Director Independence 

Our Board consists of a majority of independent Directors and our Audit, 
Compensation, Finance and NCG committees of the Board are 100% independent.

The Guidelines indicate that the Board shall be composed of a majority of independent Directors. Eight of our nine current Directors 
are independent, and Mr. Shawley was independent during his service in 2021 and 2022. In evaluating the independence of Directors, 
each year the NCGC reviews all direct and indirect relationships between Directors (either directly or as a partner, shareholder or 
officer of an organization that has a relationship with the Company or any of its subsidiaries) and the Company and its subsidiaries 
in accordance with the rules of the NYSE and the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and considers whether any 
relationship is material. The NCGC also reviews responses to annual questionnaires completed by each of the Directors, a report of 
transactions with Director-affiliated entities, Code of Conduct compliance certifications, case submissions filed with the Company’s 
confidential compliance communication resource and Company donations to charitable organizations with which a Director may be 
affiliated. The Harvey Hubbell Foundation’s various matching gift programs are available to all Directors, officers and employees and 
such programs match eligible donations made and volunteer hours served to qualifying charitable organizations and educational 
institutions in a calendar year up to: (i) $25,000 in the aggregate in cash donations and (ii) such other amounts, as applicable, in 
connection with the Foundation’s Dollars for Doers matching volunteer hours program, subject to various requirements.

The NCGC considered the nature and dollar amounts of the transactions with Directors and determined that none was required 
to be disclosed or otherwise impaired the applicable Director’s independence as all of these ordinary course transactions 
were significantly below the NYSE bright-line independence thresholds. As a result of this review, the Board determined that 
each of the current Directors is independent other than Mr. Bakker. In addition, the Board determined that Mr. Nord, who 
served as Executive Chairman of the Board until May 4, 2021, but did not stand for re-election at the 2021 Annual Meeting, 
was not independent during the period in which he served as a Director. In evaluating and determining the independence of 
the Directors, the NCGC considered that in the ordinary course of business, transactions may occur between the Company 
and its subsidiaries and entities with which some of the Directors are or have been affiliated. 

Board Oversight of Risk 

Our Board oversees risk management activities.

Members of senior management assist the Board and its committees with their risk oversight responsibilities 
through routine discussions of risks involved in their specific areas of responsibility. For example, our senior leaders 
will report to the Board at regular intervals during the year on the Company’s strategic planning activities and 
risks relevant to execution of the Company’s strategy. In addition, from time to time, independent consultants with 
specific areas of expertise are engaged to discuss topics that the Board and management have determined may 
present a material risk to the Company’s operations, plans or reputation.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

oversees the Company’s risk management practices and annually reviews with management the 
implementation and results of the Company’s enterprise risk management program which identifies and 

quantifies a broad spectrum of risks in various categories, such as strategic, operational, compliance, 
financial, information technology, cybersecurity and related action plans. The standing committees of the 

Board have the following oversight of the following key risk areas:

AUDIT COMMITTEE COMPENSATION 
COMMITTEE

NOMINATING 
AND CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

FINANCE 
COMMITTEEroutinely discusses 

with management 
the Company’s 

policies and processes 
with respect to risk 

assessment, financial, 
legal, cybersecurity 
and compliance risk 

exposures and related 
controls.

considers risks 
associated with 

our compensation 
plans, policies, and 

programs.

considers risks 
associated with the 
Company’s capital 

structure, acquisition 
strategy, insurance 
programs and cash 

management.

reviews risks relating 
to director selection, 
governance, Board 

composition, 
succession and ESG.
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In 2021, as part of our risk management activities, the Company reviewed with the Compensation Committee its compensation 
policies and practices applicable to all employees that could affect the Company’s assessment of risk and risk management 
and determined that such compensation policies and practices do not create risks that are reasonably likely to have a material 
adverse effect on the Company. The Board does not believe that its role in the oversight of the Company’s risks affects the 
Board’s leadership structure.

Board Oversight of COVID-19 
As the COVID-19 pandemic and its variants continued through 2021, the Board oversaw the Company’s response and strategy 
related to the pandemic’s impact on Hubbell’s businesses, employees and stakeholders. The Board discussed COVID-19 specific 
issues at each of its meetings and further reviewed such issues in its Board committee-specific meetings, as applicable. Topics the 
Board discussed and reviewed related to COVID-19 included, but were not limited to, health and safety, human capital management, 
financial impact, supply chain disruption, compliance, disclosure issues, strategy, compensation, cybersecurity and liquidity. The 
Board further reviewed COVID-19 related topics with independent consultants engaged by the Board, including its independent 
compensation consultant, outside counsel and the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm. 

Board Committees
The Board of Directors has established the following standing committees to assist it in fulfilling its responsibilities: Audit, 
Compensation, Executive, Finance and Nominating and Corporate Governance. The principal responsibilities of each of these 
committees are described generally below and in detail in their respective committee charters which are available on the Company’s 
website at www.hubbell.com, or in the case of the Executive Committee Charter, in Article III, Section 1, of the Company’s By-Laws. 
The Board has determined that each member of the Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees 
is independent for purposes of the NYSE listing standards and SEC regulations.

Audit Committee

BONNIE C.  
LIND 
(Chair)

Members:
Rhett A. Hernandez  
John F. Malloy  
Jennifer M. Pollino

8
Meetings in 2021

97%
Attendance

●	 	  ●	 	  ●	  	 ●

Independence 4 / 4

Key Oversight Responsibilities

	z Oversees the Company’s accounting and financial reporting and disclosure processes.
	z Appoints the independent auditor and evaluates its independence and performance annually.
	z Reviews the audit plans and results of the independent auditors.
	z Approves all audit and non-audit fees for services performed by the independent auditors.
	z Reviews and discusses with management and the independent auditors matters relating to the quality 
and integrity of the Company’s financial statements, the adequacy of its internal controls processes and 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

	z Reviews the Company’s cybersecurity plans, policies, threats and prevention strategies.

The Board of Directors has determined that all members of the Audit Committee are financially literate and meet the NYSE 
standard of having accounting or related financial management expertise. Each member of the Audit Committee other than 
Mr. Hernandez is an “Audit Committee Financial Expert” as defined by the SEC. Mr. Steven R. Shawley had been the Chair of 
the Audit Committee throughout 2021 until his untimely and recent death in February, 2022.
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Compensation Committee

JOHN G. RUSSELL 
(Chair)

Members:
Carlos M. Cardoso 
Anthony J. Guzzi 
Neal J. Keating  
Jennifer M. Pollino

4
Meetings in 2021

100%
Attendance

●	 	  ●	 	  ●	  	 ●	  	 ●

Independence 5 / 5

Key Oversight Responsibilities

	z Determines and oversees the Company’s execution of its compensation programs and employee benefit 
plans.

	z Reviews and approves all compensation of the CEO and officers of the Company, with input from the 
independent compensation consultant, Exequity LLP.

	z Appoints the independent compensation consultant and evaluates its independence and performance 
annually.

	z Determines stock ownership and retention guidelines for the CEO and officers of the Company.
	z Reviews and approves of the Company’s compensation peer group.

Executive Committee

GERBEN W. 
BAKKER (Chair)

Members:
Anthony J. Guzzi  
Neal J. Keating 
Bonnie C. Lind 
John F. Malloy 
John G. Russell 

Did not meet in 2021 Did not meet in 2021 ●	 	  ●	 	  ●	  	 ●	  	 ●	  	 ●

Independence 5 / 6

Key Oversight Responsibilities

	z The Executive Committee may meet during intervals between meetings of the Board of Directors and may 
exercise all the powers of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the 
Company, except certain powers set forth in the By-Laws of the Company.

Finance Committee

JOHN F. MALLOY 
(Chair)

Members:
Anthony J. Guzzi 
Rhett A. Hernandez 
John G. Russell

4
Meetings in 2021

93%
Attendance

●	 	  ●	 	  ●	  	 ●

Independence 4 / 4

Key Oversight Responsibilities

	z Oversees the Company’s financial and fiscal affairs and reviews proposals regarding long-term and short-
term financing, material acquisitions, divestitures, reorginizations, joint ventures and similar transactions, 
dividend policies, stock repurchase programs, stock redemption and issuances, and changes in the 
Company’s capital structure.

	z Reviews the Company’s major capital expenditure plans and monitors the Company’s insurance programs 
and tax strategies.

	z Reviews the administration and management of the Company’s pension plans and cash and investment 
portfolios.

Mr. Steven R. Shawley had been a member of the Finance Committee throughout 2021 until his untimely and recent death in 
February, 2022.
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Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

NEAL J. KEATING 
(Chair)

Members:
Carlos M. Cardoso 
Anthony J. Guzzi

Bonnie C. Lind

John G. Russell

4
Meetings in 2021

100%
Attendance

●	 	  ●	 	  ●	  	 ●	  	 ●

Independence 5 / 5

Key Oversight Responsibilities

	z Develops the Company’s corporate governance guidelines and monitors adherence to its principles.
	z Approves related person transactions.
	z Evaluates Director independence and compensation.
	z Identifies qualified individuals to become Board members, recommends nominees for election or 
appointment to the Board and oversees the Board’s and management’s performance evaluation and 
succession planning process. 

	z Oversees the development and administration of the Company’s sustainability and ESG program policies 
and practices.

See the “Nomination and Election Process” section on page 14 and the “Director Independence” section on page 22 for more 
information on the actions taken by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee in these areas.

Board Practices and Procedures 

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 
The Company requires its Directors and officers to act in accordance with the highest standards of ethical conduct and has 
adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code of Conduct”) that supports the Company’s commitment to the 
people we serve, the communities we work in, the Company and each other. Our Code of Conduct covers many areas of 
professional conduct ranging from conflicts of interest, ethical business conduct, employment practices, compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations, protection of Company assets and confidential information and reporting obligations. Each 
year, to strengthen the Company’s commitment to ethical conduct, we provide training on various aspects of the Code of 
Conduct and require all Directors and officers to complete such training and certify compliance with the Code of Conduct. 
The Code of Conduct can be viewed on the Company’s website at www.hubbell.com. We will disclose any future amendments 
to, or waivers from, provisions of our Code of Conduct on our website as promptly as practicable, as may be required under 
applicable SEC and NYSE rules. 

Director Resignation Policy
The Board of Directors has adopted a Director resignation policy whereby any Director in an uncontested election who 
receives more votes “withheld” from their election than votes “for” their election will promptly tender their resignation to the 
Board. Following receipt of the tendered resignation and within 60 days of certification of the shareholder vote, the NCGC will 
consider and recommend to the Board whether to accept or reject the resignation, or whether other action should be taken. 
The Board will then, within 90 days of certification of the shareholder vote, make a determination taking into consideration 
the recommendation of the NCGC, the vote results, shareholder input and other relevant factors.

Shareholder Outreach and Engagement
We value shareholders’ perspectives and have a regular process throughout the year to discuss a range of topics, including 
our performance, strategy, executive compensation, environmental, social and governance matters. Discussions with our 
shareholders assist us to set goals and expectations for our performance and facilitate identification of emerging issues that 
may affect our strategies, corporate governance, compensation practices and other aspects of our operations.
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Our shareholder engagement program includes investor conferences, investor events and one-on-one discussions with our 
shareholders. In 2021, we reached out to our top 30 shareholders (representing approximately 66% of outstanding shares) 
to discuss a wide range of business performance, sustainability, climate change, governance, succession, COVID-19, human 
capital management and compensation topics. In addition, our Chairman, President and CEO, Chief Financial Officer, Senior 
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary and other members of senior management engaged with our shareholders on 
a frequent basis year-round to discuss Hubbell’s strategy, financial and business performance, and ESG programs.

SPRING
Regularly scheduled investor meetings and conferences.

SUMMER
Review of prior proxy season results and messages  

from shareholders; prepare for fall shareholder  
engagement season; ongoing scheduled investor  

meetings and discussions with shareholders on results, 
sustainability, and other topics.

WINTER
Governance reviews, annual evaluations, ongoing 

engagement with shareholders at road  
shows and via investor calls.

FALL
Engage with largest shareholders on performance, 
compensation and sustainability matters; review  

regulatory and governance changes impacting the  
Company and its shareholders; ongoing scheduled  

investor meetings and conferences.

ANNUAL SHAREHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Communications with Directors
Shareholders and interested parties may communicate with the full Board, the Lead Director, the non-management Directors 
as a group, or with individual Directors by using either of the following methods:

By Writing: Board of Directors 
 Hubbell Incorporated 
 c/o Katherine A. Lane, Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 
 40 Waterview Drive 
 Shelton, Connecticut 06484

By Email: Secretary@hubbell.com

Communications will be forwarded to the specific Director(s) requested by the interested party. General communications will 
be distributed to the full Board or to a specific member of the Board depending on the material outlined in the communication. 
Certain items unrelated to the duties and responsibilities of the Board will not be forwarded including job inquiries and 
resumes, business opportunities, junk or mass mailings, spam, or any hostile, improper, threatening, or illegal communications.

Attendance

In 2021, all Directors attended our 2021 Annual Shareholders Meeting and 97% of 
the Board and committee meetings on which they are a member.

The Board of Directors held 8 total meetings in 2021. During 2021, Directors attended 97% of all meetings of the 
Board of Directors and committees of which such Director served as a member. Board members are expected to 
attend the Annual Meeting of Shareholders. At the 2021 Annual Meeting, all Directors were in attendance.
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Additional Resources
The Corporate Governance Guidelines and the following additional materials relating to corporate governance are published 
on our website at www.hubbell.com.

	z Board of Directors - Current Members and Experience 
	z Board Committees - Members and Charters 
	z Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 
	z Third-Party Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
	z Amended and Restated By-Laws 
	z Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation 
	z Compensation Recovery Policy 
	z Stock Ownership and Retention Policy 
	z Sustainability report and site 
	z Contacting our Board of Directors
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Our Commitment to Sustainability

Hubbell’s commitment to incorporate social responsibility and sustainability initiatives has been a vital part of our business 
model for years. Our obligations to employees, customers, suppliers, shareholders and the communities we serve go well 
beyond providing products and services: we have the opportunity to improve people’s lives and the world around us.

(1) The information within the 2021 Sustainability Report, the 2022 Sustainability Report (available on Hubbell.com), and any other 
information on the Company’s sustainability webpage that Hubbell may refer to herein is not incorporated by reference into and 
does not form any part of this Proxy Statement. Any targets or goals discussed in our sustainability disclosures and within this Proxy 
Statement may be aspirational, and as such, no guarantees or promises are made that these goals will be met. Furthermore, statistics 
and metrics disclosed in this Proxy Statement, our sustainability reports, and Hubbell’s sustainability webpage are estimates and may 
be based on assumptions. We are under no obligation to update such information.

Hubbell’s sustainability programs align with driving long-term shareholder growth(1).

At Hubbell, our sustainability strategy 
is aligned to our business strategy.

As a best-in class provider of utility and electrical 
solutions enabling customers to operate critical 
infrastructure reliably and efficiently, Hubbell 
empowers and energizes our communities while 
facilitating grid modernization and electrification  
in front of and behind the meter.

HUBBELL’S  
SUSTAINABILITY  
PRIORITIES

The topics we deem most 
significant to our stakeholders, 
to our impact as a company, 
and to our ability to create 
long-term value, Include:

ENVIRONMENTAL
Climate change

Energy & emissions

Water & waste

Products with impact

SOCIAL
Inclusion, diversity & equity 

Employee health & safety 

Employee recruitment,  
development & wellbeing

Community impact

Product quality & safety

Supply chain responsibility

GOVERNANCE
Corporate governance

Business ethics & integrity

Data privacy & 
cybersecurity
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(1) The information within the 2021 Sustainability Report, the 2022 Sustainability Report (available on Hubbell.com), and any other 
information on the company’s sustainability webpage that Hubbell may refer to herein is not incorporated by reference into and 
does not form any part of this Proxy Statement. Any targets or goals discussed in our sustainability disclosures and within this Proxy 
Statement may be aspirational, and as such, no guarantees or promises are made that these goals will be met. Furthermore, statistics 
and metrics disclosed in this Proxy Statement, our sustainability reports, and Hubbell’s sustainability webpage are estimates and may 
be based on assumptions. We are under no obligation to update such information.

  Achieved A Sustainability  
Disclosures Milestone 

In 2021, Hubbell published its inaugural sustainability 
report. This milestone reflects our dedication to 
building a cohesive ESG strategy intended to 
drive long-term value and accountability through 
meaningful progress and transparent and credible 
disclosures. 

The 2021 Sustainability Report(1) highlights Hubbell’s 
ESG strategies, programs, and progress towards our 
goals. Explore the report, and our 2022 Sustainability 
Report(1) (both are available on Hubbell.com), to 
learn more about our sustainability aspirations and 
accomplishments.

Reduce our absolute 

Scope 1 and 2 

greenhouse gas 

emissions by 10% by 

2025, compared to a 

2019 baseline

Reduce our absolute 

water consumption 

by 10% by 2025,

compared to a 

2019 baseline

Sustainability is an

established priority

in Hubbell’s 

enterprise-wide 

business strategy

Hubbell’s
Sustainability Goals

2021
SUSTAINABILITY 
REPORT

 Our CEO’S Strategic Performance Incentive

In 2021, Hubbell added a strategic component to our Chairman, President and CEO’s annual Short-Term Incentive (“STI”) 
award design with a 20% weighting tied to performance on strategic initiatives. The addition of this element will support 
continued focus on critical priorities including diversity, equity, inclusion, sustainability / ESG, and safety.
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Stakeholder Engagement

Engaging with our stakeholders informs our sustainability program. The following lists our key sustainability stakeholders, 
how we engage with them, and selected topics of interest that they have raised with us.

Year in Review
Reflecting on our ESG milestones in 2021

ENVIRONMENTAL 
STEWARDSHIP

We invested in a new 
carbon accounting 
and sustainability data 
management system to 
help us track our impact 
and perform against our 
goals.

We increased our 
investment in enviromental-
related capital expenditure 
projects by 150%.

Energy efficiency projects 
were deployed in 3 major 
sites.

SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

Female employees 
comprised 32% of our 
global workforce; 44% 
of our US employees are 
racially and ethnically 
diverse.

Over 98,500 learning hours 
were delivered to our 
19,300+ employees. 

The Harvey Hubbell 
Foundation donated over 
$1 million to charities.

GOVERNANCE & 
ACCOUNTABILITY

Hubbell was recognized 
as one of the 2022 World’s 
Most Ethical Companies. 
This was the second time 
Hubbell has achieved this 
recognition.

100% of compliance cases 
are investigated.

Hubbell scored above the 
Company’s peer group 
benchmark for our 
employee ethical culture 
survey.

Stakeholders Engagement Mechanisms Topics of Interest

Customers 	z Customer learning and development centers
	z Sales meetings
	z New product development

	z Product and service quality
	z Product development and innovation
	z Responsible sourcing and human rights 
	z Environmental sustainability

Employees 	z Town hall meetings
	z Employee intranet and online social community
	z Employee events, seminars, and employee inclusion 
group leadership meetings

	z Training and development sessions

	z Product and service quality
	z Product development and innovation
	z Responsible sourcing and human rights
	z On-site service and support
	z Environmental sustainability

Investors 	z Annual meeting
	z Quarterly and annual reports
	z Investor calls, meetings, and conferences

	z Financial performance
	z Executive compensation
	z ESG performance

Suppliers 	z Third-party Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 
supplier screening and vendor onboarding process

	z Responsible sourcing
	z Quality expectations
	z Supplier diversity

Communities 	z Charitable donation employee matching program
	z Philanthropic donations and partnerships
	z Employee volunteering with local nonprofits

	z Food and housing insecurity
	z Social and racial justice
	z Disaster/pandemic relief
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Elements of Compensation

Director Compensation
Hubbell’s Director compensation program is reviewed by the Board’s independent 
compensation consultant and benchmarked annually.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (“NCGC”) annually reviews all forms of independent Director 
compensation in relation to other U.S. companies of comparable size and the Company’s competitors, and recommends changes 
to the Board, when appropriate. The NCGC is supported in this review by Exequity LLP (“Exequity”), an independent outside 
compensation consultant engaged by the NCGC, which provides compensation consultation and competitive benchmarking. The 
NCGC targets director compensation at the median of our peer group, the same peer group used to evaluate the competitiveness 
of the Company’s executive compensation levels. In addition, the NCGC also reviews Director compensation in relation to 
general industry companies similar to Hubbell in terms of revenue size as a secondary reference. 

Elements of Compensation
In December 2021, following its annual review, the Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of the NCGC and further 
supported by Exequity, decided to maintain the value of total director compensation as reflected in the table below. 

Annual Compensation

Compensation Component Payment or Value of Equity

Board Service

BOARD SERVICE ANNUAL PAYMENTS
CASH/EQUITY

$90,000
Cash

$145,000
Equity

Annual Board Retainer(1) $ 90,000

Annual Restricted Share Grant(2) $ 145,000

Lead Director Retainer(3) $ 30,000

Committee Service

Committee Annual Retainer(4) Chair Member

Audit Committee $ 20,000 $ 10,000

Compensation Committee $ 15,000 $ 7,000

Finance Committee $ 13,000 $ 5,000

NCGC Committee $ 13,000 $ 5,000

Board/Committee Meeting Fees None

Discretionary Fee(5) Upon NCGC recommendation and consent of the Chairman of the Board, fees 
commensurate with any activities performed outside the scope of normal Board 
and Committee service, at the Company’s request. No discretionary fees were 
paid in 2021.

(1) The amount of the Annual Board Retainer was increased from $85,000 to $90,000 effective as of May 4, 2021. 
(2) The amount of the Annual Restricted Share Grant (the grant date value of Company Common Stock granted at an Annual Meeting 

that vests on the date of the next Annual Meeting if the Director is still serving (or earlier, upon death or a change in control)) was 
increased from $130,000 to $145,000, effective as of the grant that was made on May 4, 2021.

(3) The amount of the Lead Director Retainer was increased from $25,000 to $30,000 effective as of May 4, 2021.
(4) Annual Retainers are paid on a quarterly basis.
(5) Activities may include customer visits, conference attendance or training meetings.
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Deferred Compensation Plan
The Company maintains a Deferred Compensation Plan for non-management Directors (“Deferred Plan for Directors”) which 
enables Directors, at their election, to defer all or a portion of their annual Board and Committee retainers into:

	z A Stock Unit account in which each stock unit consists of one share of the Company’s Common Stock. Dividend equivalents 
are paid on the stock units contained in the Director’s account and converted into additional stock units. Upon distribution, 
all stock units are payable in shares of Common Stock. 

	z A cash account which is credited with interest at the prime rate in effect at the Company’s principal commercial bank on 
the date immediately following each regularly scheduled quarterly Board meeting.

The Deferred Plan for Directors also enables such Directors, at their election, to defer all or a portion of their annual restricted 
share grant into a Restricted Stock Unit account providing for the credit of one restricted stock unit for each share of restricted 
stock deferred. Restricted stock units are subject to the same vesting terms described above and are payable in the form 
of one share of Common Stock for each restricted stock unit. Dividend equivalents are paid on the restricted stock units 
contained in the account and converted into additional restricted stock units.

Generally, all distributions under the Deferred Plan for Directors are paid only after termination of service and may be paid 
in a lump sum or in annual installments, at the Director’s election. However, in the event of a change of control, all amounts 
credited to a Director’s account are paid in a lump sum, with amounts credited as stock units immediately converted into a 
right to receive cash.

Charitable Match
The Harvey Hubbell Foundation matches, dollar for dollar, (i) eligible charitable contributions made by a Director and (ii) such 
other amounts, as applicable, made in connection with the Foundation’s Dollars for Doers matching volunteer hours program 
to qualifying charitable organizations and educational institutions within certain parameters. 

Director Compensation Table
The following table shows the compensation paid by the Company to non-management Directors for service on the Company’s 
Board of Directors during fiscal year 2021. Mr. Bakker received no compensation beyond that described in the Executive 
Compensation section on page 59 for his service as a Director.

Name

Fees Earned
or Paid in Cash(3)

($)
Stock Awards(4)

($)

All Other
Compensation(5)

($)
Total

($)

Carlos M. Cardoso 102,000 144,819 20,000 266,819

Anthony J. Guzzi 133,600 144,819 23,000 301,419

Rhett A. Hernandez(1) 86,800 144,819 20,000 251,619

Neal J. Keating 108,300 144,819 — 253,119

Bonnie C. Lind 103,300 144,819 — 248,119

John F. Malloy 111,300 144,819 — 256,119

David G. Nord(2) 595,067 — 43,195 638,262

Jennifer M. Pollino 105,300 144,819 34,000 284,119

John G. Russell 113,300 144,819 5,000 263,119

Steven R. Shawley 113,300 144,819 — 258,119

(1) Mr. Hernandez joined the Board effective March 1, 2021.
(2) Mr. Nord retired from the Board effective May 4, 2021. The amounts shown in this table reflect the compensation paid to him from 

January 1, 2021 through his retirement date. 
(3) Includes the following amounts deferred and held under the Company’s Deferred Plan for Directors: Mr. Guzzi - $133,600, Mr. Keating - 

$54,150, Ms. Lind – $103,300 and Mr. Shawley - $113,300. 
(4) Amounts shown represent the grant date fair value of 749 shares of restricted stock granted to each Director at the Company’s 

May 4, 2021, Annual Meeting of Shareholders as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. For a discussion of the 
assumptions made in the valuation reflected in these columns, see Note 18 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for 2021 
contained in the Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 11, 2022. These shares will vest as of the date of the 2022 Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders if the Director is still serving at that time (or earlier, upon death or a change in control). Mr. Guzzi, Mr. Keating, Ms. 
Lind and Mr. Shawley each elected to defer their entire 2021 annual restricted stock grant pursuant to the terms of the Deferred Plan 
for Directors. See the following table for the aggregate number of stock awards held by each Director as of December 31, 2021.

(5) Amounts shown include Company matching contribution to an eligible institution under The Harvey Hubbell Foundation Matching 
Gifts Program, and for Mr. Nord, the incremental cost to the Company for the actual cost of financial planning or tax preparation 
services, personal use of the Company aircraft - $12,654, a Company 401(k) matching contribution of $8,700, and an automatic 
company retirement contribution of $11,600 under the DC Plan.
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As of December 31, 2021, the following table shows the balance in each non-management Director’s (i) stock unit account 
(each stock unit represents the right to receive one share of Common Stock) and (ii) restricted stock unit account (each 
restricted stock unit represents the right to receive one share of Common Stock) under the Deferred Plan for Directors. See 
the “Deferred Compensation Plan” section on page 32 for additional information:

Name

Aggregate No. of Stock Units 
Held at Year End 

 (#)

Aggregate No. of Restricted
 Stock Units Held at Year End 

 (#)

Carlos M. Cardoso 2,262 7,506

Anthony J. Guzzi 29,476 12,218

Rhett A. Hernandez — —

Neal J. Keating 6,593 12,218

Bonnie C. Lind 1,064 2,962

John F. Malloy 1,703 1,749

Jennifer M. Pollino — —

John G. Russell 6,012 6,772

Steven R. Shawley 7,251 9,078
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Proposal 2  Advisory Vote to Approve 
Named Executive Officer 
Compensation

We have determined that our shareholders should vote on the compensation of our NEOs each year, consistent with the 
preference expressed by our shareholders at the 2017 Annual Meeting. In accordance with the Dodd-Frank Wall Street 
Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Section 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, we are requesting 
shareholder approval, on an advisory (non-binding) basis, of the compensation of our NEOs as presented in this Proxy 
Statement in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis beginning on page 35 and the compensation tables and accompanying 
narrative disclosure in the Executive Compensation section beginning on page 59. It is expected that the next vote on the 
frequency of a vote on the compensation of our NEOs will occur at the 2023 Annual Meeting of shareholders.

Accordingly, we will present the following resolution for vote at the Annual Meeting:

“RESOLVED, that the shareholders of Hubbell Incorporated (the “Company”) approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation 
of the Company’s named executive officers as described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and disclosed in the 2021 
Summary Compensation Table and related compensation tables and narrative disclosure as set forth in this Proxy Statement.”

As described more fully in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this Proxy Statement, our executive 
compensation program has been designed to attract and retain highly talented executives, deliver compensation that is 
competitive and fair compared to relevant benchmarks, reward strong Company performance and motivate executives to 
maximize long-term shareholder returns. To achieve our objectives, we have adopted and maintain sound compensation 
governance practices and a strong pay for performance philosophy pursuant to which the greatest portion of an executive’s 
total direct compensation is variable and therefore linked to performance on both a short-term and long-term basis.

As an advisory vote, the outcome of this proposal is not binding upon the Company. However, our Compensation Committee 
and our Board value the opinions of our shareholders and will consider the outcome of this vote when making future 
compensation decisions for our NEOs.

The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by the holders of the outstanding shares of Common Stock is required to 
approve, on an advisory, non-binding basis, the compensation of our NEOs. Majority of votes cast means that the number of 
votes cast “FOR” the proposal exceed the number of votes cast “AGAINST” the proposal. Abstentions and broker non-votes 
will not affect the voting results. Broker discretionary voting is not allowed, so if your shares are held by a broker and you 
have not instructed the broker how to vote, your shares will not be voted with respect to Proposal 2.

THE BOARD UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE  FOR THE APPROVAL BY NON-BINDING 
VOTE OF THE COMPENSATION OF OUR NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS.
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Our Named Executive Officers
Our business benefits from a strong leadership team with deep experience within and outside our industry. 

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis (“CD&A”) section of the Proxy Statement describes the material elements of the 
2021 compensation program for the following named executive officers (“NEOs”):

Name Position

Mr. Gerben W. Bakker(1) Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. William R. Sperry Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Allan J. Connolly President, Utility Solutions Segment
Mr. Peter J. Lau President, Electrical Solutions Segment
Ms. Katherine A. Lane Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
(1) Mr. Bakker was appointed Chairman effective May 4, 2021.

Leadership

DEVELOP 
OUR PEOPLE

Hubbell’s Board executed its multi-year CEO succession plan.

GERBEN W. BAKKER
Chairman, President 
and Chief Executive 
Officer

	z Gerben Bakker named Hubbell’s new Chairman of the Board effective 
May 4, 2021. 

	z Mr. Bakker had previously served as Hubbell’s President and Chief 
Executive Officer since October, 2020 and prior to that led Hubbell’s 
Power Segment for many years. Mr. Bakker has been with Hubbell for 
over 30 years.
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2021 Highlights

Performance Summary(1)

We measure our progress not only in terms of our financial accomplishments, but also in running our business in the best 
interests of our shareholders, suppliers, customers, employees, and the communities in which we operate. Our accomplishments 
in 2021 included:

OPERATE 
WITH DISCIPLINE

We delivered on our commitments to shareholders.

$3.7$3.9
$4.2

20202019 2021

$7.14$7.25
$8.05

20202019 2021

$430 $424

$520

20202019 2021

NET SALES
ADJUSTED DILUTED

EARNINGS PER SHARE(2)
FREE CASH FLOW(2)

$4.2 billion $8.05 $424 million 

OPERATE WITH 
DISCIPLINE

We executed a disciplined plan of capital deployment. 

CAPITAL DEPLOYMENT 
($ Millions)

  Announced 7% dividend increase.

  Deployed $217 million in dividends.

  Invested $90 million in high return capital 
expenditures.

● Investment in the Company   ● Return to Shareholders

$90
Capital
Expenditures

$11
Share
Repurchases

$217
Dividends

(1) The performance summary represents the results of continuing operations. See Note 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on February 11, 2022, for 
further details.

(2) Adjusted diluted earnings per share and free cash flow are non-GAAP financial measures. A reconciliation to the comparable GAAP 
financial measures can be found in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on 
February 11, 2022.
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2021 Highlights

Compensation Summary
The Compensation Discussion and Analysis reviews the objectives and components of Hubbell’s executive compensation 
program and discusses the 2021 compensation earned by our NEOs. The CD&A also discusses actions taken based on our 
ongoing commitment to consider shareholder feedback and to ensure our executive team continues to deliver exceptional 
shareholder value.

2021 Actions:

WE 
HEARD 
YOU

ROBUST
SHAREHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

We contacted shareholders representing more than 66% 
of our outstanding common stock to obtain their views 
on our compensation programs, ESG and to discuss our 
COVID-19 related actions.

See Pages 37-38

WE 
HEARD 
YOU

SUPPORT ON 
CURRENT 

COMPENSATION 
PROGRAM, 

PRACTICES, AND 
DESIGN

Expressed support for design changes made in 2020 and 
2021 with a focus on pay for performance and simplicity 
by balancing internal and external objectives and relative 
and absolute performance.

See Page 38

WE 
HEARD 
YOU

REVIEWED ALL 
COMPENSATION 
APPROACHES IN 

LIGHT OF PANDEMIC

For 2021, short and long term awards will be paid 
out based on the plan design and targets set in the 
pre-pandemic environment, without modifications 
relating to the pandemic.

See Page 39

WE 
HEARD 
YOU

MODIFIED CEO SHORT 
TERM INCENTIVE 
COMPENSATION

Added a component representing performance on 
strategic initiatives at 20% weighting. 84% of CEO annual 
target compensation opportunity is performance-based.

See Page 38

WE 
HEARD 
YOU

TRANSPARENT 
AND COMPETITIVE 

PROGRAMS

For awards granted in 2021, we simplified Long-Term 
Performance Awards by moving to 3 overall metrics, 
increasing the importance of TSR in the overall award, 
and providing a balanced portfolio of metrics between 
the short and long-term incentive programs.

See Pages 38-39

Additional information on our 2021 business performance, and the resulting compensation decisions taken by the Compensation 
Committee, are further summarized in this CD&A.

Notable Activities and Changes

Engagement With Shareholders

Engaging with our shareholders informs our approach to our executive compensation  
program.

Hubbell engages with shareholders throughout the year on diverse topics such as financial performance, compensation and pay 
for performance, corporate governance, and sustainability and environmental, social and governance (“ESG”). In 2021, members 
of our senior management engaged in a targeted outreach with Hubbell shareholders representing approximately 66% of 
Hubbell’s ownership. The calls were led by a cross-functional group of senior leaders and helped inform the Compensation 
Committee’s review of the executive compensation and sustainability programs, supplemented by additional advice and 
benchmarking provided by Hubbell’s independent compensation consultant, Exequity LLP.

Hubbell also had many discussions with its shareholders focused on sustainability and governance topics and as a result of 
such conversations, increased its public disclosures on various ESG related topics, including issuing its inaugural sustainability 
report in 2021.

 See additional details on page 25  and additional details on Hubbell’s ESG and sustainability focus on page 28 .
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Results of 2021 Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation
Hubbell’s 2021 Say on Pay advisory vote on executive compensation resulted in 97% of the votes cast in favor of the Company’s 
executive compensation program. Hubbell’s Say on Pay votes have averaged 91% support for the last 10 years. We believe these 
strong results indicate that our shareholders are generally supportive of our compensation program. Shareholder engagement 
in 2021 informed our compensation plan design going forward and provided an opportunity to discuss Hubbell’s sustainability 
and ESG programs, COVID-19 pandemic response, and the impact of the pandemic on our business and compensation 
programs.

The following sets forth some of the key themes we heard from our shareholders and our responsiveness to their concerns: 

WE 
HEARD 
YOU

What We Heard How We Responded

Compensation design should be 
robust enough to withstand pandemic 
impacts.

Short and Long-Term awards that include targets relating to performance in 2021 
will be paid out according to the plan design and targets, with no modifications or 
changes, demonstrating a compensation program that is well-designed, balanced, 
and aligns pay with performance.

Importance of performance orientation 
to a compensation program.

We maintained the 75% performance-based portion of our Long-Term award 
grants ensuring pay for performance alignment both on an absolute and 
relative basis.

Interest in the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on our business, employees, 
and compensation plans.

We included information detailing our response to the COVID-19 pandemic 
throughout the proxy. This information describes Hubbell’s COVID-19 related 
programs for the health and welfare of our employees as well as compensation 
actions taken to sustain the organization. See pages 5 and 39.

Compensation Changes In 2021 
Hubbell made the following changes to its compensation for 2021, based on both what we heard from shareholders in 2020, 
as well as our experience managing through the pandemic environment:

CEO SHORT 
TERM  

INCENTIVE 
COMPENSATION

Added a component representing performance on strategic initiatives, at 20% weighting. 

This change allows the Compensation Committee to further prioritize and appropriately reward 
performance on critical metrics including inclusion & diversity, sustainability / ESG and acquisitions. 

Also ensures further alignment with the incentive compensation design of the balance of the NEOs.

LONG TERM  
INCENTIVE  

FOR ALL NEOs

Simplified the performance share grant (while maintaining the weighting at 50% of the overall 
equity award) to have 3 equally-weighted metrics (versus 3 metrics plus a modifier). 

Replaced Trade Working Capital as % of Sales with Relative TSR. This change elevates the role 
of TSR in the program to ensure internal performance objectives are aligned with shareholder 
return and provides balance between relative and absolute metrics in the program.

For 2021, the payout scales for relative metrics will be aligned to a quartile payout approach. 
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Portfolio Management

Long-Term Incentive Metrics and Weightings

Weightings

75%
Performance

Based

25%
Restricted Shares

25%
Stock Appreciation Rights

50%
Performance Shares

Performance Share Design

1/3 Relative TSR

1/3 Operating Profit Margin
1/3 Relative Sales

This overall design of our Long-Term Incentive Program continues to focus our NEOs on our strategic priorities of profitable 
growth balanced with operational effectiveness, while ensuring alignment with shareholder interests. This program design is 
described in more detail on page 50.

We believe these changes continue to drive our overall pay for performance philosophy and allow greater focus on the 
strategic imperatives of Hubbell. 

These changes to our compensation program were discussed in shareholder calls and informed 
by shareholder input.

We carefully evaluated the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on all compensation plans 
and programs.
The COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on Hubbell’s business in 2021. As we navigated through the pandemic, we 
carefully reviewed our compensation programs and design. The safety of our employees continues to be our top priority, and 
our overall response to the pandemic is described more fully on page 5.

 Compensation actions to support business in 2021

As a result of the uncertain environment at the beginning of the global pandemic, Hubbell undertook several key 
compensation actions in 2021:

  
In July, all Hubbell employees participated in our Global Recharge Day - a paid day off to restore, refresh and 
recharge.

  Increased paid sick time and military leave benefits for employees.

 Enhanced global health and wellness programs with a greater commitment and focus on mental health benefits.

In addition to these measures, Hubbell invested in the safety and well-being of our employees through the implementation of increased 
safety protocols. See additional information about Hubbell’s COVID-19 response on page 5 .

No adjustments or modifications were made to Hubbell's pay programs as a result of the 
ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Portfolio Management

Impact of the sale of the C&I lighting business
In October of 2021, Hubbell entered into a definitive agreement to sell its commercial & industrial lighting (“C&I”) business. In 
considering the impact of this sale on our compensation plans, we reviewed our plan documents, our award agreements, conferred 
with our independent compensation consultant, reviewed GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles) requirements, and 
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considered the intent of our compensation programs. In all instances we reviewed our pay for performance alignment before 
considering any approaches. As a result, the following is our approach for performance-based compensation programs:

Short Term Incentive – As disclosed on page 5, effective portfolio management is a part of Hubbell’s strategy, and therefore 
was considered as a part of the decision on the payout percentage of the 20% of the Short-Term incentive plan that is based 
on performance against strategic objectives.

Long Term Incentive – For the performance period of 2019-2021, the Compensation Committee considered several factors 
to determine the ultimate payout, including Hubbell's TSR performance at the 75th percentile relative to our peer group, our 
internal goals, objectives, and performance, and the sale of our C&I lighting business. In support of the performance share 
program payouts, Hubbell focused on GAAP principles and reporting. This ensures our incentive plans support rewarding 
management actions that drive our business and support shareholder interests. Payouts for the performance period 2019-
2021 are further described on page 54.

Our Compensation Program

Executive Compensation Objectives
Hubbell’s compensation program is designed to achieve the following objectives:

	z Align executive pay to our company performance in order to drive our business strategy. 
	z Attract and retain key talent. 
	z Align interests of executives with our shareholders. 
	z Deliver competitive and fair compensation.

84% of the annual target 
compensation opportunity for 
our CEO is performance-based 
(or “at risk”).

PERFORMANCE- 
BASED

Maintained our weighting of 
performance-based awards at 
75%, 50% delivered in performance 
shares, 25% delivered in stock 
appreciation rights.

INCENT  
LONG-TERM 
BUSINESS 
SUCCESS 

Our performance stock awards 
include a measure on relative 
Total Shareholder Return, to align 
executives’ pay with shareholder 
interests.

ALIGN WITH 
SHAREHOLDERS

The metrics for our performance 
stock awards are focused on 
our strategic priorities of driving 
profitable growth in order to 
enhance total shareholder return.

TIE TO KEY 
STRATEGIC 
PRIORITIES

 See page 43 See page 50 See page 51 See page 51

Our compensation decisions for 2021 were directly influenced by our 2021 operating results, our extensive shareholder 
outreach, and reflect our commitment to pay for performance compensation practices. We use the following objectives to 
guide our decisions:

ATTRACT, RETAIN, 
AND MOTIVATE

Attract, retain, and motivate high-quality executive talent essential to our immediate and 
long-term success.

COMPETITIVE AND FAIR Deliver target compensation to our executives that is competitive and fair as compared to our 
relevant external benchmarks.

PAY FOR PERFORMANCE Align the interests of executives with our shareholders by ensuring our compensation program 
has a strong pay for performance orientation.
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Compensation Governance Snapshot
The following are highlights of our compensation practices and decisions which exemplify our commitment to sound 
compensation governance and shareholders’ interests.

What We Do What We Don’t Do

Pay for Performance. We closely align pay and performance 
by placing a significant portion of target total direct 
compensation at risk.

No Single Trigger on Change in Control Benefits. Change 
in control benefits are provided only upon both a change in 
control and qualifying termination.

Robust Performance Goals. We establish clear and measurable 
goals and targets and hold our executives accountable 
for achieving specified targets to earn a payout under our 
incentive plans. Performance goals are linked to operating 
priorities designed to create long-term shareholder value.

No Guaranteed Annual Salary Increases or Bonuses. Annual 
salary increases are based on evaluations of individual 
performance and the competitive market. We do not provide 
guarantees on bonus payouts.

Independent Compensation Consultant. The Compensation 
Committee retains an independent compensation consultant 
to review and advise on executive compensation matters.

No Consultant Conflicts. The independent compensation 
consultant cannot provide any other services to Hubbell 
without the Compensation Committee’s approval.

Annual Benchmarking. We review peer and market practice, 
as well as pay levels on an annual basis.

No Hedging or Pledging. We prohibit our executives, 
including our NEOs, from hedging or engaging in derivatives 
trading with respect to company stock.

Shareholder Engagement. We conduct formal outreach with 
our investors to discuss our compensation programs, the 
COVID-19 pandemic, ESG, and other issues.

No Excessive Perks. The only perquisites provided are 
financial and tax planning and limited use of the corporate 
aircraft subject to Board oversight.

Strong Governance. We have a robust stock ownership 
policy, a strong clawback policy, and our Short-Term Incentive 
plans include the option for only negative discretion by the 
Compensation Committee regarding award amounts paid.

No Tax Gross Ups. We do not provide tax “gross ups” for 
severance, perquisites, excise tax, or any other benefits 
provided to our executives, including the NEOs.

No Excessive Supplemental Retirement Plans. We have 
frozen our supplemental executive retirement plan and only 
provide new benefits under qualified retirement plans that 
are made available generally to employees and non-qualified 
plans that are made available to certain executives.

No Repricing or Cash Buyouts. We prohibit the repricing or 
buyout of options and SARs without shareholder approval.

No Employment Agreement with CEO or NEOs. Mr. Bakker, 
our CEO, does not have and has never had an employment 
agreement with the Company. We do not have any 
employment agreement with our other NEOs as well.

CEO Pay vs. Realized Pay vs. Company Performance
The Summary Compensation Table on page 59 discloses annual compensation for our NEOs in accordance with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) regulations. These regulations provide that the Long-Term Incentive awards be presented 
as their grant date value according to accounting rules. While this view of grant-date pay can be helpful to compare target 
pay across companies, it does not provide an accurate assessment of actual value delivered to NEOs based on Company 
performance.

Therefore, in order to better assess the relationship between pay and performance, the Compensation Committee reviews 
Hubbell’s NEOs’ realized compensation and performance, as well as realized compensation and performance relative to our 
Peer Group. The following table provides descriptions of both Summary Compensation Table pay and realized compensation.
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Pay Summary Description
Summary Compensation 
Table (“SCT”)

SEC mandated disclosure

Compensation awarded in the reporting year, as well as value estimates for other types of 
compensation.

Base salary, bonuses, and cash incentives reflect amounts earned relative to year of service. 
Long-term incentive awards reflect grant-date fair value of restricted shares, stock appreciation 
rights, and performance shares.

Realized Compensation Used to measure impact of performance on pay

Compensation earned during the reporting year, including the actual results of performance-
based long-term incentive compensation, plus compensation awarded prior to the reporting year 
that remains dependent on Company performance.

Base salary, bonuses, and cash incentives reflect amounts earned relative to year of service 
(consistent with Summary Compensation Table). Long-term incentive awards reflect the value of 
restricted shares that vested during the period, performance awards paid out during the period, 
the value of stock appreciation rights exercised during the period, and changes in the value of 
unvested restricted shares and stock appreciation rights based on changes in stock price during 
the period.

Hubbell’s CEO Pay is aligned with performance

The graph below identifies for Hubbell and our 2021 Peer Companies (as described on page 45) the relationship between 
CEO pay rank and relative return to shareholders. Each blue dot represents a company in the Peer Group, and the two yellow 
dots represent Hubbell in 2020 and 2021. The shaded area marks the range that characterizes ideal pay-for-performance 
alignment given the pay-for-performance relationships exhibited across the peer group. For 2020 and 2021, Hubbell’s CEO’s 
compensation is aligned with the Company’s TSR performance.
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Elements of Compensation

Hubbell’s compensation program puts the majority of pay at risk depending on Hubbell’s 
performance.

CEO

OTHER
NEOs

Hubbell

Long-term Equity Incentive TargetAnnual Cash Incentive TargetBase Salary

16%

27% 22% 51%

67%17%

The above chart represents the CEO’s compensation as of Dec 31, 2021 (Mr. Bakker), compared to the other NEOs. As Mr. 
Bakker continues his tenure as the CEO, it is the Compensation Committee’s intention to provide increases, commensurate 
with performance and peers/market, primarily in incentive based pay focused on long-term elements.

Our pay for performance compensation philosophy is intended to reward our executives for their contributions toward 
achievement of the Company’s business strategy and goals. To achieve our compensation objectives, the Company provides 
its executives with a total direct compensation package consisting of fixed and variable compensation elements that provide 
executives with income that is reflective of competitive benchmarks and enhances the Company’s ability to attract and retain 
high quality management talent. Our compensation objectives and business strategy drive how our Compensation Committee 
designs the elements of our compensation program, as outlined in the following table.

What? When? How? Link to Strategy and Performance

Base Salary Fixed 
Cash

Annual Reviewed annually for potential 
adjustment based on factors such as 
market competitiveness, individual 
performance and scope of responsibility.

A competitive cash compensation that 
attracts high caliber executives to lead our 
Company.

Short-term Incentive Variable 
Cash

Annual Based on achievements with respect 
to the Company’s financial goals and 
individual performance against the 
Company’s strategic objectives.

Designed to motivate our executives to 
attain short-term performance goals that 
are linked to our long-term financial and 
strategic performance objectives.

Long-term Incentive Variable 
Equity

3-year 
period

Performance metrics: relative sales 
growth, operating profit margin, and 
relative total shareholder return.

Aligns executives’ interests with achieving 
critical long-term financial goals of the 
Company.

Further aligns executives with shareholder 
interests through share price appreciation.

50% Performance 
Shares

25% Stock 
Appreciation Rights 
(“SARs”)

Variable 
Equity

3-year 
period, 
ratable

Award that provides value based on the 
appreciation in value between the stock 
price on the date of grant and the date of 
exercise.

Aligns executives with shareholders 
through the appreciation of value based 
on share price performance.

25% Restricted 
Shares

Variable 
Equity

3-year 
period, 
cliff

Represents a grant of shares of Hubbell’s 
Common Stock that vest after a three-year 
period.

Promotes the retention of key executives.

Further aligns executives with shareholders 
interests through share price appreciation.

The Compensation Committee reviews a number of factors when establishing target total compensation for executives 
including, but not limited to, market data, tenure in position, experience, performance and internal pay equity.
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Roles for Designing and Delivering Compensation
Hubbell has a clearly defined process and roles in making decisions about compensation over the course of each year.

Role Process

Compensation Committee Oversees programs and has ultimate responsibility

Independent Compensation Consultant Provides market data, insight, and support to the Compensation Committee

CEO and Management Provides data and limited input to the Compensation Committee

Shareholders Feedback drives our program

Process and Timeline for Designing and Delivering Compensation

Over the course of four planned Compensation Committee meetings each year, consistent Compensation Committee agendas 
ensure thorough review of compensation design and levels for our NEOs. In addition to the planned meetings set forth below, 
the Compensation Committee also may schedule additional meetings throughout the year on any of the subjects set forth below.

FEBRUARY 	z Approval of base pay changes, STI targets and LTI grant values.
	z Finalization of performance share payouts for the three-year performance period ending the previous 
December.

	z Performance goals for the long-term and short-term programs are approved.
	z Tally Sheets(1) for all executive officers are reviewed.

JUNE 	z Executive compensation design trends and regulatory review.
	z Pay for performance and realized compensation analysis for prior year and three-year periods.
	z Review of Peer Group.

SEPTEMBER 	z Executive compensation benchmarking review, relative to the Peer Group and general market.
	z Review/discuss any program design changes for upcoming year.
	z Performance review of current short- and long-term performance grants.

DECEMBER 	z Initial review of individual executive compensation changes for upcoming year.
	z Review/discuss any program design changes for upcoming year.
	z Performance review of current short- and long-term performance grants.

(1) Tally Sheets identify and value each element of compensation, including base salary, short-term and long-term incentive awards, pension 
benefits, deferred compensation, perquisites, potential change in control and severance benefits and provide an aggregate sum for each 
executive.

Role of the Compensation Committee and the Independent Compensation 
Consultant
The Compensation Committee determines the Company’s compensation philosophy and approves each element of executive 
compensation. The Compensation Committee relies on advice and data provided by Exequity LLP (“Exequity”), an independent 
outside compensation consultant engaged by the Compensation Committee to assist in its determination of the appropriate 
amount of total direct compensation for the NEOs. Exequity does not advise the management of the Company and receives 
no compensation from the Company for services other than those provided to the Compensation Committee and the NCGC 
(for which it provides guidance on independent Director compensation). See the “Director Compensation” section on page 31. 
Although the Compensation Committee considers recommendations made by the CEO with respect to executive compensation, 
the Compensation Committee is solely responsible for making all executive compensation decisions.

The Compensation Committee follows a comprehensive process to determine compensation 
values and program design that is informed by Peer Group and market data and supported by 
the review and advice of an independent compensation consultant.
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The Compensation Committee discusses its compensation philosophy with Exequity and expects Exequity to present options 
for award practices and provide context for any proposals, but otherwise does not impose any specific limitations or constraints 
on or direct the manner in which Exequity performs its advisory services. As advisor to the Compensation Committee, Exequity 
reviews the compensation strategy and pay levels for the Company’s NEOs, examines all aspects of the Company’s executive 
compensation programs to ensure their ongoing support of the Company’s business strategy and objectives, informs the 
Compensation Committee of developing legal and regulatory considerations affecting executive compensation and benefit 
programs and provides general advice to the Compensation Committee with respect to all compensation decisions pertaining 
to the CEO and to all officer compensation recommendations submitted by management.

The Compensation Committee assesses the independence of Exequity annually and has concluded that no conflict of interest 
currently exists or existed in 2021 that would prevent Exequity from providing independent advice to the Compensation 
Committee regarding executive compensation matters. In making this determination, the Compensation Committee considered, 
among other things, the following factors: (1) Exequity did not provide any non-compensation-related services (and did not 
receive any fees for any non-compensation-related services); (2) compliance with Exequity’s internal conflict of interest policies; 
(3) there are no other business or personal relationships between Company management or members of the Compensation 
Committee and any representatives of Exequity who provide services to the Company; and (4) neither Exequity nor any 
representatives of Exequity who provide services to the Company own any Common Stock or other securities of the Company.

Compensation Peer Group
The Compensation Committee assesses each element of executive compensation against the median compensation levels 
paid to executives in comparable positions in similar industries. As a result of COVID-19 and modest, if any, expectations of 
target pay increases, the Compensation Committee reviewed benchmark data from the Peer Group. Prior years have focused 
on both Peer Group and general industry survey data to ensure a more robust analysis. However, given the environment, only 
Peer Group data was assessed to ensure comparability. The Compensation Committee reviewed 2020 benchmarking data to 
help inform 2021 target compensation. The table below reflects the 2021 Peer Group.

Competitors for Talent
Companies in the Peer Group are ones we 
would consider as competing for the critical 
sales, engineering and other functional 

talent that drives our business.

Similar Size
Companies in the Peer Group are between 
0.5 and 3X the revenue size of Hubbell, with 
Hubbell at the 50th percentile of revenue.

Industry Affiliation
Companies in the Peer Group 

are manufacturing or distribution 
companies in the electrical space.

Acuity Brands, Inc. Donaldson Company, Inc. IDEX Corporation Sensata Technologies Holding plc

AGCO Corporation Dover Corporation ITT Inc. Snap-on Incorporated

AMETEK, Inc. EnerSys Lincoln Electric Holdings, Inc. WESCO International, Inc.

Carlisle Companies Incorporated Fastenal Company Regal-Beloit Corp. Woodward, Inc.

Crane Co. Fortive Corporation Rockwell Automation, Inc. Xylem, Inc.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation Fortune Brands Home & 
Security, Inc.

Roper Technologies, Inc.
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2021 Compensation Results

The Committee targets the 50th percentile of the Peer Group data for compensation elements.

Base Salary
Base salary is the principal fixed component of total direct compensation paid to the NEOs. Salaries are determined by 
reference to prevailing market pay rates, scope of job responsibility and incumbent performance considerations. The 
Company intends its base salary expenditures to be consistent with those incurred by similarly positioned companies in 
our industry, so the Compensation Committee expects base salaries to approximate the 50th percentile of the benchmark 
community practices. Annually, the Compensation Committee reviews and approves increases as appropriate for the 
NEOs to ensure their base salaries remain close to market-representative pay levels.

Short-term Incentive Compensation

Hubbell’s Short-Term Incentive Program drives our most critical annual financial metrics, 
Earnings Per Share and Cash Flow.

Hubbell’s Short-Term Incentive (“STI”) program provides benefits under its Incentive Compensation Plan, which is similar to 
the design of executive STI award plans that are common at other companies in the general manufacturing environment. 
Maintaining an STI program that typifies those used elsewhere enhances the appeal of the Company’s compensation 
program generally and strengthens the Company’s ability to attract and retain high quality executive talent. Depending 
on performance in relation to the goals, earned awards can range in size from 0% to 200% of the NEO’s STI target. 
However, if performance falls below a minimally acceptable threshold, as described below, then no STI award is payable 
at all. Actual STI awards are only paid to the extent the Company achieves certain performance goals established by the 
Compensation Committee at the beginning of each year, but the Compensation Committee may use its discretion as to 
the actual amount of the STI award paid.

The elements of the STI program are:

	z STI target payout percentage for the NEOs is set at the 50th percentile of benchmark practices.
	z The STI payout mix for the NEOs is based 80% on financial performance of the enterprise and 20% on their individual 
contributions to Hubbell’s strategic objectives. Strategic objectives, as described more fully on page 49 are annual targets 
that align to Hubbell’s strategic priorities across our key pillars of Serve Our Customer, Grow the Enterprise, Operate with 
Discipline, and Develop our People.

	z Challenging financial goals are set consistent with the Compensation Committee’s view of strong business performance, 
as communicated to investors.

	z The STI program includes out a cap on payouts and provide for the Compensation Committee to use negative, but not 
positive, discretion for all payouts.

	z Payouts for threshold performance are 50% of target, and payouts are capped at 200% of target for maximum performance. 
No payout is provided if threshold performance is below 50% of target. Payouts are limited to no more than $5 million per 
person per year.

	z Metrics are evaluated annually and are reviewed to ensure they drive business performance and complement, but do not 
overlap with, the metrics in the Long-Term Incentive program.

	z Payouts are delivered as cash, subject to applicable tax withholding.
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Annual Short-term Incentive Targets
The Compensation Committee approves annual STI targets based on Peer Group data review. STI targets are expressed as a 
percentage of base salary, and if targets are changed during the course of the year, the full year target is pro-rated to reflect 
pre- and post-change periods. Below are the 2021 Targets for each NEO. STI Targets are generally multiplied by the NEO 
salary in effect on December 31st of the plan year to calculate the dollar value of the STI target. 

NEO Annual Bonus Target

Gerben W. Bakker 110%

William R. Sperry 90%

Allan J. Connolly 75%

Peter J. Lau 75%

Katherine A. Lane 70%

STI Design and Metrics
Hubbell’s 2021 STI program is designed to drive performance on our most critical short-term objectives. The following STI 
Design and Metrics applies to all NEOs.

80%
Financial Metrics

20%
Individual/Strategic

35%
Free Cash Flow or 

Operating Cash Flow

65%
Earnings Per Share or 

Operating Profit

The following table outlines the metrics and measurements in Hubbell’s 2021 STI design.

Metric Level Measured How is it calculated? Why is it included in the STI Program?

Earnings Per Share 
(“EPS”)

Enterprise Net income divided by outstanding 
shares of Common Stock.

Affects TSR most directly and is the 
most critical metric of growth.

Operating Profit  
(“OP”)

Business Segment Segment level net sales less cost 
of goods sold and selling and 
administrative expenses.

The most comprehensive metric 
of business segment performance; 
represents the direct impact of the 
leader on the business.

Free Cash Flow  
(“FCF”)

Enterprise Defined as cash flow from operations 
less capital expenditures.

Demonstrates management’s ability to 
generate cash for the business for on-
going operations and future investments.

Operating Cash Flow 
(“OCF”)

Business Segment Defined as net cash from operating 
activities.

Demonstrates leaders’ ability to 
manage on-going operations in a 
positive manner, generating cash for the 
enterprise.

Strategic Objectives Individual Compensation Committee evaluation 
of CEO and other NEOs’ individual 
impact (with CEO input) on Hubbell’s 
strategic objectives.

Strategic objectives prioritize the most 
critical short-term and long-term actions 
for the business in order to deliver 
shareholder value. Ensures focus on 
those objectives critical to realizing 
the business short-term and long-term 
objectives.

 See additional details on each NEO’s STI calculation on page 50 . 

STI DESIGN

STI METRICS
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 Additional Strategic Objectives Element For CEO
Beginning with the 2021 plan year, we added an element to the Short Term Incentive Design for the CEO representing 
achievements on the Company’s strategic objectives. This element will represent 20% of the overall design, with the other 
80% continuing to be comprised of the Enterprise Performance on EPS and Free Cash Flow. The addition of this element 
for the CEO design will support continued focus on critical priorities like ESG, portfolio management, digital commerce, 
cybersecurity, and inclusion and diversity. See page 11 for more details. This also aligns the CEO’s design with the other NEOs.

STI Calculations
Per the elements described above, each NEO has a slightly different calculation methodology for his or her payout. The below 
graphic outlines the calculations.

Step 1 - Determine the STI Target

TARGET %BASE 
SALARY

STI 
TARGET $

Step 2 - Multiply the STI Target by STI Payout Factors

The STI payout factors for Mr. Bakker, Mr. Sperry and Ms. Lane are based 80% on enterprise financial results and 20% on 
results from their individual contributions to our strategic objectives.

STI  
TARGET $

ENTERPRISE 
FINANCIAL  

RESULTS 
(80% WEIGHT)

STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVES 

(20% WEIGHT)

STI 
PAYOUT

I Mr. Bakker, Mr. Sperry and Ms. Lane

The STI payout factors for Mr. Connolly and Mr. Lau are based 40% on enterprise financial results, 40% on business level results 
and 20% on results from their individual contributions to our strategic objectives.

STI  
TARGET $

ENTERPRISE 
FINANCIAL  

RESULTS 
(40% WEIGHT)

STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVES 

(20% WEIGHT)

BUSINESS  
LEVEL 

RESULTS 
 (40% WEIGHT)

STI 
PAYOUT

I Mr. Connolly and Mr. Lau

Enterprise and Business Level Measures
Payout factors begin at 50% of target (for threshold performance) and are capped at 200% of target (for maximum performance). 
No payout is provided below threshold performance and the Compensation Committee may not approve a payout factor of 
greater than 200%. Targets for EPS (65% weighting of overall financials) and Free Cash Flow (35% weighting of overall financials) 
are approved by the Compensation Committee in February of each year.

In addition to the enterprise measures, which are a part of the STI Design for all NEOs, NEOs who are responsible for business 
segments within the enterprise are also measured on the financial performance of their segments. In the segments, financial 
performance is measured through Operating Profit and Operating Cash Flow.

2021 Compensation Results



HUBBELL INCORPORATED I 2022 Proxy Statement 49

6COMPENSATION 
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CD&A)

2021 Compensation Results

Strategic Objective Measures
For all the NEOs, a portion of their 2021 STI award is based on the performance of Hubbell’s strategic objectives. Strategic 
objectives are set at the beginning of each year in the categories listed below. At the end of the annual performance period, 
the Compensation Committee, with input from management, evaluates the enterprise performance on these objectives, and 
assigns a payout factor for this portion (20%) of the NEO’s overall STI payout. Payout factors can range from 0-200%. The 
objectives that were set for 2021 are as follows:

SERVE 
OUR CUSTOMERS 

OPERATE 
WITH DISCIPLINE

GROW 
THE ENTERPRISE

DEVELOP  
OUR PEOPLE

We strive to exceed customer 
expectations by providing 
exceptional service and 
implementing processes that 
make it easy to do business 
with us.

We implement industry leading 
processes to ensure a productive, 
safe and compliant organization, 
and maximize our footprint for 
operational efficiency.

We continue to grow our 
organization, both through 
developing innovative new 
products and by acquiring 
complementary businesses.

We recruit, hire and develop 
talent that meets and anticipates 
the ever-changing needs of our 
enterprise, while fostering an 
inclusive and diverse workplace.

2021 Performance Results and Payout

Enterprise Level Measures
The table below shows the enterprise targets and financial payout for 2021 as reviewed and approved by the Compensation 
Committee.

Metric Target Performance vs. 
Target Payout %

Adjusted Earnings Per Share 111% (% of PY) 97% 85%

Free Cash Flow 125% (% of NI) 86% 66%

Blended Payout for Enterprise Financial Metrics 78%

Business Level Measures
Two of our NEOs had a portion of their STI based on the performance of one of our two business segments. Mr. Connolly 
leads the Hubbell Utility Solutions Segment, and Mr. Lau leads the Electrical Solutions Segment. Therefore, the OP and OCF 
performance of those business segments is a portion of their overall STI payout.

Utility Solutions Segment 

Metric Target Perf vs. Target Payout %

Operating Profit 109% (% vs. PY) 86% 66%

Operating Cash Flow 125% (% of OP) 91% 79%

Blended Payout for Business Level Financial Metrics 71%

Electrical Solutions Segment

Metric Target Perf vs. Target Payout %

Operating Profit 106% (% vs. PY) 102% 108%

Operating Cash Flow 101% (% of OP) 80% 51%

Blended Payout for Business Level Financial Metrics 88%
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Strategic Objective Measures
At the end of the performance period, the enterprise performance on the strategic objectives for 2021 was evaluated to 
determine the payout percentage for the portion of the short-term incentive. Over the course of 2021, the Company made 
progress against all the strategic objectives as outlined below.

Strategic Objective Achievements

Serve our Customers 	z Expanded Hubbell’s digital commerce capabilities and launched a new customer satisfaction survey.
	z Expanded and improved enterprise utilization of common sales tools. 

Operate with Discipline 	z Supply chain constraints impacted operational performance across the organization.
Grow the Enterprise 	z Created organizational infrastructure on innovation big bets while significantly increasing 

the number of projects through our innovation funnel.
	z Successful portfolio management.

Develop our People 	z Executed on a multi-year inclusion and diversity strategy, increased training of employees.
	z Ongoing progress on employee development plans.

In considering the achievements above, as well as the significant effort put forth to effectively guide the Company through 
the unprecedented challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Compensation Committee approved a 75% payout for the NEOs 
for the Strategic Objectives portion of their STI.

In addition to leadership on the enterprise-wide objectives as described above, additional factors considered by the Board 
and the Compensation Committee in evaluating the performance of the CEO for the 20% strategic objective portion include 
objectives targeted against Hubbell’s vision to be a valued investment, an inclusive organization, and an exceptional customer 
partner. In considering Mr. Bakker’s performance here, and in light of the overall assessment of the enterprise as described 
above, the Compensation Committee approved a 75% payout for Mr. Bakker for the strategic portion of his STI award.

Short-term Incentive Payout
The following table shows the STI award earned by each of the NEOs applying the composite payout percentages achieved 
on their individual performance measures to each of their STI Targets. Their 2021 STI Award is reflected below and in the 
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table on page 59.

Performance Measures/Results

EPS and Free
Cash Flow

(Enterprise Level)

Operating Profit and
Operating Cash Flow 

(Business Level)

Strategic
Objectives
(Individual)

Total
Composite 

Payout
STI Target

($)
STI Award

($)

Gerben W. Bakker 78% — 75% 77% 1,069,750 823,700

William R. Sperry 78% — 75% 77% 607,500 467,800

Allan J. Connolly 78% 71% 75% 74% 450,000 333,000

Peter J. Lau 78% 88% 75% 81% 420,000 340,200

Katherine A. Lane 78% — 75% 77% 343,000 264,100

Long-Term Incentive (“LTI”) Compensation
Hubbell maintains a Long-Term Incentive plan that extends to its top talent the opportunity to earn rewards in the form of 
Company Common Stock pursuant to the Company’s Amended and Restated 2005 Incentive Award Plan (as amended and 
in effect, the “Equity Plan”). The Equity Plan is designed to:

	z Generate growth in the Company’s share price by rewarding activity that enhances enterprise value. 
	z Ensure long-term rewards are commensurate with performance. 
	z Facilitate the accumulation of shares by leadership, ensuring greater alignment with shareholders. 
	z Motivate, retain and reward the NEOs.

50

6
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Changes made to 2021 LTI program informed by shareholder feedback:

  Maintained performance-based elements of the program at 75% with 50% performance shares and 25% stock appreciation rights.

  Simplified performance share program to enhance the role of relative TSR in the program.

  Aligned relative payout scales to market quartile approach.

50%
Performance Shares

25%
Restricted Shares

25%
SARs

75% Performance Based

PERFORMANCE SHARES AND RESTRICTED SHARES ARE 3-YEAR 
CLIFF VESTING, SARS ARE 3-YEAR RATABLE VESTING

Design

The above design of the long-term incentive award program reflects a strong performance-based orientation as demonstrated 
by the following:

	z 75% of the overall award mix is performance-based, enhancing the connection between long-term achievements and awards. 
	z Focused on critical performance metrics: For 2018 and 2020 grants, this included relative sales growth, operating profit 
margin, trade working capital modified by relative TSR; for 2021 grants, this includes: relative sales growth, operating profit 
margin and relative TSR. 

	z Vesting period for performance shares is three years and vesting period for restricted stock is generally three years except 
in limited instances (not applicable to our CEO) for talent acquisition or retention purposes.

This encourages a long-term view and 
promotes executive retention

The value of long-term incentive awards granted to executives each year is based on several factors, including external 
practices, the Company’s financial performance in the short-term and long-term, the value of awards granted in prior years, 
succession considerations and individual performance.

Our LTI program includes financial metrics aligned with our business strategy and that are most 
correlated with shareholder return within our Peer Group.

Performance Share Awards
Our performance share program continues to evolve in response to our shareholders’ feedback and to ensure alignment 
with our business strategy. The following table outlines the outstanding performance awards granted to our NEOs.

Grant Date
Performance 
Period Program Metrics Status See Page(s)

Feb. 2021 2021 – 2023 Relative Sales Growth, Operating 
Profit Margin, Relative Total 
Shareholder Return

Pending end of performance period 52-53

Feb. 2020 2020 – 2022 Relative Sales Growth, Operating 
Profit Margin, Trade Working Capital 
as % of Revenue, Relative TSR 
Modifier

Pending end of performance period 53-54

Dec. 2018 2019 – 2021 Relative Sales Growth, Operating 
Profit Margin, Trade Working Capital 
as % of Revenue, TSR Modifier

Performance period complete 53-54

In all cases, the actual number of performance shares earned by each NEO will be determined at the end of the three-year 
period based on Company performance as measured by the performance metrics and targets set out at the time of the grant, 
all of which are described in the following pages.
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Performance Share Grant Design (2021 Grant)
Performance Share Grants made in February of 2021 are comprised of three equally weighted metrics: Relative Sales 
Growth, Operating Profit Margin, and Relative Total Shareholder Return. The table below details the metrics and calculation 
methodology, and why they are important to the business.

Metric Weight How is it calculated? Why is it included in the LTI Program?

Relative Sales 
Growth

1/3rd Hubbell’s Compounded Annual Growth rate as 
compared to the companies that comprise the 
S&P Capital Goods 900 Index.

Drives growth initiatives, including organic 
growth, new product development, 
innovation, and acquisition performance.

Operating Profit 
Margin

1/3rd Operating income divided by net sales, as 
compared to a target set at the beginning of the 
performance period.

Focuses NEOs on improving pricing, 
productivity, and costs while executing 
operational objectives including footprint 
optimization and SKU rationalization.

Relative TSR 1/3rd Total Shareholder Return (average of the last 20 
trading days of the performance period as compared 
to the average of the first 20 trading days of the 
performance period, with dividends reinvested 
as shares), as compared to the companies that 
comprise the S&P Capital Goods 900 Index.

Ensures alignment with shareholder 
interests.

Performance Share Grant Targets (2021 Grant)
For the metrics described above, absolute targets are evaluated for each performance period to ensure that the program is 
designed to deliver continued improvement in the metrics. Relative targets encourage improvement by delivering greater 
payout for the highest percentile ranking and neutralizes external market effects. The table below sets out each metric at the 
enterprise level, the respective goals for the three-year period, and the payout percentage of performance shares that would 
be earned at each specified level of performance. Internally, we communicate to our executives the quartile performance of 
our peers and Hubbell against operating metrics and focus our executives on achieving top or 2nd quartile performance, while 
looking to avoid 3rd or 4th quartile performance, ranking at the bottom. As part of the 2021 LTI design, relative scales have 
been therefore updated to align explicitly with this approach. 

RELATIVE SALES GROWTH

 Target Payout

Max > 75th percentile 200%

Target 50th percentile 100%

Threshold 25th percentile 50%

No Payout < 25th percentile 0%

OPERATING PROFIT MARGIN

Target

 2021 - 2023 Payout

Max 15.5% 200%

Target 14.5% 100%

Threshold 13% 50%

No Payout < 13% 0%

For all relative measures in the Performance Share Program, Hubbell uses the S&P Capital 
Goods 900 Index which provides the most applicable and direct comparison to Hubbell’s 
business than any other index.
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RELATIVE TSR

Target

 2021 - 2023 Payout

Max >75th percentile 200%

Target 50th percentile 100%

Threshold 25th percentile 50%

No Payout < 25th percentile 0%

Performance Share Grant Design (2018 and 2020 Grants)
Performance Share Grants made in December 2018 and February 2020 are composed of three equally weighted metrics: 
Relative Sales Growth, Operating Profit Margin and Trade Working Capital as a Percentage of Sales. All three metrics are 
further modified by Relative Total Shareholder Return. The following table details the metrics and calculation methodology, 
and why they are important to the business.

Metric Weight How is it calculated? Why is it included in the LTI Program?

Relative Sales 
Growth

1/3rd Hubbell’s Compounded Annual Growth rate as 
compared to the companies that comprise the  
S&P Capital Goods 900 Index.

Drives growth initiatives, including organic 
growth, new product development, 
innovation, and acquisition performance.

Operating Profit 
Margin

1/3rd Operating income divided by net sales, as 
compared to a target set at the beginning of  
the performance period.

Focuses NEOs on improving pricing, 
productivity, and costs while executing 
operational objectives including footprint 
optimization and SKU rationalization.

Trade Working 
Capital as a % of 
Sales

1/3rd Accounts receivable plus inventory minus 
accounts payable, the result of which is divided 
by net sales, as compared to a target set at the 
beginning of the performance period.

Provides focus on activities that improve 
operational effectiveness and cash generation, 
specifically inventory management and 
accounts payable/ receivable.

Relative TSR Modifier Total Shareholder Return (average of the last 20 
trading days of the performance period as compared 
to the average of the first 20 trading days of the 
performance period, with dividends reinvested as 
shares), as compared to the companies that comprise 
the S&P Capital Goods 900 Index. Modifies award up 
or down if performance is at the top or bottom relative 
to the S&P Capital Goods 900 Index.

Ensures pay is aligned to shareholder 
interests.

Performance Share Grant Targets (2018 and 2020 Grants)
For the metrics described above, absolute targets are evaluated for each performance period to ensure that the program is 
designed to deliver continued improvement in the metrics. Relative targets encourage improvement by delivering greater payout 
for the highest percentile ranking. The table below sets out each metric at the enterprise level, the respective goals for the three-
year period, and the payout percentage of performance shares that would be earned at each specified level of performance.

RELATIVE SALES GROWTH

 Target Payout

Max > 80th percentile 200%

Target 50th percentile 100%

Threshold 35th percentile 50%

No Payout < 35th percentile 0%

OPERATING PROFIT MARGIN

Target

 2020 - 2022 2019 - 2021 Payout

Max 16% 15.5% 200%

Target 14.5% 14% 100%

Threshold 13% 12.5% 50%

No Payout < 13% < 12.5% 0%
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TRADE WORKING CAPITAL (as % of sales)

Target

 2020 - 2022 2019 - 2021 Payout

Max 18.5% 19% 200%

Target 19% 19.5% 100%

Threshold 20% 20.5% 50%

No Payout > 20% > 20.5% 0%

TSR MODIFIER

Target

Relative TSR Percentile 2020 – 2022 Relative TSR 2019 – 2021

= or > 75th X 150% > 80th X 120%

> 25th - < 75th X 100% 20th - 80th X 100%

< or = 25th X 50% < 20th X 80%

No performance shares will be earned for a metric if performance falls below the noted threshold. If the Company’s performance for 
any of the performance metrics falls between the percentages listed on the table, the percentage of performance shares earned will 
be determined by linear interpolation.

Performance Share Grant Payout (2018 Grant)
The performance period for the LTI Performance Share grant made in December of 2018 ended on December 31, 2021. The 
table below outlines the actual performance of the metrics within the program, and the associated payouts.

Metric Weight
Target for  

100% Payout Actual Performance Payout FINAL PAYOUT

Projected Relative Sales Growth(1) 34% 50th percentile 48th percentile 94% 94%

OP Margin 33% 14% 12.7% 57% 57%

Trade Working Capital 33% 19.5% 19.4% 120% 120%

TSR Modifier 20th - 80th 100% 100%

BLENDED PAYOUT ACROSS PERFORMANCE SHARES 90%
(1) The calculation of the relative sales growth measure is dependent upon public availability of financial results from our peer companies. 

Due to the timing of the availability of this information, the Compensation Committee cannot determine the level of achievement of 
the performance criteria until a sufficient number of S&P 900 Index companies report their earnings for the year ended December 31, 
2021. As a result, the actual payout results for the 2019-2021 performance share award grants based on Relative Sales Growth will not be 
determined until March 2022 and such payouts will not be approved by the Compensation Committee until April 2022 after the filing of this 
Proxy Statement. The above projections reflect the results available as of March 21, 2022, including consensus estimates for sales growth 
for the Peer Group. Shareholders are cautioned, however, that the information that follows is preliminary in nature, is subject to change 
based on the actual reported results of the S&P 900 Index companies and has not been approved by the Compensation Committee.

Impact to Shares Received

NEO Target Shares (Dec 2018) Final Shares (Feb 2022)

Gerben W. Bakker 3,792 3,424

William S. Sperry 4,930 4,452

Allan J. Connolly 948 856

Peter J. Lau — —

Katherine A. Lane 246 221

Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARs”)
A SAR gives the holder the right to receive, once vested, the value in shares of the Company’s Common Stock equal to the 
positive difference between the base price and the market value of a share of Common Stock upon exercise. Generally, SARs vest 
in three equal installments on each of the first three anniversaries of the grant date. The base price pursuant to which the value 
of the SARs is measured is the mean between the high and low trading prices of the Company’s Common Stock as reported on 
the NYSE on the trading day immediately preceding the date of grant (i.e. for the February 10, 2021 grants, February 9, 2021 - 
$163.26). For future grants, the base price will equal the mean between the high and low trading prices of our Common Stock 
as reported on the NYSE on the trading day immediately preceding the date of grant. The Company uses this measure for two 
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reasons: first, using the trading prices from the day before the grant enables the Compensation Committee to know the exact 
grant price and therefore the exact value of each grant before it is made; and second, because of the relatively low volume 
at which the Company’s stock trades, it suggests that the mean represents a more accurate picture of the fair market value 
of the stock than does the closing price. For purposes of determining individual award levels, the number of shares subject 
to each SAR is formulated on the basis of a modified Black-Scholes calculation. See the section entitled “Equity Award Plan 
Vesting Provisions” on page 62 for additional information on the terms of these awards.

Time Based Restricted Stock
Time based restricted stock provides incentives for executives to remain employed by the Company and to create and maintain 
value for shareholders because the value of a restricted share depends on the executive’s continued employment and the 
value of the Company’s stock on the vesting date. Restricted stock awards are granted in shares of the Company’s Common 
Stock and generally vest on the third-year anniversary of the grant date.

Other Compensation Policies and Benefit Programs
Stock Ownership and Retention Policy

Hubbell has long encouraged stock ownership by its Directors, officers, and employees to 
align their interests with the long-term interests of our stockholders.

The Company has a Stock Ownership and Retention Policy which is applicable to the NEOs, the other executive officers, 
senior level employees and the Directors. For employees, the policy requires covered employees, consistent with their 
responsibilities to the shareholders of the Company, to hold a significant equity interest in the Company. The terms and 
conditions of the policy are annually reviewed by the Compensation Committee and Exequity to ensure consistency with 
current market practices and external benchmarks and alignment between the interests of the employees covered by the 
policy and the interests of the Company’s shareholders. 

The policy provides:

	z Until a covered employee meets his or her ownership minimum, a covered employee must retain 100% of the net shares 
acquired pursuant to the exercise of a SAR and all other shares directly or indirectly acquired by such covered employee.

	z Once the minimum share ownership level is satisfied, the covered employee is expected to continue to satisfy such 
requirement for so long as he or she is subject to the policy. 

	z Shares that count toward the minimum share ownership requirement include shares held directly and indirectly by the 
covered employee, including restricted stock granted under the Equity Plan, and in-the-money vested (but unexercised) 
SARs. Shares underlying unearned performance shares are not counted. 

	z Covered employees have approximately five years from the earliest date such employee is subject to the policy (in such 
applicable position) to achieve their minimum ownership requirement.

Accordingly, the policy expects employees to attain a minimum share ownership level equal to their base salary times a certain 
multiplier, as indicated in the below table. As of December 31, 2021, all NEOs are in compliance with the Stock Ownership 
and Retention Policy.

Minimum Stock Ownership Requirement

5x 4x 3x
BASE SALARY BASE SALARY BASE SALARY
CEO COO CFO,

Segment Presidents, 
General Counsel,
EVPs, 
SVPs

The Stock Ownership and Retention Policy can be viewed on the Company’s website at www.hubbell.com.
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Compensation Recovery Policy (Clawback)
The Company has a Compensation Recovery Policy which provides that an executive, including a NEO, who is determined to 
have engaged in fraud or other gross misconduct which contributed in whole or in part to a restatement of the Company’s 
financial results, may be subject to any one or more of the following disciplinary actions:

	z Termination of employment. 
	z Recovery of all or any portion of any performance-based cash or equity paid or vested during the previous three years that 
would otherwise not have been paid or vested based on the restated financial results. 

	z Cancellation or forfeiture of any performance-based cash or equity awards not yet paid or vested or offset against future awards.

The Compensation Committee annually reviews Hubbell’s Compensation Recovery Policy and benchmarks the provisions with 
its independent compensation consultant, Exequity LLP. All actions taken under this policy will be determined by the Board 
of Directors in its sole discretion upon consultation with the Audit Committee and the NCGC.

Policy Prohibiting Hedging and Pledging
Our insider trading policy prohibits the hedging and pledging of our securities. Our officers, Directors, and certain employees 
designated by Hubbell’s Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary who may have access to material, non-public 
information about Hubbell and its financial condition, as well as all persons living in such restricted persons’ households and any 
entities directly or indirectly controlled by such restricted persons, are prohibited from (i) engaging in hedging, monetization 
transactions or similar arrangements involving our stock, including short sales, margin transactions, and buying put or call 
options, as well as derivatives such as swaps, forwards, and futures transactions, (ii) pledging our stock as collateral for a loan, 
credit, stop loss or any other limit orders placed with a broker, except pursuant to an approved 10b5-1 plan and (iii) purchasing 
our stock on margin or holding our securities in a margin account.

Employee Benefits
NEOs receive employee health & welfare and retirement benefits that are generally available to all employees, as well as 
certain retirement benefits, limited perquisites (as detailed on page 60), severance and change in control protections. These 
additional benefits are similar to the types and amounts available to other senior executives of manufacturing companies as 
demonstrated in the benchmark data. The following table outlines the benefits plans available to the NEOs.

Plan Description

Hubbell Health & 
Welfare Benefits

Cafeteria-style plans that provide medical, dental, prescription, life insurance, disability and the 
option to purchase other voluntary benefits.

Qualified Pension Plan Defined Benefit plan providing annuity-option benefits at retirement or a lump sum within one 
year of separation of employment based on a pre-determined formula taking into account service 
and compensation. Plan was closed to new entrants in 2004, service accruals were frozen in 
February 2017 and compensation was frozen at the end of 2020.

Qualified 401(k) Plan Defined Contribution Safe-Harbor plan providing for tax-deferred savings options to employees 
up to IRS guidelines. Plan provides for a 4% automatic contribution and a 50% match on the first 
6% of employee contributions.

Non-Qualified Defined 
Benefit Restoration Plan

Restoration or excess benefit plan for Defined Benefit Plan for employees with earnings in excess 
of IRS limits. Plan was closed to new entrants in 2004, service accruals were frozen in February 
2017 and compensation accruals was frozen at the end of 2020.

Non-Qualified Defined 
Contribution Restoration 
Plan

Restoration or excess benefit plan for Defined Contribution Plan for employees with earnings 
in excess of IRS limits. Plan provides for a 4% contribution for those earnings in excess of the 
limits, and for a restoration match for employees who also participate in the Executive Deferred 
Compensation Plan.

Executive Deferred 
Compensation Plan

Permits eligible executives to defer up to 50% of short-term incentive and 100% of their base salary.

Note that all of these plans are offered to NEOs on the same basis as all other eligible employees and executives.
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Retirement Plans and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plans

Qualified Pension Plans
The Company maintains a defined benefit pension plan (the “DB Plan”) and a defined contribution retirement plan (the “DC 
Plan”) in which named executive officers participate along with the other employees of Hubbell.

Employees hired after December 31, 2003, are not eligible to participate in the DB Plan but may participate in the DC Plan. The 
Company closed the DB Plan to new employees after 2003 following its determination that it was no longer necessary in order 
to attract talent in the marketplace. Service credit under the DB Plan ceased effective February 28, 2017, and a subsequent 
freeze on eligible compensation was effective December 31, 2020. Mr. Bakker is the only NEO who participates in the DB Plan.

The DC Plan provides that the Company will make a fully vested annual non-elective Company contribution of 4% of eligible 
earnings on behalf of all eligible participants, including the NEOs. Additionally, the Company makes a matching contribution 
equal to 50% of the first 6% of a participant’s eligible earnings that he or she contributes to the DC Plan, subject to Code 
limitations. All of the NEOs are participants in the DC Plan on the same terms as other employees in the Company.

Non-Qualified Supplemental Retirement Plans
Certain Senior Executives of the Company, including the NEOs, are eligible to participate in supplemental retirement plans 
including the Top Hat Restoration Plan (“DB Restoration Plan”) and the Defined Contribution Restoration Plan (“DC Restoration 
Plan”) which are available to DB Plan and DC Plan participants, respectively, with compensation in excess of Code limitations 
applicable to qualified plans.

The DB Restoration Plan is an “excess benefit plan” under which participants in the DB Plan receive additional retirement 
benefits, calculated in the same manner as benefits are calculated under the DB Plan, but without regard to the applicable 
limits on compensation or benefit accruals required by the tax-qualified plan rules. Mr. Bakker is the only NEO that participates 
in the DB Restoration Plan. The DC Restoration Plan, also an “excess benefit plan,” enables participants in the DC Plan to 
receive Company contributions equal to the additional contributions such employee would have received under the DC Plan, 
but for the compensation limits imposed by the tax-qualified plan rules.

The DB Restoration Plan and DC Restoration are intended to promote the retention of our eligible senior management 
employees by providing them with the opportunity to earn pension and retirement benefits which supplement the benefits 
available under the Company’s tax-qualified retirement plans.

Executive Deferred Compensation Plan
The Company also has a non-qualified Executive Deferred Compensation Plan (“EDCP”), which permits selected individuals, 
including our NEOs, to defer the receipt of up to 50% of their base salary and 100% of their short-term incentive award. The 
EDCP also provides for discretionary contributions by the Company. No such discretionary contributions were made in 2021. 
Amounts deferred under the EDCP are credited with earnings on the basis of individual investment directions made by each 
participant. The purpose of the EDCP is to provide a tax and retirement planning tool to selected individuals and thus assist the 
Company in attracting and retaining senior management. See the “Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation” section on page 66.

Perquisites
In 2021, the Company provided the following limited perquisites to its NEOs: financial planning and tax preparation services 
and limited personal travel on the Company aircraft. These perquisites provide flexibility to the executives and increase travel 
efficiencies, thereby allowing more productive use of the executives’ time and protection of the executives’ personal and 
financial health and thus the Company’s investment in their development. The Company routinely examines the competitiveness 
of the perquisites offered in light of the evolving competitive landscape and determines whether any modifications are 
appropriate. Footnote 5 to the “Summary Compensation Table” on page 60 outlines the benefits received by each NEO in 2021.
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Severance and Change in Control Benefits
Hubbell maintains a Policy for Providing Severance to Senior Employees (the “Severance Policy”) that generally provides 
severance to its senior management in the event of certain “involuntary” terminations of employment with Hubbell.

The Company has also entered into Change in Control Severance Agreements (“CIC Agreements”) with certain of its NEOs 
which provide certain alternative severance benefits in the event such NEO’s employment is involuntarily or constructively 
terminated in connection with a change in control. Such severance benefits are designed to alleviate the financial impact of 
termination of employment through base salary and health benefit continuation and outplacement services, with the intent 
of providing for a stable work environment by reinforcing and encouraging executives’ continued attention and dedication to 
their duties of employment without the personal distraction or conflict of interest that could arise from the occurrence of a 
change in control. The Compensation Committee annually reviews Hubbell’s CIC Agreements and benchmarks the provisions 
of each with its independent compensation consultant, Exequity LLP.

The decision to offer benefits under the Severance Policy and the CIC Agreements does not influence the Compensation 
Committee’s determinations concerning other direct compensation or benefit levels. In making the decision to extend the 
benefits, the Compensation Committee relied on its independent compensation consultant, Exequity, to ensure that such 
severance and change in control benefits align with the policy statements put forth by governance rating agencies and market 
practices in the area of severance and change in control compensation.

Accordingly, the Company’s CIC Agreements contain the following types and amounts of compensation benefits payable to 
senior executives upon a change in control:

	z Double trigger (change in control plus termination of employment) required to obtain cash severance benefit. 
	z Lump sum cash payments not to exceed 2.75 times base salary plus short-term incentive award. 
	z “Responsive Trigger” LTI awards do not automatically become vested and payable upon a change in control (as described 
below). 

	z Elimination of gross ups to cover excise taxes.

Upon a change in control, all LTI awards (other than any portion subject to performance-based vesting) will continue in effect 
or be assumed or substituted by an acquiring company, unless the Compensation Committee elects to terminate the award 
or cause it to fully vest. The portion of an award that is subject to performance-based vesting will be subject to the terms of 
the award agreement or the Compensation Committee’s discretion, as applicable.

If a LTI award continues in effect or is assumed or substituted and a grantee’s employment is terminated without cause or 
within twelve months following a change in control, then the award will fully vest as of the date of termination. Similarly, if 
the acquiring company refuses to assume or substitute an award, the Compensation Committee may exercise its discretion 
to terminate the award in exchange for cash, rights or property, or cause the awards to become fully exercisable prior to the 
change in control.

For additional information relating to the Company’s change in control and severance benefits, including under the CIC 
Agreements and the Severance Policy, see the “Potential Post-Employment Compensation Arrangements” section on page 67.

Compensation Committee Report
The Compensation Committee has reviewed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and discussed its contents with 
members of the Company’s management and its independent compensation consultant, Exequity. Based on this review and 
discussion, the Compensation Committee has recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be 
included in this Proxy Statement and the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Compensation Committee

John G. Russell, Chair  
Carlos M. Cardoso 
Anthony J. Guzzi 
Neal J. Keating 
Jennifer M. Pollino
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Summary Compensation Table

Named Executive
Officer Year

Salary
($)

Stock 
Awards(2)

($)

Option 
Awards(2)

($)

Non-Equity 
Incentive Plan 

Compensation(3)

($)

Change in 
Pension 

Value and 
Nonqualified 

Deferred 
Compensation 

Earnings(4)

($)

All Other 
Compensation(5)

($)
Total

($)
Gerben W. Bakker
Chairman, President 
and Chief Executive 
Officer

2021 972,500 3,130,670 1,025,488 823,700 — 136,342 6,088,700
2020 768,319 2,541,156 838,512 703,400 1,716,976 106,323 6,674,686
2019 601,800 292,561 292,506 738,500 914,348 81,517 2,921,232

William R. Sperry
Executive Vice 
President, Chief 
Financial Officer

2021 672,692 1,335,717 437,506 467,800 — 89,107 3,002,822
2020 618,846 1,212,363 400,005 457,400 — 96,008 2,784,622
2019 615,200 149,965 150,004 680,000 — 108,932 1,704,101

Allan J. Connolly
President, Utility 
Solutions Segment

2021 597,692 782,325 256,247 333,000 — 365,437 2,334,701
2020 548,415 757,652 249,994 438,800 — 372,777 2,367,638
2019 591,821 125,014 124,993 449,800 — 338,984 1,630,612

Peter J. Lau(1)

President, Electrical 
Solutions Segment

2021 558,462 610,526 200,006 340,200 — 64,687 1,773,881

Katherine A. Lane 
Senior Vice President, 
General Counsel 
and Secretary

2021 487,692 610,526 200,006 264,100 — 49,432 1,611,756
2020 442,223 568,276 187,502 237,700 — 46,630 1,482,331
2019 366,200 172,460 172,508 291,500 — 37,974 1,040,642

(1) First reported as a NEO in 2021.
(2) The amounts reported in the Stock Awards and Option Awards columns reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of restricted 

stock, performance shares and SARs granted in 2021 as calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. For a discussion of the 
assumptions made in the valuation, see Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for 2021 in the Form 10-K filed with the SEC 
on February 11, 2022. The actual value that an executive may realize from an award is contingent upon the satisfaction of the vesting 
conditions of the award. For SARs, the actual value of the award is based upon the positive difference between the base price and the 
market value of a share of Common Stock on the date of exercise. Thus, there is no assurance that the value, if any, eventually realized 
by the executive will correspond to the amount shown. For performance shares with a Relative Sales Growth performance metric, fair 
value is based upon the average between the high and low trading prices of the Company’s Common Stock on the date preceding the 
grant date and assumes that the award will vest at target.

(3) The amounts reported in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column reflect short-term incentive awards earned under the 
Company’s Short-term Incentive Plan.

(4) The amounts reported in the Change in Pension Value and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Earnings column reflect the aggregate 
change in the actuarial present value of each NEO’s accumulated benefit under the retirement plans in which they participate. See 
the “Employee Benefits” section on page 56 and “Retirement Plans and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plans” section on page 
57. The present value of accrued benefits at December 31, 2019 is based on the Pri-2012 Healthy Annuitant Mortality Tables, sex 
distinct, with generational projection from 2012 using Scale MP-2019 and using a discount rate of 3.30%. The present value of accrued 
benefits at December 31, 2020 is based on the Pri-2012 Healthy Annuitant Mortality White Collar Tables, sex distinct, with generational 
projection from 2012 using Scale MP-2020 and using a discount rate of 2.60%. The present value of accrued benefits at December 
31, 2021 is based on the Pri-2012 Healthy Annuitant Mortality White Collar Tables, sex distinct, with generational projection from 2012 
using Scale MP-2021 and using a discount rate of 2.90%. Participants are assumed to retire at age 62 or current age, if later. Based on 
these assumptions, the actuarial value of Mr. Bakker’s pension decreased by $112,699 from 2020 to 2021, and therefore the amount is 
reported in the above table as $0.
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(5) The amounts reported in the All Other Compensation column for 2021 are detailed in the following table:

Name
Retention(a)

($)
Perquisites(b)

($)
Relocation(c)

($)

Retirement Plan
Contributions(d)

($)
Total

($)
Gerben W. Bakker — 17,581 9,550 109,211 136,342

William R. Sperry — 10,000 — 79,107 89,107

Allan J. Connolly 283,463 9,845 — 72,129 365,437

Peter J. Lau — 10,000 8,840 45,847 64,687

Katherine A. Lane — 10,666 — 38,766 49,432

(a) The amounts in the Retention column reflect a value paid to Mr. Connolly related to an employment agreement provided to him as 
a part of the acquisition of the Aclara business in 2018 (as amended). This value described was a cash bonus paid on the third-year 
anniversary of the acquisition date. The employment agreement has since expired.

(b) The amounts in the Perquisites column reflect the incremental cost to the Company for the actual cost of financial planning or 
tax preparation services up to a maximum of $10,000 for each NEO, the matching gifts made by The Harvey Hubbell Foundation; 
and personal use of the Company aircraft for Mr. Bakker - $7,581, which includes fuel costs, crew expenses, and landing, hangar, 
airplane parking, ramp, and maintenance fees.

(c) The amounts in the Relocation column reflect amounts paid to Mr. Bakker and Mr. Lau as reimbursement for costs associated with 
their relocation associated with the appointment to their current positions. 

(d) The amounts in the Retirement Plan Contributions column reflect Company 401(k) matching contributions of $8,700 for 
Mr. Bakker, Mr. Sperry, Mr. Connolly and Ms. Lane and $8,042 for Mr. Lau; and an automatic company retirement contribution of 
$11,600 for each NEO under the DC Plan. This column also includes the following Company Retirement contribution earned under 
the DC Restoration Plan in 2021 to be contributed in 2022 for: Mr. Bakker - $55,436, Mr. Sperry - $33,604, Mr. Connolly - $29,860, 
Mr. Lau - $15,694, and Ms. Lane - $17,416. This column also includes the following restoration match contributions under the DC 
Restoration Plan earned in 2021 and contributed in 2022 for: Mr. Bakker - $33,475, Mr. Sperry - $25,203, Mr. Connolly - $21,969, 
Mr. Lau - $10,511, and Ms. Lane - $1,050.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards in Fiscal Year 2021
The following table presents information concerning plan-based awards granted in 2021 to the NEOs under the Company’s 
Incentive Plan and Equity Plan. All stock awards are payable in shares of the Company’s Common Stock.

Est. Future Payouts Under  
Non-Equity Incentive Plan 

Awards(1)

Est. Future Payouts Under 
Equity Incentive Plan 

Awards(2)

All Other 
Stock 

Awards: 
Number of 

Shares of 
Stock or 

Units(3)

(#)

All Other 
Option 

Awards: 
Number

of Shares
Underlying

Options(3)

(#)

Exercise 
or Base
Price of
Option

Awards(4)

($/Sh)

Grant Date 
Fair Value 

of
Stock and

Option
Awards(5)

($)Name
Type of
Award

Grant
Date

Threshold
($)

Target
($)

Max
($)

Threshold
(#)

Target
(#)

Max
(#)

Gerben W. 
Bakker

STI 2/10/21 534,900 1,069,800 2,139,600 — — — — — — —

RS 2/10/21 — — — — — — 6,281 — — 1,025,436

SAR 2/10/21 — — — — — — — 34,845 163.26 1,025,488

PS/RSG 2/10/21 — — — 2,094 4,188 8,376 — — — 636,241

PS/OPM 2/10/21 — — — 2,094 4,188 8,376 — — — 636,241

PS/TSR 2/10/21 — — — 2,093 4,187 8,374 — — — 832,752

William 
R. Sperry

STI 2/10/21 303,750 607,500 1,215,000 — — — — — — —

RS 2/10/21 — — — — — — 2,680 — — 437,537

SAR 2/10/21 — — — — — — — 14,866 163.26 437,506

PS/RSG 2/10/21 — — — 894 1,787 3,574 — — — 271,481

PS/OPM 2/10/21 — — — 894 1,787 3,574 — — — 271,481

PS/TSR 2/10/21 — — — 893 1,786 3,572 — — — 355,218

Allan J. 
Connolly

STI 2/10/21 225,000 450,000 900,000 — — — — — — —

RS 2/10/21 — — — — — — 1,570 — — 256,318

SAR 2/10/21 — — — — — — — 8,707 163.26 256,247

PS/RSG 2/10/21 — — — 524 1,047 2,094 — — — 159,060

PS/OPM 2/10/21 — — — 523 1,046 2,092 — — — 158,908

PS/TSR 2/10/21 — — — 523 1,046 2,092 — — — 208,039

Peter 
J. Lau

STI 2/10/21 210,000 420,000 840,000 — — — — — — —

RS 2/10/21 — — — — — — 1,225 — — 199,994

SAR 2/10/21 — — — — — — — 6,796 163.26 200,006

PS/RSG 2/10/21 — — — 409 817 1,634 — — — 124,119

PS/OPM 2/10/21 — — — 409 817 1,634 — — — 124,119

PS/TSR 2/10/21 — — — 408 816 1,632 — — — 169,294

Katherine 
A. Lane

STI 2/10/21 171,500 343,000 686,000 — — — — — — —

RS 2/10/21 — — — — — — 1,225 — — 199,994

SAR 2/10/21 — — — — — — — 6,796 163.26 200,006

PS/RSG 2/10/21 — — — 409 817 1,634 — — — 124,119

PS/OPM 2/10/21 — — — 409 817 1,634 — — — 124,119

PS/TSR 2/10/21 — — — 408 816 1,632 — — — 169,294
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(1) The amounts reported in the Estimated Future Payouts Under Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards columns reflect the target, threshold 
and maximum short-term incentive award opportunity for each of the NEOs under the Company’s Short-term Incentive Plan. The 
NEOs are eligible for a payout within the threshold and maximum range depending upon several performance factors such as 
earnings per share, operating profit improvement, free and operating cash flow and strategic objectives. See the “Short-Term Incentive 
Compensation” section on page 46.

(2) The amounts reported in the Estimated Future Payouts Under Equity Incentive Plan Awards columns reflect the target number of 
performance shares (“PS”) awarded to the NEOs under the Equity Plan on February 10, 2021, and the threshold and maximum number 
of performance shares that may be earned. Performance shares are earned on three measures: (i) Relative Sales Growth (“RSG”), 
(ii) Operating Profit Margin (“OPM”) and (iii) Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”). The actual number of performance shares earned will 
be determined at the end of a three-year period. See the “Performance Share Awards” section on page 51.

(3) The amounts reported in the All Other Stock Awards and All Other Option Awards columns reflect the number of shares of Restricted 
Stock (“RS”) and Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARs”) awarded under the Equity Plan on February 10, 2021. SARs are subject to vesting 
in three equal annual installments on the anniversary of the grant date. Upon retirement, RS will vest in full. SARs and RS become fully 
vested upon death or disability.

(4) The amount reported in the Exercise or Base Price of Option Awards column reflects the mean between the high and low trading 
prices of the Company’s Common Stock on the trading day immediately preceding the date of grant which was the fair market value 
of the Company’s Common Stock as defined under the Equity Plan.

(5) The amounts reported in the Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option Awards column reflect the aggregate fair value of the RS and 
SARs granted to each NEO on February 10, 2021, based upon the probable outcome of performance conditions, as applicable, and 
disclosed in Note 18 within the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company’s 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K 
filed with the SEC on February 11, 2022.

Equity Award Plan Vesting Provisions - Grant Terms
The following table describes the general terms of each of the equity incentive awards granted to the applicable NEOs on 
February 10, 2021.

Restricted Stock Performance Shares Stock Appreciation Rights

Description A grant of a number of shares 
subject to forfeiture if not 
vested.

A promise to receive a number of 
shares on the third-year anniversary 
of the grant date subject to meeting 
performance goals.

Right to receive, in stock, the 
appreciation in value between the 
stock price on the date of grant 
and date of exercise.

Abbreviation RS PS SARs

Vesting Period 3-year cliff vesting on the 
anniversary of the grant date.(1).

3-year cliff vesting on attainment of 
three stated performance measures. 

1/3 per year on the anniversary of 
the grant date.

(1) The vesting period for restricted stock is generally three-years except in limited instances for retention or for talent acquisition purposes.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at 2021 Fiscal Year End
The following table provides information on all restricted stock, SARs and performance share awards held by the NEOs of 
the Company and the value of such holdings measured as of December 31, 2021. All outstanding equity awards are in shares 
of the Company’s Common Stock.

Option Awards(1) Stock Awards

Name Grant Date

No. of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Options 
Exercisable 

(#)

No. of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Options
Unexercisable

(#)

Option
Exercise

Price
($)

Option
Expiration

Date

No. of
Shares

or Units
of Stock

that
have not
Vested(2)

(#)

Market
Value of

Shares or
Units that
have not
Vested(3)

($)

Equity
Incentive

Plan Awards:
No. of

Unearned
Shares, Units,

or other
Rights that

have not
Vested(4)

(#)

Equity
Incentive

Plan Awards:
Market or

Payout Value
of Unearned

Shares Units or
other Rights

that have not
Vested(5)

($)
Gerben W. 
Bakker

12/10/13 3,971 — 107.87 12/10/23 — — — —
2/1/14 4,668 — 117.16 2/1/24 — — — —

12/2/14 9,970 — 106.44 12/2/24 — — — —
12/8/15 13,813 — 97.48 12/8/25 — — — —
12/6/16 17,090 — 113.69 12/6/26 — — — —
12/5/17 19,170 — 127.51 12/5/27 — — — —

12/14/18 16,547 — 105.49 12/14/28 — — 3,792 789,760
7/1/19 9,176 4,589 129.28 7/1/29 2,263 471,315 — —

2/13/20 11,056 22,113 149.49 2/13/30 5,609 1,168,186 11,218 2,336,373
2/10/21 — 34,845 163.26 2/10/31 6,281 1,308,144 12,563 2,616,496

William R.
Sperry

12/14/18 7,171 — 105.49 12/14/28 — — 4,930 1,026,771
7/1/19 4,706 2,353 129.28 7/1/29 1,160 241,593 — —

2/13/20 5,274 10,549 149.49 2/13/30 2,676 557,331 5,352 1,114,661
2/10/21 — 14,866 163.26 2/10/31 2,680 558,164 5,360 1,116,327

Allan J. 
Connolly

12/14/18 4,137 — 105.49 12/14/28 — — 948 197,440
7/1/19 3,921 1,961 129.28 7/1/29 967 201,397 — —

2/13/20 3,296 6,593 149.49 2/13/30 1,672 348,227 3,345 696,663
2/10/21 — 8,707 163.26 2/10/31 1,570 326,984 3,139 653,760

Peter J. Lau 9/1/20 — — — — 2,763 575,450 — —
2/10/21 — 6,796 163.26 2/10/31 1,225 255,131 2,450 510,262

Katherine 
A. Lane

7/1/17 883 — 113.03 7/1/27 — —
12/5/17 2,442 — 127.51 12/5/27 — —

12/14/18 2,868 — 105.49 12/14/28 246 51,234
7/1/19 5,412 2,706 129.28 7/1/29 1,334 277,832 — —

2/13/20 2,472 4,945 149.49 2/13/30 1,254 261,171 2,509 522,549
2/10/21 — 6,796 163.26 2/10/31 1,225 255,131 2,450 510,262

(1) The Option Awards column reflects SARs that were granted to each NEO on the dates shown. SARs entitle the recipient to receive the 
value in shares of the Company’s Common Stock equal to the positive difference between the base price and the fair market value of 
a share of Common Stock upon exercise. Generally, SARs vest and become exercisable in three equal installments on each of the first 
three anniversaries of the grant date. See the “Equity Award Plan Vesting Provisions” section on page 62. 

(2) The No. of Shares or Units of Stock that have not Vested column reflects restricted stock granted on the following dates and terms: 
2/10/21, 9/1/20, 2/13/20, and 7/1/19 RS grants - Vest on the third-year anniversary of the grant date except for 2,763 shares granted 
to Mr. Lau on 9/1/20 which vest in three equal installments on each of the first three anniversaries of the grant date. See the “Equity 
Award Plan Vesting Provisions” section on page 62. 

(3) The Market Value of Shares or Units that have not Vested is based upon the closing market price of the Company’s Common Stock on 
December 31, 2021 of $208.27.

(4) The Equity Incentive Plan Awards: No. of Unearned Shares, Units, or Other Rights that have not Vested column reflects performance 
shares granted on the following dates and terms for the performance periods noted: 2/10/21 - Vest based on achievement of each of 
three measures as described in the “Performance Share Awards” section on page 51 at the end of a three-year performance period 
(1/1/21 - 12/31/23). 2/13/20 and 12/14/18 - Vest based on achievement of each of three measures as described in the “Performance 
Share Awards” section on page 51 at the end of a three-year performance period (1/1/20 - 12/31/22 and 1/1/19 - 12/31/21, respectively), 
as adjusted based on TSR performance.

(5) The Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Market or Payout Value of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights that have not Vested column is 
based upon the closing market price of the Company’s Common Stock on December 31, 2021, of $208.27.
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested During Fiscal Year 2021
The following table provides information on the number of shares acquired and the value realized by the NEOs during fiscal 
year 2021 on the exercise of SARs and on the vesting of restricted stock and performance shares.

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name

No. of Shares 
Acquired on 

Exercise
(#)

Value Realized 
Upon Exercise(1)

($)

No. of Shares 
Acquired on 

Vesting
(#)

Value 
Realized 

Upon Vesting
($)

Gerben W. Bakker 5,742 494,659 4,158 806,964(2)

— — 2,890 555,169(3)

William R. Sperry 43,735 1,646,687 5,712 1,099,041(2)

— — 4,432 851,387(3)

Allan J. Connolly — — 4,491 764,464(2)

— — — —

Peter J. Lau — — 1,381 282,359(2)

— — — —

Katherine A. Lane — — 165 34,386(2)

— — 184 35,346(3)

(1) The amounts reported in the Option Awards - Value Realized Upon Exercise column reflect the number of shares acquired upon 
exercise of SARs multiplied by the difference between the base price of the SAR and the market price of the Company’s Common 
Stock on the date of exercise.

(2) The amounts reported in the Stock Awards - Value Realized Upon Vesting column reflect the number of shares of performance based 
restricted stock and time-based restricted stock, as applicable, acquired upon vesting multiplied by the closing market price of the 
Company’s Common Stock on the following vesting dates: February 8, 2021 - $163.04, February 11, 2021 - $163.07, September 1, 2021 - 
$204.46 and December 14, 2021 - $208.40. 

(3) The amounts reported in the Stock Awards - Value Realized Upon Vesting column reflect the number of performance shares earned 
multiplied by the closing market price of the Company’s Common Stock on February 9, 2022, $192.10 the date the delivery of the 
performance shares was approved for the performance period ending December 31, 2021.

Pension Benefits in Fiscal Year 2021
The following table provides information on the retirement benefits for the NEOs under the Company’s DB Plan and DB 
Restoration Plan in which they participate. See the “Employee Benefits” section on page 56. 

Name Plan Name

No. of Years
Credited Service

(#)

Present Value of
Accumulated Benefit(1)

($)

Payments During
the Last Fiscal Year

($)

Gerben W. Bakker DB Plan  25.92  1,071,346 —

 DB Restoration Plan 25.92 3,748,359 —

(1) For the DB Plan and the DB Restoration Plan, the present value of accrued benefits at December 31, 2021 are determined based on 
the Pri-2012 Healthy Annuitant Mortality White Collar tables, sex distinct, with generational projection from 2012 using Scale MP-2021 
and using a discount rate of 2.90%. Participants are assumed to retire at age 62 or current age, if later.
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Pension Benefit Calculations
The following paragraphs describe the manner in which benefits are calculated under each of the Company’s retirement plans:

DB Plan and DB Restoration Plan
The DB Plan provides for participation by all regular full-time salaried employees (other than employees who are subject to 
a collective-bargaining agreement) who were employed by covered Company businesses on December 31, 2003.

The annual benefits under the DB Plan upon normal retirement (age 65) are calculated under the following formula in which 
Final Average Pay refers to the average of the executive’s highest three consecutive earnings (base salary and short-term 
incentives) in the last ten years:

	z For all other participants hired before January 1, 2004, the formula is as follows:

Years of 
Service  

(up to 35)

Years of 
Service 
(>35)

Years of 
Service  

(up to 35)

Final 
Average 

Pay
0.85% 1.10%0.65%

Final Average 
Pay less Social 

Security Covered 
Compensation

Final 
Average 
Compen- 

sation

Benefits under the DB Restoration Plan are calculated in the same manner as benefits under the DB Plan, but without regard 
to any limits on compensation or benefit accruals that may apply under the DB Plan as required by the tax-qualified plan rules. 
DB Restoration benefits are payable based on a life annuity distribution (although 50% of the benefits are payable to the 
participant’s surviving spouse in the event of his or her death after commencing benefits), except that benefits are paid out 
as a lump sum if a participant as of the date of a change in control experiences a termination of employment within 2 years 
following the change in control.

Beginning in 2017, the DB Plan began a transition to being fully frozen. Years of Service was frozen under the DB Plan and the DB 
Restoration Plan effective February 28, 2017 and Final Average Pay, Social Security Covered Compensation, and Social Security 
Benefit was frozen under the DB Plan and the DB Restoration Plan effective December 31, 2020.

DC Plan and DC Restoration Plan
As described under the Employee Benefits section on page 56, the DC Plan provides eligible participants with a fixed non-
elective contribution of 4% of eligible earnings and a matching contribution equal to 50% of the first 6% of a participant’s 
eligible earnings that the employee voluntarily contributes to the DC Plan.

The Company also provides a DC Restoration Plan to allow for excess contributions on behalf of those employees whose 
contributions are limited under the tax-qualified DC Plan due to compensation limits imposed by the IRS. Employees impacted 
by those limitations receive a contribution under the DC Restoration Plan equal to the same percentage used for the DC Plan 
multiplied by their eligible earnings in excess of the IRS limits.

The DC Restoration Plan provides each participant with (i) an annual non-elective contribution equal to the excess of 4% of 
eligible earnings over the amount credited as a safe harbor non-elective contribution to the DC Plan for that year and (ii) 
an annual matching contribution equal to 50% of the first 6% of a participant’s eligible earnings that he or she voluntarily 
contributes to the DC Plan and/or defers to the Executive Deferred Compensation Plan less the maximum amount of matching 
contributions that could have been credited under the DC Plan if he or she had contributed the maximum amount permitted 
under the DC Plan for that year.
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Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan
The EDCP enables certain designated executives to defer up to 50% of their annual base salary and up to 100% of their 
annual short-term incentive compensation. Amounts deferred under the EDCP are nominally invested at the discretion of 
the participant in the same mutual funds available to all employees in the DC plan and all participants are immediately 100% 
vested in the amounts they elect to defer. The Company is permitted to make discretionary contributions to EDCP participants 
and to make contributions subject to vesting conditions or other restrictions.
Participants are generally required to make their deferral elections by December 31 of the year prior to the year in which 
the base pay is paid, and the short-term incentive award is earned. At that time, participants also elect the future date 
for distributions. Distributions can be made at any time while the participant remains an employee (but no sooner than 
two years after the year for which the deferral is made) or upon separation from service or a change in control. Distributions 
upon separation from service may be made in lump sum or installments over 5, 10 or 15 years. In service distributions and 
distributions upon a change in control are made in a lump sum. Participants may also access their accounts under the EDCP 
in the event of an unforeseen emergency.

Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation in Fiscal Year 2021
The following table provides information on the benefits earned by each NEO under the Company’s EDCP and DC Restoration Plan:

Name

EDCP Executive
Contributions 

in 2021(1)

($)

EDCP Aggregate 
Earnings in Last 

FY(3)

($)

DC Restoration 
Plan Registrant

Contributions 
in 2021(2)

($)

DC Restoration 
Plan Aggregate

Earnings in
Last FY(3)

($)

Aggregate
Withdrawals/
Distributions

($)

Aggregate
Balance at
12/31/21(4)

($)

Gerben W. Bakker 58,350 133,076 76,373 28,720 — 1,023,590
William R. Sperry 47,089 14,203 66,664 59,838 (47,269) 776,885
Allan J. Connolly 41,839  11,949  60,257  10,894 (11,602) 210,801
Peter J. Lau 22,338  1,091  10,062  277 (10,338) 23,430
Katherine A. Lane —  3,205  19,149  5,846 — 81,717
(1) The amounts reported in the Executive Contributions in 2021 column reflect elective deferrals of short-term incentive awards into the 

EDCP as follows: Mr. Bakker - 6%, and elective deferral of base salary as follows: Mr. Bakker - 6%, Mr. Sperry - 7%, Mr. Connolly - 7% and 
Mr. Lau 4%. The short-term incentive amounts were earned and deferred for services in 2020 but credited to the EDCP in 2021, which is the 
time payments under the Incentive Compensation Plan are generally made. The amounts in this column include amounts also included in 
the Summary Compensation Table for 2021 under the Salary column (for 2021) and the Non-Equity Incentive Compensation Plan column 
(for 2020).

(2) The amount reported in the Registrant Contributions in 2021 column reflects credits for Mr. Bakker and Mr. Sperry under the DC Restoration 
Plan earned for services in 2020 and credited to the DC Restoration Plan in 2021. The amount does not include the following accrued 
restoration company retirement contribution and restoration match contributions earned in 2021 to be credited in 2022 which amounts 
are detailed in the footnote and included in the All Other Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table on page 59 for 2021: 
Mr. Bakker - $88,911, Mr. Sperry - $58,807, Mr. Connolly - $51,829, Mr. Lau - $26,205 and Ms. Lane - $18,466.

(3) The amounts reported in the Aggregate Earnings in Last FY column include aggregate notional earnings on the EDCP account balances 
and the DC Restoration Plan balances in 2021. Amounts deferred under the EDCP and the DC Restoration Plan are credited with earnings 
on the basis of individual notional investment directions made by each participant.

(4) The amounts reported in the Aggregate Balance at 12/31/21 column reflect each NEOs balance credited to the EDCP and the DC 
Restoration Plan.

The material terms of the non-qualified deferred compensation plans are further described under the “Pension Benefit 
Calculations” section on page 65 and the “Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation” section above.
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Potential Post-Employment Compensation Arrangements
The Company offers post-employment compensation and benefits to the NEOs under its general Severance Policy (which 
is available to senior level employees in addition to NEOs), its retirement plans and individual change in control severance 
agreements (“CIC Agreements”), with certain of its NEOs that provide compensation and benefits only in the event of a 
change in control (as defined in the CIC Agreements). In addition, NEOs may be entitled to post termination compensation 
and benefits under the terms of the Company’s Equity Plan, STI Plans and other benefit plans. The section below describes 
the types of compensation and benefits a NEO is eligible to receive under these plans, policies and agreements based on 
five termination scenarios: (i) involuntary termination, (ii) death, (iii) disability, (iv) retirement and (v) following a change in 
control and involuntary termination. No amounts in excess of vested rights under any of the Company’s plans are generally 
payable to the NEOs upon voluntary termination or termination for cause.

Severance Policy
The Severance Policy offers the following benefits to NEOs:

	z 4 weeks base salary continuation for each year of service with a minimum of 26 weeks and a maximum of 78 weeks. 
	z Continued medical, dental and life insurance benefits for the salary continuation period. 
	z Pro-rated portion of their target short-term incentive award earned through the date of termination.
	z Outplacement services for up to 12 months.

Involuntary termination includes, for purposes of the Severance Policy, a termination by the employer without cause and a 
resignation by the NEO due to a material change in the NEO’s authority, duties, responsibilities or base compensation, or 
a significant change in the location of the NEO’s employment location. In the event of a change in control followed by an 
involuntary termination, in lieu of any benefits under the Severance Policy, the NEOs would be eligible for severance benefits 
pursuant to the terms of their CIC Agreements, as applicable.

Equity Plan
NEOs received grants under the Equity Plan in 2021. The treatment of outstanding equity awards upon involuntary termination 
(i.e. termination by the Company without cause), retirement and death and disability is set forth in the table on page 70.

Outstanding awards under the Equity Plan do not automatically vest and become payable upon a change in control (as 
defined in the Equity Plan). Instead, the awards may vest in the discretion of the Compensation Committee in the event they 
are not assumed by the acquiring company. The table below shows the treatment of equity awards upon a change in control 
under the Equity Plan:

Post-Termination Vesting Terms for Equity Plan Grants
The following table shows the vesting provisions of equity awards post-termination under the scenarios shown.

Award Type Involuntary Termination Retirement(1) Death/Disability

Performance Shares Unvested shares forfeited Eligible for a pro-rata 
portion of shares based 
on the number of months 
the NEO served during the 
performance period

Target number of shares fully vest

RS (time-based) Unvested shares forfeited Unvested shares fully vest Unvested shares fully vest

SARs Unvested SARs forfeited. 
May exercise vested SARs 
for the earlier of 90 days 
after the termination date 
or the 10th anniversary of 
the grant date

Unvested SARs continue to 
vest in the normal course. 
Vested SARs exercisable 
until the 10th anniversary of 
the grant date

Unvested SARs fully vest. Following disability 
termination, vested SARs are exercisable for 
the earlier of 90 days after the termination 
date or the 10th anniversary of the grant date. 
Upon death (or if the NEO dies within 90 days 
of termination due to disability or retirement) 
SARs are exercisable for the earlier of one year 
after death or the 10th anniversary of the grant 
date

(1) Retirement means that the NEO has terminated employment with the Company, is at a minimum age of 55 and the executive’s age 
plus years of service with the Company equals or exceeds 70.
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Change in Control Change in Control and Involuntary Termination

Unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee, 
unvested time-based RS and SARs will be assumed by the acquirer 
and continue to vest. Treatment of unvested PS are subject to 
discretion of the Compensation Committee.

Unvested awards fully vest only if the NEO is involuntarily 
terminated within 12 months following a change in control.

Change in Control Severance Agreements
The Company is a party to CIC Agreements with Messrs. Bakker and Sperry and Ms. Lane which provide severance benefits 
in the event of a termination of employment by the executive for good reason or by the Company (other than for cause or 
due to the executive’s death, disability or retirement) within two years after a change in control or, in certain circumstances, 
in anticipation of a change in control. A “change in control” is generally defined as a change in the majority of the Company’s 
Board of Directors during any 12 month period, the acquisition by a party directly or indirectly of 30% or more of the voting 
power of the Company during any 12 month period, a sale of substantially all of the Company’s assets and the acquisition by a 
party of more than 50% of either the voting power of the Company or the fair market value of the Company. CIC Agreements 
may only be granted with the approval of the Board of Directors upon the recommendation of the Compensation Committee.

In the event of a change in control, the benefits provided to the NEOs under their CIC Agreements are as follows:

	z A lump sum payment of the NEO’s base salary multiplied by 2.5 for Messrs. Bakker and Sperry and 2.0 for Ms. Lane. 

	z Continued medical, dental, vision and life insurance benefits after termination for 2.5 years for Messrs. Bakker and Sperry 
and 2 years for Ms. Lane. 

	z A lump sum payment of the average short-term incentive awards received by the NEO in the 3 years preceding the change 
in control multiplied by 2.5 for Messrs. Bakker and Sperry and 2.0 for Ms. Lane. 

	z A lump sum payment of the pro-rated portion of their target annual short-term incentive award for the year in which the 
termination occurs. 

	z The incremental value of additional age and service credit under all applicable Supplemental Plans (subject to the terms 
of each plan freeze) payable as a lump sum. 

	z Outplacement services up to 12 months following termination at a cost not to exceed 15% of the NEO’s annual base salary.

The CIC Agreements contain a provision whereby the severance multiple is reduced in monthly increments over the  
two-year period following the NEO’s 63rd birthday until it reaches one times the executive’s base salary and average  
short-term incentive award. The CIC Agreements also provide that if an executive would have otherwise incurred excise 
taxes under Section 4999 of the Code, such payments may be reduced to the “safe harbor amount” so that no excise taxes 
would be due, if such reduction would result in the executive being in a better net after tax position. The CIC Agreements 
do not provide for any tax gross up in the event the payments are not reduced and thus the executive would be required to 
pay any excise taxes under Section 4999 of the Code. Benefits described above in this subsection are only payable under 
the CIC Agreements if a NEO is terminated by the Company other than for “cause” or if the NEO terminates employment 
for “good reason”, as each term is defined in the CIC Agreements.

The Company has established a grantor trust to secure the benefits to be provided under the CIC Agreements, the Supplemental 
Plans and other plans maintained by the Company for the benefit of members of the Company’s senior management.

Employment Agreement
The Company does not have employment agreements with Messrs. Bakker, Connolly, Sperry, or Lau or Ms. Lane.

In connection with its acquisition of the Aclara business in 2018, the Company entered into a three-year employment agreement 
with Mr. Connolly effective February 2, 2018, for his role as Division Vice President, President of Aclara, which was subsequently 
amended on July 1, 2019, in connection with his promotion to the role of Group President, Hubbell Power Systems and 
further amended in April 2020 in connection with the 25% salary reduction that Mr. Connolly, like all other NEOs and senior 
executives of the Company, took during the second quarter of 2020 in connection with cost savings measures related to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Mr. Connolly’s employment agreement expired on February 2, 2021 and his employment has continued 
on an at-will basis.

Under his agreement, Mr. Connolly was paid an annual base salary of $550,000, subject to the Company’s discretionary 
adjustments. Commencing in February 2020 the agreement provided for annual equity-based awards having an aggregate 
grant date fair value equal to no less than $750,000, consistent with the types of awards and amounts allocated to similarly 
situated executives. The agreement also provided for an $850,000 cash retention award, vesting and payable in three equal 
installments on the first three anniversaries of the effective date of the employment term, subject to continued employment 
with the Company, and an equity retention award of $1,000,000 in restricted stock, vesting in equal installments on the second 
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and third anniversaries of the effective date of the employment term, subject to continued employment with the Company. 
The employment agreement contained usual and customary restrictive covenants, including non-competition, non-solicitation 
of employees or customers, non-disclosure and non-disparagement provisions.

If Mr. Connolly’s employment had been terminated by the Company without “cause” or by him for “good reason” (each, as 
defined in the employment agreement) or if his employment had terminated due to his death or disability, then Mr. Connolly 
would have been entitled to receive (i) the sum of his annual base salary through the date of termination, plus any unpaid 
annual bonus from any prior completed fiscal year, plus any accrued but unpaid reimbursable expenses and vacation pay (the 
“Accrued Obligations”), (ii) the unvested portion of the cash retention award or equity retention award, and (iii) any benefits 
due under any plan, program, policy, or agreement through the date of termination (the “Other Benefits”). In the event the 
Company had terminated him for “cause” or he had terminated his employment without “good reason”, then he would have 
been entitled to receive the Accrued Obligations through the date of termination (excluding payment of any unpaid annual 
bonus from any prior completed fiscal year) and the Other Benefits.

DB Restoration Plan
Under the terms of the DB Restoration Plan, upon a termination of employment due to disability, a participant is entitled to 
an unreduced immediate pension benefit based upon such participant’s service as of the date service was frozen under each 
plan (February 28, 2017, for the DB Restoration Plan).

Among other provisions, the DB Restoration Plan provide for the (i) suspension, reduction or termination of benefits in 
cases of gross misconduct by a participant; (ii) forfeiture of benefits if a retired participant engages in certain competitive 
activities; and (iii) reduction in benefits upon early retirement. In addition, a participant’s years of service with the Company 
(as calculated for the purpose of determining eligibility for the DB Restoration Plan benefits) and benefits accrued prior to 
the change in control event, may not be reduced after the occurrence of a change in control. If a participant’s employment 
is terminated within 2 years after a change in control, the participant will receive payment of DB Restoration Plan benefits 
in one lump sum within 10 days after termination. In addition, all amounts under the DC Restoration Plan are paid in a lump 
sum within 60 days following a change in control.

As described above, the CIC Agreements also provide for additional incremental benefits based on age and service credit 
under the Supplemental Plans upon qualifying terminations of employment in connection with a change in control.

Potential Payments
The following table reflects the estimated incremental post-termination amounts that would have been payable to a NEO on 
December 31, 2021, in the event of death, disability, involuntary termination without cause, retirement (if potentially applicable, 
as of December 31, 2021), or a change in control combined with an involuntary termination. No benefits are provided to a NEO 
solely upon a change in control unless such officer experiences a qualifying termination following a change in control. The 
amounts in the table are calculated in accordance with the terms of the applicable plans, policies and agreements described 
in the preceding table and assume that the NEO has met the applicable eligibility requirements. The amounts in the table 
DO NOT include (i) any value that would be realized upon the exercise of vested SARs or settlement of vested Performance 
Shares or RS to the extent the awards were vested prior to December 31, 2021, by their terms, and (ii) the estimated value 
of vested and accrued pension benefits that would be received upon any termination of employment under the terms of the 
Company’s retirement plans.
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Post-Employment and Change in Control Payment Table

Name
Severance(1)

($)

Equity Awards with
Accelerated Vesting(2)(3)

($)

Pension 
Benefits(4)

($)

Welfare 
Benefits(5)

($)
Total

($)

Gerben W. Bakker
Death — 11,920,935 — — 11,920,935

Disability(6) — 11,920,935 — — 11,920,935

Involuntary Termination(7) 2,528,506 2,947,645 — 173,565 5,649,716

Retirement(8) — 2,947,645 — — 2,947,645

Change in Control and 
Involuntary Termination(9),(10),(11) 2,338,012 11,920,935 222,429 196,058 14,677,434

William R. Sperry      

Death — 6,089,899 — — 6,089,899

Disability(6) — 6,089,899 — — 6,089,899

Involuntary Termination(7) 1,282,512 1,357,088 — 121,860 2,761,460

Retirement(8) — 1,357,088 — — 1,357,088

Change in Control and 
Involuntary Termination(9),(10),(11) 2,349,526 6,089,899 — 157,342 8,596,767

Allan J. Connolly
Death — 3,358,808 — — 3,358,808

Disability(6) — 3,358,808 — — 3,358,808

Involuntary Termination(7) 773,064 — — 99,594 872,658

Peter J. Lau      

Death — 1,646,731 — — 1,646,731

Disability(6) — 1,646,731 — — 1,646,731

Involuntary Termination(7) 699,994 — — 92,193 792,187

Katherine A. Lane      

Death(6) — 2,688,481 — — 2,688,481

Disability — 2,688,481 — — 2,688,481

Involuntary Termination(7) 757,612 — — 79,930 837,542

Change in Control and 
Involuntary Termination(9),(10),(11) 905,676 2,688,481 — 91,726 3,685,883
(1) The amounts reported in the Severance column reflect base salary entitlements under the Severance Policy and base salary and bonus 

entitlements under a CIC Agreement. In addition, Severance includes a pro rata portion of the NEO’s target bonus through the date of 
termination.

(2) The amounts reported in the Equity Awards with Accelerated Vesting column reflect the value realized by the NEO upon the exercise of all 
unvested SARs, the vesting of all unvested time-based restricted stock and performance shares that would vest upon death, disability, or a 
qualifying change in control. Upon a change in control, if the unvested time-based restricted stock and SARs are assumed by the acquirer 
and a NEO is terminated without cause within one year of such change in control, such awards will become fully vested prior to the date 
of termination. If the NEO is not terminated without cause within one year of the change in control, such equity awards will not accelerate. 
Treatment of unvested PS upon a change in control shall be subject to the discretion of the Compensation Committee.

(3) For Mr. Bakker and Mr. Sperry who meet the definition of retirement, the amounts shown reflect the value realized upon the vesting of 
all unvested restricted shares upon retirement. No other executive officer will be retirement eligible during the open vesting period of 
outstanding equity awards. The value realized is calculated using the closing market price of the Company’s Common Stock on December 
31, 2021, the last business day of 2021, of $208.27. The amounts shown do not include the value of (i) SARs that are unvested at retirement, 
but become exercisable post-retirement, or (ii) outstanding performance shares at retirement which may vest on a pro-rated basis at the 
end of the applicable performance period, because in each case the value would not be determinable as of the last day of the calendar year 
as it would not have vested on such date.

(4) The amounts reported in the Pension Benefits column include amounts payable under the Company’s qualified and nonqualified pension 
plans and nonqualified deferred compensation plans only to the extent the amounts are not described in the Pension Benefit Calculations 
section discussed above on page 65 or the Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation section discussed on page 66. In the event of a Change 
in Control, even without termination of employment, amounts under the EDCP distributions will be paid in a lump sum, but no additional 
value is allocated to the payment in this table. The value listed represents the present value of the payments under EDCP in the Non-
Qualified Deferred Compensation section discussed above on page 66.

(5) The amounts reported in the Welfare Benefits column include the payment of outplacement services for the NEOs for up to twelve months 
and insurance benefit continuation calculated in accordance with the terms of the Severance Policy and CIC Agreements, as applicable.

(6) The amounts reported in the “Disability” rows are calculated based on a 2.90% discount rate and using the disability mortality table 
published in Internal Revenue Ruling 96-7. This table assumes a different life expectancy than the tables used to calculate the present 
value of accumulated benefits under the Company’s retirement plans. In the event of disability, the incremental retirement plan benefit was 
calculated by comparing the disability benefit to the vested accrued benefit under the qualified and non-qualified plans as of December 31, 
2021.
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(7) “Involuntary Termination”, for purposes of this row, refers to a termination by the Company without cause as described in the Severance 
Policy prior to the occurrence of a Change in Control or, for Messrs. Connolly and Lau, whenever occuring (regardless of a Change in 
Control). NEOs are not entitled to these benefits in the event of a termination for cause, death or disability.

(8) “Retirement”, for purposes of this row, refers to a voluntary termination by the NEO (after age 55 and 10 years of service). In addition to the 
amounts described in this chart, the executive will be entitled to payout of the amounts described under the Pension Benefit Calculations 
section discussed above on page 65.

(9) The amounts reported in the Severance column for Change in Control and Involuntary Termination are equal to the product of (a) a multiple 
specified in each NEO’s CIC Agreement and (b) the sum of (x) the NEO’s base salary and (y) the average of the actual bonuses payable to 
the executive over the most recent three years. The specified multiple may be reduced pursuant to the CIC Agreements, as discussed further 
in the “Change in Control Severance Agreements” section above. In addition, Severance includes a pro rata portion of the NEO’s target 
bonus through the date of termination.

(10) “Change in Control and Involuntary Termination”, for purposes of this row, refers to a termination by the Company without cause (as defined 
in the CIC Agreement) or by the NEO for good reason (as defined in the CIC Agreement) within 2 years following a change in control (as 
defined in the CIC Agreement). As noted above, the amounts payable include a lump sum payment of the NEO’s base salary multiplied by 
2.5 for Messrs. Bakker and Sperry and 2.0 for Ms. Lane.

(11) No benefits shall automatically become payable to the NEOs upon a change in control (as defined in the Equity Plan) due to their unvested 
time-based restricted stock and SARs until and unless the NEO experiences a qualifying termination related to such change in control. This 
row assumes such a qualifying termination (a termination by the Company without cause) occurs within 12 months following a change in 
control. Treatment of unvested PS upon a change in control shall be subject to the discretion of the Compensation Committee.

CEO Pay Ratio
The SEC requires annual disclosure of the ratio of the CEO’s annual total compensation to the annual total compensation of 
the Company’s median employee.

We identified the median of the annual total compensation of all our employees by examining the 2021 annual salary for all 
employees, excluding the CEO, who were employed by us on November 15, 2021, as reflected in our payroll records as reported 
to the Internal Revenue Service on Form W-2 for 2021, as well as our payroll records for all non-U.S. entities. We selected 
November 15, 2021 because it enabled us to make such identification in a reasonably efficient and economical manner. We did 
not make any assumptions, adjustments, or estimates with respect to this compensation measure and we did not annualize 
the compensation for any full-time employees that were not employed by us for all of 2021.

After identifying the median employee, we calculated annual total compensation for 2021 for such employee in accordance 
with SEC rules. Hubbell’s median employee’s annual total compensation for 2021 was estimated at $44,201.

Mr. Bakker had 2021 annual total compensation of $6,088,700 as reflected in the “Total” column reported in the Summary 
Compensation table on page 59. As a result, we estimate that Mr. Bakker’s annual compensation was approximately 138 times 
that of Hubbell’s median employee.

Due to the use by other companies of estimates, assumptions, adjustments, and statistical sampling permitted by SEC rules, 
pay ratio disclosures generally may involve a degree of imprecision. Accordingly, our pay ratio is merely a reasonable estimate 
calculated in a manner consistent with SEC Rules and may not be comparable to the pay ratio disclosures of other companies.
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Proposal 3  Ratification of the 
Selection of Independent 
Registered Public 
Accounting Firm

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists entirely of independent Directors, is responsible for the 
appointment, compensation, retention, evaluation and termination of the Company’s independent registered public accounting 
firm (independent auditor). The Audit Committee is also responsible for overseeing the negotiation of the audit fees associated 
with the retention of the independent auditor.

The Audit Committee has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company’s independent auditor for 2022. In 
executing its responsibilities, the Audit Committee engages in an annual evaluation of the independent auditor’s qualifications, 
performance and independence. The Audit Committee regularly meets with the lead audit partner without members of 
management present which provides the opportunity for continuous assessment of the independent auditor’s effectiveness 
and independence and for consideration of rotating audit firms.

Although ratification of our selection of independent auditors is not required, we value the opinions of our shareholders and 
wish to submit the matter to a vote at the 2022 Annual Meeting as a matter of sound corporate governance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has served as the Company’s independent auditors since at least 1961. The Audit Committee 
periodically takes into consideration whether there should be a regular rotation of the independent auditor.

In accordance with SEC rules, the independent auditor’s lead engagement partner rotates every five years. The Audit Committee 
is directly involved in the selection of the independent auditor’s lead engagement partner.

The Audit Committee and Hubbell’s Board of Directors believe that the continued retention of PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP to serve as the Company’s independent external audit firm for 2022 is in the best interests of the Company and its 
shareholders. We have been advised that a representative of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will attend the 2022 Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders to respond to appropriate questions and will be afforded the opportunity to make a statement if desired.

In the event the selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is not ratified by the shareholders, the Audit Committee would 
reconsider the selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company’s independent auditor. Even if the selection of 
independent auditors is ratified, the Audit Committee still retains the discretion to select a different independent auditor at 
any time if it determines that such a change would be in the best interests of the Company and our shareholders.

Vote Required
The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by the holders of our Common Stock is required to ratify the selection 
of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of the Company. Majority of votes 
cast means that the number of votes cast “FOR” the proposal exceed the number of votes cast “AGAINST” the proposal. 
Abstentions and broker non-votes are not considered to be votes cast and therefore will not affect the voting results. Brokers 
have the discretionary authority to vote on the ratification of auditors and therefore we do not expect any broker non-votes 
in connection with the ratification.

THE BOARD UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE  FOR THE RATIFICATION OF THE SELECTION 
OF PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP.
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Audit and Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy

Independent Accounting Firm Fees
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP provided the following audit and other services during 2021 and 2020.

2021 2020

Audit Fees $ 4,803,500 $ 3,249,300 	z Audit Fees consist primarily of annual integrated audit of 
the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements, 
and internal control over financial reporting, review of 
the interim consolidated financial statements included 
in quarterly reports and services that are normally 
provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in connection 
with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements. 
Audit Fees also include the cost of carve-out audits 
associated with business dispositions.

Audit Related Fees $ 699,500 $ 324,500 	z Audit Related Fees primarily include accounting 
advisory services as well as quality of earnings support 
associated with acquisition and divestiture related 
activity. In addition, Audit Related Fees include 
assurance and related services that are reasonably 
related to performance of the audit of the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements and are not reported 
under Audit Fees. This category includes fees principally 
related to audits of employee benefit plans.

Tax Fees $ - $ 50,000 	z Tax Fees consists primarily of services associated with 
international tax compliance.

All Other Fees $ 6,900 $ 6,900 	z All Other Fees are primarily for products and services 
other than the services reported above. These services 
are related to subscription services purchased from the 
independent registered public accounting firm.

TOTAL FEES $ 5,509,900 $ 3,630,700

Audit and Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy
The Company’s Audit and Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy (the “Services Policy”) sets forth the policies and procedures 
by which the Audit Committee reviews and approves all services to be provided by the independent auditors prior to their 
engagement. The Services Policy underscores the need to ensure the independence of the independent auditor while recognizing 
that the independent auditor may possess the expertise on certain matters that best position it to provide the most effective 
and efficient services on certain matters unrelated to accounting and auditing.

The Audit Committee will only pre-approve the services that it believes enhance the Company’s ability to manage or control 
risk. The Audit Committee is also mindful of the relationship between fees for audit and non-audit services in deciding whether 
to pre-approve any such services. The Services Policy provides the Audit Committee with a description of services that can be 
performed such as audit, audit-related, tax and other permissible non-audit services. The Audit Committee periodically monitors 
the services rendered and actual fees paid to the independent auditors. Any proposed services exceeding pre-approved amounts 
also requires pre-approval by the Audit Committee. In the interim periods during which the Audit Committee is not scheduled to 
meet, the Chair of the Audit Committee can authorize spending which exceeds pre-approved levels. As part of the process, the 
Audit Committee shall consider whether such services are consistent with SEC rules and regulations on auditor independence.

During 2021, all audit services, audit related services, and other services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were 
pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
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Audit Committee Report
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is comprised of independent Directors functioning in accordance with a written 
charter adopted and approved by the Board of Directors effective May 4, 2021, which Charter is reviewed annually by the Audit 
Committee. As provided in the Charter, the Audit Committee assists the Company’s Directors in fulfilling their responsibilities 
relating to corporate accounting, the quality and integrity of the Company’s financial reports, and the Company’s reporting 
practices. The functions of the Audit Committee are further described in the “Corporate Governance” section on page 20.

In connection with the discharge of its responsibilities, the Audit Committee has taken a number of actions, including, but 
not limited to, the following:

	z The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with management and the independent registered public accounting firm 
the Company’s audited financial statements.

	z The Audit Committee discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm the matters required to be discussed 
per applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and the SEC.

	z The Audit Committee received from the independent registered public accounting firm the written disclosures and letter 
required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent 
registered public accounting firm’s communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence, discussed their 
independence with them and satisfied itself as to the independence of the independent registered public accounting firm.

Based on the foregoing reviews and discussions, the Audit Committee recommended to the Company’s Board of Directors 
that the audited financial statements be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 filed with the SEC.

Audit Committee

Bonnie C. Lind, Chair 
Rhett A. Hernandez 
John F. Malloy 
Jennifer M. Pollino
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Additional Information
Solicitation Expenses
The Company will pay the cost of soliciting proxies for the 2022 Annual Meeting. Original solicitation of proxies may be 
supplemented by telephone, facsimile, electronic mail or personal solicitation by the Company’s Directors, officers or 
employees. No additional compensation will be paid to the Company’s Directors, officers or employees for such services. 
The Company has retained MacKenzie Partners, Inc. to assist in the solicitation of proxies at an estimated cost of $20,000, 
plus reasonable expenses.

Stock Ownership Information

Five Percent Owners Of Company Stock
The Company has a single class of Common Stock and each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote. On March 4, 
2022, the Company had outstanding 54,196,078 shares of Common Stock. The following table sets forth as of March 4, 2022 
the beneficial owners of more than 5% of the Company’s Common Stock:

Title of Class Name and Address of Beneficial Owner
Amount and Nature of 
Beneficial Ownership

Percent 
of Class

Common Stock The Vanguard Group 
 100 Vanguard Blvd. 
 Malvern, Pennsylvania 19355

5,453,406(1) 10.0%

Common Stock BlackRock, Inc. 
 55 East 52nd Street 
 New York, New York 10055

4,600,724(2) 8.5%

Common Stock T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. 
 100 E. Pratt Street
 Baltimore, Maryland 21202

3,344,626(3) 6.1%

(1) The Company received a copy of Schedule 13G, as amended, as filed with the SEC on February 10, 2022, by The Vanguard Group 
(“Vanguard”) reporting ownership of these shares as of January 31, 2022. According to the Schedule 13G, Vanguard has sole voting 
power as to none of these shares, sole dispositive power as to 5,382,103 of these shares, shared voting power as to 26,083 of these 
shares, and shared dispositive power as to 71,303 of these shares. 

(2) The Company received a copy of Schedule 13G, as amended as filed with the SEC on February 1, 2022, by BlackRock, Inc. (“BlackRock”) 
reporting ownership of these shares as of December 31, 2021. According to the Schedule 13G, BlackRock has sole voting power 
as to 4,388,216 of these shares and sole dispositive power with respect to 4,600,724 shares. The shares were acquired by the 
following subsidiaries of BlackRock: BlackRock Life Limited, BlackRock Advisors, LLC, BlackRock (Netherlands) B.V., BlackRock Fund 
Advisors, Aperio Group, LLC, BlackRock Institutional Trust Company, National Association, BlackRock Asset Management Ireland 
Limited, BlackRock Financial Management, Inc., BlackRock Asset Management Schweiz AG, BlackRock Investment Management, LLC, 
BlackRock Investment Management (UK) Limited, BlackRock Asset Management Canada Limited, BlackRock Investment Management 
(Australia) Limited, BlackRock Advisors (UK) Limited, BlackRock Fund Managers Ltd. BlackRock Fund advisors beneficially owns 
5% or greater of the outstanding shares of the security class reported on the Schedule 13G, as amended, filed with the SEC on 
February 1, 2022.

(3) The Company received a copy of Schedule 13G, as amended, as filed with the SEC on February 14, 2022, by T. Rowe Price Associates, 
Inc. (“T. Rowe Price”) reporting ownership of these shares as of December 31, 2021. According to the Schedule 13G, T. Rowe Price has 
sole voting power as to 1,557,185 of these shares, and sole dispositive power as to 3,344,626 of these shares.
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Stock Ownership Of Directors And Executive Officers

Hubbell’s Corporate Governance Guidelines for directors and stock ownership policy for officers aligns their interests 
with our shareholders.

Directors are subject to our Stock Ownership and Retention Policy and are required to own Company stock equal in value to 
five times their average annual base cash retainer no later than the fifth (5th) anniversary of the date on which such Director 
receives his or her first annual restricted share grant. Until a Director meets his or her ownership minimum, the Director must 
retain all Company shares he or she directly or indirectly obtains. All Directors are in compliance with this policy.

The Board and executive officers are subject to a stock ownership commitment, which requires these individuals to maintain a 
minimum ownership level of Hubbell stock. The Corporate Governance Guidelines further describes Director stock ownership 
requirements on page 20 and the Stock Ownership and Retention Policy section on page 55 further describes stock ownership 
requirements for officers and both policies can be viewed on the Company’s website at www.hubbell.com. The CEO’s minimum 
stock ownership requirement is five times his base salary.

The following table sets forth as of March 4, 2022 information regarding the beneficial ownership of the Company’s Common 
Stock by each Director, the CEO, CFO and the three other most highly paid executive officers of the Company (collectively, 
the “NEOs”), and by all Directors and executive officers of the Company as a group.

In addition to the shares of Common Stock reflected in the Total Beneficial Ownership column below, certain of our Directors 
hold stock units and restricted stock units, as applicable, under the Deferred Plan for Directors. These deferred stock units are 
reflected in footnotes (2) and (3) in the table below and are further detailed in the Director Compensation section on page 31. 
To our knowledge, except as indicated in the footnotes to this table and pursuant to applicable community property laws, 
the persons listed in the table have sole investment and voting power with respect to all Company securities owned by them.

Name and Title of Class
Common

Stock

Shares Obtainable
Upon Exercise of

Options/SARs(1)
Total Beneficial

Ownership

Aggregate
No.

of Stock
Units Held(2)

Aggregate No. of
Restricted Stock

Units Held(3)
Total

Ownership
Carlos M. Cardoso 1,749 — 1,749(4) 2,262 7,506 11,517
Anthony J. Guzzi 6,480 — 6,480 29,661 12,218 48,359
Rhett A. Hernandez 749 — 749(4) — — 749
Neal J. Keating 8,071 — 8,071 6,667 12,218 26,956
Bonnie C. Lind 600 — 600 1,206 2,962 4,768
John F. Malloy 15,855 — 15,855(4) 1,703 1,749 19,307
Jennifer M. Pollino 749 — 749(4) — — 749
John G. Russell 6,167 — 6,167(4) 6,012 6,772 18,951
Gerben W. Bakker 17,657 124,161 121,592(5) — — 141,818
William R. Sperry 51,959 20,209 75,076(5) — — 72,168
Allan J. Connolly 6,023 17,552 17,005(5) — — 23,575
Peter J. Lau 965 2,265 965(5) — — 3,230
Katherine A. Lane 1,427 18,814 15,412(5) — — 20,241
All Directors and executive  
officers as a group (19 persons)      
Common Stock 229,497 213,871 443,368(5)(6) — — 443,368
(1) Represents shares of Common Stock obtainable upon the exercise of stock appreciation rights under the Company’s Second Amended 

and Restated 2005 Incentive Award Plan. See the section “Outstanding Equity Awards at 2021 Fiscal Year End” on page 63.
(2) Represents stock units (each stock unit consisting of one share of Common Stock) held under the Company’s Deferred Plan for 

Directors, as of March 4, 2022. See the section “Deferred Compensation Plan” on page 32.
(3) Represents vested and unvested restricted stock units (“RSUs”) (each RSU consisting of the right to receive one share of Common 

Stock) held under the Company’s Deferred Plan for Directors, as of March 4, 2022. See the section “Deferred Compensation Plan” on 
page 32.

(4) Includes 749 shares of Common Stock granted as restricted stock under the Company’s Second Amended and Restated 2005 Incentive 
Award Plan, on May 4, 2021 which vest on the date of the 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders if the Director is still serving (or earlier, 
upon death or a change in control).

(5) Does not include the following shares of Common Stock granted as restricted stock under the Second Amended and Restated 2005 
Incentive Award Plan which vest on the following terms, as applicable: (i) three equal annual installments on the anniversary of the 
grant date; or (ii) at the end of a three-year performance period subject to achievement of certain performance goals. Mr. Bkr - 20,475, 
Mr. Sperry - 8,937, Mr. Connolly - 5,689, Mr. Lau - 5,333, and Ms. Lane - 4,956; and all executive officers as a group – 55,525 shares. See 
the section “Outstanding Equity Awards at 2021 Fiscal Year End” on page 63.

(6) Includes 108,000 shares of Common Stock held by The Harvey Hubbell Foundation of which two corporate officers and two senior 
employees of the Company are co-trustees and have shared voting and investment power.
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Shareholder Proposals and Nominations for Director

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider 
Participation
During our last completed fiscal year, no member of the Compensation Committee was an employee, officer or former officer 
of the Company, or had any relationship requiring disclosure under Item 404 of Regulation S-K. None of our executive officers 
served on the board or compensation committee of any entity in 2021 that had an executive officer serving as a member of 
our Board of Directors or Compensation Committee.

Review and Approval of Related Person Transactions
The Board of Directors has adopted a written related person transaction policy. The NCGC administers the policy, which 
applies to all transactions in which the Company is or will be a participant and the amount exceeds $100,000 and in which 
any related person was or will be a participant or had, or will have a direct or indirect material interest. A related person 
includes any person who is or was since the beginning of the last fiscal year a Director, executive officer, nominee for Director 
or beneficial owner of more than 5% of the Company’s Common Stock, or any of his or her immediate family members. The 
NCGC will determine, based on the facts and circumstances it deems appropriate, whether such related person transaction 
should be approved. As required under SEC rules, transactions that are determined to be directly or indirectly material to 
the Company or a related person are disclosed in the Company’s Proxy Statement. For fiscal year 2021, the Company had no 
related person transactions that were required to be disclosed in the Company’s Proxy Statement. See the discussion under 
“Director Independence” on page 22.

Shareholder Proposals and Nominations for Director 

Proposals Intended for Inclusion in the 2023 Proxy Materials
Shareholder proposals to be considered for inclusion in the Company’s proxy materials related to the 2023 Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, must be received by the 
Company no later than November 21, 2022.

Proposals Not Intended for Inclusion in the 2023 Proxy Materials
The Company’s By-Laws set forth specific procedures and requirements in order to nominate a Director or submit a proposal to 
be considered at the 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. These procedures require that any nominations or proposals must 
be received by the Company no earlier than February 2, 2023, and no later than February 22, 2023, in order to be considered.

If, however, the date of the 2023 Annual Meeting is more than 20 days before or more than 70 days after May 2, 2023, 
shareholders must submit such nominations or proposals not earlier than the 90th day prior to the meeting and not later 
than the close of business on the later of the 70th day prior to the meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public 
announcement of the date of the meeting is first made by us. In addition, with respect to nominations for Directors, if the 
number of Directors to be elected at the 2023 Annual Meeting is increased and there is no public announcement by us naming 
all of the nominees for Director or specifying the size of the increased Board at least 80 days prior to May 2, 2023, notice will 
also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions created by such increase, if it is delivered 
to the Secretary at our principal executive offices not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the day on 
which such public announcement is first made by us.

A shareholder’s notice to nominate a Director or bring any other business before the 2023 Annual Meeting must set forth 
certain information specified in our By-Laws. For additional information on the time limitations and requirements related to 
Director nominations or other shareholder proposals, see the Company’s By-Laws at www.hubbell.com in the Investors section.

In addition to satisfying the foregoing advance notice requirements under our By-Laws, to comply with the universal proxy 
rules under the Exchange Act (which will be in effect for next year’s annual meeting), stockholders who intend to solicit proxies 
in support of director nominees other than the Company’s nominees must provide notice that sets forth the information 
required by Rule 14a-19 under the Exchange Act no later than March 6, 2023.

Proposals and other items of business should be directed to Hubbell Incorporated c/o Katherine A. Lane, Senior Vice President, 
General Counsel and Secretary, 40 Waterview Drive, Shelton, Connecticut 06484.
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Eliminating Duplicative Proxy Materials (“Householding”)

Eliminating Duplicative Proxy Materials (“Householding”)
A single annual report and proxy statement or notice of internet availability of proxy materials may be delivered to multiple 
stockholders sharing an address unless contrary instructions have been received from the affected stockholders. If at any time, 
a stockholder no longer wishes to participate in “householding” and would prefer to receive such stockholder’s own separate 
copy of the 2022 proxy statement and 2021 annual report, or notice of internet availability of proxy materials and/or wishes 
to receive separate copies of these documents in the future, or if at any time, stockholders who share an address and receive 
separate copies of the 2022 proxy statement and 2021 annual report, or notice of internet availability of proxy materials would 
like to receive a single copy of these documents in the future, such stockholder or stockholders may (1) notify their broker 
or (2) direct their written or oral request to our transfer agent, Computershare, via regular mail to, Computershare, PO Box 
505000, Louisville, KY 40233, or via phone, toll-free 800-874-1136. Upon written or oral request of a stockholder at a shared 
address to which a single copy of the 2022 proxy statement, notice of internet availability of proxy materials, or 2021 annual 
report was delivered, our transfer agent will deliver promptly separate copies of these documents.

Availability of Annual Report on Form 10-K
Copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (without exhibits or documents 
incorporated by reference therein) are available without charge to shareholders upon written request to Hubbell Incorporated 
c/o Katherine A. Lane, Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary, 40 Waterview Drive, Shelton, Connecticut 06484, 
or by calling (475) 882-4000, by first class mail or other equally prompt means within one (1) business day of receipt of such 
request, or via the Internet at www.hubbell.com.
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PART I

Item 1 Business
Hubbell Incorporated (herein referred to as “Hubbell”, the 
“Company”, the “registrant”, “we”, “our” or “us”, which 
references shall include its divisions and subsidiaries as 
the context may require) was founded as a proprietorship 
in 1888, and was incorporated in Connecticut in 1905. 
Recognized for our innovation, quality, and deep 
commitment to serving our customers for over 130 years, 
Hubbell is a world-class manufacturer of electrical and 
utility solutions, with more than 75 brands used around 
the world. We provide utility and electrical solutions that 
enable our customers to operate critical infrastructure 
reliably and efficiently, and we empower and energize 
communities through innovative solutions supporting 
energy infrastructure In Front of the Meter, on The Edge, 
and Behind the Meter. In Front of the Meter is where utilities 
transmit and distribute energy to their customers. The Edge 
connects utilities with owner/operators and allows energy 
and data to be distributed back and forth. Behind the Meter 
is where owners and operators of building and other critical 
infrastructure consume energy. 

Our products are either sourced complete, manufactured 
or assembled by subsidiaries in the United States, Canada, 
Puerto Rico, Mexico, the People’s Republic of China (“China”), 
the United Kingdom (“UK”), Brazil, Australia, Spain and 
Ireland. Hubbell also participates in joint ventures in Hong 
Kong and the Philippines, and maintains offices in Singapore, 
Italy, China, India, Mexico, South Korea, Chile, and countries 
in the Middle East.

The Company’s reporting segments consist of the Electrical 
Solutions segment and the Utility Solutions segment. 

The Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly 
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and 
all amendments to those reports are made available free 
of charge through the Investor Relations section of the 
Company’s website at http://www.hubbell.com as soon 
as practicable after such material is electronically filed 
with, or furnished to, the SEC. The information contained 
on the Company’s website or connected to our website is 
not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K and should not be considered part of this report.

Electrical Solutions Segment
Hubbell Electrical Solutions is positioned Behind the Meter, 
providing key components to building operators and 
industrial customers that enable them to manage their 
energy and operate critical infrastructure more efficiently 
and effectively. The Electrical Solutions segment (44% of 
consolidated revenues in 2021, 44% in 2020 and 45% in 
2019) comprises businesses that sell stock and custom 
products including standard and special application wiring 
device products, rough-in electrical products, connector and 
grounding products, and lighting fixtures, as well as other 
electrical equipment. 

Products of the Electrical Solutions segment have applications 
in the light industrial, non-residential, wireless communications, 
transportation, data center, and heavy industrial markets. 
Electrical Solutions segment products are typically used 

in and around industrial, commercial and institutional 
facilities by electrical contractors, maintenance personnel, 
electricians, utilities, and telecommunications companies. In 
addition, certain of our businesses design and manufacture 
industrial controls and communication systems used in the 
non-residential and industrial markets. Many of these products 
are designed such that they can also be used in harsh and 
hazardous locations where a potential for fire and explosion 
exists due to the presence of flammable gasses and vapors. 
Harsh and hazardous products are primarily used in the oil 
and gas (onshore and offshore) and mining industries. We also 
offer a variety of lighting fixtures, wiring devices and electrical 
products that have residential and utility applications, 
including residential products with Internet-of-Things ("IoT") 
enabled technologies.

These products are sold under various brands and/or trademarks and are primarily sold through electrical and industrial 
distributors, home centers, retail and hardware outlets, lighting showrooms and residential product oriented internet sites. 
Special application products are primarily sold through wholesale distributors to contractors, industrial customers and original 
equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”). Brands and/or trademarks of products of the Electrical segment include:

	z Hubbell® 	z Bell® 	z Raco® 	z Gleason Reel® 	z ACME Electric®

	z Kellems® 	z TayMac® 	z Hipotronics® 	z Powerohm® 	z EC&M Design®

	z Bryant® 	z Wiegmann® 	z AccelTex Solutions™ 	z iDevices® 	z Progress Lighting Design®

	z Burndy® 	z Killark® 	z GAI-Tronics® 	z Connector Products™ 	z Austdac™

	z CMC® 	z Hawke™ 	z Chalmit™
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Utility Solutions Segment
Hubbell Utility Solutions has leading positions In Front of the Meter and at The Edge. The Utility Solutions segment (56% of 
consolidated revenues in 2021, 56% in 2020 and 55% in 2019) consists of businesses that design, manufacture, and sell a wide 
variety of electrical distribution, transmission, substation, and telecommunications products, which support applications In 
Front of the Meter. This includes utility transmission & distribution (T&D) components such as arresters, insulators, connectors, 
anchors, bushings, and enclosures. The Utility Solutions segment also offers solutions that serve The Edge of the utility 
infrastructure, including smart meters, communications systems, and protection and control devices. Hubbell Utility Solutions 
supports the electrical distribution, electrical transmission, water, gas distribution, telecommunications, and solar and wind 
markets. While Hubbell believes its sales in this area are not materially dependent upon any customer or group of customers, 
a substantial decrease in purchases by electrical utilities would affect this segment.

Products of the Utility Solutions segment are sold under the following brands and/or trademarks:

	z Aclara® 	z Chance® 	z Anderson® 	z PenCell®

	z Fargo® 	z Hubbell® 	z Polycast® 	z Opti-loop Design®

	z Quazite® 	z Quadri*sil® 	z Trinetics® 	z Reuel®

	z Electro Composites® 	z USCO™ 	z CDR™ 	z RFL Design®

	z Hot Box® 	z PCORE® 	z Delmar™ 	z Turner Electric®

	z EMC™ 	z Longbow™ 	z Ohio Brass® 	z Meramec®

	z Reliaguard® 	z Greenjacket® 	z Armorcast® 	z Beckwith Electric™

	z Continental® 	z R.W. Lyall™ 	z Gas Breaker® 	z AEC™

Discontinued Operations
In October 2021, the Company entered into a definitive 
agreement to sell its Commercial and Industrial Lighting 
business for a cash purchase price of $350 million, subject to 
customary adjustments with respect to working capital and 
net indebtedness. The Commercial and Industrial Lighting 
business designs, manufactures and sells LED lighting and 
control solutions for commercial and industrial customers. This 
business was previously included in the Electrical Solutions 

segment and is now presented as a discontinued operation 
in our Consolidated Financial Statements for all periods 
presented. On February 1, 2022 we completed the sale. See also 
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis — “Executive 
Overview of the Business” and “Results of Operations”, as well 
as Note 2 — Discontinued Operations, and Note 21 — Industry 
Segments and Geographic Area Information in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Organizational Changes
Effective January 1, 2021 the Company consolidated the 
three business groups within its Electrical segment, and 
renamed the segment as Hubbell Electrical Solutions 
("Electrical Solutions"). The Electrical Solutions segment 
unites businesses with similar operating models, products, 
and go to market strategies under one operating banner and 
common leadership to drive synergies and long-term growth 
opportunities. 

Also effective January 1, 2021 the Company moved its Hubbell 
Gas Connectors and Accessories business, from the Electrical 
Solutions segment to the Utility Solutions segment to create 
synergies with the existing gas products already offered within 
the Utility Solutions segment and to better serve its utility 
customers. The Hubbell Gas Connectors and Accessories 
business represented approximately $157.1 million of Net sales 
and $19.4 million of operating profit in 2020. The information 
provided in the Consolidated Financial Statements and 
related notes reflects the impact of this change for all periods 
presented.
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Information Applicable to Our Business

International Operations
The Company has several operations located outside of the 
United States. These operations manufacture, assemble and/
or procure and market Hubbell products and services for 
both the Electrical Solutions and Utility Solutions segments.

See Note 21 — Industry Segments and Geographic Area 
Information in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
and Item 1A. Risk Factors relating to manufacturing in and 
sourcing from foreign countries.

Customers
We have an extensive customer base of distributors, 
wholesalers, electric utilities, OEMs, electrical contractors, 
telecommunications companies and retail and hardware 
outlets. We are not dependent on a single customer, however, 
our top ten customers account for approximately 42% of our 
Net sales.

Raw Materials
Raw materials used in the manufacture of Hubbell products 
primarily include steel, aluminum, brass, copper, bronze, zinc, 
nickel, plastics, phenolics, elastomers and petrochemicals. 
Hubbell also purchases certain electrical and electronic 
components, including solenoids, lighting ballasts, printed 
circuit boards, integrated circuit chips and cord sets, from a 
number of suppliers. Hubbell is not materially dependent upon 
any one supplier for raw materials used in the manufacture of 
its products and equipment however the cost and supply of 
these materials may be affected by disruptions in availability 
of raw materials, components or sourced finished goods. See 
also Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about 
Market Risk.

Patents
Hubbell has approximately 3,000 active United States and 
foreign patents covering a portion of its products, which 
expire at various times. While Hubbell deems these patents to 
be of value, it does not consider its business to be dependent 
upon patent protection. Hubbell also licenses products under 
patents owned by others, as necessary, and grants licenses 
under certain of its patents.

Working Capital
Inventory, accounts receivable and accounts payable levels, 
payment terms and, where applicable, return policies are 
in accordance with the general practices of the electrical 
products industry and standard business procedures. See also 
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations.

Backlog
Substantially all of the backlog existing at December 31, 
2021 in the Electrical Solutions segment is expected to 
be shipped to customers in 2022. In the Utility Solutions 

segment, the backlog existing at December 31, 2021 includes 
backlog expected to be shipped during 2022, along with 
$420 million of backlog of contracts that span multiple 
years, primarily related to long-term contracts of the Aclara 
business to deliver and install meters and grid monitoring 
sensor technology. The backlog of orders believed to be 
firm at December 31, 2021 was $1,848.0 million compared to 
$1,065.8 million at December 31, 2020. Although this backlog 
is important, the majority of Hubbell’s revenues result from 
sales of inventoried products or products that have short 
periods of manufacture.

Competition
Hubbell experiences substantial competition in all categories 
of its business, but does not compete with the same 
companies in all of its product categories. The number 
and size of competitors vary considerably depending on 
the product line. Hubbell cannot specify with precision the 
number of competitors in each product category or their 
relative market position. However, some of its competitors 
are larger companies with substantial financial and other 
resources. Hubbell considers product performance, reliability, 
quality and technological innovation as important factors 
relevant to all areas of its business and considers its reputation 
as a manufacturer of quality products to be an important 
factor in its business. In addition, product price, service levels 
and other factors can affect Hubbell’s ability to compete.

Environment
The Company is subject to various federal, state and local 
government requirements relating to the protection of 
employee health and safety and the environment. The 
Company believes that, as a general matter, its policies, 
practices and procedures are properly designed to prevent 
unreasonable risk of environmental damage and personal 
injury to its employees and its customers’ employees and that 
the handling, manufacture, use and disposal of hazardous or 
toxic substances are in accordance with environmental laws 
and regulations.

Like other companies engaged in similar businesses, the 
Company has incurred or acquired through business 
combinations, remedial response and voluntary cleanup costs 
for site contamination, and is a party to product liability and 
other lawsuits and claims associated with environmental 
matters, including past production of products containing toxic 
substances. Additional lawsuits, claims and costs involving 
environmental matters are likely to continue to arise in the 
future. However, considering past experience and reserves, 
the Company does not anticipate that these matters will have 
a material adverse effect on earnings, capital expenditures, 
financial condition or competitive position. See also Item 1A. 
Risk Factors and Note 16 — Commitments and Contingencies 
in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Human Capital
Our commitment to developing our employees is one of 
four pillars that guide Hubbell as a company. We recruit, 
hire, and develop talent that meets and anticipates the 
ever-changing needs of our enterprise, while fostering an 
inclusive and diverse workplace. Hubbell provides market 
competitive compensation, health and well-being programs, 
and retirement benefits based on the countries and 
markets in which we operate to motivate market-leading 
performance. 

As of December 31, 2021, Hubbell had approximately 18,300 
salaried and hourly employees of whom approximately 10,400, 
or 57%, are located in the United States. Approximately 2,400 
of these U.S. employees are represented by 8 labor unions. 
Hubbell considers its labor relations to be satisfactory and 
regularly engages with its labor unions.

Hubbell is committed to fostering an environment that 
respects and encourages individual differences, diversity of 
thought, and talent. We strive to create a workplace where 
employees feel that their contributions are welcomed 
and valued, allowing them to fully engage their talents 
and training in their work, while generating personal 
satisfaction in their role within Hubbell. Hubbell has 
created a multi-year, enterprise-wide strategy dedicated 
to evolving our inclusive culture while addressing 
underrepresentation where it exists across our company. 
As of December 31, 2021, 32% of our employees identify 
as female, and within the United States, 29% identify as 
female and 44% are racially diverse. Hubbell has also 
joined the Paradigm for Parity coalition, with over 100 
companies in committing to achieve gender parity in its 
senior leadership by 2030.

Across, the enterprise, there are a variety of ways we invest 
in our people to learn - on the job, in the classroom, through 
self-directed learning, or through leadership programs. We 
have expanded our learning management system (known 
as Hubbell University) to make new content and training 
available to our employees. The Company has also expanded 
leadership development programs and continues to expand 
internship programs to continue to develop new talent.

The Company also fosters and encourages its employees to 
give back to their communities. In 2020, Hubbell launched its 
inaugural Hubbell Helping Hands dedicated month of service, 
making October an annual month of volunteerism focus 
for the Company. The Company also supports employees’ 

spirit of volunteerism in their communities throughout the 
year with its Volunteer Paid Time Off policy, which provides 
all employees with up to 8 hours of paid time off a year to 
volunteer with an eligible 501(c)(3) charity of their choice.

As a manufacturing company we focus on protecting the 
health and safety of our employees. We dedicate resources 
to track and monitor safety and recordable incidents using 
an enterprise-wide data management system. As a result, the 
total recordable incident rate has decreased 22% over the last 
5 years and the days away restricted rate has decreased 1% 
over the last 5 years. 

In 2021, Hubbell’s top priority has continued to be ensuring 
that we take appropriate actions to protect the health and 
safety of our employees, including managing the ongoing 
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. We have adjusted 
standard operating procedures within our business operations 
to ensure the continued safety of those within our locations 
and we continually monitored evolving health guidelines to 
ensure ongoing compliance and protection of our employees. 
These procedures include expanded and more frequent 
cleaning within facilities, implementation of appropriate 
social distancing programs, shift changes, requiring use of 
certain personal protective equipment, screening protocols 
and a hybrid approach to working from home and in the 
office. The Company provides paid time off for employees 
to get vaccination shots and has continued to manage a 
flexible attendance program to support employees managing 
periods of quarantine or that need to be out of work pending 
test results.

In July 2021, as a showing of appreciation for the employees’ 
efforts to serve the Company’s customers through the 
pandemic, the Company provided all employees globally 
with a Global Recharge Day. This paid day off provided all 
employees an opportunity to relax, refresh and recharge.

In addition to the foregoing, the Company also invested 
in various programs to support employees' mental and 
physical health during the pandemic. The Company has 
also expanded the delivery of mental health and wellness 
resources, including by increasing the frequency of live 
engagement events and partnering with providers to 
make mental health counseling and overall wellness tools 
accessible to employees globally. 

We will continue to evolve these programs to protect the 
health, well-being and safety of our employees.
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Information about our Executive Officers

Name(1) Age Present Position Business Experience
Gerben W. Bakker 57 Chairman of the Board, 

President and Chief 
Executive Officer

Present position since May 4, 2021; previously President 
and Chief Executive Officer since October 1, 2020; 
previously, President and Chief Operating Officer 
June 6, 2019 to October 1, 2020; Group President, 
Power Systems February 1, 2014 to June 6, 2019; 
Division Vice President, Hubbell Power Systems, Inc. 
(“HPS”) August 2009 - February 2014; President, HPS 
Brazil June 2005 - July 2009; Vice President, Sourcing, 
HPS March 2004 - May 2005.

William R. Sperry 59 Executive Vice President, 
Chief Financial Officer

Present position since May 5, 2020; previously, 
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and 
Treasurer June 6, 2019 to May 2020; Senior Vice 
President and Chief Financial Officer June 6, 2012 
to June 6, 2019; Vice President, Corporate Strategy 
and Development August 15, 2008 to June 6, 2012; 
Managing Director, Lehman Brothers August 2006 
to April 2008; various positions, including Managing 
Director, of J.P. Morgan and its predecessor institutions, 
1994-2006.

Jonathan M. Del Nero 50 Vice President, Controller Present position since January 15, 2021; previously, 
Assistant Controller June 14, 2014, to January 15, 2021; 
Executive Director, Financial Reporting, Aetna June 2011 
to June 2014; Senior Manager, Technical Accounting, 
Stanley Black and Decker June 2009 to June 2011; 
Manager of Accounting Policy, The Hartford September 
2008 to June 2009; various positions at CIGNA March 
2003 to September 2008.

Allan J. Connolly 54 President, Utility Solutions 
Segment

Present position since July 1, 2019 (the Utility Solutions 
Segment was formerly known as the Power Systems 
Group); previously, President, Aclara February 2018 
to June 28, 2019; President and Chief Executive 
Officer of Aclara May 2014 to February 2018; Chief 
Operating Officer of Culligan International July 2012 to 
January 2014; Executive Vice President of Operations, 
Engineering and N.A. Industrial of Culligan International 
November 2006 to July 2012; Vice President of 
Research, Development & Engineering of Culligan 
International April 2006 to November 2006; General 
Manager Technology; GE Power & Water March 2003 to 
April 2006.

Katherine A. Lane 44 Senior Vice President, General 
Counsel and Secretary

Present position since May 4, 2021; previously Vice 
President, General Counsel and Secretary since June 
6, 2019; previously, Vice President, Acting General 
Counsel and Secretary March 2019 to June 6, 2019; 
Vice President, Associate General Counsel June 2017 to 
March 2019; Vice President, Legal, Hubbell Commercial & 
Industrial September 2015 to June 2017; Senior Counsel, 
Hubbell Electrical Systems May 2014 to September 2015; 
Corporate General Attorney August 2010 to May 2014. 
Previously, various positions in private practice in law 
firms based in Massachusetts and Connecticut.

Peter J. Lau 42 President, Electrical Solutions 
Segment

Present position since August 3, 2020; previously 
President of Honeywell Fire and Electrical Products 
(Honeywell) April 2019-August 2020; President of the 
global security business Honeywell, 2018-2019; CEO, 
International, Current, powered by GE 2016-2018; 
various positions at GE Lighting 2005-2016.

(1) As of February 11, 2022, there are no family relationships among any of the above-named executive officers and any of our directors. 
For information related to our Board of Directors, refer to Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
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Item 1A Risk Factors
Our business, operating results, financial condition, and cash 
flows may be affected by a number of factors including, 
but not limited to those set forth below. Any one of these 
factors could cause our actual results to vary materially 
from recent results or future anticipated results. See also 
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis — “Executive 
Overview of the Business” and “Results of Operations”.

COVID-19 Pandemic Risks 
Our business and operations, and the 
operations of our suppliers, have been, and 
may in the future be adversely affected 
by epidemics or pandemics such as the 
COVID-19 pandemic outbreak
We may face risks related to health epidemics and pandemics 
or other outbreaks of communicable diseases. The global 
spread of COVID-19 has created significant volatility, 
uncertainty and economic disruption, including significant 
volatility in the capital markets. The extent to which the 
COVID-19 pandemic impacts our business, operations, 
financial results and the trading price of our common stock 
will depend on numerous evolving factors that we may not be 
able to accurately predict, as there are no comparable recent 
events that provide guidance as to the potential effect of the 
spread of a global pandemic. These include: the duration 
and scope and possible resurgence of the pandemic or 
continued emergence of new strains of COVID-19, such as 
the Delta and Omicron variants; the availability of an effective 
vaccine and the speed with which it is administered to the 
public; governmental, business individuals' actions that have 
been and continue to be taken in response to the pandemic 
(including mitigation efforts such as stay at home and other 
social distancing orders) and the impact of the pandemic on 
economic activity and actions taken in response (including 
stimulus efforts such as the Families First Coronavirus Act 
and the CARES Act).

A public health epidemic or pandemic, such as the COVID-19 
pandemic, poses the risk that our employees, contractors, 
suppliers, customers and other business partners may 
be prevented from conducting business activities for an 
indefinite period of time, including due to shutdowns that 
may be requested or mandated by governmental authorities, 
or that such epidemic may otherwise interrupt or impair 
business activities.

We have adjusted standard operating procedures within 
our business operations to ensure continued safety of 
those within our locations and are continually monitoring 
evolving health guidelines, as well as market conditions, and 
responding to changes as appropriate; however, we cannot 
be certain that these efforts will prevent further disruption 
due to shutdowns or other pandemic mitigation efforts 
and could have a material adverse effect on our results of 

operations and liquidity. This situation is changing continually, 
and additional effects may arise that we are not presently 
aware of or that we currently do not consider to be significant 
risks to our operations. If we are not able to respond to and 
manage the impact of such events effectively, our business 
and financial condition could be negatively impacted. 

The global COVID-19 pandemic has led to significant global 
supply chain shortages for materials and component parts 
used in our products and associated escalating prices. In 
addition to supply shortages, constrained transportation 
capacities have led to significant price increases in 
transportation costs. We expect to continue to be affected 
by supply chain issues due to factors largely beyond our 
control, including, a global shortage of semi-conductors, 
chips and components used in our products, a strain on raw 
materials and cost inflation, all of which could escalate in 
future quarters.

Although economic conditions have generally improved 
during 2021, the strength of the economic recovery is 
uncertain and may vary across industries, customers and from 
country to country. The ultimate extent and robustness of 
any economic recovery from the impact of the pandemic 
imposes a significant degree of uncertainty and complexity, 
and may adversely affect our operations, customer demand 
and our costs of production. Failure of economic recovery 
to continue and adverse or weakening economic conditions 
may also result in deterioration in the collection of customer 
accounts receivable, as well as a reduction in sales.

New regulations on employers concerning 
COVID-19 vaccination mandates or testing 
of U.S.-based employees could have an 
adverse impact on our business and results 
of operations
On November 5, 2021, the Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration (OSHA) issued an emergency testing standard 
(ETS), which required employers with 100 or more employees 
to develop, implement and enforce a mandatory COVID-19 
vaccination policy, unless they adopt a policy requiring 
employees to choose to either be vaccinated or undergo 
regular COVID-19 testing. Although the ETS was withdrawn 
effective January 26, 2022 OSHA is not withdrawing the ETS 
as a proposed rule. We cannot currently predict the impact 
the OSHA proposed rule, if adopted, or any executive order 
that may be issued in the future would have on our workforce, 
and additional vaccine mandates may be announced within 
the jurisdictions in which our businesses operate. However, 
the implementation of these requirements may result in 
an increase in attrition rates or absenteeism within our 
skilled labor force, challenges securing future labor needs, 
inefficiencies connected to employee turnover, and costs 
associated with implementation and on-going compliance, 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, and results of operations.
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Industry and Economic Risks

We operate in markets that are subject to 
competitive pressures that could affect 
selling prices or demand for our products
We compete on the basis of product performance, quality, 
service and/or price. Competitors' behavior related to these 
areas could potentially have significant impacts on our 
financial results. Our competitive strategy is to design and 
manufacture high quality products at the lowest possible 
cost. Our strategy is to also increase selling prices to offset 
rising costs of raw materials and components. Competitive 
pricing pressures may not allow us to offset some or all of 
our increased costs through pricing actions. Alternatively, if 
raw material and component costs decline, the Company may 
not be able to maintain current pricing levels. Competition 
could also affect future selling prices or demand for our 
products which could have an adverse impact on our results 
of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Volatility in currency exchange rates may 
adversely affect our financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows
Our international operations accounted for approximately 9% 
of our Net sales in 2021. We are exposed to the effects (both 
positive and negative) that fluctuating exchange rates have 
on translating the financial statements of our international 
operations, most of which are denominated in local currencies, 
into the U.S. dollar. Fluctuations in exchange rates may affect 
product demand and reported profits in our international 
operations. In addition, currency fluctuations may affect the 
prices we pay suppliers for materials used in our products, 
along with other local costs incurred in foreign countries 
for foreign entities with U.S. dollar functional currency. As a 
result, fluctuating exchange rates may adversely impact our 
results of operations and cash flows.

Uncertainty about the future of the London 
Interbank Offer Rate ("LIBOR") may 
adversely affect our business and financial 
results
Our 2021 Credit Facility uses LIBOR as a reference rate, such 
that the interest due pursuant to such borrowings may be 
calculated using LIBOR plus an applicable margin (determined 
by reference to a ratings based grid) or the alternate base 
rate. In March 2021, the UK’s Financial Conduct Authority, 
which regulates LIBOR, announced that most tenors of the 
USD LIBOR, rates will cease to be published after June 30, 
2023, and one-week and two-month LIBOR will cease being 
published December 31, 2021. It is not possible to predict 
the effect of this announcement, including what alternative 
reference rates may replace LIBOR in use going forward, 
and how LIBOR will be determined for purposes of loans, 
securities and derivative instruments currently referencing 
it when it ceases to exist. Once LIBOR is no longer available, 
if lenders have increased costs due to such changes, we may 
suffer from potential increases in interest rates on our floating 
rate debt. These uncertainties or their resolution also could 

negatively impact our funding costs, loan and other asset 
values, asset-liability management strategies, and other 
aspects of our business and financial results.

Business and Operational Risks 

Our ability to effectively develop and 
introduce new products could adversely 
affect our ability to compete
New product introductions and enhancement of existing 
products and services are key to the Company’s competitive 
strategy. The success of new product introductions is 
dependent on a number of factors, including, but not limited 
to, timely and successful development of new products, 
including software development, market acceptance of 
these products and the Company’s ability to manage the 
risks associated with these introductions. These risks include 
development and production capabilities, management of 
inventory levels to support anticipated demand, the risk that 
new products may have quality defects in the early stages 
of introduction, and obsolescence risk of existing products. 
The Company cannot predict with certainty the ultimate 
impact new product introductions could have on our results 
of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

We manufacture and source products and 
materials from various countries throughout 
the world. A disruption in the availability, 
price or quality of these products or 
materials could adversely affect our 
operating results
Our business is subject to risks associated with global 
manufacturing and sourcing. We use a variety of raw materials 
in the production of our products including steel, aluminum, 
brass, copper, bronze, zinc, nickel, plastics, phenolics, 
elastomers and petrochemicals. We also purchase certain 
electrical and electronic components, including solenoids, 
lighting ballasts, printed circuit boards, integrated circuit 
chips and cord sets from a number of suppliers. Significant 
shortages in the availability of these materials or significant 
price increases could increase our operating costs and 
adversely impact the competitive positions of our products, 
which could adversely impact our results of operations. See 
also Risk Factor, “Significant developments from the recent 
and potential changes in U.S. trade policies could have a 
material adverse effect on us.”

We rely on materials, components and finished goods that are 
sourced from or manufactured in foreign countries including 
Mexico, China, and other international countries. Political 
instability in any country where we do business could have 
an adverse impact on our results of operations.

We rely on our suppliers to produce high quality materials, 
components and finished goods according to our 
specifications, including timely delivery. There is a risk 
that products may not meet our quality control procedure 
specifications which could adversely affect our ability to ship 
quality products to our customers on a timely basis and, 
could adversely affect our results of operations.
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We may be required to recognize 
impairment charges for our goodwill and 
other intangible assets
As of December 31, 2021, the net carrying value of our goodwill 
and other intangible assets totaled approximately $2,552.8 
million. As required by generally accepted accounting 
principles, we periodically assess these assets to determine 
if they are impaired. Impairment of intangible assets may 
be triggered by developments both within and outside the 
Company’s control. Deteriorating economic conditions, 
technological changes, disruptions to our business, inability 
to effectively integrate acquired businesses, unexpected 
significant changes or planned changes in use of the assets, 
intensified competition, divestitures, market capitalization 
declines and other factors may impair our goodwill and other 
intangible assets. Any charges relating to such impairments 
could adversely affect our results of operations in the periods 
an impairment is recognized.

We engage in acquisitions and strategic 
investments and may encounter difficulty 
in obtaining appropriate acquisitions and in 
integrating these businesses
Part of the Company’s growth strategy involves acquisitions. 
We have pursued and will continue to seek acquisitions and 
other strategic investments to complement and expand our 
existing businesses. The rate and extent to which acquisitions 
become available may affect our growth rate. The success 
of these transactions will depend on our ability to integrate 
these businesses into our operations and realize the planned 
synergies. We may encounter difficulties in integrating 
acquisitions into our operations and in managing strategic 
investments and foreign acquisitions and joint ventures 
may also present additional risk related to the integration 
of operations across different cultures and languages. 
Failure to effectively complete or manage acquisitions may 
adversely affect our existing businesses as well as our results 
of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We may not be able to successfully 
implement initiatives, including our 
restructuring activities that improve 
productivity and streamline operations to 
control or reduce costs
Achieving our long-term profitability goals depends 
significantly on our ability to control or reduce our 
operating costs. Because many of our costs are affected 
by factors completely, or substantially outside our control, 
we generally must seek to control or reduce costs through 
productivity initiatives. If we are not able to identify and 
implement initiatives that control or reduce costs and 
increase operating efficiency, or if the cost savings initiatives 
we have implemented to date do not generate expected 
cost savings, our financial results could be adversely 
affected. Our efforts to control or reduce costs may include 

restructuring activities involving workforce reductions, 
facility consolidations and other cost reduction initiatives. 
If we do not successfully manage our current restructuring 
activities, or any other restructuring activities that we may 
undertake in the future, expected efficiencies and benefits 
may be delayed or not realized, and our operations and 
business could be disrupted, which could have an adverse 
effect on our results of operations, financial condition and 
cash flows.

We are subject to risks surrounding our 
information technology systems failures, 
network disruptions, breaches in data 
security and compliance with data privacy 
laws or regulations
We are highly dependent on various software and 
information technology systems to record and process 
operational, human resources and financial transactions. 
The proper functioning of Hubbel l ’s  information 
technology systems is critical to the successful operation 
of our business. Our information technology systems are 
susceptible to cyber threats, malware, phishing attacks, 
break-ins and similar events, breaches of physical security 
or tampering and manipulation of these systems by 
employees or unauthorized third parties. Information 
security risks also exist with respect to the use of portable 
electronic devices, such as smartphones and laptops, which 
are particularly vulnerable to loss and theft. Hubbell may 
also be subject to disruptions of any of our systems and 
our vendor's systems arising from events that are wholly 
or partially beyond our control, such as natural disasters, 
acts of terrorism, cyber-attacks, computer viruses, and 
electrical/telecommunications outages or failures. All of 
these risks are also applicable where Hubbell relies on 
outside vendors to provide services, which may operate 
in an on-line, or “cloud,” environment. A failure of our 
information technology systems could adversely affect 
our ability to process orders, maintain proper levels of 
inventory, collect accounts receivable and pay expenses; 
all of which could have an adverse effect on our results of 
operations, financial condition and cash flows. In addition, 
security breaches could result in unauthorized disclosure 
of confidential information that may result in financial or 
reputational damage to the Company, as well as expose the 
Company to litigation and regulatory enforcement actions.

Hubbell also provides customers with solutions that include 
software components that allow for the control and/or the 
communication of data from those solutions to Hubbell or 
customer systems. In addition to the risks noted above, there 
are other risks associated with these solutions. For example, 
control and/or data from these solutions may be integral to a 
customer's operations. A failure of our technology to operate 
as designed or as a result of cyber threats could impact those 
operations, including by loss or destruction of data. Likewise, 
a customer’s failure to properly configure its own network are 
outside of the Company’s control and could result in a failure 
in functionality or security of our technology.
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Hubbell is also subject to an increasing number of evolving 
data privacy and security laws and regulations that impose 
requirements on the Company and our technology prior 
to certain use or transfer, storing, processing, disclosure, 
and protection of data and prior to sale or use of certain 
technologies. Failure to comply with such laws and regulations 
could result in the imposition of fines, penalties and other 
costs. For example, the European Union’s implementation of 
the General Data Protection Regulation in 2018, the European 
Union’s pending ePrivacy Regulation and the implementation 
of the ePrivacy Directive by the various European Union 
member states, and California’s implementation of its 
Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 and Connected Device Privacy 
Act of 2018, as well as data privacy statutes implemented by 
other states, could all disrupt our ability to sell products and 
solutions or use and transfer data because such activities 
may not be in compliance with applicable law in certain 
jurisdictions.

We have continued to work on improving our utilization 
of our enterprise resource planning system, expanding 
standardization of business processes and performing 
implementations at our remaining businesses, as well as 
acquired businesses. We expect to incur additional costs 
related to future implementations, process reengineering 
efforts as well as enhancements and upgrades to the system. 
These system modifications and implementations could result 
in operating inefficiencies which could adversely impact our 
operating results and/or our ability to perform necessary 
business transactions.

System failures, ineffective system implementation or 
disruptions, failure to comply with data privacy and 
security laws or regulations, IT system risk arising from the 
Company's acquisition activity or the compromise of security 
with respect to internal or external systems or portable 
electronic devices could damage the Company’s systems 
or infrastructure, subject us to liability claims, or regulatory 
fines, penalties, or intervention, harm our reputation, 
interrupt our operations, disrupt customer operations, and 
adversely affect the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting, business, financial condition, results of operations, 
or cash flows. 

Our ability to access capital markets or 
failure to maintain our credit ratings may 
adversely affect our business
Our ability to invest in our business and make strategic 
acquisitions may require access to the capital markets. If 
general economic and capital market conditions deteriorate 
significantly, it could impact our ability to access capital. 
Failure to maintain our credit ratings could also impact our 
ability to access credit markets and could increase our cost of 
borrowing. The capital and credit markets could deteriorate 
and market conditions could make it more difficult for us to 
access capital to finance our investments and acquisitions, 
which could adversely affect our results of operations, 
financial condition and cash flows.

Deterioration in the credit quality of our 
customers could have a material adverse 
effect on our operating results and financial 
condition
We have an extensive customer base of distributors, 
wholesalers, electric utilities, OEMs, electrical contractors, 
telecommunications companies and retail and hardware 
outlets. We are not dependent on a single customer, however, 
our top ten customers account for approximately 42% of our 
Net sales. Deterioration in the credit quality of several major 
customers could adversely affect our results of operations, 
financial condition and cash flows.

We have outstanding indebtedness; our 
indebtedness will increase if we incur 
additional indebtedness in the future and do 
not retire existing indebtedness 
We have outstanding indebtedness and other financial 
obligations and significant unused borrowing capacity. Our 
indebtedness level and related debt service obligations 
could have negative consequences, including (i) requiring 
us to dedicate significant cash flow from operations to the 
payment of principal and interest on our indebtedness, 
which would reduce the funds we have available for other 
purposes, (ii)  reducing our flexibility in planning for or 
reacting to changes in our business and market conditions 
and (iii) exposing us to interest rate risk since a portion of 
our debt obligations are at variable rates. 

We may incur significantly more indebtedness in the future. 
If we add new indebtedness and do not retire existing 
indebtedness, the risks described above could increase.

If the underlying investments of our 
defined benefit plans do not perform as 
expected, we may have to make additional 
contributions to these plans
We sponsor certain pension and other postretirement 
defined benefit plans. The performance of the financial 
markets and interest rates impact these plan expenses and 
funding obligations. Significant changes in market interest 
rates, investment losses on plan assets and reductions in 
discount rates may increase our funding obligations and 
could adversely impact our results of operations, cash 
flows, and financial condition. Furthermore, there can 
be no assurance that the value of the defined benefit 
plan assets will be sufficient to meet future funding 
requirements.
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Legal, Tax and Regulatory Risks 

Tax legislation may materially adversely 
affect our financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows

The recent U.S. federal elections could provide an environment 
for future corporate tax legislative activity that could have a 
material adverse effect on us. In addition, foreign jurisdictions 
may enact tax legislation that could alter the manner in which 
corporations are subject to tax in their jurisdictions that could 
significantly affect our ongoing operations. 

Because tax laws and regulations are 
subject to interpretation and uncertainty, 
tax payments may ultimately differ from 
amounts currently recorded by the Company

We are subject to income taxes as well as non-income 
based taxes, in both the United States and numerous foreign 
jurisdictions. The determination of the Company's worldwide 
provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires 
judgment and is based on diverse legislative and regulatory 
structures that exist in the various jurisdictions where the 
company operates. The ultimate tax outcome may differ from 
the amounts recorded in the Company's financial statements 
and may adversely affect the Company's financial results 
for the period when such determination is made. We are 
subject to ongoing tax audits in various jurisdictions. Tax 
authorities may disagree with certain positions we have 
taken and assess additional taxes. We regularly assess the 
likely outcomes of these audits in order to determine the 
appropriateness of our tax provisions. However, there can be 
no assurance that we will accurately predict the outcomes 
of these audits, and the future outcomes of these audits 
could adversely affect our results of operations, financial 
condition and cash flows.

Significant developments from the recent 
and potential changes in U.S. trade policies 
could have a material adverse effect on us

Over the last four years, the U.S. government has announced 
and, in some cases, implemented a new approach to trade 
policy, including renegotiating, or potentially terminating, 
certain existing bilateral or multi-lateral trade agreements, 
such as the North American Free Trade Agreement ("NAFTA"), 
which was replaced by the U.S.-Mexico-Canada Agreement, 
on July 1, 2020, and proposed trade agreements, like the 
Trans-Pacific Partnership ("TPP"), from which the United 
States has formally withdrawn, as well as implementing the 
imposition of additional tariffs on certain foreign goods, 
including finished products and raw materials such as steel 
and aluminum. Changes in the U.S. trade policy, U.S. social, 

political, regulatory and economic conditions or in laws and 
policies governing foreign trade, manufacturing, development 
and investment in the territories and countries where we 
currently manufacture and sell products, and any resulting 
negative sentiments towards the United States as a result of 
such changes, could have an adverse effect on our business. 
In addition, we cannot predict what changes to trade policy 
will be made by the current presidential administration 
and Congress, including whether existing tariff policies will 
be maintained or modified or whether the entry into new 
bilateral or multilateral trade agreements will occur, nor can 
we predict the effects that any conceivable changes would 
have on our business.

We rely on materials, components and finished goods, 
such as steel and aluminum, that are sourced from or 
manufactured in foreign countries, including China and 
Mexico. Import tariffs and potential import tariffs have 
resulted or may result in increased prices for these imported 
goods and materials and, in some cases, may result or have 
resulted in price increases for domestically sourced goods 
and materials. Changes in U.S. trade policy have resulted and 
could result in additional reactions from U.S. trading partners, 
including adopting responsive trade policies making it more 
difficult or costly for us to export our products or import 
goods and materials from those countries. These measures 
could also result in increased costs for goods imported into 
the U.S. or may cause us to adjust our worldwide supply 
chain. Either of these could require us to increase prices 
to our customers which may reduce demand, or, if we are 
unable to increase prices, result in lowering our margin on 
products sold. 

Various countries, and regions, including, without limitation, 
China, Mexico, Canada and Europe, have announced plans 
or intentions to impose or have imposed tariffs on a wide 
range of U.S. products in retaliation for new U.S. tariffs. 
These actions could, in turn, result in additional tariffs being 
adopted by the U.S. These conditions and future actions 
could have a significant adverse effect on world trade and 
the world economy. To the extent that trade tariffs and 
other restrictions imposed by the United States increase the 
price of, or limit the amount of, raw materials and finished 
goods imported into the United States, the costs of our raw 
materials may be adversely affected and the demand from 
our customers for products and services may be diminished, 
which could adversely affect our revenues and profitability.

We cannot predict future trade policy or the terms of any 
renegotiated trade agreements and their impacts on our 
business. The adoption and expansion of trade restrictions, 
the occurrence of a trade war, or other governmental action 
related to tariffs or trade agreements or policies has the 
potential to adversely impact demand for our products, our 
costs, our customers, our suppliers, and the U.S. economy, 
which in turn could adversely impact our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.
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Our business and results of operations 
may be materially adversely effected by 
compliance with import and export laws

We must comply with various laws and regulations relating to 
the import and export of products, services and technology 
from the U.S. and other countries having jurisdiction over our 
operations, which may affect our transactions with certain 
customers, business partners and other persons. In certain 
circumstances, export control and economic sanctions 
regulations may prohibit the export of certain products, 
services and technologies and in other circumstances, we 
may be required to obtain an export license before exporting 
a controlled item. The length of time required by the licensing 
processes can vary, potentially delaying the shipment of 
products or performance of services and the recognition of 
the corresponding revenue. In addition, failure to comply with 
any of these regulations could result in civil and criminal, 
monetary and non-monetary penalties, disruptions to our 
business, limitations on our ability to import and export 
products and services and damage to our reputation. 
Moreover, any changes in export control or sanctions 
regulations may further restrict the export of our products or 
services, and the possibility of such changes requires constant 
monitoring to ensure we remain compliant. Any restrictions 
on the export of our products or product lines could have a 
material adverse effect on our competitive position, results 
of operations, cash flows or financial condition.

The uncertainty surrounding the 
implementation and effect of Brexit and 
related negative developments in the 
European Union and elsewhere could 
adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations

In 2016, the United Kingdom voted to leave the European 
Union (“EU”) (commonly referred to as “Brexit”). As a 
result of the referendum, the UK exited the EU on January 
31, 2020 under a transitional trade arrangement (generally 
preserving the status quo) that was replaced by a definitive 
agreement at the end of 2020; however, the long-term 
effects of Brexit, including the UK's relationship with the 
EU and other countries, including the U.S., remains unclear. 
We conduct business in both the UK and EU and shipments 
from our UK subsidiaries represented 3% of our total Net 
sales in both 2021 and 2020. Brexit could adversely affect 
European or worldwide political, regulatory, economic or 
market conditions and could contribute to instability in 
political institutions and regulatory agencies. Brexit could also 
have the effect of disrupting the free movement of goods, 
services, and people between the UK, the EU and elsewhere. 
There can be no assurance that any or all of these events, or 
others that we cannot anticipate at this time, will not have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

We could incur significant and/or 
unexpected costs in our efforts to 
successfully avoid, manage, defend and 
litigate intellectual property matters

The Company relies on certain patents, trademarks, copyrights, 
trade secrets and other intellectual property of which the 
Company cannot be certain that others have not and will not 
infringe upon. Intellectual property litigation could be costly 
and time consuming and the Company could incur significant 
legal expenses pursuing these claims against others.

From time to time, we receive notices from third parties 
alleging intellectual property infringement. Any dispute or 
litigation involving intellectual property could be costly and 
time-consuming due to the complexity and the uncertainty 
of intellectual property litigation. Our intellectual property 
portfolio may not be useful in asserting a counterclaim, or 
negotiating a license, in response to a claim of infringement 
or misappropriation. In addition, as a result of such claims, 
the Company may lose its rights to utilize critical technology 
or may be required to pay substantial damages or license 
fees with respect to the infringed rights or be required to 
redesign our products at a substantial cost, any of which 
could negatively impact our operating results. Even if we 
successfully defend against claims of infringement, we may 
incur significant costs that could adversely affect our results 
of operations, financial condition and cash flow. See Item 3 
“Legal Proceedings” for a discussion of our legal proceedings.

We are subject to litigation and 
environmental regulations that may 
adversely impact our operating results

We are a party to a number of legal proceedings and claims, 
including those involving product liability, intellectual property 
and environmental matters, which could be significant. It is 
not possible to predict with certainty the outcome of every 
claim and lawsuit. In the future, we could incur judgments or 
enter into settlements of lawsuits and claims that could have 
a materially adverse effect on our results of operations, cash 
flows, and financial condition. In addition, we maintain insurance 
coverage with respect to certain claims, which insurance 
may not provide adequate coverage against such claims. We 
establish reserves based on our assessment of contingencies, 
including contingencies related to legal claims asserted against 
us. Subsequent developments in legal proceedings may affect 
our assessment and estimates of the loss contingency recorded 
as a reserve and require us to make additional payments, 
which could have a materially adverse effect on our results of 
operations, financial condition and cash flow.
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We are also subject to various laws and regulations relating 
to environmental protection and the discharge of materials 
into the environment, and we could incur substantial costs 
as a result of the noncompliance with or liability for clean 
up or other costs or damages under environmental laws. In 
addition, we could be affected by future laws or regulations, 
including those imposed in response to climate change 
concerns. Compliance with any future laws and regulations 
could result in a materially adverse effect on our business 
and financial results. See Item 3 “Legal Proceedings” for a 
discussion of our legal proceedings.

Our reputation and our ability to conduct 
business may be impaired by improper 
conduct by any of our employees, agents or 
business partners

We cannot provide absolute assurance that our internal 
controls and compliance systems will always protect us from 
acts committed by our employees, agents or business partners 
that would violate U.S. and/or non-U.S. laws, including the laws 
governing payments to government officials, bribery, fraud, 
anti-kickback and false claims rules, competition, export and 
import compliance, money laundering and data privacy. In 
particular, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. 
Bribery Act, and similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions 
generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from 
making improper payments to government officials for the 
purpose of obtaining or retaining business, and we operate 
in parts of the world that have experienced governmental 
corruption to some degree. Despite meaningful measures that 
we undertake to facilitate lawful conduct, which include training 
and internal control policies, these measures may not always 
prevent reckless or criminal acts by our employees or agents. 
Any such improper actions could damage our reputation and 
subject us to civil or criminal investigation in the United States 
and in other jurisdictions, could lead to substantial civil and 
criminal, monetary and non-monetary penalties and could 
cause us to incur significant legal and investigative fees.

Regulations related to conflict-free minerals 
may cause us to incur additional expenses 
and may create challenges with our 
customers

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer 
Protection Act contains provisions to improve transparency 
and accountability regarding the use of “conflict” minerals 
mined from the Democratic Republic of Congo and adjoining 
countries (“DRC”). The SEC has established annual disclosure 
and reporting requirements for those companies who use 
“conflict” minerals sourced from the DRC in their products. 
These new requirements could limit the pool of suppliers who 
can provide conflict-free minerals and as a result, we cannot 
ensure that we will be able to obtain these conflict-free 
minerals at competitive prices. Compliance with these new 
requirements may also increase our costs. In addition, we 
may face challenges with our customers if we are unable 
to sufficiently verify the origins of the minerals used in our 
products.

General Risk Factors 

We face the potential harms of natural 
disasters, terrorism, acts of war, 
international conflicts or other disruptions 
to our operations
Natural disasters, the economic uncertainty resulting from 
the spread of global pandemics, acts or threats of war or 
terrorism, international conflicts, and the actions taken by 
the United States and other governments in response to 
such events could cause damage to or disrupt our business 
operations, our suppliers or our customers, and could create 
political or economic instability, any of which could have an 
adverse effect on our business. Although it is not possible 
to predict such events or their consequences, these events 
could decrease demand for our products, make it difficult 
or  impossible for us to deliver products, or disrupt our 
supply chain.

Global economic uncertainty could 
adversely affect us
During periods of prolonged slow growth, or a downturn in 
conditions in the worldwide or domestic economies, we could 
experience reduced orders, payment delays, supply chain 
disruptions or other factors caused by economic challenges 
faced by our customers, prospective customers and suppliers. 
Depending upon their severity and duration, these conditions 
could have an adverse impact on our results of operations, 
financial condition and cash flows.

Our success depends on attracting and 
retaining qualified personnel
Our ability to sustain and grow our business requires us 
to hire, retain and develop a highly skilled and diverse 
management team and workforce. Failure to ensure that we 
have the depth and breadth of personnel with the necessary 
skill set and experience, or the loss of key employees, could 
impede our ability to deliver our growth objectives and 
execute our strategy.
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Item 1B Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2 Properties
As of December 31, 2021, Hubbell’s global headquarters are located in leased office space in Shelton, Connecticut. Other 
principal administrative offices are in Greenville, South Carolina, Manchester, New Hampshire and St. Louis, Missouri. The 
Electrical Solutions segment operates 10 warehouse facilities and 26 manufacturing facilities globally totaling approximately 
5.8 million square feet. The Utility Solutions segment operates 4 warehouse facilities and 27 manufacturing facilities globally, 
totaling approximately 5.0 million square feet. The Company believes its manufacturing and warehousing facilities are adequate 
to carry on its business activities.

Item 3 Legal Proceedings
Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned “Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements, Note 16 — Commitments and Contingencies” of this Form 10-K.

Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

PART I
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Item 5 Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, 
Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer 
Purchases of Equity Securities

The Company's Common Stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol, "HUBB".

The number of common shareholders of record on February 8, 2022 was 1,260.

Our dividends are declared at the discretion of our Board of Directors. In October 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors 
approved an increase in the common stock dividend rate from $0.98 to $1.05 per share per quarter. The increased quarterly 
dividend payment commenced with the December 15, 2021 payment made to the shareholders of record on November 30, 2021. 

The information required by Item 5 with respect to securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is 
incorporated herein by reference to Part III, Item 12 of this Form 10-K.

Purchases of Equity Securities
On October 23, 2020 the Board of Directors approved a new stock repurchase program (the "October 2020 program") that 
authorized the repurchase of up to $300 million of common stock and expires in October 2023. At December 31, 2021 our 
remaining share repurchase authorization under the October 2020 program is $288.8 million. The Company repurchased 
$11.2 million and $41.3 million of shares of Common Stock, in 2021 and 2020, respectively. All of the repurchases in 2020 were 
completed prior to the expiration of the October 2017 program. Subject to numerous factors, including market conditions and 
alternative uses of cash, we may conduct discretionary repurchases through open market or privately negotiated transactions, 
which may include repurchases under plans complying with Rules 10b5-1 and 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended.

There were no share repurchases during the quarter ended December 31, 2021.
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Corporate Performance Graph
The following graph compares the total return to shareholders on the Company’s common stock during the five years ended 
December 31, 2021, with a cumulative total return on the (i) Standard & Poor’s MidCap 400 (“S&P MidCap 400”) and (ii) the 
Dow Jones U.S. Electrical Components & Equipment Index (“DJUSEC”). The Company is a member of the S&P MidCap 400. 
The comparison assumes $100 was invested on December 31, 2016 in the Company’s Common Stock and in each of the 
foregoing indices and assumes reinvestment of dividends. 
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Item 6 [Reserved]

Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Executive Overview of the Business
Hubbell is a global manufacturer of quality electrical products 
and utility solutions for a broad range of customer and 
end market applications. We provide utility and electrical 
solutions that enable our customers to operate critical 
infrastructure reliably and efficiently, and we empower 
and energize communities through innovation solutions 
supporting energy infrastructure In Front of the Meter, on The 
Edge, and Behind the Meter. In Front of the Meter is where 
utilities transmit and distribute energy to their customers. 
The Edge connects utilities with owner/operators and allows 
energy and data to be distributed back and forth. Behind 
the Meter is where owners and operators of building and 
other critical infrastructure consume energy. Products 
are either sourced complete, manufactured or assembled 
by subsidiaries in the United States, Canada, Puerto Rico, 
Mexico, China, the UK, Brazil, Australia, Spain and Ireland. The 
Company also participates in joint ventures in Hong Kong 
and the Philippines, and maintains offices in Singapore, Italy, 
China, India, Mexico, South Korea, Chile, and countries in the 
Middle East. The Company employed approximately 19,300 
individuals worldwide as of December 31, 2021.

The Company’s reporting segments consist of the Electrical 
Solutions segment (previously named Electrical until 
January 1, 2021) and the Utility Solutions segment (formerly 
named the Power segment). In the first quarter of 2020 our 
former Power segment was re-named Utility Solutions to 
reflect the depth and breadth of our industry-leading offering 
for electric, water, gas and telecom utilities ranging from a 
wide variety of critical infrastructure components to full-
scale smart grid solutions. Results for 2021, 2020 and 2019 
by segment are included under “Segment Results” within this 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

The Company's long-term strategy is to serve its customers 
with reliable and innovative electrical and related 
infrastructure solutions with desired brands and high-quality 
service, delivered through a competitive cost structure; to 
complement organic revenue growth with acquisitions 
that enhance its product offerings; and to allocate capital 
effectively to create shareholder value. 

Our strategy to complement organic revenue growth with 
acquisitions is focused on acquiring assets that extend our 
capabilities, expand our product offerings, and present 
opportunities to compete in core, adjacent or complementary 
markets. Our acquisition strategy also provides the 
opportunity to advance our revenue growth objectives during 
periods of weakness or inconsistency in our end-markets.

Our strategy to deliver products through a competitive cost 
structure has resulted in past and ongoing restructuring 
and related activities. Our restructuring and related efforts 
include the consolidation of manufacturing and distribution 
facilities, and workforce actions, as well as streamlining 
and consolidating our back-office functions. The primary 
objectives of our restructuring and related activities are to 
optimize our manufacturing footprint, cost structure, and 
effectiveness and efficiency of our workforce.

Productivity improvement also continues to be a key area 
of focus for the Company and efforts to drive productivity 
complement our restructuring and related activities to 
minimize the impact of rising material costs and other 
administrative cost inflation. Because material costs are 
approximately two thirds of our cost of goods sold, volatility 
in this area can significantly impact profitability. Our goal 
is to have pricing and productivity programs that offset 
material and other inflationary cost increases as well as pay 
for investments in key growth areas.

Productivity programs affect virtually all functional areas 
within the Company by reducing or eliminating waste and 
improving processes. We continue to expand our efforts 
surrounding global product and component sourcing 
and supplier cost reduction programs. Value engineering 
efforts, product transfers and the use of lean process 
improvement techniques are expected to continue to increase 
manufacturing efficiency. In addition, we continue to build 
upon the benefits of our enterprise resource planning system 
across all functions.

Disposition of the Commercial and 
Industrial Lighting Business
On October 26, 2021, Hubbell entered into a definitive 
agreement to sell its Commercial and Industrial Lighting 
business to GE Current, a Daintree company, for a cash 
purchase price of $350  million, subject to customary 
adjustments with respect to working capital and net 
indebtedness. The Commercial and Industrial Lighting 
business had sales of approximately $509 million in 2021 
as part of the Electrical Solutions segment and designs, 
manufactures, and sells LED lighting and control solutions 
for commercial and industrial customers. As a result of 
the agreement, the Commercial and Industrial Lighting 
business met the criteria for presentation as a discontinued 
operation. The current and prior period results presented 
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within continuing operations exclude the results of the 
Commercial and Industrial Lighting business, transaction and 
separation costs, and tax effects of the transaction, which 
are presented within discontinued operations. On February 1, 
2022 we completed the previously announced sale. See Note 
2 - Discontinued Operations, in the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for further details.

Organizational Changes
Effective January 1, 2021 the Company consolidated the three 
business groups within its Electrical segment, and renamed the 
segment as Hubbell Electrical Solutions ("Electrical Solutions"). 
The Electrical Solutions segment unites businesses with similar 
operating models, products, and go to market strategies 
under one operating banner and common leadership to drive 
synergies and long-term growth opportunities. 

Also effective January 1, 2021 the Company moved its 
Hubbell Gas Connectors and Accessories business, from the 
Electrical Solutions segment to the Utility Solutions segment 
to create synergies with the existing gas products already 
offered within the Utility Solutions segment and to better 
serve its utility customers. The Hubbell Gas Connectors and 
Accessories business represented approximately $157.1 million 
of Net sales and $19.4 million of operating profit in 2020. 
The information provided in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and related notes reflects the impact of this 
change for all periods presented. 

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic
During March 2020, a global pandemic was declared by the 
World Health Organization related to the rapidly growing 
outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19). U.S. 
federal, state, local, and foreign governments reacted 
to the public health crisis with mitigation measures, 
creating significant uncertainties in the U.S. and global 
economies, including the shutdown of large portions of, or 
imposition of restrictions on, the U.S. and global economies. 
Notwithstanding a general improvement in conditions 
and reduction of adverse effects from the pandemic, as 
of December 31, 2021 there continues to be significant 
uncertainty around the scope, severity, and duration of the 
pandemic, as well as the breadth and duration of business 

disruptions related to it and the overall impact on the U.S., 
global economies, and our operating results in future periods.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to pose the risk that 
our employees, contractors, suppliers, customers and other 
business partners may be prevented from conducting 
business activities, partially or completely, for an indefinite 
period of time, including due to the continued emergence 
of new strains of COVID-19, such as the Delta and Omicron 
variants and resulting shutdowns that may be requested or 
mandated by governmental authorities or imposed by our 
management, or that the pandemic may otherwise interrupt 
or impair business activities. President Biden has announced 
an executive order mandating COVID-19 vaccination of U.S. 
based employees of companies that work on, or in support 
for, federal contracts which was blocked by the U.S. Supreme 
Court in January 2022, and the Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration (OSHA) issued an emergency testing 
standard (ETS), which required employers with 100 or more 
employees to enforce a mandatory COVID-19 vaccination 
policy, unless they adopt a policy requiring employees to 
choose to either be vaccinated or undergo regular COVID-19 
testing. Although the ETS was withdrawn effective January 
26, 2022, OSHA is not withdrawing the ETS as a proposed 
rule. On December 7, 2021, a judge in the U.S. District Court 
for the Southern District of Georgia issued a preliminary 
injunction, halting the government's enforcement of the 
federal contractor vaccine mandate nationwide. We cannot 
currently predict the impact that the OSHA proposed rule, if 
adopted would have on our workforce, our ability to secure 
skilled labor in the future, or the cost of implementation and 
compliance with such rule and the executive order.

Additionally, as economies have re-opened, global supply 
chains have struggled to keep up with increasing demand, 
and the resulting supply chain disruptions have, in certain 
cases, affected our ability to ship products in a timely 
manner. These supply chain disruptions and the increase 
in demand have also led to increased freight, labor and 
commodity cost that affected our operating margin in 
2021, and those disruptions and increased cost may persist 
through 2022.

Further quantification and discussion of these pandemic 
related effects are included in the discussion of results of 
operations below.
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Results of Operations
Our operations are classified into two reportable segments: 
Electrical Solutions and Utility Solutions. For a complete 
description of the Company’s segments, see Part I, Item 1 of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Within these segments, 
Hubbell serves customers in five primary end markets: utility 
T&D components, utility communications and controls, 
non-residential, residential, and industrial. 

In 2021, Net sales increased by 13.9 percent or $511.6 million and 
organic Net sales(1) increased by 9.7 percent or $356 million 
on favorable price realization along with higher volumes, as 
further discussed in segment results below. Operating margin 
declined in 2021, by 70 basis points and adjusted operating 
margin(1) declined by 90 basis points, driven by material cost 
inflation that exceeded favorable price realization, and higher 

freight, logistics and manufacturing costs, partially offset by 
higher volumes and savings from our restructuring and related 
actions and productivity initiatives. Net income attributable 
to Hubbell increased by 10.6 percent in 2021 compared to 
the prior year and diluted earnings per share increased by 
10.3 percent. Adjusted net income attributable to Hubbell(1) 
increased by 13.1 percent in 2021 compared to the prior 
year and adjusted diluted earnings per share(1) increased by 
12.7 percent in 2021.

Free cash flow(2) was lower in 2021 at $423.5 million as 
compared to $520.1 million in the prior year. In 2021 we 
paid $216.9 million in shareholder dividends, an increase of 
7.7 percent as compared to the prior year, while also reducing 
our debt by $144.8 million.

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED RESULTS (IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

For the Year Ending December 31,

2021
% of Net 

sales 2020
% of Net 

sales 2019
% of Net 

sales

Net sales $ 4,194.1  $ 3,682.5  $ 3,946.6  

Cost of goods sold 3,042.6 72.5% 2,596.7 70.5% 2,775.0 70.3%

Gross profit 1,151.5 27.5% 1,085.8 29.5% 1,171.6 29.7%

Selling & administrative expenses 619.2 14.8% 591.3 16.1% 644.9 16.3%

Operating income 532.3 12.7% 494.5 13.4% 526.7 13.3%

Net income from continuing operations 371.1 8.8% 334.7 9.1% 368.0 9.3%

Less: Net income from continuing operations 
attributable to noncontrolling interest (6.1) (0.1)% (4.7) (0.1)% (6.5) (0.2)%

Net Income From Continuing Operations 
Attributable to Hubbell Incorporated 365.0 8.7% 330.0 9.0% 361.5 9.2%

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 34.5 0.8% 21.2 0.6% 39.4 1.0%

Net income attributable to Hubbell Incorporated 399.5 9.5% 351.2 9.5% 400.9 10.2%

Less: Earnings allocated to participating securities (1.2) (1.2) (1.4)

Net income available to common shareholders 398.3 350.0 399.5

Average number of diluted shares outstanding 54.7 54.5 54.7

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE - CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS $ 6.66  $ 6.04  $ 6.59  

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE - DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS $ 0.62 $ 0.39 $ 0.72

(1) Organic Net sales, adjusted operating margin, adjusted net income attributable to Hubbell and adjusted diluted earnings per share are 
non-GAAP financial measures. See "Adjusted Operating Measures" below for a reconciliation to the comparable GAAP financial measures. 

(2) Free cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure. See "Adjusted Operating Measures" and "Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital 
Resources - Cash Flow" below for a reconciliation to the comparable GAAP financial measure. 
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Adjusted Operating Measures 
In the following discussion of results of operations, we refer 
to "adjusted" operating measures. We believe those adjusted 
measures, which exclude the impact of certain costs, gains 
and losses, may provide investors with useful information 
regarding our underlying performance from period to period 
and allow investors to understand our results of operations 
without regard to items we do not consider a component of 
our core operating performance. 

Adjusted operating measures exclude amortization of all 
intangible assets associated with our business acquisitions, 
including inventory step-up amortization associated with 
those acquisitions. The intangible assets associated with 
our business acquisitions arise from the allocation of the 
purchase price using the acquisition method of accounting 
in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 805, 
“Business Combinations.” These assets consist primarily of 
customer relationships, developed technology, trademarks and 
tradenames, and patents, as reported in Note 7 – Goodwill 
and Other Intangible Assets, under the heading “Total 
Definite-Lived Intangibles" within the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

The Company believes that the exclusion of these non-cash 
expenses (i) enhances management’s and investors’ ability 
to analyze underlying business performance, (ii) facilitates 
comparisons of our financial results over multiple periods, and 
(iii) provides more relevant comparisons of our results with 
the results of other companies as the amortization expense 
associated with these assets may fluctuate significantly from 
period to period based on the timing, size, nature, and number 
of acquisitions. Although we exclude amortization of these 
acquired intangible assets and inventory step-up from our 
non-GAAP results, we believe that it is important for investors 
to understand that revenue generated, in part, from such 
intangibles is included within revenue in determining adjusted 
net income from continuing operations. 

Adjusted operating measures also exclude the following:

	z 2021 - A $16.8  mill ion pre-tax loss on the early 
extinguishment of long-term debt from the redemption of 
all of the Company's outstanding 3.625% Senior Notes due 
2022 in the aggregate principal amount of $300 million and 
a $6.9 million loss on the disposal of a business.

	z 2020 - A pension settlement charge of $7.6 million.
	z 2019 - A $21.7 million gain on the disposition of the Haefely 
business and a $5.0 million investment loss. 

	z Income tax effects of the above adjustments which 
are calculated using the statutory tax rate, taking into 
consideration the nature of the item and the relevant taxing 
jurisdiction, unless otherwise noted.

These items are reported in Total other expense (below 
Operating income) in the Consolidated Statement of Income. 
The Company excludes these non-core items because we 
believe it enhances management's and investors' ability to 
analyze underlying business performance and facilitates 
comparisons of our financial results over multiple periods. 
Refer to the reconciliation of non-GAAP measures presented 
below, Note 4 – Business Acquisitions and Dispositions, 
Note 12 – Retirement Benefits, and Note 13 – Debt in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements, for additional information. 

Organic Net sales, a non-GAAP measure, represents Net sales 
according to U.S. GAAP, less Net sales from acquisitions and 
divestitures during the first twelve months of ownership or 
divestiture, respectively, less the effect of fluctuations in Net 
sales from foreign currency exchange. The period-over-period 
effect of fluctuations in Net sales from foreign currency 
exchange is calculated as the difference between local 
currency Net sales of the prior period translated at the current 
period exchange rate as compared to the same local currency 
Net sales translated at the prior period exchange rate. We 
believe this measure provides management and investors with 
a more complete understanding of the underlying operating 
results and trends of established, ongoing operations by 
excluding the effect of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign 
currency as these activities can obscure underlying trends. 
When comparing Net sales growth between periods excluding 
the effects of acquisitions, business dispositions and currency 
exchange rates, those effects are different when comparing 
results for different periods. For example, because Net sales 
from acquisitions are considered inorganic from the date 
we complete an acquisition through the end of the first year 
following the acquisition, Net sales from such acquisition are 
reflected as organic Net sales thereafter.

There are limitations to the use of non-GAAP measures. 
Non-GAAP measures do not present complete financial 
results. We compensate for this limitation by providing a 
reconciliation between our non-GAAP financial measures and 
the respective most directly comparable financial measure 
calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. Because 
non-GAAP financial measures are not standardized, it may 
not be possible to compare these financial measures with 
other companies’ non-GAAP financial measures having the 
same or similar names. These financial measures should not be 
considered in isolation from, as substitutes for, or alternative 
measures of, reported GAAP financial results, and should 
be viewed in conjunction with the most comparable GAAP 
financial measures and the provided reconciliations thereto. 
We believe, however, that these non-GAAP financial measures, 
when viewed together with our GAAP results and related 
reconciliations, provide a more complete understanding of 
our business. We strongly encourage investors to review our 
consolidated financial statements and publicly filed reports 
in their entirety and not rely on any single financial measure.
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The following table reconciles our adjusted financial measures to the directly comparable GAAP financial measure (in millions, 
except per share amounts):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021
% of Net 

sales 2020
% of Net 

sales 2019
% of Net 

sales

Gross profit (GAAP measure) $ 1,151.5 27.5% $ 1,085.8 29.5% $ 1,171.6 29.7%

Amortization of acquisition-related  
intangible assets 27.5 26.1 24.0

Adjusted gross profit $ 1,179.0 28.1% $ 1,111.9 30.2% $ 1,195.6 30.3%

S&A expenses (GAAP measure) $ 619.2 14.8% $ 591.3 16.1% $ 644.9 16.3%

Amortization of acquisition-related  
intangible assets 50.2 46.5 44.9

Adjusted S&A expenses  $ 569.0 13.6% $ 544.8 14.8% $ 600.0 15.2%

Operating income (GAAP measure) $ 532.3 12.7% $ 494.5 13.4% $ 526.7 13.3%

Amortization of acquisition-related  
intangible assets 77.7 72.6 68.9

Adjusted operating income $ 610.0 14.5% $ 567.1 15.4% $ 595.6 15.1%

Net income from continuing operations 
attributable to Hubbell (GAAP measure) $ 365.0 $ 330.0 $ 361.5

Amortization of acquisition-related  
intangible assets 77.7 72.6 68.9

Loss (gain) on disposition of business 6.9 — (21.7)

Loss on extinguishment of debt 16.8 — —

Pension charge — 7.6 —

Loss on investment — — 5.0

Total pre-tax adjustments to net income 101.4 80.2 52.2

Income tax effects(1) 24.7 19.8 16.2

Adjusted net income from continuing 
operations $ 441.7 $ 390.4 $ 397.5

Less: Earnings allocated to participating 
securities (1.4) (1.4) (1.5)

Adjusted net income available to common 
shareholders $ 440.3 $ 389.0 $ 396.0

Average number of diluted shares outstanding 54.7 54.5 54.7

ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS — DILUTED $ 8.05 $ 7.14 $ 7.25

(1) The income tax effects are calculated using the statutory tax rate, taking into consideration the nature of the item and the relevant 
taxing jurisdiction, unless otherwise noted. For 2019, the gain on the disposition of business was not taxable in the jurisdiction of sale 
but resulted in additional U.S. and Canadian tax and adjustments were made accordingly. Furthermore, no tax effects are reflected 
for the loss on investment because the Company recorded a full valuation allowance against the loss based on its evaluation that it is 
more likely than not that the benefit of the realized loss will not be recognized for tax purposes.
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The following table reconciles our Organic Net sales to the directly comparable GAAP financial measure (in millions 
and percentage change):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021
Inc/(Dec) 

% 2020
Inc/(Dec) 

%

Net sales growth (decline) (GAAP measure) $ 511.6 13.9 $ (264.0) (6.7)

Impact of acquisitions 144.6 3.9 44.8 1.1

Impact of divestitures (5.7) (0.2) (20.3) (0.5)

Foreign currency exchange 16.5 0.5 (10.8) (0.3)

ORGANIC NET SALES GROWTH (DECLINE) (NON-GAAP MEASURE) $ 356.2 9.7 $ (277.7) (7.0)

2021 Compared to 2020

Net Sales
Net sales of $4,194.1 million in 2021 increased by $511.6 million, 
or 13.9% compared to 2020. Organic Net sales increased by 
9.7% due to favorable price realization along with higher unit 
volume. Net sales increased by 3.9% from acquisitions and 
by a 0.5% from foreign exchange. 

Cost of Goods Sold
As a percentage of Net sales, Cost of goods sold was 72.5% of 
Net sales in 2021 as compared to 70.5% in 2020. The increase 
was primarily driven by material cost inflation that exceeded 
favorable price realization, and higher freight, logistics and 
manufacturing costs, partially offset by higher volumes, savings 
from our restructuring and related actions and productivity 
initiatives. 

Gross Profit
The gross profit margin in 2021 was 27.5% of Net sales as 
compared to 29.5% in 2020. Excluding amortization of 
acquisition-related intangible assets, the adjusted gross 
profit margin was 28.1% in 2021 as compared to 30.2% 
in 2020. The decline in adjusted gross profit margin was 
primarily driven by material cost inflation that exceeded 
favorable price realization, and higher freight, logistics and 
manufacturing costs, partially offset by higher volumes, 
savings from our restructuring and related actions and 
productivity initiatives. 

Selling & Administrative Expenses
S&A expense in 2021 was $619.2 million and increased by 
$27.9 million compared to the prior year period. S&A expense 
as a percentage of Net sales declined by 130 basis points to 
14.8% in 2021. Excluding amortization of acquisition-related 
intangible assets, adjusted S&A expense as a percentage of 
Net sales declined by 120 basis points to 13.6% in 2021. The 
decrease in adjusted S&A expense as a percentage of Net 
sales is primarily due to higher organic sales and a reduction 
of bad debt expense in 2021 compared to 2020, partially 
offset by the impact of compensation actions and other 
cost reductions in the second quarter of 2020 due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic that did not repeat in 2021 as operations 
normalized.

Operating Income
Operating income in 2021 was $532.3 million and increased 
7.6% compared to 2020, and operating margin declined 
by 70 basis points to 12.7%. Excluding amortization of 
acquisition-related intangible assets, adjusted operating 
income increased by 7.6% percent in 2021 to $610.0 million 
and adjusted operating margin declined by 90 basis points 
to 14.5% in 2021. The decrease in adjusted operating margin 
is primarily due to increased material cost in excess of price 
realization, higher freight, logistics and manufacturing 
costs, partially offset by higher volume and savings from 
restructuring and related actions, and productivity initiatives.

Total Other Expense
Total other expense increased by $3.0 million in 2021 to 
$73.0 million compared to the prior year primarily due to 
a $16.8 million pre-tax loss on the early extinguishment of 
long-term debt recognized in the second quarter of 2021 from 
the redemption of the Company's $300 million long-term 
notes, which were scheduled to mature in 2022, partially 
offset by $5.4 million reduction in interest expense and lower 
non-service pension costs. 

Income Taxes
The effective tax rate was 19.2% in 2021 as compared to 21.2% 
in 2020. The decrease in the effective tax rate is primarily 
due to favorable tax effects from stock based compensation 
and statute of limitation expirations on certain tax reserves 
as compared to 2020. 

Net Income From Continuing Operations 
Attributable to Hubbell and Earnings Per 
Diluted Share From Continuing Operations
Net income from continuing operations attributable to 
Hubbell was $365.0 million in 2021 and increased 10.6% as 
compared to 2020. Adjusted net income from continuing 
operations attributable to Hubbell was $441.7 million in 
2021 and increased 13.1% as compared to 2020 primarily 
as a result of higher operating income, driven by higher 
Net sales, a decrease in the effective tax rate, and 
lower non-service pension costs and interest expense. 
As a result, earnings per diluted share from continuing 
operations in 2021 increased 10.3% compared to 2020. 
Adjusted earnings per diluted share from continuing 
operations in 2021 increased 12.7% as compared to 2020. 
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Income From Discontinued Operations, 
Net of Tax
The operating results of the Commercial and Industrial 
Lighting business have been reflected as discontinued 
operations. In addition, the year ended December 31, 
2021 includes pre-tax separation and transactions costs 
of $7.0 million and a one-time tax benefit of $25.1 million 
related to the realization of book to tax basis differences.

Segment Results 

Electrical Solutions

For the Year Ended 
December 31,

(in millions) 2021 2020

Net sales $ 1,859.7 $ 1,603.1

Operating income (GAAP measure) $ 248.2 $ 188.9

Amortization of acquisition-
related intangible assets 13.3 14.4

Adjusted operating income $ 261.5 $ 203.3

Operating margin (GAAP 
measure) 13.3% 11.8%

Adjusted operating margin 14.1% 12.7%

The following table reconciles our Organic Net sales to the 
directly comparable GAAP financial measure (in millions and 
percentage change):

Electrical Solutions 

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021
Inc/

(Dec) % 2020
Inc/

(Dec) %

Net sales growth 
(decline) (GAAP 
measure) $ 256.6 16.0 $(173.6) (9.8)

Impact of acquisitions 21.3 1.3 18.8 1.1

Impact of divestitures — — (20.3) (1.2)

Foreign currency 
exchange 13.6 0.9 (2.3) (0.1)

ORGANIC NET 
SALES GROWTH 
(DECLINE) (NON-
GAAP MEASURE) $ 221.7 13.8 $(169.8) (9.6)

Net sales of the Electrical Solutions segment in 2021 were 
$1.9 billion and increased by $256.6 million, or 16.0% as 
compared to 2020. Organic Net sales in 2021 increased 
by 13.8% as compared to the prior year primarily due to 
favorable price realization and higher unit volume. Net sales 
also increased by 1.3% from acquisitions and by a 0.9% from 
foreign exchange. Higher unit volume was primarily driven by 
strong growth in the industrial markets during the 2021 period.

Operating income of the Electrical Solutions segment in 
2021 was $248.2 million and increased approximately 31.4% 
compared to 2020, while operating margin in 2021 increased 
by 150 basis points as compared to the prior year to 13.3%. 
Excluding amortization of acquisition-related intangibles, 
adjusted operating margin increased by 140 basis points 

to 14.1% in 2021 as compared to 2020. The increase in the 
adjusted operating margin in 2021 is primarily due to higher 
Net sales volume and higher savings from restructuring and 
related actions in 2021, including a gain on the sale of a facility, 
and productivity initiatives, partially offset by material cost 
inflation that was greater than favorable price realization and 
higher freight, logistics and manufacturing costs. Acquisitions 
contributed 20 basis points to adjusted operating margin in 
2021 as compared to the prior year.

Utility Solutions

For the Year Ended 
December 31,

(in millions) 2021 2020

Net sales $ 2,334.4 $ 2,079.4

Operating income $ 284.1 $ 305.6

Amortization of acquisition-
related intangible assets 64.4 58.2

Adjusted operating income $ 348.5 $ 363.8

Operating margin (GAAP measure) 12.2% 14.7%

Adjusted operating margin 14.9% 17.5%

The following table reconciles our Organic Net sales to the 
directly comparable GAAP financial measure (in millions and 
percentage change):

Utility Solutions

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021
Inc/

(Dec) % 2020
Inc/

(Dec) %

Net sales growth 
(decline) (GAAP 
measure) $ 255.0 12.3 $ (90.4) (4.2)

Impact of acquisitions 123.3 5.9 26.0 1.2

Impact of divestitures (5.7) (0.2) — —

Foreign currency 
exchange 2.9 0.1 (8.5) (0.4)

ORGANIC NET 
SALES GROWTH 
(DECLINE) (NON-
GAAP MEASURE) $ 134.5 6.5 $(107.9) (5.0)

Net sales in the Utility Solutions segment in 2021 were 
$2.3 billion, and increased by 12.3% as compared to 2020, 
due to a 6.5% increase in Organic Net sales due to favorable 
price realization and higher unit volume. Acquisitions, net of 
divestitures contributed 5.7% to Net sales growth in 2021 and 
foreign exchange was slightly favorable by 0.1%.

Within the Utility Solutions segment, Net sales of our Utility 
T&D components business increased by approximately 
16.2% as compared to the prior year, primarily driven by 
10.5% Organic Net sales growth, and 5.7% Net sales growth 
from acquisitions. Net sales of our Utility communications 
and controls business increased by 3.2% as compared to the 
prior year primarily due to Net sales growth from acquisitions 
net of divestitures of 5.7% and a 0.3% increase in Net sales 
from foreign exchange, partially offset by a 2.8% decline in 
Organic Net sales. 
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Operating income in the Utility Solutions segment in 2021 
decreased by 7.0% to $284.1 million as compared to 2020. 
Operating margin in 2021 decreased to 12.2% as compared to 
14.7% in 2020. Excluding amortization of acquisition-related 
intangibles the adjusted operating margin in 2021 decreased 
by 260 basis points to 14.9% as compared to the prior year. 
The year-over-year decrease in adjusted operating margin 
was primarily driven by increased material cost in excess of 
price realization, higher freight, logistics and manufacturing 
costs, partially offset by savings from restructuring and 
related actions, productivity initiatives and higher volumes. 
Adjusted operating income increased from acquisitions, 
but contributed 60 basis points to the decline in adjusted 
operating margin, due to higher manufacturing costs.

2020 Compared to 2019 

Net Sales
Net sales of $3,682.5  million in 2020 decreased by 
$264.1 million compared to 2019. Organic Net sales declined 
by 7.0% due to lower unit volume primarily driven by the 
unfavorable effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on demand, as 
well as restrictions on project deployments and installations 
within our Aclara business associated with the COVID-19 
pandemic. The impact of lower unit volume was partially 
offset by an increase in Net sales of less than one percentage 
point from the effect of acquisitions net of dispositions and 
favorable price realization.

Cost of Goods Sold
As a percentage of Net sales, Cost of goods sold was 70.5% of 
Net sales in 2020 as compared to 70.3% in 2019. The increase 
primarily reflects cost increases that exceeded savings from 
productivity initiatives, inefficiencies related to the COVID-19 
pandemic and lower sales volume, partially offset by favorable 
price realization and material costs, higher savings from our 
restructuring and related actions, and a favorable impact from 
acquisitions.

Gross Profit
The gross profit margin in 2020 was 29.5% of Net sales 
as compared to 29.7% in 2019. Excluding amortization of 
acquisition-related intangible assets, the adjusted gross profit 
margin was 30.2% in 2020 as compared to 30.3% in 2019. The 
decline in adjusted gross profit margin primarily reflects cost 
increases that exceeded savings from productivity initiatives, 
inefficiencies related to the COVID-19 pandemic and lower 
sales volume, partially offset by favorable price realization 
and material costs, higher savings from our restructuring and 
related actions, and a favorable impact from acquisitions.

Selling & Administrative Expenses
S&A expense in 2020 was $591.3 million and decreased by 
$53.6 million compared to the prior year period. S&A expense 
as a percentage of Net sales declined by 20 basis points to 
16.1% in 2020. Excluding amortization of acquisition-related 
intangible assets, adjusted S&A expense as a percentage of 
Net sales declined by 40 basis points to 14.8% in 2020. The 

decrease in S&A expense as a percentage of Net sales in 2020 
as compared to the 2019 is primarily due to the impact of 
compensation actions taken in the second quarter of 2020 
in response to lower Net sales volumes associated with the 
pandemic as well as other cost reductions associated with 
lower volume and the COVID-19 pandemic, including lower 
travel and entertainment costs. These decreases were partially 
offset by the deleveraging effect of lower sales volume and 
the timing of stock-based compensation expense associated 
with our annual grant, which shifted from the fourth quarter 
of 2019 to the first quarter of 2020.

Operating Income
Operating income decreased 6.1% in 2020 to $494.5 million 
compared to 2019, and operating margin increased by 10 basis 
points to 13.4%. Excluding amortization of acquisition-related 
intangible assets, adjusted operating income declined by 
4.8% percent in 2020 to $567.1 million and adjusted operating 
margin increased by 30 basis points to 15.4% in 2020. The 
decrease in adjusted operating income is primarily due to 
the effect on gross margin of lower volume and higher costs, 
including inefficiencies related to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
partially offset by lower S&A expense due to the factors 
described above.

Total Other Expense
Total other expense increased by $12.5 million in 2020 
to $70.0  million compared to the prior year primarily 
due to a $21.7 million gain recognized on the disposal of 
the Haefely business in 2019 and higher losses on foreign 
exchange revaluations in the current year, partially offset by 
a $5.0 million loss on an investment in an available-for-sale 
debt security in 2019 that did not repeat in 2020, as well as 
lower non-service pension costs and interest expense in the 
current year.

Income Taxes
The effective tax rate was 21.2% in 2020 compared to 21.6% 
in 2019. The decrease in the tax rate was due to the state 
effective tax rate and favorable tax effects from stock based 
compensation, partially offset by the absence in 2020 of 
favorable adjustments related to the disposition in 2019.

Net Income From Continuing Operations 
Attributable to Hubbell and Earnings Per 
Diluted Share From Continuing Operations
Net income from continuing operations attributable to 
Hubbell was $330.0 million in 2020 and decreased 8.7% 
as compared to 2019. Adjusted net income attributable to 
Hubbell was $390.4 million in 2020 and decreased 1.8% as 
compared to 2019 primarily as a result of lower operating 
income, driven by lower Net sales volumes and other COVID-19 
pandemic effects (as detailed above), partially offset by lower 
non-service pension costs and interest expense. As a result, 
earnings per diluted share from continuing operations in 2020 
decreased 8.3% compared to 2019. Adjusted earnings per 
diluted share from continuing operations in 2020 decreased 
1.5% as compared to 2019. 
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Income From Discontinued Operations 
Net of Tax
The operating results of the Commercial and Industrial 
Lighting business have been reflected as discontinued 
operations.

Segment Results 

Electrical Solutions

For the Year Ended 
December 31,

(in millions) 2020 2019

Net sales $ 1,603.1 $ 1,776.7

Operating income (GAAP measure) $ 188.9 $ 236.1

Amortization of acquisition-
related intangible assets 14.4 13.7

Adjusted operating income $ 203.3 $ 249.8

Operating margin (GAAP 
measure) 11.8% 13.3%

Adjusted operating margin 12.7% 14.1%

The following table reconciles our Organic Net sales to the 
directly comparable GAAP financial measure (in millions and 
percentage change):

For the Year Ended 
December 31,

Electrical Solutions 2020
Inc/ 

(Dec) %

Net sales growth (decline)  
(GAAP measure) $ (173.6) (9.8)

Impact of acquisitions 18.8 1.1

Impact of divestitures (20.3) (1.2)

Foreign currency exchange (2.3) (0.1)

ORGANIC NET SALES  
GROWTH (DECLINE)  
(NON-GAAP MEASURE) $ (169.8) (9.6)

Net sales of the Electrical Solutions segment in 2020 were 
$1.6 billion and decreased by $173.6 million, or 9.8% as 
compared to 2019. Organic Net sales in 2020 declined by 
9.6% as compared to the same prior year period due to lower 
unit volume, primarily driven by the unfavorable effects of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on demand. 

Operating income of the Electrical Solutions segment in 
2020 was $188.9 million and decreased approximately 20.0% 
compared to 2019, while operating margin in 2020 decreased 
by 150 basis points to 11.8%. Excluding amortization of 
acquisition-related intangibles, adjusted operating margin 
decreased by 140 basis points to 12.7% in 2020 as compared 
to 2019. The decrease in operating income and operating 
margin in 2020 is primarily due to lower Net sales volume 
and inefficiencies related to the pandemic and higher stock 
based compensation expense due to the change in timing of 
our annual equity grants. These items were partially offset by 

favorable price realization and material costs, higher savings 
from our restructuring and related activities, savings from 
productivity initiatives and lower costs due in part to the 
impact of compensation actions and other cost reductions 
associated with the COVID-19 pandemic.

Utility Solutions

For the Year Ended 
December 31,

(in millions) 2020 2019

Net sales $ 2,079.4 $ 2,169.7

Operating income $ 305.6 $ 290.5

Amortization of acquisition-
related intangible assets 58.2 55.2

Adjusted operating income $ 363.8 $ 345.7

Operating margin (GAAP 
measure) 14.7% 13.4%

Adjusted operating margin 17.5% 15.9%

The following table reconciles our Organic Net sales to the 
directly comparable GAAP financial measure (in millions and 
percentage change):

For the Year Ended 
December 31,

Utility Solutions 2020
Inc/ 

(Dec) %

Net sales growth (decline)  
(GAAP measure) $ (90.4) (4.2)

Impact of acquisitions 26.0 1.2

Impact of divestitures — —

Foreign currency exchange (8.5) (0.4)

ORGANIC NET SALES  
GROWTH (DECLINE)  
(NON-GAAP MEASURE) $ (107.9) (5.0)

Net sales in the Utility Solutions segment in 2020 were 
$2.1 billion, down 4.2% as compared to 2019, due to a 5.0% 
decline in Organic Net sales resulting from restrictions 
associated with the pandemic on project deployments and 
installations, partially offset by higher end-market demand 
in the electrical transmission and distribution markets, an 
increase in storm-related sales as compared to the prior 
year, and favorable price realization. Acquisitions contributed 
1.2% to Net sales growth in 2020 and foreign exchange was 
slightly unfavorable by 0.4%.

Within the Utility Solutions segment, Net sales of our 
Utility T&D components business in 2020 increased by 
approximately 2% as compared to the prior year driven by 
domestic demand in the utility transmission and distribution 
markets as well as Net sales growth from acquisitions and 
higher storm-related sales as compared to the prior year. Net 
sales of our Utility communications and controls business in 
2020 decreased by approximately 14% as compared to the 
prior year primarily driven by restrictions associated with the 
pandemic on project deployments and installations.
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Operating income in the Utility Solutions segment in 2020 
increased by 5.2% to $305.6 million as compared to 2019. 
Operating margin in 2020 increased to 14.7% as compared to 
13.4% in 2019. Excluding amortization of acquisition-related 
intangibles the adjusted operating margin in 2020 increased 
by 160 basis points to 17.5% as compared to the prior year. 
That increase was primarily driven by savings from our 
productivity initiatives and lower cost inflation, due in part to 

the impact of compensation actions and other cost reductions 
associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, favorable price 
realization, higher savings from restructuring programs and 
lower restructuring and related costs, and favorable Net sales 
mix. Those favorable items were partially offset by the impact 
of lower volume, COVID-19 pandemic related inefficiencies 
and higher stock based compensation expense due to the 
change in timing of our annual equity grants.

Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources
In October 2021, the Company entered into a definitive 
agreement to sell its Commercial and Industrial Lighting 
business for cash consideration of $350 million, subject 
to customary adjustments with respect to working capital 
and net indebtedness. As a result of the agreement, the 
Commercial and Industrial Lighting business met the criteria 
for presentation as a discontinued operation. The current and 

prior period results presented below represent the results 
of our continuing operations, and exclude the results of 
the Commercial and Industrial Lighting business which are 
presented within cash provided by discontinued operations. 
See Note 2 - Discontinued Operations, in the Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for further details.

Cash Flow 

For the Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2021 2020 2019

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities from continuing operations $ 513.7 $ 602.9 $ 516.8

Investing activities from continuing operations (72.1) (323.3) (121.9)

Financing activities from continuing operations (433.0) (244.2) (471.0)

Cash provided by discontinued operations 24.4 39.6 67.8

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (3.0) 2.6 1.3

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 30.0 $ 77.6 $ (7.0)

The following table reconciles our cash flows from operating activities to free cash flows for 2021, 2020 and 2019:

For the Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2021 2020 2019

Net cash provided by operating activities - Continuing Operations  
(GAAP measure) $ 513.7 $ 602.9 $ 516.8

Less: Capital expenditures - Continuing Operations (90.2) (82.8) (86.7)

Free cash flow - Continuing Operations $ 423.5 $ 520.1 $ 430.1

Free cash flow as a percent of net income - continuing operations attributable 
to Hubbell 116.0% 157.6% 119.0%

Free cash flow is a non-GAAP measure that we define as cash 
flow from operations less capital expenditures. Management 
believes that free cash flow provides useful information 
regarding Hubbell’s ability to generate cash without reliance 
on external financing. In addition, management uses free cash 
flow to evaluate the resources available for investments in 
the business, strategic acquisitions and further strengthening 
the balance sheet. 

2021 Compared to 2020 
Cash provided by operating activities from continuing 
operations was $513.7  million in 2021 compared to 
$602.9 million in 2020. The decrease compared to the 
prior year is primarily due to changes in the components 
of working capital. In 2021 we invested in working capital to 
serve customer demand and growth in our order backlog, 
resulting in increased accounts receivable and inventories, 
partially offset by an increase in accounts payable, as 
compared to a lower investment in working capital in 2020 
due to lower sales volume reflecting the impacts of COVID-19.
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Cash used for investing activities was $72.1 million in 2021 
compared to cash used of $323.3 million in 2020. The decrease 
was driven by cash used for acquisitions in 2020, partially 
offset by a $7.4 million increase in capital expenditures in 
the current year and proceeds received in conjunction with 
the disposal of the Consumer Analytics Solutions business 
in 2021.

Cash used in financing activities was $433.0 million in 2021 as 
compared to cash used of $244.2 million in 2020. The change 
in cash flows from financing activities primarily reflects the 
change in short-term debt in 2021 compared to 2020, a 
$15.5 million increase in dividends paid and a $16.0 million 
make whole premium incurred in 2021 due to the redemption 
of the 2022 Notes (as defined below). These changes were 
partially offset by a $30.1 million reduction in the acquisition 
of common shares as compared to 2020.

The unfavorable impact of foreign currency exchange rates 
on cash was $3.0 million in 2021 as compared to a favorable 
effect of $2.6 million in 2020. The unfavorable impact in 
2021 was primarily related to a weaker Mexican Peso and 
Australian Dollar, compared to the U.S. Dollar.

2020 Compared to 2019
Cash provided by operating activities in 2020 was 
$602.9 million compared to cash provided by operating 
activities of $516.8 million in 2019 and increased primarily due 
to changes in the components of working capital, including 
accounts receivable and inventories, as well as the deferral in 
2020 of the employer portion of certain payroll taxes under 
the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) 
Act, partially offset by decreases in current liabilities in 2020 
as compared to 2019.

Cash used for investing activities was $323.3 million in 2020 
compared to cash used of $121.9 million in 2019 and primarily 
reflects an increase in cash used for acquisitions in 2020 and 
the absence of the net proceeds for the sale of the Haefely 
business in 2019, partially offset by lower cash used for capital 
expenditures in 2020.

Cash used in financing activities was $244.2 million in 2020 as 
compared to cash used of $471.0 million in 2019. The change 
in cash flows from financing activities primarily reflects the 
settlement of the remaining principal amount under the Term 
Loan in 2020.

The favorable impact of foreign currency exchange rates on 
cash was $2.6 million in 2020 as compared to a favorable 
effect of $1.3 million in 2019. The favorable impact in 2020 was 
primarily related to a stronger Canadian Dollar, British Pound, 
Australian Dollar and Chinese Yuan versus the U.S. Dollar, 
partially offset by a weaker Mexican Peso and Brazilian Real.

Investments in the Business 
Investments in our business include cash outlays for the 
acquisition of businesses as well as expenditures to maintain 
the operation of our equipment and facilities and invest in 
restructuring activities.

In the fourth quarter of 2020, the Company acquired all of 
the issued and outstanding shares of Armorcast Products 
Company, Inc. (“Armorcast”) for $136.3 million, all of the 

issued and outstanding shares of Beckwith Electric Co., 
Inc., (“Beckwith”) for $54.7 million and all of the issued and 
outstanding shares of AccelTex Solutions, LLC (“AccelTex”) 
for $45.1 million, net of cash acquired in all cases.

In the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company acquired all of 
the issued and outstanding shares of Cantega Technologies 
Inc., including its wholly owned subsidiary Greenjacket Inc., 
and all of the issued and outstanding shares of Reliaguard 
Inc. (collectively “Cantega”) for $38.4 million, net of cash 
acquired, and the Company also acquired substantially all 
of the assets of Connector Products, Incorporated (“CPI”) 
for $27.9 million.

We continue to invest in restructuring and related programs 
to maintain a competitive cost structure, to drive operational 
efficiencies and to mitigate the impact of rising material costs 
and administrative cost inflation. We expect our investment 
in restructuring and related activities to continue in 2022 
as we continue to invest in previously initiated actions 
and initiate further footprint consolidation and other cost 
reduction initiatives.

In connection with our restructuring and related actions, we 
have incurred restructuring costs as defined by U.S. GAAP, 
which are primarily severance and employee benefits, asset 
impairments, accelerated depreciation, as well as facility 
closure, contract termination and certain pension costs that 
are directly related to restructuring actions. We also incurred 
restructuring-related costs, which are costs associated 
with our business transformation initiatives, including the 
consolidation of back-office functions and streamlining of our 
processes, and certain other costs and gains associated with 
restructuring actions. We refer to these costs on a combined 
basis as “restructuring and related costs”, which is a non-
GAAP measure. We believe this non-GAAP measure provides 
investors with useful information regarding our underlying 
performance from period to period. Restructuring costs are 
predominantly settled in cash from our operating activities 
and are generally settled within one year, with the exception 
of asset impairments, which are non-cash.

The table below presents the restructuring and related 
costs incurred in 2021, additional expected costs, and the 
expected completion date of restructuring actions that have 
been initiated as of December 31, 2021 and in prior years 
(in millions):

Costs 
Incurred  

in 2021

Additional
Expected

Costs

Expected
Completion

Date

2021 Restructuring 
Actions $ 2.4 $ 6.8 2022

2020 and Prior 
Restructuring Actions 1.5 2.6 2022

Restructuring cost  
(GAAP measure) $ 3.9 $ 9.4

Restructuring-related 
costs 5.9 1.5

Restructuring and related 
costs (Non-GAAP) $ 9.8 $ 10.9

Item 7 Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations

PART II
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During 2021, we invested $90.2 million in capital expenditures, 
an increase of $7.4 million as compared to 2020 as we were 
selective with our 2020 capital expenditures as a result of 
the general slowdown in economic activity associated with 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Stock Repurchase Program
On October 23, 2020 the Board of Directors approved a new 
stock repurchase program (the “October 2020 program”) that 
authorized the repurchase of up to $300 million of common 
stock and expires in October 2023. At December 31, 2021 our 
remaining share repurchase authorization under the October 
2020 program is $288.8 million. The Company repurchased 
$11.2 million and $41.3 million of shares of common stock, in 
2021 and 2020, respectively. All of the repurchases in 2020 
were completed prior to the expiration of the prior program. 
Subject to numerous factors, including market conditions 
and alternative uses of cash, we may conduct discretionary 
repurchases through open market or privately negotiated 
transactions, which may include repurchases under plans 
complying with Rules 10b5-1 and 10b-18 under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Debt to Capital
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had 
$1,435.5 million and $1,436.9 million, respectively, of 
long-term debt outstanding, net of unamortized discount and 
the unamortized balance of capitalized debt issuance costs. 
At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 the Company 
had no long-term debt with maturities due within the next 
twelve months.

Borrowings under Revolving Credit Facility
On March 12, 2021, the Company, as borrower, and its 
subsidiaries Hubbell Power Holdings S.à r.l. and Harvey 
Hubbell Holdings S.à r.l., each as a subsidiary borrower 
(collectively, the “Subsidiary Borrowers”) entered into a new 
five-year credit agreement with a syndicate of lenders and 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, that 
provides a $750 million committed revolving credit facility 
(the “2021 Credit Facility”). Commitments under the 2021 
Credit Facility may be increased to an aggregate amount 
not to exceed $1.25 billion. The 2021 Credit Facility includes a 
$50 million sub-limit for the issuance of letters of credit. The 
sum of the dollar amount of loans and letters of credits to the 
Subsidiary Borrowers under the 2021 Credit Facility may not 
exceed $75 million. There were no borrowings outstanding 
under the 2021 Credit Facility at December 31, 2021.

The interest rate applicable to borrowings under the 2021 
Credit Facility is (i) either the alternate base rate (as defined 
in the 2021 Credit Facility) or (ii) the adjusted LIBOR rate (as 
defined in the 2021 Credit Facility) plus an applicable margin 
based on the Company’s credit ratings. All revolving loans 
outstanding under the 2021 Credit Facility will be due and 
payable on March 12, 2026.

The 2021 Credit Facility contains a financial covenant 
requiring that, as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, the 
ratio of total indebtedness to total capitalization shall not be 
greater than 65%. The Company was in compliance with this 
covenant as of December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2021, 
the 2021 Credit Facility was undrawn.

In connection with entry into the 2021 Credit Facility, the 
Company terminated all commitments under the existing 
credit facility dated as of January 31, 2018 (the “2018 
Credit Facility”). In March 2020, the Company borrowed 
$100.0 million under the 2018 Credit Facility and subsequently 
repaid those borrowings in the second quarter of 2020.

Term Loan Agreement
The Company was also a party to a Term Loan Agreement (the 
“Term Loan Agreement”) with a syndicate of lenders under 
which the Company borrowed $500 million on an unsecured 
basis to partially finance the Aclara acquisition on February 
2, 2018. During the third quarter of 2020, the Company 
repaid in full the remaining principal outstanding under the 
Term Loan Agreement. The Company paid $90.7 million in 
cash, composed of $90.6 million of principal and $0.1 million 
of accrued interest, also resulting in a $0.2 million loss on 
extinguishment of debt (recorded within Interest expense in 
the Consolidated Statement of Income) primarily related to 
the write-off of capitalized debt issuance costs.

Unsecured Senior Notes
On March 12, 2021, the Company completed a public offering 
of $300 million aggregate principal amount of its 2.300% 
Senior Notes due 2031 (the “2031 Notes” and collectively 
with those described below, the “Notes”). The net proceeds 
from the offering were approximately $295.5 million after 
deducting the underwriting discount and estimated offering 
expenses payable by the Company. The 2031 Notes bear 
interest at a rate of 2.300% per annum from March 12, 2021. 
Interest on the 2031 Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears 
on March 15 and September 15 of each year, beginning 
on September 15, 2021. The 2031 Notes will mature on 
March 15, 2031.

The Company used the net proceeds from the offering of the 
2031 Notes, together with cash on hand, on April 2, 2021 to 
redeem in full all of the Company’s outstanding 3.625% Senior 
Notes due in 2022 for an aggregate principal amount of 
$300 million, which had a stated maturity date of November 
15, 2022, and to pay the premium and accrued interest in 
respect thereof. The redemption of the 2022 Notes resulted 
in a $16.8 million loss on extinguishment that was recognized 
in the second quarter of 2021.

At December 31, 2020, the Company had outstanding 
unsecured, senior notes in principal amounts of $300 million 
due in 2022 (the “2022 Notes”), $400 million due in 2026, 
$300 million due in 2027, and $450 million due in 2028. At 
December 31, 2021 the 2026, 2027 and 2028 notes were still 
outstanding in addition to the principal amounts of the 2031 
Notes of $300 million.
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The carrying value of the Notes, net of unamortized 
discount and the unamortized balance of capitalized debt 
issuance costs, was $1,435.5 million and $1,436.9 million at 
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

The Notes are callable at any time at specified prices and are 
only subject to accelerated payment prior to maturity upon 
customary events of default, or upon a change in control 
triggering event as defined in the indenture governing the 
Notes, as supplemented. The Company was in compliance 
with all covenants (none of which are financial) as of 
December 31, 2021.

Short-term Debt
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had 
$9.7 million and $153.1 million, respectively, of short-term debt 
outstanding composed of:

	z $150.0 million of commercial paper borrowings outstanding 
at December 31, 2020. There was no commercial paper 
borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2021.

	z $1.6 million at December 31, 2021 and $3.1 million at 
December  31, 2020, respectively, of borrowings to 
support our international operations in China as well as 
$8.1 million of other short term debt at December 31, 2021 
to support operations.

Net debt, defined as total debt less cash and investments, 
is a non-GAAP measure that may not be comparable to 
definitions used by other companies. We consider net debt 
to be a useful measure of our financial leverage for evaluating 
the Company’s ability to meet its funding needs.

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of net debt 
at December 31, 2021 and 2020:

(in millions)

December 31,

2021 2020

Total Debt $ 1,445.2 $ 1,590.0

Total Hubbell 
Incorporated 
Shareholders’ Equity 2,229.8 2,070.0

TOTAL CAPITAL $ 3,675.0 $ 3,660.0

Total Debt to Total 
Capital 39% 43%

Cash and Investments $ 364.7 $ 339.0

NET DEBT $ 1,080.5 $ 1,251.0

Net Debt to Total Capital 29% 34%

Liquidity 
We measure liquidity on the basis of our ability to meet 
short-term and long-term operational funding needs, to 
fund additional investments, including acquisitions, and to 
make dividend payments to shareholders. Significant factors 
affecting the management of liquidity are cash flows from 
operating activities, capital expenditures, cash dividend 
payments, stock repurchases, access to bank lines of credit and 
our ability to attract long-term capital with satisfactory terms.

In 2021, we returned capital to our shareholders through 
dividends and share repurchases. These activities were 
funded primarily with cash flows from operations, however 
a portion of our fourth quarter 2020 acquisitions were funded 
by short-term commercial paper borrowings, which were 
repaid during 2021.

	z In 2021, cash used for share repurchases was $11.2 million. 
	z Dividends paid on our Common Stock in 2021 were 
$216.9 million.

We also require cash outlays to fund our operations, 
capital expenditures, and working capital requirements to 
accommodate anticipated levels of business activity, as well 
as our rate of cash dividends and potential future acquisitions. 
We have contractual obligations for long-term debt, operating 
leases, purchase obligations, and certain other long-term 
liabilities, including defined benefit retirement obligations and 
other benefits. Refer to Note 13 - Debt and Note 24 - Leases in 
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further 
details on anticipated cash outflows. As a result of the TCJA, 
we also have an obligation to fund, by annual installments 
through 2025, the Company’s liability for the transition tax 
on the deemed repatriation of foreign earnings. Contractual 
purchase obligations for years subsequent to December 31, 
2021 include $630.7 million in 2022. Contractual purchase 
obligations beyond 2022 are not significant.

Our purchase obligations include amounts committed 
under legally enforceable contracts or purchase orders for 
goods and services with defined terms as to price, quantity, 
delivery and termination liability. These obligations primarily 
consist of inventory purchases made in the normal course of 
business to meet operational requirements and commitments 
for equipment purchases. As of December 31, 2021, we 
have $41.2 million of uncertain tax positions reflected in 
our Consolidated Balance Sheet. We are unable to make a 
reasonable estimate regarding the timing of settlement of 
these uncertain tax positions and, as a result, they have been 
excluded from the table. See Note 14 — Income Taxes in the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our sources of funds and available resources to meet these 
funding needs are as follows:

	z Cash flows from operating activities and existing cash 
resources: In additional to our cash flows from operating 
activities, was also had $286.2 million of cash and cash 
equivalents at December 31, 2021, of which approximately 
7% was held inside the United States and the remainder 
held internationally.

	z Our 2021 Credit Facility provides a $750.0 million 
committed revolving credit facility and commitments 
under the 2021 Credit Facility may be increased (subject 
to certain conditions) to an aggregate amount not to 
exceed $1.250 billion. Annual commitment fees to support 
availability under the 2021 Credit Facility are not material. 
Although not the principal source of liquidity, we believe 
our 2021 Credit Facility is capable of providing significant 
financing flexibility at reasonable rates of interest and is an 
attractive alternative source of funding in the event that 
commercial paper markets experience disruption. However, 
an increase in usage of the 2021 Credit Facility related to 
growth or a significant deterioration in the results of our 
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operations or cash flows could cause our borrowing costs 
to increase and/or our ability to borrow could be restricted. 
We have not entered into any guarantees that could give 
rise to material unexpected cash requirements. The full 
$750.0 million of borrowing capacity under the 2021 Credit 
Facility was available to the Company at December 31, 2021.

	z In addition to our commercial paper program and existing 
revolving credit facility, we also have the ability to obtain 
additional financing through the issuance of long-term 
debt. Considering our current credit rating, historical 
earnings performance, and financial position we believe 
that we would be able to obtain additional long-term debt 
financing on attractive terms.

	z The Company also maintains other lines of credit that are 
primarily used to support the issuance of letters of credit. 
Interest rates and other terms of borrowing under these 
lines of credit vary from country to country, depending 
on local market conditions. At December 31, 2021 and 
2020, total availability under these lines was $30.0 million 
and $32.1 million, respectively, of which $23.2 million and 
$19.3 million was utilized to support letters of credit and 
the remaining amount was unused. The annual commitment 
fees associated with these lines of credit are not material.

Pension Funding Status
We have a number of funded and unfunded non-contributory 
U.S. and foreign defined benefit pension plans. Benefits under 
these plans are generally provided based on either years of 
service and final average pay or a specified dollar amount per 
year of service. The funded status of our qualified, defined 
benefit pension plans is dependent upon many factors 
including future returns on invested pension assets, the level 
of market interest rates, employee earnings and employee 
demographics.

In 2020, the Company recognized a $7.6 million settlement 
loss relating to retirees that elected to receive lump-sum 
distributions from the Company’s defined benefit pension 

plans. This charge was the result of lump-sum payments 
which exceeded the threshold for settlement accounting 
under U.S. GAAP for 2020.

In 2019, the Company approved amendments to one of its 
domestic qualified defined benefit pension plans, that froze 
service accruals for nearly all active participants within the 
plan effective January 1, 2020. As a result of the amendments, 
the Company recognized a $0.3 million curtailment charge, 
net of tax. 

Changes in the value of the defined benefit plan assets and 
liabilities will affect the amount of pension expense ultimately 
recognized. Although differences between actuarial 
assumptions and actual results are no longer deferred for 
balance sheet purposes, deferral is still permitted for pension 
expense purposes. Unrecognized gains and losses in excess of 
an annual calculated minimum amount (the greater of 10% of 
the projected benefit obligation or 10% of the market value of 
assets) have been amortized and recognized in net periodic 
pension cost. Effective January 1, 2020, the amortization 
of unrecognized gains and losses of all of the Company’s 
qualified defined benefit pension plans is recognized over the 
remaining life expectancy of participants, as all participants 
are considered inactive as a result of plan amendments. 
During 2021 and 2020, we recorded $10.8 million and 
$9.8 million, respectively, of pension expense related to the 
amortization of these unrecognized losses.

In 2021, 2020 and 2019, we contributed $0.1 million, 
$23.2 million, and $10.4 million, respectively, to our qualified 
foreign and domestic defined benefit pension plans. These 
contributions have improved the funded status of those 
plans. Although not required by ERISA and the Internal 
Revenue Code, the Company may elect to make a voluntary 
contribution to its qualified domestic defined benefit pension 
plan in 2022. The anticipated level of pension funding in 
2022 is not expected to have a significant impact on our 
overall liquidity.

Assumptions 
The following assumptions were used to determine projected pension and other benefit obligations at the measurement date 
and the net periodic benefit costs for the year:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2021 2020 2021 2020

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations 
at December 31,

Discount rate 2.79% 2.47% 2.90% 2.50%

Rate of compensation increase 0.08% 0.24% 3.87% 3.99%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit 
cost for years ended December 31,

Discount rate 2.47% 3.17% 2.50% 3.30%

Expected return on plan assets 4.66% 4.69% N/A N/A

Rate of compensation increase 0.24% 2.94% 3.99% 4.00%
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At the end of each year, we estimate the expected long-term 
rate of return on pension plan assets based on the strategic 
asset allocation for our plans. In making this determination, 
we utilize expected rates of return for each asset class based 
upon current market conditions and expected risk premiums 
for each asset class. A one percentage point change in the 
expected long-term rate of return on pension fund assets 
would have an impact of approximately $7.6 million on 2022 
pretax pension expense. The expected long-term rate of 
return is applied to the fair market value of pension fund 
assets to produce the expected return on fund assets that is 
included in pension expense.

The difference between this expected return and the actual 
return on plan assets was recognized at December 31, 2021 
for balance sheet purposes, but continues to be deferred 
for expense purposes. The net deferral of past asset gains 
(losses) ultimately affects future pension expense through the 
amortization of gains (losses) with an offsetting adjustment 
to Hubbell shareholders’ equity through Accumulated other 
comprehensive loss.

At the end of each year, we determine the discount rate to 
be used to calculate the present value of our pension plan 
liabilities. For our U.S. and Canadian pension plans, this 
discount rate is determined by matching the expected cash 
flows associated with our benefit obligations to the expected 
cash flows of a hypothetical portfolio of high quality, fixed 
income debt instruments with maturities that closely match 
the expected funding period of our pension liabilities. As of 
December 31, 2021, we used a discount rate of 2.90% for our 
U.S. pension plans compared to a discount rate of 2.60% used 
in 2020. For our Canadian pension plan, we used a discount 
rate of 2.98% in 2021, compared to a 2.55% discount rate 
used in 2020.

For our UK pension plan the discount rate was derived using 
a full yield curve and uses plan specific cash flows. The 
derived discount rate is the single discount rate equivalent to 
discounting these liability cash flows at the term-dependent 
spot rates of AA corporate bonds. This methodology resulted 
in a December 31, 2021 discount rate for the UK pension plan 
of 1.80% as compared to a discount rate of 1.40% used in 2020.

A decrease of one percentage point in the discount rate would 
lower our 2022 pretax pension expense by approximately 
$0.3 million. A discount rate increase of one percentage point 
would increase our 2022 pretax pension expense by less than 
$0.1 million.

In 2019 we changed the mortality table used to calculate 
the present value of our pension plan liabilities from the 
RP-2014 mortality table, with generational projection from 
2006 using Scale MP-2018 to the Pri-2012 mortality table, 
with generational projection from 2012 using Scale MP-2019. 
In 2020 we used the Pri-2012 mortality table and adopted 
the MP-2020 projection scale and in 2021 we used the Pri-
2012 mortality table and adopted the MP-2021 projection 
scale The Pri-2012 mortality table with adjustment for collar 
as appropriate and generational projection from 2012 using 
Scale MP-2021 was chosen as the best estimate based on 
the observed and anticipated experience of the plans after 
considering alternative tables. These changes did not have 
a material impact to the projected benefit obligation of our 
U.S. plans upon re-measurement.

Other Post Employment Benefits (“OPEB”) 
The Company also has a number of health care and life 
insurance benefit plans covering eligible employees who 
reached retirement age while working for the Company. 
These benefits have been discontinued for substantially all 
future retirees. These plans are not funded and, therefore, 
no assumed rate of return on assets is required. We use 
a similar methodology to derive the discount rate for our 
post employment benefit plan obligations that we use for 
our pension plans. As of December 31, 2021, the Company 
used a discount rate of 2.90% to determine the projected 
benefit obligation compared to a discount rate of 2.50% used 
in 2020.

In accordance with the accounting guidance for retirement 
benefits, we recorded to Accumulated other comprehensive 
loss, within Hubbell shareholders’ equity, a benefit, net of tax, 
of approximately $3.4 million in 2021 and a charge, net of tax, 
of approximately $0.6 million in 2020, related to the annual 
remeasurement of the OPEB plans and the amortization of 
prior service credits and net actuarial gains.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Off-balance sheet arrangements are defined as any 
transaction, agreement or other contractual arrangement to 
which an entity that is not included in our consolidated results 
is a party, under which we, whether or not a party to the 
arrangement, have, or in the future may have: (1) an obligation 
under a direct or indirect guarantee or similar arrangement, 
(2) a retained or contingent interest in assets transferred to 
an unconsolidated entity or similar arrangement that serves 
as credit, liquidity or market risk support to such entity 
for such assets, (3) an obligation or liability, including a 
contingent obligation or liability, under a contract that would 
be accounted for as a derivative instrument, except that it is 
excluded from the scope of FASB ASC Topic 815, or (4) an 
obligation, including a contingent obligation, arising out of 
a variable interest in an unconsolidated entity that is held by, 
and material to, the Company, where such entity provides 
financing, liquidity, market risk or credit risk support to, or 
engages in leasing, hedging or research and development 
services with, the Company.

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as 
defined above which have or are likely to have a current or 
future material effect on our financial condition, results of 
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, capital resources 
or cash flows.

Critical Accounting Estimates 
Note 1 — Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements describes the significant 
accounting policies used in the preparation of our financial 
statements.

Use of Estimates
We are required to make assumptions and estimates 
and apply judgments in the preparation of our financial 
statements that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosures. We 
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base our assumptions, estimates and judgments on historical 
experience, current trends and other factors deemed 
relevant by management, such as projections of future 
performance. We continually review these estimates and their 
underlying assumptions to ensure they are appropriate for 
the circumstances. Changes in estimates and assumptions 
used by us could have a material impact on our financial 
results, and actual results could differ significantly from those 
estimates. We believe that the following estimates are among 
the most critical in fully understanding and evaluating our 
reported financial results. These items utilize assumptions and 
estimates about the effect of future events that are inherently 
uncertain and are based on our judgment.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when performance 
obligations identified under the terms of contracts with 
its customers are satisfied, which generally occurs, for 
products, upon the transfer of control in accordance with 
the contractual terms and conditions of the sale. The majority 
of the Company’s revenue associated with products is 
recognized at a point in time when the product is shipped to 
the customer, with a relatively small amount of transactions in 
the Utility Solutions segment recognized upon delivery of the 
product at the contractually specified destination. Revenue 
from service contracts and post-shipment performance 
obligations is approximately three percent of total annual 
consolidated net revenue and those service contracts and 
post-shipment obligations are primarily within the Utility 
Solutions segment. Revenue from service contracts and 
post-shipment performance obligations is recognized when 
or as those obligations are satisfied. The Company primarily 
offers assurance-type standard warranties that do not 
represent separate performance obligations and on occasion 
will separately offer and price extended warranties that are 
separate performance obligations for which the associated 
revenue is recognized over-time based on the extended 
warranty period. The Company records amounts billed to 
customers for reimbursement of shipping and handling costs 
within revenue. Shipping and handling costs associated with 
outbound freight after control over a product has transferred 
to a customer are accounted for as fulfillment costs and are 
included in cost of goods sold. Sales taxes and other usage-
based taxes are excluded from revenue. 

The Company has certain arrangements that require us 
to estimate at the time of sale the amounts of variable 
consideration that should not be recorded as revenue as 
certain amounts are not expected to be collected from 
customers, as well as an estimate of the value of the 
product to be returned. The Company principally relies on 
historical experience, specific customer agreements and 
anticipated future trends to estimate these amounts at 
the time of shipment and to reduce the transaction price. 
These arrangements include sales discounts and allowances 
based on sales volumes, specific programs and special 
pricing allowances, and returned goods, as are customary 
in the electrical products industry. Customer returns have 
historically been approximately one percent of gross sales.

Inventory Valuation
Inventories in the U.S. are primarily valued at the lower of 
LIFO cost or market, while non-U.S. inventories are valued at 
the lower of FIFO cost or market. We routinely evaluate the 
carrying value of our inventories to ensure they are carried 
at the lower of LIFO or FIFO cost or market value. Such 
evaluation is based on our judgment and use of estimates, 
including sales forecasts, gross margins for particular 
product groupings, planned dispositions of product lines, 
technological events and overall industry trends. In addition, 
the evaluation is based on changes in inventory management 
practices which may influence the timing of exiting products 
and method of disposing of excess inventory.

Excess inventory is generally identified by comparing future 
expected inventory usage to actual on-hand quantities. 
Inventory values are reduced for on-hand inventory in excess 
of pre-defined usage forecasts. Forecast usage is primarily 
determined by projecting historical (actual) sales and 
inventory usage levels forward to future periods. Changes 
in these estimates may necessitate future adjustments to 
inventory values.

Accrued Insurance
We retain a significant portion of the risks associated with 
workers’ compensation, medical, automobile and general 
liability insurance. We estimate self-insurance liabilities using 
a number of factors, including historical claims experience, 
demographic factors, severity factors and other actuarial 
assumptions. The accrued liabilities associated with these 
programs are based on our estimates of ultimate costs 
to settle known claims as well as claims incurred but not 
reported as of the balance sheet date. These assumptions are 
periodically reviewed with a third-party actuary to determine 
the adequacy of these self-insurance reserves. Changes in 
these assumptions may necessitate future adjustments to 
these self-insurance liabilities.

Employee Benefits Costs and Funding
We sponsor domestic and foreign defined benefit pension, 
defined contribution and other postretirement plans. 
Significant assumptions used in the accounting for these 
employee benefit plans include the discount rate, expected 
return on the pension fund assets, rate of increase in employee 
compensation levels and health care cost increase projections. 
These assumptions are determined based on Company data 
and appropriate market indicators, and are evaluated each 
year as of the plans’ measurement dates. Further discussion 
of the assumptions used in 2021 and 2020 are included above 
under “Pension Funding Status” and in Note 12 — Retirement 
Benefits in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Taxes
We account for income taxes in accordance with the 
applicable accounting guidance which requires that deferred 
tax assets and liabilities be recognized using enacted tax rates 
for the effect of temporary differences between the book 
and tax basis of recorded assets and liabilities. Additionally, 
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deferred tax assets are required to be reduced by a valuation 
allowance if it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or 
all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The factors 
used to assess the likelihood of realization of deferred tax 
assets are the forecast of future taxable income, available 
tax planning strategies that could be implemented to realize 
the net deferred tax assets, and future reversals of deferred 
tax liabilities. Failure to achieve forecasted taxable income 
can affect the ultimate realization of net deferred tax assets.

We operate within multiple taxing jurisdictions and are subject 
to audit in these jurisdictions. The Internal Revenue Service 
(“IRS”) and other tax authorities routinely review our tax 
returns. These audits can involve complex issues, which may 
require an extended period of time to resolve. The Company 
records uncertain tax positions when it has determined 
that it is more-likely-than-not that a tax position will not be 
sustained upon examination by taxing authorities based on 
the technical merits of the position. The Company uses the 
criteria established in the accounting guidance to determine 
whether an item meets the definition of more-likely-than-
not. The Company’s policy is to recognize these uncertain 
tax positions when the more-likely-than-not threshold is 
met, when the statute of limitations has expired or upon 
settlement. In management’s opinion, adequate provision 
has been made for potential adjustments arising from any 
examinations. See Note 14 — Income Taxes in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Contingent Liabilities
We are subject to proceedings, lawsuits, and other claims 
or uncertainties related to environmental, legal, product 
and other matters. We routinely assess the likelihood of an 
adverse judgment or outcome to these matters, as well as the 
range of potential losses. We record a liability when it is both 
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount 
can be reasonably estimated. A determination of the reserves 
required, if any, is made after careful analysis, including 
consultations with outside advisors, where applicable. Where 
no amount within a range of estimates is more likely, the 
minimum is accrued. The required reserves may change in 
the future due to new developments.

Warranty
The Company offers product warranties that cover defects 
on most of its products. These warranties primarily apply to 
products that are properly installed, maintained and used 
for their intended purpose. The Company accrues estimated 
warranty costs at the time of sale. Estimated warranty 
expenses, recorded in cost of goods sold, are based upon 
historical information such as past experience, product failure 
rates, or the estimated number of units to be repaired or 
replaced. Adjustments are made to the product warranty 
accrual as claims are incurred, additional information 
becomes known or as historical experience indicates.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets, Goodwill, and 
Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
Our long-lived assets include land, buildings, equipment, 
molds and dies, software, goodwill and other intangible assets. 
Long-lived assets, other than land, goodwill and indefinite-

lived intangibles, are depreciated over their estimated useful 
lives. The assets and liabilities of acquired businesses are 
recorded under the acquisition method of accounting at their 
estimated fair values at the dates of acquisition. Goodwill 
represents purchase price in excess of fair values assigned to 
the underlying identifiable net assets of acquired businesses. 
Intangible assets primarily consist of patents, tradenames, 
developed technology and customer related intangibles.

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are reviewed 
annually for impairment unless circumstances dictate 
the need for more frequent assessment. We perform our 
annual goodwill impairment testing as of April 1st of each 
year. The accounting guidance provides entities an option 
of performing a qualitative assessment (the “Step-zero” 
test) before performing a quantitative analysis. If the entity 
determines, on the basis of certain qualitative factors, that 
it is more-likely-than-not that the goodwill is not impaired, 
the entity would not need to proceed to the quantitative 
goodwill impairment testing process as prescribed in 
the guidance. If the Company does not elect to complete 
the qualitative assessment, the Company completes the 
quantitative assessment whereby the estimated fair value of 
each reporting unit is compared to its carrying value. 

The organizational changes within Electrical Solutions 
effective January 1, 2021 resulted in a change in the Company’s 
reporting units. As a result, the Company performed an 
interim goodwill impairment assessment as of January 1, 
2021. The Company applied the Step-zero test to one of its 
five reporting units. Based on the qualitative assessment, the 
Company concluded that it was more likely than not that the 
fair value of this reporting unit substantially exceeded its 
carrying value and, therefore, further quantitative analysis was 
not required. For the other four reporting units, the Company 
elected to utilize the quantitative goodwill impairment 
testing process, as permitted in the accounting guidance, 
by comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting units 
to their carrying values. As of January 1, 2021, the impairment 
testing resulted in implied fair values for each reporting unit 
that significantly exceeded such reporting unit’s carrying 
value, including goodwill. The Company did not have any 
reporting units at risk of failing the quantitative impairment 
test as the excess of the implied fair value significantly 
exceeded the carrying value of each of the reporting units. 
Additionally, the Company did not have any reporting units 
with zero or negative carrying amounts.

The Company also completed its annual goodwill impairment 
test as of April 1, 2021. The Company applied the Step-
zero test to one of its five reporting units. Based on the 
qualitative assessment, the Company concluded that it was 
more likely than not that the fair value of this reporting unit 
substantially exceeded its carrying value and, therefore, 
further quantitative analysis was not required. For the 
other four reporting units, the Company elected to utilize 
the quantitative goodwill impairment testing process, as 
permitted in the accounting guidance, by comparing the 
estimated fair value of the reporting units to their carrying 
values. As of April 1, 2021, the impairment testing resulted in 
implied fair values for each reporting unit that significantly 
exceeded such reporting unit’s carrying value, including 
goodwill. The Company did not have any reporting units 
at risk of failing the quantitative impairment test as the 
excess of the implied fair value significantly exceeded the 
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carrying value of each of the reporting units. Additionally, 
the Company did not have any reporting units with zero or 
negative carrying amounts.

The goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including 
the identification of reporting units, assigning assets and 
liabilities to reporting units, and determining the fair value 
of each reporting unit. Significant judgments required to 
estimate the fair value of reporting units include estimating 
future discounted cash flows, determining appropriate 
discount rates and other assumptions, including assumptions 
about secular economic and market conditions, such as the 
potential continuing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. We 
use internal discounted cash flow models to estimate fair 
value. These cash flow estimates are derived from historical 
experience, third-party end market data, and future long-term 
business plans and include assumptions of future sales 
growth, gross margin, operating margin, terminal growth rate, 
and the application of an appropriate discount rate. Changes 
in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the 
determination of fair value and/or goodwill impairment for 
each reporting unit. We corroborate the values determined 
from our discounted cash flow models by reconciling the 
sum of the estimated fair values of each reporting unit 
to our market capitalization at the testing date, including 
consideration of a control premium. We have not recorded 
any goodwill impairments since the initial adoption of the 
accounting guidance in 2002.

The identification and measurement of impairment of 
indefinite-lived intangible assets involves either an 
assessment of qualitative factors to determine whether 
events or circumstances indicate that it is more-likely-than-
not that an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired or a 
quantitative assessment whereby the estimated fair value 
of each indefinite-lived intangible asset is compared to its 
carrying value. If it is more-likely-than-not that the asset is 
impaired, the fair value of the indefinite lived intangibles will 
be determined using discounted cash flow estimates. If the 
carrying value of these assets exceeds the estimated fair value, 
the carrying value will be reduced to the estimated fair value. 
For the Company’s annual impairment test as of April 1, 2021, 
the Company elected to utilize the quantitative impairment 
testing process as permitted in the accounting guidance. The 
fair value was determined utilizing an income approach (relief 
from royalty method). Significant judgment is required to 
estimate the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible assets 
including assumptions for future revenues, discount rates, 
royalty rates, and other assumptions, including assumptions 
about secular economic and market conditions, such as 
the potential continuing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Significant changes in these estimates and assumptions could 
affect the determination of fair value and/or impairment for 
each indefinite-lived intangible asset. As of April 1, 2021, the 
impairment testing resulted in fair values for each indefinite-
lived intangible asset that significantly exceeded the carrying 
values and there were no indefinite-lived intangible assets at 
risk of failing the quantitative impairment test. We did not 
record any impairments related to indefinite-lived intangible 
assets in 2021, 2020, or 2019.

Stock-Based Compensation
We determine the grant date fair value of certain stock-
based compensation awards using either a lattice model 
or the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Both of these 
models require management to make certain assumptions 
with respect to selected model inputs. These inputs 
include assumptions for the expected term, stock volatility, 
dividend yield and risk-free interest rate. Changes in these 
inputs impact fair value and could impact our stock-based 
compensation expense in the future. In addition, we are 
required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate and 
recognize expense only for those awards expected to meet 
the service and performance vesting conditions. If our actual 
forfeiture rate is different from our estimate, adjustments to 
stock-based compensation expense may be required. We 
review the potential achievement of our performance awards 
on a recurring basis and update compensation expense based 
on the probability that the related performance metrics will 
be satisfied. See also Note 18 — Stock-Based Compensation 
in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Forward-Looking Statements 
Some of the information included in this Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations, and elsewhere in this Form 10-K, contain “forward-
looking statements” as defined by the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These include statements 
about our expected capital resources, liquidity, financial 
performance, pension funding, and results of operations and 
are based on our reasonable current expectations. In addition, 
all statements regarding the expected financial impact of 
the integration of acquisitions and completion of certain 
divestitures, adoption of updated accounting standards and 
any expected effects of such adoption, restructuring plans and 
expected associated costs and benefits, intent to repurchase 
shares of common stock, and change in operating results, 
anticipated market conditions and productivity initiatives 
are forward looking. Forward-looking statements may be 
identified by the use of words, such as “believe”, “expect”, 
“anticipate”, “intend”, “depend”, “should”, “plan”, “estimated”, 
“predict”, “could”, “may”, “subject to”, “continues”, “growing”, 
“prospective”, “forecast”, “projected”, “purport”, “might”, 
“if”, “contemplate”, “potential”, “pending,” “target”, “goals”, 
“scheduled”, “will likely be”, and similar words and phrases. 
Discussions of strategies, plans or intentions often contain 
forward-looking statements. Important factors, among 
others, that could cause our actual results and future actions 
to differ materially from those described in forward-looking 
statements include, but are not limited to:

	z Availability, cost and quantity of raw materials, purchased 
components, energy and freight, particularly as global 
economic activity recovers from the effects to the COVID-19 
pandemic.

	z The scope, duration or resurgence of the novel coronavirus, 
or COVID-19 (including any variants thereof), global 
pandemic and its impact on global economic systems, our 
employees, sites, operations, customers, and supply chain.
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	z Changes in demand for our products, market conditions, 
product quality, or product availability adversely affecting 
sales levels.

	z Ability to effectively develop and introduce new products.
	z Changes in markets or competition adversely affecting 
realization of price increases.

	z Failure to achieve projected levels of efficiencies, cost 
savings and cost reduction measures, including those 
expected as a result of our lean initiatives and strategic 
sourcing plans.

	z Impacts of trade tariffs, import quotas or other trade 
restrictions or measures taken by the U.S., U.K. and other 
countries, including the recent and potential changes in 
U.S. trade policies.

	z Failure to comply with import and export laws.
	z Changes relating to impairment of our goodwill and other 
intangible assets.

	z Inability to access capital markets or failure to maintain 
our credit ratings.

	z Changes in expected or future levels of operating cash flow, 
indebtedness and capital spending.

	z General economic and business conditions in particular 
industries, markets or geographic regions, as well as 
inflationary trends.

	z Regulatory issues, changes in tax laws including, or changes 
in geographic profit mix affecting tax rates and availability 
of tax incentives.

	z A major disruption in one or more of our manufacturing or 
distribution facilities or headquarters, including the impact 
of plant consolidations and relocations.

	z Changes in our relationships with, or the financial condition 
or performance of, key distributors and other customers, 
agents or business partners which could adversely affect 
our results of operations.

	z Impact of productivity improvements on lead times, quality 
and delivery of product.

	z Anticipated future contributions and assumptions including 
changes in interest rates and plan assets with respect to 
pensions and other retirement benefits, as well as pension 
withdrawal liabilities.

	z Adjustments to product warranty accruals in response to 
claims incurred, historical experiences and known costs.

	z Unexpected costs or charges, certain of which might be 
outside of our control.

	z Changes in strategy, economic conditions or other 
conditions outside of our control affecting anticipated 
future global product sourcing levels.

	z Ability to carry out future acquisitions and strategic 
investments in our core businesses as well as the acquisition 
related costs.

	z Ability to successfully execute, manage and integrate 
key acquisitions, mergers, and other transactions, as well 
as the failure to realize expected synergies and benefits 
anticipated when we make an acquisition.

	z The impact of certain divestitures, including the 
consummation and timing of, and the benefits and costs of, 
the pending sale of the Commercial and Industrial Lighting 
business to GE Current. 

	z The ability to effectively implement Enterprise Resource 
Planning systems without disrupting operational and 
financial processes.

	z The ability of government customers to meet their financial 
obligations.

	z Political unrest in foreign countries.
	z The impact of Brexit and other world economic and 
political issues. 

	z The impact of natural disasters or public health emergencies, 
such as the COVID-19 global pandemic, on our financial 
condition and results of operations.

	z Failure of information technology systems, security 
breaches, cyber threats, malware, phishing attacks, break-
ins and similar events resulting in unauthorized disclosure 
of confidential information or disruptions or damage 
to information technology systems that could cause 
interruptions to our operations or adversely affect our 
internal control over financial reporting. 

	z Incurring significant and/or unexpected costs to avoid 
manage, defend and litigate intellectual property matters.

	z Future repurchases of common stock under our common 
stock repurchase program.

	z Changes in accounting principles, interpretations, or 
estimates.

	z Failure to comply with any laws and regulations, including 
those related to data privacy and information security, 
environmental and conflict-free minerals. 

	z The outcome of environmental, legal and tax contingencies 
or costs compared to amounts provided for such 
contingencies, including contingencies or costs with 
respect to pension withdrawal liabilities. 

	z Improper conduct by any of our employees, agents or 
business partners that damages our reputation or subjects 
us to civil or criminal liability. 

	z Our ability to hire, retain and develop qualified personnel. 
	z Adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 
the potential use of hedging instruments to hedge the 
exposure to fluctuating rates of foreign currency exchange 
on inventory purchases.

	z Transitioning from LIBOR to a replacement alternative 
reference rate.

	z Other factors described in our Securities and Exchange 
Commission filings, including the “Business”, “Risk Factors” 
and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about 
Market Risk” sections in the Company’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Any such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of 
future performances and actual results, developments and 
business decisions may differ from those contemplated by 
such forward-looking statements. The Company disclaims 
any duty to update any forward-looking statement, all of 
which are expressly qualified by the foregoing, other than 
as required by law.
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ITEM 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about 
Market Risk

In the operation of our business, we have various exposures to 
areas of risk related to factors within and outside the control 
of management. Significant areas of risk and our strategies 
to manage the exposure are discussed below.

In 2021, we manufactured and/or assembled products in the 
United States, Canada, Puerto Rico, Mexico, China, the UK, 
Brazil, Spain and Australia and sold products in those markets 
as well as through offices in Singapore, Italy, China, Mexico, 
and South Korea and countries in the Middle East. In 2021, 
Hubbell also participated in joint ventures in Hong Kong and 
the Philippines. As a percentage of the Company’s total Net 
sales, shipments from foreign operations directly to third 
parties were 9% in 2021, 9% in 2020 and 10% in 2019, with the 
Canadian and UK operations representing approximately 36% 
and 29%, respectively, of 2021 total international Net sales. 
As such, our operating results could be affected by changes 
in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic 
conditions in the foreign markets in which we sell our 
products. To manage this exposure, we closely monitor the 
working capital requirements of our international units and 
may enter into forward foreign exchange contracts. Further 
discussion of forward exchange contracts can be found in 
Note 15 — Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement 
in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Product purchases representing approximately 17% of our 
Net sales are sourced from unaffiliated suppliers located 
outside the United States, primarily in China and other Asian 
countries, Europe and Brazil. Foreign sourcing of products 
may result in unexpected fluctuations in product cost or 
increased risk of business interruption due to lack of product 
or component availability due to any one of the following:

	z Political or economic uncertainty in the source country
	z Fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar 
and the currencies of the source countries

	z Changes in U.S. laws and policies governing foreign trade
	z Increased logistical complexity including supply chain 
interruption or delay, port of departure or entry disruption 
and overall time to market

	z Loss of proprietary information
	z Product quality issues outside the control of the Company

We have developed plans that address many of these risks. 
Such actions include careful selection of products to be 
outsourced and the suppliers selected; ensuring multiple 
sources of supply; limiting concentrations of activity by port, 
broker, freight forwarder, etc.; processes related to quality 
control; and maintaining control over operations, technologies 
and manufacturing deemed to provide competitive 
advantage. Many of our businesses have a dependency on 
certain basic raw materials needed to produce their products 
including steel, aluminum, brass, copper, bronze, zinc, nickel, 
plastics, phenols, elastomers and petrochemicals as well as 
purchased electrical and electronic components. Our financial 

results could be affected by the availability and changes in 
prices of these materials and components.

Certain of these materials are sourced from a limited number 
of suppliers. These materials are also key source materials for 
many other companies in our industry and within the universe 
of industrial manufacturers in general. As such, in periods of 
rising demand for these materials, we may experience both 
increased costs and/or limited supply. These conditions can 
potentially result in our inability to acquire these key materials 
on a timely basis to produce our products and satisfy our 
incoming sales orders. Similarly, the cost of these materials 
can rise suddenly and result in materially higher costs of 
producing our products. We believe we have adequate 
primary and secondary sources of supply for each of our key 
materials and that, in periods of rising prices, we expect to 
recover a majority of the increased cost in the form of higher 
selling prices. However, recoveries typically lag the effect of 
cost increases due to the nature of our markets.

Our financial results are subject to interest rate fluctuations 
to the extent there is a difference between the amount of 
our interest-earning assets and the amount of interest-
bearing liabilities. The principal objectives of our investment 
management activities are to preserve capital while earning 
net investment income that is commensurate with acceptable 
levels of interest rate, default and liquidity risk taking into 
account our funding needs. As part of our investment 
management strategy, we may use derivative financial 
products such as interest rate hedges and interest rate swaps.

From time to time or when required, we issue commercial 
paper, which exposes us to changes in interest rates. Our 
cash position includes amounts denominated in foreign 
currencies. We manage our worldwide cash requirements by 
considering available funds held by our subsidiaries and the 
cost effectiveness with which these funds can be accessed.

As of December 31, 2021, the long-term debt outstanding 
related to the fixed-rate senior notes was $1,450.0 million. 
The senior notes are not exposed to interest rate risk as the 
bonds are at a fixed-rate until maturity.

We continually evaluate risk retention and insurance levels 
for product liability, property damage and other potential 
exposures to risk. We devote significant effort to maintaining 
and improving safety and internal control programs, which 
are intended to reduce our exposure to certain risks. We 
determine the level of insurance coverage and the likelihood 
of a loss and believe that the current levels of risk retention 
are consistent with those of comparable companies in the 
industries in which we operate. There can be no assurance 
that we will not incur losses beyond the limits of our insurance. 
However, our liquidity, financial position and profitability are 
not expected to be materially affected by the levels of risk 
retention that we accept. 
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The following table presents cost and weighted average interest rate information related to financial instruments that are 
sensitive to changes in interest rates, by maturity at December 31, 2021 (dollars in millions): 

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Thereafter Total
Fair Value 

12/31/21

ASSETS

Available-for-sale 
investments $ 9.4 $ 14.7 $ 11.1 $ 6.4 $ 5.1 $ 6.6 $ 53.3 $ 54.0

Avg. interest rate 4.28% 3.83% 3.83% 3.52% 4.88% 2.35%  

LIABILITIES  

Senior Notes $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 400.0 $ 1,050.0 $ 1,450.0 $ 1,524.5

Avg. interest rate — — — — 3.35% 3.06%

We use derivative financial instruments only if they are matched with a specific asset, liability, or proposed future transaction. 
We do not speculate or use leverage when trading a financial derivative product. 
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Reports of Management

Report on Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements
Our management is responsible for the preparation, integrity 
and fair presentation of our published financial statements. 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America and include amounts based on informed 
judgments made by management.

We believe it is critical to provide investors and other users 
of our financial statements with information that is relevant, 
objective, understandable and timely, so that they can make 
informed decisions. As a result, we have established and 
maintain systems and practices and internal control processes 
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 
that transactions are properly executed and recorded and 
that our policies and procedures are carried out appropriately. 
Management strives to recruit, train and retain high quality 
people to ensure that controls are designed, implemented 
and maintained in a high-quality, reliable manner.

Our independent registered public accounting firm audited 
our financial statements and the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting in accordance with standards 

established by the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Their report appears on the next page 
within this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our Board of Directors normally meets at least eight times 
per year to provide oversight, to review corporate strategies 
and operations, and to assess management’s conduct of the 
business. The Board of Directors also schedules additional 
meetings on an as needed basis. The Audit Committee of our 
Board of Directors is composed of at least three individuals 
all of whom must be “independent” under current New York 
Stock Exchange listing standards and regulations adopted 
by the SEC under the federal securities laws. The Audit 
Committee meets regularly with our internal auditors and 
independent registered public accounting firm, as well as, 
management to review, among other matters, accounting, 
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting issues 
and practices. Both the internal auditors and independent 
registered public accounting firm have full, unlimited access 
to the Audit Committee.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
adequate systems of internal control over financial reporting 
as defined by Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our internal control 
over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external reporting 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States of America. Because of its 
inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting 
may not prevent or detect misstatements. Management 
has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2021.

In making this assessment, management used the criteria 
set forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013 
framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based 
on this assessment, management concluded that our internal 
control over financial reporting was effective at a reasonable 
assurance level as of December 31, 2021.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2021 has been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, our independent registered 
public accounting firm as stated in their report which is 
included below within this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

/s/ GERBEN W. BAKKER /s/ WILLIAM R. SPERRY

Gerben W. Bakker William R. Sperry

Chairman of the Board, President and 
Chief Executive Officer

Executive Vice President and  
Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Hubbell Incorporated

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheet of Hubbell Incorporated and its subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the 
related consolidated statements of income, of comprehensive 
income, of changes in equity and of cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, including 
the related notes and schedule of valuation and qualifying 
accounts for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2021 appearing under Item 15 (collectively 
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). 
We also have audited the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred 
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021 
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the 
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control - 
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions
The Company’s management is responsible for these 
consolidated financial statements, for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for 
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting, included in Management’s Annual Report 
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing 
under Item 8. Our responsibility is to express opinions on 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on 
our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with 
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal 
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards 
of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and 
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included 
performing procedures to assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures 
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts 
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our 
audits also included evaluating the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. Our audit of internal control over 
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that 
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing 
such other procedures as we considered necessary in 
the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 
internal control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company 
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of 
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.
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Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter 
arising from the current period audit of the consolidated 
financial statements that was communicated or required 
to be communicated to the audit committee and that 
(i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to 
the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our 
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The 
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any 
way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, 
taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the 
critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on 
the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to 
which it relates.

Goodwill Impairment Assessments - Certain Reporting Units 
Subject to a Quantitative Assessment  

As described in Notes 1, 7, and 21 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the Company’s consolidated goodwill balance 
was $1,871.3 million as of December 31, 2021. Goodwill 
represents purchase price in excess of fair values of the 
underlying net assets of acquired companies. Goodwill 
is subject to annual impairment testing. Management 
performs its goodwill impairment testing as of April 1st 
of each year, unless circumstances dictate the need for 
more frequent assessments. Effective January 1, 2021, the 
Company consolidated three business groups within its 
Electrical segment and renamed the segment as Hubbell 
Electrical Solutions (“Electrical Solutions”) and moved its 
Hubbell Gas Connectors and Accessories business from the 
Electrical Solutions segment to the Utility Solutions segment. 
As disclosed by management, management performed an 
interim goodwill impairment assessment as of January 1, 2021 
as a result of the change in reporting units and also completed 
its annual goodwill impairment assessment as of April 1, 
2021. For four of its reporting units, management elected to 
utilize the quantitative goodwill impairment testing process, 
as permitted in the accounting guidance, by comparing the 
estimated fair value of the Company’s reporting units to 
their carrying values for both assessments. If the estimated 
fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, 
no impairment exists. Goodwill impairment testing requires 
judgment by management, including the identification of 
reporting units, assigning assets and liabilities to reporting 
units and determining the fair value of each reporting unit. 
Management uses internal discounted cash flow models 
to estimate fair value. Significant judgments required by 
management to estimate the fair value of reporting units 

include estimating future cash flows, determining appropriate 
discount rates and other assumptions, including assumptions 
about secular economic and market conditions, such as the 
potential continuing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. These 
cash flow estimates are derived from historical experience, 
third party end market data, and future long-term business 
plans and include assumptions of future sales growth, gross 
margin, operating margin, terminal growth rate and the 
application of an appropriate discount rate. 

The principal considerations for our determination that 
performing procedures relating to the goodwill impairment 
assessments for certain reporting units subject to a 
quantitative assessment is a critical audit matter are (i) the 
significant judgment by management when estimating the fair 
value of the reporting units and (ii) the high degree of auditor 
judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures 
and evaluating management’s significant assumptions related 
to future sales growth, gross margin, and operating expenses.  

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and 
evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our 
overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
These procedures included testing the effectiveness of 
controls relating to management’s quantitative goodwill 
impairment assessments, including controls over the 
estimation of the fair value of the reporting units. These 
procedures also included, among others, (i) testing 
management’s process for estimating the fair value of the 
reporting units; (ii) evaluating the appropriateness of the 
discounted cash flow models; (iii) testing the completeness 
and accuracy of the underlying data used in the models; and 
(iv) evaluating the reasonableness of significant assumptions 
used by management related to future sales growth, gross 
margin, and operating expenses. Evaluating management’s 
assumptions related to the future sales growth, gross 
margin, and operating expenses involved evaluating whether 
the assumptions used by management were reasonable 
considering (i) the current and past performance of the 
reporting units; (ii) the consistency with industry and 
third party data; and (iii) whether these assumptions were 
consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
February 11, 2022

We have served as the Company’s auditor since at least 1961. 
We have not been able to determine the specific year we 
began serving as auditor of the Company.
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Consolidated Statement of Income

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2021 2020 2019

Net sales $ 4,194.1 $ 3,682.5 $ 3,946.6

Cost of goods sold 3,042.6 2,596.7 2,775.0

Gross profit 1,151.5 1,085.8 1,171.6

Selling & administrative expenses 619.2 591.3 644.9

Operating income 532.3 494.5 526.7

Gain (Loss) on disposition of business (Note 4) (6.9) — 21.7

Loss on extinguishment of debt (Note 13) (16.8) — —

Pension charge (Note 12) — (7.6) —

Interest expense, net (54.7) (60.1) (68.6)

Investment income — — 1.5

Other Income (expense), net 5.4 (2.3) (12.1)

Total other expense (73.0) (70.0) (57.5)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 459.3 424.5 469.2

Provision for income taxes 88.2 89.8 101.2

Net income from continuing operations 371.1 334.7 368.0

Less: Net income from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling 
interest (6.1) (4.7) (6.5)

NET INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
HUBBELL INCORPORATED 365.0 330.0 361.5

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax (Note 2) 34.5 21.2 39.4

Net income attributable to Hubbell Incorporated $ 399.5 $ 351.2 $ 400.9

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 6.70 $ 6.07 $ 6.63

Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations $ 0.63 $ 0.39 $ 0.72

Basic earnings per share $ 7.33 $ 6.46 $ 7.35

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 6.66 $ 6.04 $ 6.59

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations $ 0.62 $ 0.39 $ 0.72

Diluted earnings per share $ 7.28 $ 6.43 $ 7.31

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2021 2020 2019

Net income $ 405.6 $ 355.9 $ 407.4

Other comprehensive income (loss):    

Currency translation adjustment:

Foreign currency translation adjustments (11.5) 12.3 3.7

Reclassification of currency translation gains included in net income — — (7.7)

Defined benefit pension and post-retirement plans, net of taxes of 
$(3.2), $2.9 and $5.3 9.2 (8.8) (14.5)

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net of taxes of  
$0.1, $(0.1) and $(0.2) (0.4) 0.4 2.6

Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges, net of  
taxes of $(0.4), $0.5 and $(0.5) 1.1 (0.2) (1.3)

Other comprehensive income (loss) (1.6) 3.7 (17.2)

Comprehensive income 404.0 359.6 390.2

Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest 6.1 4.7 6.5

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO HUBBELL $ 397.9 $ 354.9 $ 383.7

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 

At December 31,

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2021 2020

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 286.2 $ 258.6

Short-term investments 9.4 9.3

Accounts receivable (net of allowances of $10.6 and $10.6) 675.3 553.3

Inventories, net 662.1 526.7

Other current assets 66.8 71.8

Assets held for sale - current 179.5 167.9

Total Current Assets 1,879.3 1,587.6

Property, Plant, and Equipment, net 459.5 438.7

Other Assets

Investments 69.1 71.1

Goodwill 1,871.3 1,873.1

Other intangible assets, net 681.5 770.6

Other long-term assets 143.7 159.9

Assets held for sale - non-current 177.1 184.1

TOTAL ASSETS $ 5,281.5 $ 5,085.1

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY   

Current Liabilities   

Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt $ 9.7 $ 153.1

Accounts payable 532.8 339.2

Accrued salaries, wages and employee benefits 94.7 84.4

Accrued insurance 73.3 67.2

Other accrued liabilities 263.4 224.6

Liabilities held for sale - current 91.3 79.7

Total Current Liabilities 1,065.2 948.2

Long-term Debt 1,435.5 1,436.9

Other Non-Current Liabilities 521.3 596.8

Liabilities held for sale - non-current 18.8 17.8

TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 3,040.8 $ 2,999.7

Commitments and Contingencies (see Note 16)

Hubbell Incorporated Shareholders’ Equity   

Common stock, par value $0.01   

Common stock - Authorized 200,000,000 shares,  
outstanding 54,518,047 and 54,382,659 shares $ 0.6 $ 0.6

Additional paid-in capital — 4.9

Retained earnings 2,560.0 2,393.7

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (330.8) (329.2)

Total Hubbell Incorporated Shareholders’ Equity 2,229.8 2,070.0

Noncontrolling interest 10.9 15.4

TOTAL EQUITY 2,240.7 2,085.4

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 5,281.5 $ 5,085.1

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2021 2020 2019

Cash Flows from Operating Activities of Continuing Operations

Net income from continuing operations $ 371.1 $ 334.7 $ 368.0

Adjustments to reconcile net income from continuing operations to net 
cash provided by operating activities, net of acquisitions:

Depreciation and amortization 149.1 144.5 137.9

Deferred income taxes 9.2 1.4 4.0

Stock-based compensation 17.5 21.9 14.5

Provision for bad debt expense 1.3 6.7 1.7

Loss (Gain) on disposition of business 6.9 — (21.7)

Loss on extinguishment of debt 16.8 — —

Pension charge — 7.6 —

(Gain) loss on sale of assets (4.7) 0.2 (0.6)

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (124.8) 41.7 35.4

(Increase) decrease in inventories (138.9) 45.8 (6.3)

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 195.1 20.7 (29.3)

Increase (decrease) in current liabilities 27.6 (26.9) 3.8

Changes in other assets and liabilities, net (14.9) 19.2 0.9

Contributions to qualified defined benefit pension plans (0.1) (23.2) (10.4)

Other, net 2.5 8.6 18.9

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES FROM 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 513.7 602.9 516.8

Cash Flows from Investing Activities of Continuing Operations

Capital expenditures (90.2) (82.8) (86.7)

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired 0.1 (239.6) (70.8)

Proceeds from disposal of business, net of cash 8.5 — 33.6

Purchases of available-for-sale investments (11.4) (35.1) (14.2)

Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale investments 11.5 28.9 12.5

Other, net 9.4 5.3 3.7

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES FROM 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (72.1) (323.3) (121.9)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities of Continuing Operations

Issuance of long-term debt 298.7 225.0 —

Payment of long-term debt (300.0) (331.3) (225.0)

Issuance of short-term debt 8.1 125.5 0.7

Payment of short-term debt (151.6) (3.6) (0.8)

Payment of dividends (216.9) (201.4) (186.6)

Make whole payment for retirement of long-term debt (16.0) — —

Debt issuance cost (4.5) — —

Acquisition of common shares (11.2) (41.3) (35.0)

Other (39.6) (17.1) (24.3)
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Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2021 2020 2019

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES FROM 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (433.0) (244.2) (471.0)

Discontinued Operations:

Cash provided by operating activities 30.1 45.1 74.8

Cash used by investing activities (5.7) (5.5) (7.0)

Cash provided by discontinued operations 24.4 39.6 67.8

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash and cash 
equivalents (3.0) 2.6 1.3

Increase (Decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash 30.0 77.6 (7.0)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 258.6 179.8 187.4

Cash and cash equivalents within assets held for sale, beginning of year 1.0 2.2 1.6

Less: Restricted cash, included in Other Assets 2.7 — —

Less: Cash and cash equivalents within assets held for sale, end of year 0.7 1.0 2.2

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 286.2 $ 258.6 $ 179.8

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

(in millions, except per share 
amounts)

Common 
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total Hubbell
Shareholders’

Equity

Non-
controlling

interest

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 $ 0.6 $ 1.3 $ 2,064.4 $ (285.7) $ 1,780.6 $ 18.3

Net income — — 400.9 — 400.9 6.5

Other comprehensive (loss) income — — — (17.2) (17.2) —

Stock-based compensation — 16.4 — — 16.4 —

Reclassification of stranded tax 
effects — — 30.0 (30.0) — —

Acquisition/surrender of common 
shares(1) — (18.3) (28.9) — (47.2) —

Cash dividends declared  
($3.43 per share) — — (187.0) — (187.0) —

Dividends to noncontrolling interest — — — — — (11.4)

Directors deferred compensation — 0.6 — — 0.6 —

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 $ 0.6 $ — $ 2,279.4 $ (332.9) $ 1,947.1 $ 13.4

Net income — — 351.2 — 351.2 4.7

Other comprehensive (loss) income — — — 3.7 3.7 —

Stock-based compensation — 23.9 — — 23.9 —

Acquisition/surrender of common 
shares(1) — (17.8) (34.1) — (51.9) —

Cash dividends declared 
($3.71 per share) — — (201.8) — (201.8) —

Dividends to noncontrolling interest — — — — — (2.7)

Directors deferred compensation — (1.2) — — (1.2) —

Cumulative effect from adoption of 
CECL accounting standard — — (1.0) — (1.0) —

BALANCE AT  
DECEMBER 31, 2020 $ 0.6 $ 4.9 $ 2,393.7 $ (329.2) $ 2,070.0 $ 15.4

Net income — — 399.5 — 399.5 6.1

Other comprehensive (loss) income — — — (1.6) (1.6) —

Stock-based compensation — 18.6 — — 18.6 —

Acquisition/surrender of common 
shares(1) — (24.2) (15.8) — (40.0) —

Cash dividends declared 
($3.99 per share) — — (217.4) — (217.4) —

Dividends to noncontrolling interest — — — — — (10.6)

Directors deferred compensation — 0.7 — — 0.7 —

BALANCE AT  
DECEMBER 31, 2021 $ 0.6 $ — $ 2,560.0 $ (330.8) $ 2,229.8 $ 10.9

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

(1) For accounting purposes, the Company treats repurchased shares as constructively retired when acquired and accordingly charges the 
purchase price against Common Stock par value, Additional paid-in capital, to the extent available, and Retained earnings. The change 
in Retained earnings of $15.8 million, $34.1 million and $28.9 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, reflects this accounting 
treatment. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1 Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the 
Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(“GAAP”).

On October 26, 2021, Hubbell entered into a definitive 
agreement to sell its Commercial and Industrial Lighting  
business to GE Current, a Daintree company, for a cash 
purchase price of $350  million, subject to customary 
adjustments with respect to working capital and net 
indebtedness. The Commercial and Industrial Lighting 
business had sales of $509.4 million in 2021 as part of the 
Electrical Solutions segment and designs, manufactures, 
and sells LED lighting and control solutions for commercial 
and industrial customers. As a result of the agreement, the 
Commercial and Industrial Lighting business met the criteria 
set forth in ASC 205-20 to be presented as a discontinued 
operation and is classified as held for sale. The Commercial 
and Industrial Lighting business’ results of operations and 
the related cash flows have been reclassified to income from 
discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of 
Income and cash flows from discontinued operations in the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, respectively, for all 
periods presented. See Note 2, Discontinued Operations, to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Principles of Consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include all wholly 
owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances 
and transactions have been eliminated. The Company 
participates in two joint ventures that have been consolidated 
in accordance with the consolidation accounting guidance. 
An analysis is performed to determine which reporting 
entity, if any, has a controlling financial interest in a variable 
interest entity (“VIE”) with a primarily qualitative analysis. 
The qualitative analysis is based on identifying the party 
that has both the power to direct the activities that most 
significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance (the 
“power criterion”) and the obligation to absorb losses 
from or the right to receive benefits of the VIE that could 
potentially be significant to the VIE (the “losses/benefit 
criterion”). The party that meets both these criteria is deemed 
to have a controlling financial interest. The party with the 
controlling financial interest is considered to be the primary 
beneficiary and as a result is required to consolidate the 
VIE. The Company has a 50% interest in a joint venture in 
Hong Kong, established as Hubbell Asia Limited (“HAL”). The 
principal objective of HAL is to manage the operations of its 
wholly-owned manufacturing company in China. Under the 
accounting guidance, the Company is the primary beneficiary 
of HAL and as a result consolidates HAL.

This determination is based on the fact that HAL’s sole 
business purpose is to manufacture product exclusively 
for the Company (the power criterion) and the Company 
is financially responsible for ensuring HAL maintains a 
fixed operating margin (the losses/benefit criterion). The 
consolidation of HAL is not material to the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with GAAP requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements. Actual results could 
differ from the estimates that are used.

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic
During March 2020, a global pandemic was declared by the 
World Health Organization related to the rapidly growing 
outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19). The 
pandemic has had, and may continue to have, a significant 
effect on global economic conditions. U.S. Federal, state, 
local, and foreign governments have reacted to the public 
health crisis with mitigation measures, creating significant 
uncertainties in the U.S. and global economies. The extent to 
which the coronavirus pandemic will continue to affect our 
business, operations, supply chains, and our financial results 
will depend on numerous evolving factors that we may not 
be able to accurately predict and which may cause the actual 
results to differ from the estimates and assumptions we are 
required to make in the preparation of financial statements 
according to GAAP.

Assets and Liabilities Held for Sale
The Company classifies assets and liabilities (disposal groups) 
to be sold as held for sale in the period in which all of the 
following criteria are met: management, having the authority 
to approve the action, commits to a plan to sell the disposal 
group; the disposal group is available for immediate sale in 
its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and 
customary for sales of such disposal groups; an active program 
to locate a buyer and other actions required to complete the 
plan to sell the disposal group have been initiated; the sale of 
the disposal group is probable, and transfer of the disposal 
group is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale 
within one year, except if events or circumstances beyond the 
Company’s control extend the period of time required to sell 
the disposal group beyond one year; the disposal group is being 
actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation 
to its current fair value; and actions required to complete the 
plan indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the 
plan will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn.

Item 8 Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data

PART II
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The Company initially measures a disposal group that is 
classified as held for sale at the lower of its carrying value or 
fair value less any costs to sell. Any loss resulting from this 
measurement is recognized in the period in which the held for 
sale criteria are met. Conversely, gains are not recognized on 
the sale of a disposal group until the date of sale. The Company 
assesses the fair value of a disposal group, less any costs to 
sell, each reporting period it remains classified as held for sale 
and reports any subsequent changes as an adjustment to the 
carrying value of the disposal group, as long as the new carrying 
value does not exceed the carrying value of the disposal group 
at the time it was initially classified as held for sale.

Upon determining that a disposal group meets the criteria to 
be classified as held for sale, the Company reports the assets 
and liabilities of the disposal group, if material, in the line 
items assets held for sale and liabilities held for sale in the 
consolidated statements of financial position. Refer to Note 2, 
“Discontinued Operations,” of the notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements for further information. In conjunction 
with the C&I Lighting Business being classified as held for 
sale, depreciation and amortization ceased.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when performance 
obligations identified under the terms of contracts with 
its customers are satisfied, which generally occurs, for 
products, upon the transfer of control in accordance with 
the contractual terms and conditions of the sale. The majority 
of the Company’s revenue associated with products is 
recognized at a point in time when the product is shipped to 
the customer, with a relatively small amount of transactions in 
the Utility Solutions segment recognized upon delivery of the 
product at the contractually specified destination. Revenue 
from service contracts and post-shipment performance 
obligations is approximately three percent of total annual 
consolidated net revenue and those service contracts and 
post-shipment obligations are primarily within the Utility 
Solutions segment. Revenue from service contracts and 
post-shipment performance obligations is recognized when 
or as those obligations are satisfied. The Company primarily 
offers assurance-type standard warranties that do not 
represent separate performance obligations and on occasion 
will separately offer and price extended warranties that are 
separate performance obligations for which the associated 
revenue is recognized over-time based on the extended 
warranty period. The Company records amounts billed to 
customers for reimbursement of shipping and handling costs 
within revenue. Shipping and handling costs associated with 
outbound freight after control over a product has transferred 
to a customer are accounted for as fulfillment costs and are 
included in cost of goods sold. Sales taxes and other usage-
based taxes are excluded from revenue.

Within the Electrical Solutions segment, certain businesses 
require a portion of the transaction price to be paid in advance 
of transfer of control. Advance payments are not considered 
a significant financing component as they are received less 
than one year before the related performance obligations 
are satisfied. In addition, in the Utility Solutions segment, 
certain businesses offer annual maintenance service contracts 
that require payment at the beginning of the contract period. 
These payments are treated as a contract liability and are 

classified in Other accrued liabilities in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet. Once control transfers to the customer 
and the Company meets the revenue recognition criteria, 
the deferred revenue is recognized in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income. The deferred revenue relating to the 
annual maintenance service contracts is recognized in the 
Consolidated Statement of Income on a straight line basis 
over the expected term of the contract.

The Company has certain arrangements that require us 
to estimate at the time of sale the amounts of variable 
consideration that should not be recorded as revenue as 
certain amounts are not expected to be collected from 
customers, as well as an estimate of the value of the 
product to be returned. The Company principally relies on 
historical experience, specific customer agreements and 
anticipated future trends to estimate these amounts at 
the time of shipment and to reduce the transaction price. 
These arrangements include sales discounts and allowances 
based on sales volumes, specific programs and special 
pricing allowances, and returned goods, as are customary 
in the electrical products industry. Customer returns have 
historically been approximately 1% of gross sales.

Shipping and Handling Costs
The Company records shipping and handling costs as part of 
Cost of goods sold in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Foreign Currency Translation
The assets and liabilities of international subsidiaries are 
translated to U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the 
end of the year, and income and expense items are translated 
at average exchange rates in effect during the year. The effects 
of exchange rate fluctuations on the translated amounts of 
foreign currency assets and liabilities are included as translation 
adjustments in Accumulated other comprehensive loss within 
Hubbell shareholders’ equity. Gains and losses from foreign 
currency transactions are included in results of operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The carrying value of cash equivalents approximates fair 
value. Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments 
with original maturities to the Company of three months or 
less.

Investments
Investments in debt and equity securities are classified by 
individual security as available-for-sale, held-to-maturity or 
trading securities. Our available-for-sale securities, consisting 
of municipal bonds, are carried on the balance sheet at fair 
value with current period adjustments to carrying value 
recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive loss within 
Hubbell shareholders’ equity, net of tax. Realized gains and 
losses are recorded in income in the period of sale. The 
Company’s trading securities are carried on the balance 
sheet at fair value and consist primarily of debt and equity 
mutual funds. Gains and losses associated with these trading 
securities are reflected in the results of operations. The 
Company did not have any investments classified as held-
to-maturity as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Accounts Receivable and Allowances
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced 
amount and generally do not bear interest. The allowance 
for doubtful accounts is based on an estimated amount of 
probable credit losses in existing accounts receivable. The 
allowance is calculated based upon a combination of historical 
write-off experience, fixed percentages applied to aging 
categories and specific identification based upon a review of 
past due balances and problem accounts. Account balances 
are charged off against the allowance when it is determined 
that internal collection efforts should no longer be pursued. 
The Company also maintains a reserve for credit memos and 
cash discounts which are principally calculated based upon 
historical experience, specific customer agreements, as well 
as anticipated future trends.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value. 
Approximately 50% of total net inventory value is determined 
utilizing the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method of inventory 
accounting. The cost of foreign inventories and certain 
domestic inventories is determined utilizing average cost or 
first-in, first-out (FIFO) methods of inventory accounting. 
Reserves for excess and obsolete inventory are provided 
based on current assessments about future demand 
compared to on-hand quantities.

Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment values are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation. Maintenance and repair 
expenditures that do not significantly increase the life of an 
asset are charged to expense when incurred. Property, plant, 
and equipment placed in service prior to January 1, 1999 are 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives, principally, using 
accelerated methods.  Assets placed in service subsequent 
to January 1, 1999 are depreciated over their estimated useful 
lives, using straight-line methods. Leasehold improvements 
are amortized over the shorter of their economic lives or 
the lease term. Gains and losses arising on the disposal of 
property, plant and equipment are included in Operating 
income in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Capitalized Computer Software Costs
Capitalized computer software costs, net of amortization, were 
$10.8 million and $20.1 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. This balance is reflected in Other long-term assets 
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Capitalized computer 
software is for internal use and costs primarily consist of 
purchased materials, external services and salary costs for 
personnel dedicated to the projects. Software is amortized on a 
straight-line basis over appropriate periods, generally between 
three and five years. The Company recorded amortization 
expense of $9.6 million in 2021, $10.0 million in 2020 and  
$8.9 million in 2019 relating to capitalized computer software.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents purchase price in excess of fair values of 
the underlying net assets of acquired companies. Indefinite-
lived intangible assets and goodwill are subject to annual 
impairment testing using the specific guidance and criteria 
described in the accounting guidance. The Company 
performs its goodwill impairment testing as of April 1st of each 
year, unless circumstances dictate the need for more frequent 
assessments. The accounting guidance provides entities an 
option of performing a qualitative assessment (a “step-zero” 
test) before performing a quantitative analysis. If the entity 
determines, on the basis of certain qualitative factors, that it 
is more-likely-than-not that the goodwill is not impaired, the 
entity would not need to  proceed to quantitative goodwill 
impairment testing process as prescribed in the guidance. 
The Company applied the “step-zero” test to one of its five 
reporting units. Based on that qualitative assessment, the 
Company concluded it was more-likely-than-not that the fair 
value of this reporting unit exceeded their carrying value and 
therefore, further quantitative analysis was not required. For 
the other four reporting units the Company has elected to 
utilize the quantitative goodwill impairment testing process 
as permitted in the accounting guidance, by comparing the 
fair value of the Company’s reporting units to their carrying 
values. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its 
carrying value, no impairment exists.

Goodwill impairment testing requires judgment, including 
the identification of reporting units, assigning assets and 
liabilities to reporting units and determining the fair value 
of each reporting unit. Significant judgments required to 
estimate the fair value of reporting units include estimating 
future cash flows, determining appropriate discount rates 
and other assumptions, including assumptions about secular 
economic and market conditions, such as the potential 
continuing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. We use internal 
discounted cash flow models to estimate fair value. These 
cash flow estimates are derived from historical experience, 
third party end market data, and future long-term business 
plans and include assumptions on future sales growth, gross 
margin, operating margin, terminal growth rate, and the 
application of an appropriate discount rate. Changes in these 
estimates and assumptions could affect the determination 
of fair value and/or goodwill impairment for each reporting 
unit. The Company believes that its estimated aggregate fair 
value of its reporting units is reasonable when compared to 
the Company’s market capitalization on the valuation date.

As of April 1, 2021, the impairment testing resulted in implied 
fair values for each reporting unit that substantially exceeded 
the reporting unit’s carrying value, including goodwill. The 
Company did not have any reporting units at risk of failing 
the quantitative impairment test as the excess of the implied 
fair value significantly exceeded the carrying value of the 
reporting units. Additionally, the Company did not have any 
reporting units with zero or negative carrying amounts. The 
Company has not recorded any goodwill impairments since 
the initial adoption of the accounting guidance in 2002.
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The Company’s intangible assets consist primarily of customer 
relationships, tradenames, developed technology and patents. 
Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over periods 
generally ranging from 5-30 years. The Company amortizes 
intangible assets with definite lives using either an accelerated 
method that reflects the pattern in which economic benefits 
of the intangible assets are consumed and results in higher 
amortization in the earlier years of the assets’ useful life, or 
using a straight line method. Approximately 80% of the gross 
value of definite-lived intangible assets follow an accelerated 
amortization method. These definite lived intangibles are 
tested for impairment whenever events or circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset (asset group) 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized 
when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the estimated 
undiscounted cash flows used in determining the fair value 
of the asset. The Company did not record any material 
impairments related to its definite lived intangible assets in 
2021, 2020 or 2019. The Company also has some tradenames 
that are considered to be indefinite-lived intangible assets. 
These indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized 
and are tested for impairment annually, unless circumstances 
dictate the need for more frequent assessment.

The accounting guidance related to testing indefinite-lived 
intangible assets for impairment provides entities an option 
of performing a qualitative assessment before calculating the 
fair value of the asset. If the entity determines, on the basis 
of certain qualitative factors, that it is more-likely-than-not 
that the asset is not impaired, the entity would not need to 
calculate the fair value of the asset. The Company performed 
the qualitative assessment which resulted in no impairment 
in 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Other Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews depreciable long-lived assets for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be fully 
recoverable. If such a change in circumstances occurs, the 
related estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected 
to result from the use of the asset group and its eventual 
disposition is compared to the carrying amount. If the sum 
of the expected cash flows is less than the carrying amount, 
an impairment charge is recorded. The impairment charge 
is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount 
exceeds the fair value of the asset. The fair value of impaired 
assets is determined using expected cash flow estimates, 
quoted market prices when available and appraisals as 
appropriate. The Company did not record any material 
impairment charges in 2021, 2020 or 2019.

Leases
We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. 
Operating leases are included as ROU assets within other 
long-term assets, other accrued liabilities, and other non-
current liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Finance 
leases are included in property, plant, and equipment, net, 
other accrued liabilities, and other non-current liabilities. The 
Company’s finance leases are immaterial.

ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for 
the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation 
to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets 
and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date 
based on the present value of lease payments over the lease 
term. As most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we 
use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information 
available at the commencement date in determining the 
present value of lease payments. We use an implicit rate when 
readily determinable. For leases existing as of January 1, 2019, 
we have elected to use the remaining lease term as of the 
adoption date in determining the incremental borrowing rate. 
Our determination of the lease term may include options to 
extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain 
that we will exercise that option.

We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease 
components, which are generally accounted for separately. 
Additionally, for our vehicle leases, we apply a portfolio 
approach regarding the assumed lease term.

Accrued Insurance
The Company retains a significant portion of the risks 
associated with workers’ compensation, medical, automobile 
and general liability insurance. The Company estimates self-
insurance liabilities using a number of factors, including 
historical claims experience, demographic factors, and other 
actuarial assumptions. The accrued liabilities associated with 
these programs are based on the Company’s estimate of the 
ultimate costs to settle known claims as well as claims incurred 
but not reported as of the balance sheet date. The Company 
periodically reviews the assumptions with a third party actuary 
to determine the adequacy of these self-insurance reserves.

Accrued Warranty
The Company offers product warranties which cover defects 
on most of its products. These warranties primarily apply to 
products that are properly installed, maintained and used 
for their intended purpose. The Company accrues estimated 
warranty costs at the time of sale. Estimated warranty 
expenses, recorded in cost of goods sold, are based upon 
historical information such as past experience, product failure 
rates, or the estimated number of units to be repaired or 
replaced. Adjustments are made to the product warranty 
accrual as claims are incurred, additional information 
becomes known or as historical experience indicates.

Income Taxes
The Company operates within multiple taxing jurisdictions 
and is subject to audit in these jurisdictions. The IRS and 
other tax authorities routinely examine the Company’s tax 
returns. These audits can involve complex issues which 
may require an extended period of time to resolve. The 
Company makes adequate provisions for best estimates 
of exposures on previously filed tax returns. Deferred 
income taxes are recognized for the tax consequence of 
differences between financial statement carrying amounts 
and the tax basis of assets and liabilities by applying the 
currently enacted statutory tax rates in accordance with 
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the accounting guidance for income taxes. The effect of a 
change in statutory tax rates is recognized in the period that 
includes the enactment date. Additionally, deferred tax assets 
are required to be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is 
more-likely-than-not that a portion or all of the deferred tax 
asset will not be realized. The Company uses factors to assess 
the likelihood of realization of deferred tax assets such as the 
forecast of future taxable income and available tax planning 
that could be implemented to realize the deferred tax assets.

In addition, the accounting guidance prescribes a recognition 
threshold and measurement attribute for the financial 
statement recognition and measurement of the tax position 
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For any amount 
of benefit to be recognized, it must be determined that it 
is more-likely-than-not that a tax position will be sustained 
upon examination by taxing authorities based on the technical 
merits of the position. The amount of benefit to be recognized 
is based on the Company’s assertion of the most likely 
outcome resulting from an examination, including resolution 
of any related appeals or litigation processes. Companies are 
required to reflect only those tax positions that are more-likely-
than-not to be sustained. See Note 14 — Income Taxes for 
additional information.

Research and Development
Research and development expenditures represent costs 
to discover and/or apply new knowledge in developing a 
new product, process, or in bringing about a significant 
improvement to an existing product or process. Research 
and development expenses are recorded as a component of 
Cost of goods sold. Expenses for research and development 
were approximately 3% of Cost of goods sold in each of 2021, 
2020 and in 2019.

Retirement Benefits
The Company maintains various defined benefit pension plans 
for some of its U.S. and foreign employees. The accounting 
guidance for retirement benefits requires the Company to 
recognize the funded status of its defined benefit pension and 
postretirement plans as an asset or liability in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet. Gains or losses, prior service costs or credits, 
and transition assets or obligations that have not yet been 
included in net periodic benefit cost as of the end of the 
year are recognized as components of Accumulated other 
comprehensive loss, net of tax, within Hubbell shareholders’ 
equity. The Company’s policy is to fund pension costs within 
the ranges prescribed by applicable regulations. In addition 
to providing defined benefit pension benefits, the Company 
provides health care and life insurance benefits for some of 
its active and retired employees. The Company’s policy is to 
fund these benefits through insurance premiums or as actual 
expenditures are made. See also Note 12 — Retirement Benefits.

Earnings Per Share
Restricted stock granted by the Company is considered a 
participating security since it contains a non-forfeitable right 
to dividends. As a result, the earnings per share accounting 
guidance requires the Company to use the two-class method 
for calculating earnings per share. The two-class method is 
an earnings allocation formula that determines earnings per 

share for common stock and participating securities. Basic 
earnings per share is calculated as net income available to 
common shareholders divided by the weighted average 
number of shares of common stock outstanding. Earnings per 
diluted share is calculated as net income available to common 
shareholders divided by the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding of common stock plus the incremental 
shares outstanding assuming the exercise of dilutive stock 
options, stock appreciation rights and performance shares. 
See also Note 19 — Earnings Per Share.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company recognizes the grant-date fair value of all 
stock-based awards on a straight-line basis over their 
respective requisite service periods (generally equal to an 
award’s vesting period). A stock-based award is considered 
vested for expense attribution purposes when the retention 
of the award is no longer contingent on providing subsequent 
service. Accordingly, the Company generally recognizes 
compensation cost immediately for awards granted to 
retirement-eligible individuals or over the period from the 
grant date to the date retirement eligibility is achieved, if 
less than the stated vesting period. The expense is recorded 
in Cost of goods sold and S&A expense in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income based on the recipients’ respective 
functions within the organization.

The Company records deferred tax assets for awards that 
will result in deductions on its tax returns, based upon the 
amount of compensation cost recognized and the statutory 
tax rate in the jurisdiction in which it will receive a deduction. 
See also Note 18 — Stock-Based Compensation.

Recently Issued Accounting 
Pronouncements
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, 
“Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the 
Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting”, 
which provides optional expedients and exceptions for 
applying generally accepted accounting principles to 
contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions 
affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. 
The amendments are effective for all entities beginning on 
March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. The Company 
may elect to apply the amendments prospectively through 
December 31, 2022. The Company has not adopted this ASU 
as of December 31, 2021.

The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting 
this standard on its financial statements and the timing of 
adoption.

In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-10, Government 
Assistance (Topic 832): Disclosures by Business Entities 
about Government Assistance. This update requires annual 
disclosures about transactions with a government that are 
accounted for by applying a grant or contribution accounting 
model by analogy. This standard is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2021 and should be applied 
either prospectively or retrospectively. Early adoption is 
permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact 
of adopting this standard on its financial statements and the 
timing of adoption.
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NOTE 2 Discontinued Operations
On October 26, 2021, Hubbell entered into a definitive agreement to sell its Commercial and Industrial Lighting business to 
GE Current, a Daintree company, for a cash purchase price of $350 million, subject to customary adjustments with respect 
to working capital and net indebtedness. We have concluded the divestiture of this business represents a strategic shift that 
will have a major effect on our operations and financial results, and as a result, is reported as a discontinued operation in our 
Consolidated Financial Statements for all periods presented. The assets and liabilities of this business are also presented as 
held for sale in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Commercial and Industrial Lighting business was previously included 
in the Electrical Solutions segment.

On February 1, 2022 we completed the sale of the Commercial and Industrial Lighting business to GE Current. Under the 
terms of the transaction, Hubbell and the buyer entered into a short-term supply agreement whereby the Company will act 
as a supplier of finished goods and component parts to the Commercial and industrial Lighting business.

The following table presents the summarized components of income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes, for 
the Commercial and Industrial Lighting business:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2021 2020 2019

Net sales $ 509.4 $ 503.5 $ 644.5

Cost of goods sold 403.4 385.6 469.4

Gross profit 106.0 117.9 175.1

Selling & administrative expenses 88.5 85.1 111.2

Operating income 17.5 32.8 63.9

Other expense (4.1) (4.0) (12.7)

Income from discontinued operations before income taxes 13.4 28.8 51.2

(Benefit) provision for income taxes (21.1) 7.6 11.8

Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes $ 34.5 $ 21.2 $ 39.4

Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes for the year ended December 31, 2021 includes pre-tax transaction and 
separation costs of $7.0 million and a one-time tax benefit of $25.1 million related to book-to-tax basis differences of the business.

The following table presents balance sheet information for assets and liabilities held for sale:

At December 31,

(in millions) 2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents $ 0.7 $ 1.0

Accounts receivable 83.1 81.3

Inventories, net 89.8 80.6

Other current assets 5.9 5.0

Assets held for sale - current $ 179.5 $ 167.9

Property, Plant, and Equipment, net 77.7 80.4

Goodwill 50.2 50.2

Other Intangible assets, net 37.3 40.0

Other long-term assets 11.9 13.5

Assets held for sale - non-current $ 177.1 $ 184.1

Accounts payable 50.2 38.8

Accrued salaries, wages and employee benefits 8.5 7.1

Accrued insurance 3.9 4.4

Other accrued liabilities 28.7 29.4

Liabilities held for sale - current $ 91.3 $ 79.7

Other Non-Current Liabilities 18.8 17.8

Liabilities held for sale - non-current $ 18.8 $ 17.8
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NOTE 3 Revenue
Approximately two-thirds of the Company’s Net sales are to distributors who then sell directly into our end markets. Within 
the Utility Solutions segment, our businesses sell to distributors, with the majority of sales to the utility end markets. Our 
businesses within the Utility Solutions segment also sell directly into transmission and distribution utility markets.

The following table presents disaggregated revenue by business group. Prior period amounts have been reclassified to 
conform to our organizational changes as described in Note 1 - Basis of Presentation and Note 2 - Discontinued Operations:

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2021 2020 2019

Net sales

Commercial and Industrial $ 1,150.1 $ 918.7 $ 1,013.1

Heavy Industrial 337.5 302.0 382.9

Residential and Retail 372.1 382.4 380.6

Total Electrical Solutions $ 1,859.7 $ 1,603.1 $ 1,776.6

Utility T&D Components 1,679.8 1,445.1 1,434.2

Utility Communications and Controls 654.6 634.3 735.8

Total Utility Solutions $ 2,334.4 $ 2,079.4 $ 2,170.0

TOTAL(1) $ 4,194.1 $ 3,682.5 $ 3,946.6

(1) Sales of the Company’s Commercial and Industrial Lighting business are included in earnings from discontinued operations, net of 
tax, on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations in the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019. See Note 2, 
Discontinued Operations for further information.

The following table presents disaggregated third-party Net sales by geographic location (on a geographic basis, the Company 
defines “international” as operations based outside of the United States and its possessions):

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2021 2020 2019

Net sales

United States $ 1,604.9 $ 1,389.0 $ 1,509.1

International 254.8 214.1 267.5

Total Electrical Solutions $ 1,859.7 $ 1,603.1 $ 1,776.6

United States 2,204.9 1,967.9 2,037.0

International 129.5 111.5 133.0

Total Utility Solutions $ 2,334.4 $ 2,079.4 $ 2,170.0

TOTAL $ 4,194.1 $ 3,682.5 $ 3,946.6

Contract Balances
Our contract liabilities consist of advance payments for 
products as well as deferred revenue on service obligations 
and extended warranties. The current portion of deferred 
revenue is included in Other accrued liabilities and the 
non-current portion of deferred revenue is included in Other 
non-current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Contract liabilities were $16.7 million as of December 31, 2021 
compared to $29.8 million as of December 31, 2020. The 
$13.1 million decrease in our contract liabilities balance was 
primarily due to the recognition of $27.1 million in revenue 
related to amounts that were recorded in contract liabilities 
at January 1, 2021, partially offset by a $14.0 million net 
increase in current year deferrals primarily due to timing 
of advance payments on certain orders.  Impairment losses 
recognized on our receivables and contract assets were 
immaterial in the twelve months ended December 31, 2021. 

See Note 1 – Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Unsatisfied Performance Obligations
The Company has elected the practical expedient to disclose 
only the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for 
contracts with an original expected length greater than 
one year.  As of December 31, 2021, the Company had 
approximately $420 million of unsatisfied performance 
obligations for contracts with an original expected length 
of greater than one year, primarily relating to long-term 
contracts of the Aclara business (within the Utility 
Solutions segment) to deliver and install meters, metering 
communications and grid monitoring sensor technology. 
The Company expects that a majority of the unsatisfied 
performance obligations will be completed and recognized 
over the next 2 years.
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NOTE 4 Business Acquisitions and Dispositions

2020 Acquisitions
In the fourth quarter of 2020 we completed the following 
acquisitions:

The Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding 
shares of Armorcast Products Company, Inc. (“Armorcast”) 
for $136.3 million, net of cash acquired. Armorcast develops 
and manufactures polymer concrete and fiberglass products 
for the utility industry. Armorcast is reported in the Utility 
Solutions segment. We have recognized intangible assets 
of $51.2 million, primarily consisting of customer relationships 
and a tradename, and goodwill of $71.6 million as a result of 
this acquisition. The intangible assets will be amortized over 
a weighted average period of approximately 19 years.

The Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding 
shares of Beckwith Electric Co., Inc. (“Beckwith”) for 
$54.7 million, net of cash acquired. Beckwith is a manufacturer 
and installer of protection relay and distribution control units 
used in electronic power systems. Beckwith is reported in 
the Utility Solutions segment. We have recognized intangible 
assets of $32.6 million, primarily consisting of customer 
relationships, technology and a tradename, and goodwill 
of $12.7 million as a result of this acquisition. The intangible 
assets will be amortized over a weighted average period of 
approximately 15 years.

The Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding 
shares of AccelTex Solutions, LLC (“AccelTex”) for $45.1 million, 
net of cash acquired. AccelTex is a manufacturer of products 
and accessories for wireless networks. AccelTex is reported 
in the Electrical Solutions segment. We have recognized 
intangible assets of $19.4 million, primarily consisting of 
customer relationships and a tradename, and goodwill 
of $21.0 million as a result of this acquisition. The intangible 
assets will be amortized over a weighted average period of 
approximately 15 years.

In the fourth quarter of 2020 the Company also completed 
a $1.6 million asset acquisition and recognized $1.0 million of 
goodwill as a result.

These business acquisitions have been accounted for as 
business combinations and have resulted in the recognition 
of goodwill. The goodwill relates to a number of factors 
implied in the purchase price, including the future earnings 
and cash flow potential of the businesses as well as the 
complementary strategic fit and resulting synergies they 
bring to the Company’s existing operations.

With the exception of tradenames, we amortize intangible 
assets using an accelerated method that reflects the pattern 
in which economic benefits of the intangible assets are 
consumed and results in higher amortization in the earlier 
years of the assets’ useful life. Tradenames are amortized on 
a straight-line basis.

All of the goodwill associated with the 2020 acquisitions is 
deductible for tax purposes, except the goodwill associated 
with the acquisition of Beckwith.

Allocation of Consideration Transferred to Net 
Assets Acquired
The following table presents the determination of the fair 
value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
from the Company’s 2020 acquisitions. Fair value estimates 
are based on a complex series of judgments about future 
events and uncertainties and rely heavily on estimates and 
assumptions. The judgments used to determine the estimated 
fair value assigned to each class of assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed, as well as asset lives, can materially impact 
the Company’s results of operations.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed as of the respective date of 
acquisition for all transactions (in millions):

Tangible assets acquired $ 64.7

Intangible assets 103.2

Goodwill 106.3

Net deferred taxes (8.8)

Other liabilities assumed (27.8)

TOTAL ESTIMATE OF CONSIDERATION 
TRANSFERRED, NET OF CASH ACQUIRED $ 237.6

Cash used for the acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired 
as reported in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for 
the year ended December 31, 2021 is $0.1 million and for the 
year ended December 31, 2020 is $239.6 million and includes 
approximately $2.0 million of net working capital settlements 
relating to acquisitions completed in the previous year.

Dispositions
In August 2019, the Company completed the sale of Haefely 
Test, AG (“Haefely”) for $38.1 million. Haefely designs and 
manufactures high voltage test equipment and is based in Basel, 
Switzerland. The Haefely business was previously included 
within the Electrical Solutions segment. Upon disposition, 
the Haefely business had tangible assets of $32.3 million 
(primarily composed of cash, accounts receivable, inventories, 
and property, plant and equipment), goodwill of $3.1 million, 
total liabilities of $12.2 million (primarily composed of accounts 
payable, accrued expenses, and cash received in advance from 
customers) and a $7.7 million balance of cumulative currency 
translation adjustments recognized within Accumulated other 
comprehensive income. As a result of the sale of Haefely, we 
recognized a pre-tax gain of $21.7 million that is included in 
Total other expense in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

In June of 2021, the Company completed the sale of the 
Consumer Analytics Solutions business for $9.8 million. The 
Consumer Analytics Solutions business was part of Aclara and 
was previously included in the Utility Solutions segment. Upon 
disposition, the Consumer Analytics Solutions business had 
assets of $15.9 million, including definite-lived intangibles of 
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$8.7 million (primarily customer relationships and developed 
technology), goodwill of $1.9 million and total liabilities of 
$1.5 million (primarily composed of deferred revenue). As a 

result of the sale of the Consumer Analytics Solutions business, 
we recognized a pre-tax loss of $6.9 million that is included in 
Total other expense in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

NOTE 5 Receivables and Allowances
Receivables consist of the following components at December 31, (in millions):

2021 2020

Trade accounts receivable $ 695.7 $ 574.1

Non-trade receivables 24.9 21.7

Accounts receivable, gross 720.6 595.8

Allowance for credit memos, returns and cash discounts (34.7) (31.9)

Allowance for doubtful accounts (10.6) (10.6)

Total allowances (45.3) (42.5)

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET $ 675.3 $ 553.3

NOTE 6 Inventories
Inventories are classified as follows at December 31, (in millions):

2021 2020

Raw material $ 241.0 $ 185.0

Work-in-process 129.4 92.7

Finished goods 428.6 329.1

Subtotal 799.0 606.8

Excess of FIFO over LIFO cost basis (136.9) (80.1)

INVENTORIES, NET $ 662.1 $ 526.7

NOTE 7 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, by segment, were as follows 
(in millions):

Segment

Electrical
Solutions

Utility
Solutions Total

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 $ 589.0 $ 1,172.6 $ 1,761.6

Current year acquisitions(1) 21.1 78.6 99.7

Prior year acquisitions 0.5 2.6 3.1

Foreign currency translation 3.1 5.6 8.7

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2020 $ 613.7 $ 1,259.4 $ 1,873.1

Prior year acquisitions(1) — 6.6 6.6

Dispositions(1) — (1.9) (1.9)

Foreign currency translation (1.2) (5.3) (6.5)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2021 $ 612.5 $ 1,258.8 $ 1,871.3

(1) Refer to Note 4 – Business Acquisitions and Dispositions for additional information.
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Goodwill of the Commercial and Industrial Lighting business is included in assets held for sale, non-current portion as of 
the beginning of the earliest period presented on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 2, Discontinued 
Operations, for further information.

In 2020, the Company completed multiple acquisitions. These acquisitions have been accounted for as business combinations 
and have resulted in the recognition of $106.3 million of goodwill. The Company has not recorded any material goodwill 
impairments since the initial adoption of the related accounting guidance in 2002.

Identifiable intangible assets are recorded in Other intangible assets, net in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Identifiable 
intangible assets are comprised of the following (in millions):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Gross 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Gross 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Definite-lived:

Patents, tradenames and trademarks $ 181.3 $ (67.6) $ 182.0 $ (59.5)

Customer relationships, developed technology and other 901.2 (374.0) 918.9 (311.4)

TOTAL DEFINITE-LIVED INTANGIBLES 1,082.5 (441.6) 1,100.9 (370.9)

Indefinite-lived:

Tradenames and other 40.6 — 40.6 —

TOTAL OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS $ 1,123.1 $ (441.6) $ 1,141.5 $ (370.9)

Amortization expense associated with these definite-lived intangible assets was $75.7 million, $72.1 million and $68.7 million in 
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Amortization expense associated with these intangible assets is expected to be $69.8 million 
in 2022, $65.4 million in 2023, $61.4 million in 2024, $57.3 million in 2025 and $53.7 million in 2026. The Company amortizes 
intangible assets with definite lives using either an accelerated method that reflects the pattern in which economic benefits 
of the intangible assets are consumed and results in higher amortization in the earlier years of the assets’ useful life, or 
using a straight line method. Approximately 80% of the gross value of definite-lived intangible assets follow an accelerated 
amortization method.

NOTE 8 Investments
At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company held investments classified as available-for-sale and investments 
classified as trading securities. Investments classified as available-for-sale consisted of municipal bonds with an amortized 
cost basis of $53.3 million as of December 31, 2021. Investments classified as trading securities were composed primarily of 
debt and equity mutual funds and are stated at fair market value based on current quotes.

The following table sets forth selected data with respect to the Company’s investments at December 31, (in millions):

2021 2020

Amortized 
Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Fair 

Value
Carrying 

Value
Amortized 

Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Fair 

Value
Carrying 

Value

Available-for-sale  
securities $ 53.3 $ 0.8 $ (0.1) $ 54.0 $ 54.0 $  56.4 $ 1.4 $  (0.1) $ 57.7 $  57.7

Trading securities 12.2 12.3 — 24.5 24.5 13.1 9.6 — 22.7 22.7

TOTAL INVESTMENTS $ 65.5 $ 13.1 $ (0.1) $ 78.5 $ 78.5 $  69.5 $ 11.0 $ (0.1) $ 80.4 $ 80.4

Contractual maturities of our investments in available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2021 were as follows (in millions):

Amortized
Cost

Fair  
Value

Available-for-sale securities

Due within 1 year $ 9.4 $ 9.4

After 1 year but within 5 years 37.3 38.0

After 5 years but within 10 years — —

Due after 10 years 6.6 6.6

TOTAL $ 53.3 $ 54.0
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The total unrealized gain/(loss) recognized in the year relating to available-for-sale securities, net of tax, was $(0.4) million 
and $0.4 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. These net unrealized gains/(losses) are included in Accumulated 
other comprehensive loss, net of tax. Net unrealized gains relating to trading securities have been reflected in the results of 
operations. The Company uses the specific identification method when identifying the cost basis used to calculate the gain 
or loss on these securities. Gains and losses for both available-for-sale and trading securities were not material in 2021, 2020 
and 2019.

At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had $54.0 million and $57.7 million, respectively, of available-
for-sale municipal debt securities.  These investments had an amortized cost of $53.3 million and $56.4 million, respectively. 
No allowance for credit losses related to our available-for-sale debt securities was recorded for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 the unrealized losses attributable to our available-for-sale 
debt securities was $0.1 million at each period end. The fair value of available-for-sale debt securities with unrealized losses 
was $12.2 million at December 31, 2021 and $6.1 million at December 31, 2020.

NOTE 9 Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment, carried at cost, is summarized as follows at December 31, (in millions): 

2021 2020

Land $ 28.1 $ 27.1

Buildings and improvements 209.7 213.7

Machinery, tools, and equipment 846.6 812.9

Construction-in-progress 69.5 53.7

Gross property, plant, and equipment 1,153.9 1,107.4

Less accumulated depreciation (694.4) (668.7)

PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT, NET $ 459.5 $ 438.7

Depreciable lives on buildings range between 20-45 years. Depreciable lives on machinery, tools, and equipment range 
between 3-15 years. The Company recorded depreciation expense of $61.7 million, $61.7 million and $60.2 million for 2021, 
2020 and 2019, respectively.

NOTE 10 Other Accrued Liabilities
Other accrued liabilities consist of the following at December 31, (in millions):

2021 2020

Customer program incentives $ 67.3 $ 37.4

Accrued income taxes 4.8 4.5

Contract liabilities - deferred revenue 16.7 29.8

Customer refund liability 16.7 15.9

Accrued warranties(1) 36.7 26.0

Current operating lease liabilities 27.1 30.6

Other 94.1 80.4

TOTAL $ 263.4 $ 224.6

(1) Refer to Note 22 – Guarantees for additional information regarding warranties.
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NOTE 11 Other Non-Current Liabilities
Other non-current liabilities consists of the following at December 31, (in millions):

2021 2020

Pensions $ 189.8 $ 198.6

Other post-employment benefits 17.0 21.2

Deferred tax liabilities 114.7 126.8

Accrued warranties long-term(1) 29.4 46.7

Non-current operating lease liabilities 58.3 71.9

Other 112.1 131.6

TOTAL $ 521.3 $ 596.8

(1) Refer to Note 22 – Guarantees for additional information regarding warranties.

NOTE 12 Retirement Benefits
The Company has funded and unfunded non-contributory U.S. and foreign defined benefit pension plans. Benefits under these 
plans are generally provided based on either years of service and final average pay or a specified dollar amount per year of 
service. The U.S. defined benefit pension plan has been closed to new participants since 2004, while the Canadian and UK 
defined benefit pension plans have been closed to new entrants since 2006 and 2007, respectively. These U.S., Canadian and 
UK employees are eligible instead for defined contribution plans.

The Company also has a number of health care and life insurance benefit plans covering eligible employees who reached 
retirement age while working for the Company. These benefits have been discontinued for substantially all future retirees. 
The Company anticipates future cost-sharing charges for its discontinued plans that are consistent with past practices. The 
Company uses a December 31 measurement date for all of its plans.

In 2020, the Company recognized a $7.6 million settlement loss relating to retirees that elected to receive lump-sum distributions 
from the Company’s defined benefit pension plans. This charge was the result of lump-sum payments which exceeded the 
threshold for settlement accounting under U.S. GAAP for 2020.

In 2019, the Company approved amendments to one of its domestic qualified defined benefit pension plans, which froze service 
accruals for nearly all active participants within the plan effective January 1, 2020. As a result of the amendment, the Company 
recognized a $0.3 million curtailment charge, net of tax. Effective January 1, 2020, the amortization of unrecognized gains 
and losses of all of the Company’s qualified defined benefit pension plans is recognized over the remaining life expectancy 
of participants, as nearly all participants are considered inactive as a result of plan amendments.

The Company’s U.S. defined benefit pension plans were approximately 87% of the $937.7 million total pension benefit 
obligations at December 31, 2021.
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The following table sets forth the reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligations and the plan 
assets for the Company’s defined benefit pension and other benefit plans at December 31, (in millions): 

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2021 2020 2021 2020

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 994.2 $ 938.7 $ 23.2 $ 23.8

Service cost 1.0 1.2 — —

Interest cost 23.8 28.0 0.6 0.7

Plan participants’ contributions — — — —

Amendments 3.6 — — —

Actuarial loss/(gain) (22.0) 89.6 (4.2) 0.2

Curtailment gain — (0.1) — —

Settlements (0.1) (24.7) — —

Currency impact (0.9) 5.1 — —

Other (0.3) — — —

Benefits paid (61.6) (43.6) (0.7) (1.5)

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 937.7 $ 994.2 $ 18.9 $ 23.2

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 805.1 $ 743.4 $ — $ —

Actual return on plan assets 15.6 94.9 — —

Employer contributions 7.9 29.5 0.7 1.5

Plan participants’ contributions — — — —

Settlements (0.1) (24.7) — —

Currency impact (1.3) 5.6 — —

Benefits paid (61.6) (43.6) (0.7) (1.5)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 765.6 $ 805.1 $ — $ —

FUNDED STATUS $ (172.1) $ (189.1) $ (18.9) $ (23.2)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance 
sheet consist of:

Prepaid pensions (included in Other long-term assets) $ 24.8 $ 16.4 $ — $ —

Accrued benefit liability (short-term and long-term) (196.9) (205.5) (18.9) (23.2)

NET AMOUNT RECOGNIZED IN THE CONSOLIDATED 
BALANCE SHEET $ (172.1) $ (189.1) $ (18.9) $ (23.2)

Amounts recognized in Accumulated other 
comprehensive loss (income) consist of:

Net actuarial loss $ 263.1 $ 275.4 $ (3.4) $ 0.6

Prior service cost (credit) 6.9 3.5 — —

NET AMOUNT RECOGNIZED IN ACCUMULATED 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $ 270.0 $ 278.9 $ (3.4) $ 0.6

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $937.6 million and $993.9 million at December 31, 
2021 and 2020, respectively. Information with respect to plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets 
is as follows, (in millions):

2021 2020

Projected benefit obligation $ 817.7 $ 865.1

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 817.7 $ 865.1

Fair value of plan assets $ 620.7 $ 659.5
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The following table sets forth the components of pension and other benefit costs for the years ended December 31, (in millions):

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019

Components of net periodic benefit cost:

Service cost $ 1.0 $ 1.2 $ 2.2 $ — $ — $ 0.1

Interest cost 23.8 28.0 34.6 0.6 0.7 1.1

Expected return on plan assets (36.5) (33.9) (30.7) — — —

Amortization of prior service cost (credit) 0.2 0.2 0.2 — (0.4) (0.9)

Amortization of actuarial losses (gains) 10.8 9.8 9.6 (0.1) (0.1) 0.1

Curtailment and settlement losses — 7.5 0.3 — — —

Net periodic benefit cost $ (0.7) $ 12.8 $ 16.2 $ 0.5 $ 0.2 $ 0.4

Changes recognized in other 
comprehensive loss (income), before tax:

Current year net actuarial loss (gain) $ (1.4) $ 28.6 $ 31.5 $ (4.1) $ 0.1 $ (2.0)

Current year prior service credit 3.6 — — — — —

Amortization of prior service (cost) credit (0.2) (0.2) (0.2) — 0.4 0.9

Amortization of net actuarial (losses) gains (10.8) (9.8) (9.6) 0.1 0.1 (0.1)

Currency impact (0.2) 0.1 0.7 — — —

Settlement adjustment — (7.6) — — — —

Curtailment adjustments — 0.1 (0.3) — — —

Total recognized in other comprehensive loss (9.0) 11.2 22.1 (4.0) 0.6 (1.2)

TOTAL RECOGNIZED IN NET 
PERIODIC PENSION COST AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $ (9.7) $ 24.0 $ 38.3 $ (3.5) $ 0.8 $ (0.8)

The Company also maintains four primary defined 
contribution pension plans. The total cost of the Company’s 
defined contribution plans was $23.3  million in 2021, 
$21.0 million in 2020 and $20.8 million in 2019, excluding the 
employer match for the 401(k) plan. This cost is not included 
in the above net periodic benefit cost for the defined benefit 
pension plans.

In 2019, 2020 and 2021 the Company participated in one 
multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. The Company’s 
total contributions while participating in this plan was 
$0.2 million in each of these years.

The risks of participating in multi-employer plans are different 
from single-employer plans in that assets contributed are 
pooled and may be used to provide benefits to employees 
of other participating employers. If a participating employer 
stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations 
of the plan may have to be assumed by the remaining 
participant employers. If we choose to stop participating 
in a multi-employer plan we may be required to pay those 
plans a withdrawal liability based on the unfunded status 
of the plan.
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Assumptions
The following assumptions were used to determine the projected benefit obligations at the measurement date and the net 
periodic benefit cost for the year:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019

Weighted-average assumptions used to 
determine benefit obligations at December 31,

Discount rate 2.79% 2.47% 3.17% 2.90% 2.50% 3.30%

Rate of compensation increase 0.08% 0.24% 2.94% 3.87% 3.99% 4.00%

Weighted-average assumptions used to 
determine net periodic benefit cost for 
years ended December 31,

Discount rate 2.47% 3.17% 4.24% 2.50% 3.30% 4.40%

Expected return on plan assets 4.66% 4.69% 4.75% N/A N/A N/A

Rate of compensation increase 0.24% 2.94% 3.25% 3.99% 4.00% 4.05%

At the end of each year, the Company determines the 
appropriate expected return on assets for each plan 
based upon its strategic asset allocation (see discussion 
below). In making this determination, the Company utilizes 
expected returns for each asset class based upon current 
market conditions and expected risk premiums for each 
asset class.

The Company also determines the discount rate to be used 
to calculate the present value of pension plan liabilities at the 
end of each year. The discount rate for the Company’s U.S. 
and Canadian pension plans is determined by matching the 
expected cash flows associated with its benefit obligations 
to the expected cash flows of a hypothetical portfolio of high 
quality, fixed income debt instruments with maturities that 
closely match the expected funding period of its pension 
liabilities. As of December 31, 2021, the Company used a 
discount rate of 2.90% for its U.S. pension plans compared 
to a discount rate of 2.60% used in 2020. For its Canadian 
pension plan, the Company used a discount rate of 2.98% 
as of December 31, 2021 compared to a 2.55% discount rate 
used in 2020.

For its UK pension plan the discount rate was derived using 
a full yield curve and uses plan specific cash flows. The 
derived discount rate is the single discount rate equivalent to 
discounting these liability cash flows at the term-dependent 
spot rate of AA corporate bonds. This methodology resulted 
in a December 31, 2021 discount rate for the UK pension plan 
of 1.80% as compared to a discount rate of 1.40% used in 2020.

In 2019 we changed the mortality table used to calculate the 
present value of our pension plan liabilities from the RP-2014 
mortality table, with generational projection from 2006 using 
Scale MP-2018 to the Pri-2012 mortality table, with generational 
projection from 2012 using Scale MP-2019. In 2020 we used the 
Pri-2012 mortality table and adopted the MP-2020 projection 
scale and in 2021 we used the Pri-2012 mortality table and 
adopted the MP-2021 projection scale  The Pri-2012 mortality 
table with adjustment for collar as appropriate and generational 
projection from 2012 using Scale MP-2021 was chosen as 
the best estimate based on the observed and anticipated 
experience of the plans after considering alternative tables. 
These changes did not have a material impact to the projected 
benefit obligation of our U.S. plans upon remeasurement.

The rate of compensation increase assumption reflects the Company’s actual experience and best estimate of future increases.

The assumed health care cost trend rates used to determine the projected postretirement benefit obligation are as follows: 

Other Benefits

2021 2020 2019

Assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31,

Health care cost trend assumed for next year 6.2 % 6.4% 6.6%

Rate to which the cost trend is assumed to decline 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2028 2028 2028
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Plan Assets
The Company’s combined targeted 2022 weighted average asset allocation for domestic and foreign pension plans and the 
actual weighted average asset allocation for domestic and foreign pension plans at December 31, 2021 and 2020 by asset 
category are as follows:

Percentage of Plan Assets

Target Actual

Asset Category 2022 2021 2020

Equity securities 30% 22% 24%

Debt securities & Cash 70% 77% 74%

Alternative Investments —% 1% 2%

TOTAL 100% 100% 100%

At the end of each year, the Company estimates the expected 
long-term rate of return on pension plan assets based on 
the strategic asset allocation for its plans. In making this 
determination, the Company utilizes expected rates of return 
for each asset class based upon current market conditions 
and expected risk premiums for each asset class. The 
Company has written investment policies and asset allocation 
guidelines for its domestic and foreign pension plans. In 
establishing these policies, the Company has considered 
that its various pension plans are a major retirement vehicle 
for most plan participants and has acted to discharge its 
fiduciary responsibilities with regard to the plans solely in 
the interest of such participants and their beneficiaries. 
The goal underlying the establishment of the investment 
policies is to provide that pension assets shall be invested in 
a prudent manner and so that, together with the expected 
contributions to the plans, the funds will be sufficient to meet 
the obligations of the plans as they become due.

To achieve this result, the Company conducts a periodic 
strategic asset allocation study to form a basis for the 
allocation of pension assets between various asset categories. 
Specific policy benchmark percentages are assigned to 
each asset category with minimum and maximum ranges 
established for each. The assets are then tactically managed 
within these ranges. Derivative investments include futures 
contracts used by the plan to adjust the level of its investments 
within an asset allocation category. The actual and target 
percentages reported in the preceding table reflect the 
economic exposure to each asset category, including the 
impact of derivative positions. All futures contracts are 100% 
supported by cash or cash equivalent investments. At no time 
may derivatives be utilized to leverage the asset portfolio. 
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no holdings of 
Company stock in pension plan assets.

The Company’s other post-employment benefits are 
unfunded; therefore, no asset information is reported.

The fair value of the Company’s pension plan assets at December 31, 2021 and 2020, by asset category are as follows 
(in millions):

Asset Category Total

Quoted Prices 
in Active

Markets for 
Identical 

Assets
(Level 1)

Quoted Prices 
in Active

Market for 
Similar Asset

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs
(Level 3)

Investments 
Priced

Using Net 
Asset Value

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8.9 $ 8.9 $ — $ — $ —

Equity securities:

Equity Mutual Funds 31.7 31.7 — — —

Common Pooled Equity Funds(a) 123.3 — 123.3 — —

Fixed Income Securities:

U.S. Treasuries 55.0 — 55.0 — —

State and Local Municipal Bonds 6.2 — 6.2 — —

Sovereign Debt 7.1 — 7.1 — —

Corporate Bonds(b) 141.6 — 141.6 — —

Fixed Income Mutual Funds 55.5 55.5 — — —

Common Pooled Fixed Income Funds(c) 306.3 — 275.2 — 31.1

Alternative Investment Funds(d) 7.1 — — — 7.1

Common Pooled Funds(e) 22.9 0.5 22.4 — —

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2021 $ 765.6 $ 96.6 $ 630.8 $ — $ 38.2

Item 8 Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data

PART II



65HUBBELL INCORPORATED I Form 10-K

2PART II
Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Asset Category Total

Quoted Prices 
in Active

Markets for 
Identical 

Assets
(Level 1)

Quoted Prices 
in Active

Market for 
Similar Asset

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs
(Level 3)

Investments 
Priced

Using Net 
Asset Value

Cash and cash equivalents $ 26.6 $ 26.6 $ — $ — $ —

Equity securities:

Equity Mutual Funds 29.8 29.8 — — —

Common Pooled Equity Funds(a) 153.9 — 153.9 — —

Fixed Income Securities:

U.S. Treasuries 52.0 — 52.0 — —

State and Local Municipal Bonds 9.3 — 9.3 — —

Sovereign Debt 9.3 — 9.3 — —

Corporate Bonds(b) 145.1 — 145.1 — —

Fixed Income Mutual Funds 59.9 59.9 — — —

Common Pooled Fixed Income Funds(c) 279.4 — 279.4 — —

Alternative Investment Funds(d) 14.3 — — — 14.3

Common Pooled Funds(e) 25.5 0.5 25.0 — —

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2020 $ 805.1 $ 116.8 $ 674.0 $ — $ 14.3

(a) Investments in Common Pooled Equity Funds, including funds and fund products investing in various equity securities.
(b) Includes primarily investment grade bonds from diverse industries.
(c) Investments in Common Pooled Fixed Income Funds, including funds and fund products investing in various fixed income investments.
(d) Includes investments in hedge funds, including fund of funds products and open end mutual funds.
(e) Investments in Common Pooled Funds, consisting of equities and fixed income securities.

Investments priced using Net Asset Value (“NAV”) within 
Alternative Investment Funds and Common Pooled Fixed 
Income Funds in the preceding tables consist of fund 
of fund products. These products invest in a number 
of investment funds managed by a diversified group of 
third-party investment managers who employ a variety 
of investment strategies, including relative value, security 
selection, distressed value, global macro, specialized credit 
and directional strategies. The objective of these funds is to 
achieve the desired capital appreciation or fixed income as 
applicable with lower volatility than either traditional equity 
or fixed income securities.

Contributions 
In 2021, there were no contributions to the Company’s 
U.S. qualified plans required by the Pension Protection 
Act of 2006. The Company contributed $0.1 million to its 
foreign qualified plans in 2021. The Company entered into a 
settlement agreement with a multi-employer pension plan in 
December of 2019 and, pursuant to that agreement, made a 
$10.0 million cash payment in 2019, $6.0 million cash payment 
in 2020, and $5.0 million cash payment in 2021, according to 
the terms of that settlement agreement.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments 
The following domestic and foreign benefit payments, which 
reflect future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid 
as follows, (in millions):

Pension 
Benefits

Other 
Benefits

2022 $ 55.1 $ 1.7

2023 $ 55.4 $ 1.6

2024 $ 55.4 $ 1.5

2025 $ 55.6 $ 1.4

2026 $ 55.8 $ 1.3

2027-2031 $ 263.9 $ 5.6
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NOTE 13 Debt 
The following table sets forth the Company’s long-term debt 
at December 31, (in millions):

Maturity 2021 2020

Senior notes at 3.625% 2022 $ — $ 299.2

Senior notes at 3.35% 2026 397.2 396.5

Senior notes at 3.15% 2027 297.0 296.4

Senior notes at 3.50% 2028 445.5 444.8

Senior notes at 2.300% 2031 295.8 —

TOTAL LONG-TERM DEBT(a) $ 1,435.5 $ 1,436.9

(a) Long-term debt is presented net of debt issuance costs and 
unamortized discounts.

On March 12, 2021, the Company, as borrower, and its 
subsidiaries Hubbell Power Holdings S.à r.l. and Harvey 
Hubbell Holdings S.à r.l., each as a subsidiary borrower 
(collectively, the “Subsidiary Borrowers”), entered into a new 
five-year credit agreement with a syndicate of lenders and 
JPMorgan Chase, N.A., as administrative agent, that provides 
a $750 million committed revolving credit facility (the “2021 
Credit Facility”). Commitments under the 2021 Credit Facility 
may be increased to an aggregate amount not to exceed 
$1.25 billion. The 2021 Credit Facility includes a $50 million 
sub-limit for the issuance of letters of credit. The sum of the 
dollar amount of loans and letters of credits to the Subsidiary 
Borrowers under the 2021 Credit Facility may not exceed 
$75 million.

The interest rate applicable to borrowings under the 2021 
Credit Facility is either (i) the alternate base rate (as defined 
in the Revolving Credit Agreement) or (ii) the adjusted LIBOR 
rate (as defined in the 2021 Credit Facility) plus, in the case of 
this clause (ii), an applicable margin based on the Company’s 
credit ratings. All revolving loans outstanding under the 2021 
Credit Facility will be due and payable on March 12, 2026.

The 2021 Credit Facility contains a financial covenant 
requiring that, as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, the 
ratio of total indebtedness to total capitalization shall not be 
greater than 65%. The Company was in compliance with this 
covenant as of December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2021, 
the 2021 Credit Facility was undrawn.

In connection with entry into the 2021 Credit Facility, the 
Company terminated all commitments under the existing 
credit facility dated as of January 31, 2018.

On March 12, 2021, the Company completed a public offering of 
$300 million aggregate principal amount of its 2.300% Senior 
Notes due 2031 (the “2031 Notes”). The net proceeds from the 
offering were approximately $295.5 million after deducting 
the underwriting discount and estimated offering expenses 
payable by the Company. The Company used the net proceeds 
from the offering of the 2031 Notes, together with cash on 
hand, to redeem in full all of the Company’s outstanding 3.625% 
Senior Notes due 2022 in an aggregate principal amount of 
$300 million, which had a stated maturity date of November 15, 
2022 (the “2022 Notes”), and to pay any premium and accrued 

interest in respect thereof, which redemption was completed 
on April 2, 2021. The redemption resulted in a $16.8 million 
loss on extinguishment of indebtedness that was recognized 
in the second quarter of 2021. The loss on extinguishment 
includes a cash premium of $16.0 million paid upon redemption 
in accordance with the terms of the 2022 Notes.

The 2031 Notes bear interest at a rate of 2.300% per annum 
from March 12, 2021. Interest on the 2031 Notes is payable 
semi-annually in arrears on March 15 and September 15 of 
each year, beginning on September 15, 2021. The 2031 Notes 
will mature on March 15, 2031.

The 2031 Notes are callable at any time with a make whole 
premium and are only subject to accelerated payment prior to 
maturity in the event of a default (including as a result of the 
Company’s failure to meet certain non-financial covenants) 
under the indenture governing the notes or upon a change 
in control triggering event as defined in such indenture. The 
Company was in compliance with all non-financial covenants 
as of December 31, 2021.

In February 2018, the Company completed a public offering of 
$450 million of senior, unsecured, notes maturing in February 
2028 and bearing interest at a fixed rate of 3.50% (the “2028 
Notes”). Net proceeds from the issuance of the 2028 Notes 
were $442.6 million after deducting the discount on such 
notes and offering expenses paid by the Company. The 2028 
Notes are callable at any time at specified prices and are 
only subject to accelerated payment prior to maturity upon 
customary events of a default under the indenture governing 
the 2028 Notes, as modified by the supplemental indenture 
creating such notes, or upon a change in control triggering 
event as defined in such indenture.

In August 2017, the Company completed a public 
debt offering of $300 million of long-term unsecured, 
unsubordinated notes maturing in August 2027 and 
bearing interest at a fixed rate of 3.15% (the “2027 Notes”). 
Net proceeds from the issuance were $294.6 million after 
deducting the discount on the notes and offering expenses 
paid by the Company. 

In March 2016, the Company completed a public debt offering 
of $400 million of long-term unsecured, unsubordinated 
notes maturing in March 2026 and bearing interest at a fixed 
rate of 3.35% (the “2026 Notes”). Net proceeds from the 
issuance were $393.4 million after deducting the discount 
on the notes and offering expenses paid by the Company.

The 2026 Notes, 2027 Notes, 2028 Notes and 2031 Notes, 
are all fixed rate indebtedness, are callable at any time with 
a make whole premium and are only subject to accelerated 
payment prior to maturity in the event of a default (including 
as a result of the Company’s failure to meet certain non-
financial covenants) under the indenture governing the notes, 
as modified by the supplemental indentures creating such 
notes, or upon a change in control triggering event as defined 
in such indenture. The Company was in compliance with all 
non-financial covenants as of December 31, 2021.
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At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had $9.7 
million and $153.1 million, respectively, of short-term debt 
outstanding composed of:

	z $150.0 million of commercial paper borrowings outstanding 
at December 31, 2020.  There was no commercial paper 
borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2021.

	z $1.6 million at December 31, 2021 and $3.1 million at 
December 31, 2020, respectively, of borrowings to support 
our international operations in China as well as $8.1 million 
of other short term debt at December 31, 2021 to support 
operations.

Other information related to short-term debt at December 31, 
is summarized below:

2021 2020

Weighted average interest rate on 
short-term debt:

At year end 2.98% 0.32%

The Company also maintains other lines of credit that are 
primarily used to support the issuance of letters of credit. 
Interest rates and other terms of borrowing under these lines 
of credit vary from country to country, depending on local 
market conditions. At December 31, 2021 and 2020 these 
lines totaled $30.0 million and $32.1 million, respectively, of 
which $23.2 million and $19.3 million was utilized to support 
letters of credit and the remaining amount was unused. The 
annual commitment fees associated with these lines of credit 
are not material.

Interest and fees paid related to total indebtedness was $65.6 
million, $54.4 million and $62.8 million in 2021, 2020 and 
2019, respectively. The $65.6 million paid in 2021 includes 
$16.0 million related to the make whole payment for the 
extinguishment of the 2022 Notes.

NOTE 14 Income Taxes 
The following table sets forth selected data with respect to the Company’s income tax provisions of continuing operations 
for the years ended December 31, (in millions): 

2021 2020 2019

Income before income taxes:

United States $ 347.5 $ 340.7 $ 345.2

International 111.8 83.8 124.0

TOTAL INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES $ 459.3 $ 424.5 $ 469.2

Provision for income taxes — current:

Federal $ 43.3 $ 56.3 $ 57.9

State 13.0 15.1 14.2

International 22.7 17.0 25.1

Total provision — current 79.0 88.4 97.2

Provision for income taxes — deferred:

Federal 8.8 1.5 7.6

State 1.9 0.2 (0.7)

International (1.5) (0.3) (2.9)

Total provision — deferred 9.2 1.4 4.0

TOTAL PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES $ 88.2 $ 89.8 $ 101.2
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from differences in the basis of assets and liabilities for tax and financial statement 
purposes. The components of the deferred tax assets/(liabilities) of continuing operations at December 31, were as follows 
(in millions):

2021 2020

Deferred tax assets:

Inventories $ 10.2 $ 7.7

Lease liabilities 20.5 24.6

Income tax credits 22.8 21.1

Accrued liabilities 38.5 40.5

Pension 43.1 48.4

Basis difference in subsidiary 25.1 —

Post retirement and post employment benefits 4.9 6.0

Stock-based compensation 6.7 7.3

Loss carryforwards 17.3 20.5

Miscellaneous other 17.0 17.0

Gross deferred tax assets 206.1 193.1

Valuation allowance (32.6) (29.5)

Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 173.5 163.6

Deferred tax liabilities:

Liability on undistributed foreign earnings (7.9) (9.6)

Goodwill and intangibles (205.2) (207.2)

Right-of-use assets (19.5) (23.9)

Property, plant, and equipment (50.4) (44.6)

Total deferred tax liabilities (283.0) (285.3)

TOTAL NET DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY $ (109.5) $ (121.7)

Deferred taxes are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as follows:

Non-current tax assets (included in Other long-term assets) 5.2 5.1

Non-current tax liabilities (included in Other Non-Current Liabilities) (114.7) (126.8)

TOTAL NET DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY $ (109.5) $ (121.7)

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had a total of $22.8 
million of U.S. federal, state (net of federal benefit) and 
foreign tax credit carryforwards, available to offset future 
income taxes. As of December 31, 2021, $16.6 million of the 
tax credits may be carried forward indefinitely while the 
remaining $6.2 million will begin to expire at various times in 
2022 through 2036. As of December 31, 2021, the Company 
had recorded tax benefits totaling $16.7 million for U.S. 
federal, state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards 
(“NOLs”). As of December 31, 2021, $7.1 million of NOLs may 
be carried forward indefinitely while the remaining $9.5 
million will begin to expire at various times in 2022 through 
2040. The tax benefit related to a portion of these NOLs has 
been adjusted to reflect an “ownership change” pursuant to 
Internal Revenue Code Section 382, which imposes an annual 
limitation on the utilization of pre-acquisition operating 
losses. The Company has recorded a net valuation allowance 
of $32.6 million on certain deferred tax assets including a 
portion of foreign and state tax credit carryforwards, capital 
loss carryforwards and NOLs that the Company anticipates 
will expire prior to utilization. 

During 2019, the Company repatriated certain of its foreign 
earnings. As of December 31, 2021, the Company also 
anticipates repatriating certain of its foreign earnings in the 
future. The accompanying financial statements reflect the 
income tax expense associated with actual and anticipated 
remittances related to certain of our outside basis differences.  
The Company has not provided for the income tax effects 
of distributing the remaining approximately $370 million of 
undistributed foreign earnings as those amounts are either 
permanently reinvested or intended to be reinvested in our 
international operations. It is not practicable to estimate the 
tax cost associated with a remittance of such earnings. 

Cash payments of income taxes were $84.0 million, $96.2 
million and $91.9 million in 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.
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The Company operates within multiple taxing jurisdictions 
and is subject to audit in these jurisdictions. The IRS and 
other tax authorities routinely audit the Company’s tax 
returns. These audits can involve complex issues which may 
require an extended period of time to resolve. The Company 
is currently under U.S. federal examination for 2017 and 2018. 
With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to 
state, local, or income tax examinations by tax authorities for 
years prior to 2017.

The following tax years, by major jurisdiction, are still subject 
to examination by taxing authorities: 

Jurisdiction Open Years

United States 2017-2021

UK 2019-2021

Puerto Rico 2017-2021

Canada 2017-2021

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in millions): 

2021 2020 2019

Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year $ 47.6 $ 41.9 $ 38.9

Additions based on tax positions relating to the current year 6.1 7.4 7.0

Reductions based on expiration of statute of limitations (10.3) (6.2) (5.2)

Additions/(Subtractions) to tax positions relating to previous years (2.2) 4.5 1.6

Settlements — — (0.4)

TOTAL UNRECOGNIZED TAX BENEFITS $ 41.2 $ 47.6 $ 41.9

Included in the balance at December 31, 2021 are 
approximately $36.2 million of tax positions which, if in the 
future are determined to be recognizable, would affect the 
annual effective income tax rate. Additionally, there are $0.9 
million of tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility 
is highly certain but for which there is uncertainty as to 
the timing of such deductibility. Because of the impact of 
deferred tax accounting, other than interest and penalties, 
the disallowance of the shorter deductibility period would 
not affect the annual effective tax rate but would accelerate 
the payment of cash to the applicable taxing authority to an 
earlier period. It is reasonably possible that in the next twelve 
months, because of changes in facts and circumstances, the 
unrecognized tax benefits may increase or decrease. 

The Company estimates a possible decrease of approximately  
$5 million to $14 million within the next twelve months due 
to the expiration of the statute of limitations and audit 
resolutions.

The Company’s policy is to record interest and penalties 
associated with the underpayment of income taxes within 
Provision for income taxes in the Consolidated Statement of 
Income. The Company recognized expense, before federal 
tax impact, related to interest and penalties of approximately 
$0.3 million in 2021, $0.2 million in 2020 and $0.1 million in 
2019. The Company had $7.6 million and $7.3 million accrued 
for the payment of interest and penalties as of December 31, 
2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

The consolidated effective income tax rate varied from the United States federal statutory income tax rate of continuing 
operations for the years ended December 31, as follows:

2021 2020 2019

Federal statutory income tax rate 21.0% 21.0% 21.0%

State income taxes, net of federal benefit 2.5 2.9 2.3

Foreign income taxes (0.5) (0.2) (0.8)

Federal R&D Credit (1.4) (1.3) (1.0)

Other, net (2.4) (1.2) 0.1

CONSOLIDATED EFFECTIVE INCOME TAX RATE 19.2% 21.2% 21.6%

The foreign income tax benefit shown is primarily due to lower statutory rates in foreign jurisdictions compared to the Federal 
statutory income tax rate. 
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NOTE 15 Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement

Financial Instruments
Concentrations of Credit Risk: Financial instruments which 
potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations 
of credit risk consist of trade receivables, cash equivalents and 
investments. The Company grants credit terms in the normal 
course of business to its customers. Due to the diversity of 
its product lines, the Company has an extensive customer 
base including electrical distributors and wholesalers, electric 
utilities, equipment manufacturers, electrical contractors, 
telecommunication companies and retail and hardware 
outlets. We are not dependent on a single customer, however, 
the Company’s top ten customers account for approximately 
42% of its Net sales. As part of its ongoing procedures, the 
Company monitors the credit worthiness of its customers. 
Bad debt write-offs have historically been minimal. The 
Company places its cash and cash equivalents with financial 
institutions and limits the amount of exposure in any one 
institution.

At December 31, 2021 our accounts receivable balance 
was $675.3 million, net of allowances of $10.6 million. The 
allowance for doubtful accounts has not materially changed 
since December 31, 2020.

Fair Value: The carrying amounts reported in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet for cash and cash equivalents, short-term 
investments, receivables, bank borrowings, accounts 

payable and accruals approximate their fair values given 
the immediate or short-term nature of these items. See also 
Note 8 — Investments.

Fair value measurements
At December 31, 2021 and 2020 the Company had $78.5 million 
and $80.4 million respectively, of investments carried on the 
balance sheet at fair value. Fair value is defined as the amount 
that would be received for selling an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. The FASB fair value measurement 
guidance established a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes 
the inputs used to measure fair value. Refer to Note 8 — 
Investments for more information about these investments.

The three broad levels of the fair value hierarchy are as 
follows:

Level 1 –  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 –  Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in 
active markets or inputs that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 –  Unobservable inputs for which little or no market 
data exists, therefore requiring a company to 
develop its own assumptions

The following tables show, by level within the fair value hierarchy, the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are 
accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in millions):

Asset (Liability)

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 
(Level 1)

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets 

for Similar Assets 
(Level 2)

Unobservable inputs 
for which little or no 

market data exists 
(Level 3) Total

Money market funds(a) $ 58.5 $ — $ — $ 58.5

Available for sale investments — 54.0 — 54.0

Trading securities 24.5 — — 24.5

Deferred compensation plan liabilities (24.5) — — (24.5)

Derivatives:

Forward exchange contracts-Assets(b) — 0.5 — 0.5

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2021 $ 58.5 $ 54.5 $ — $ 113.0

Money market funds(a) $ 26.6 $ — $ — $ 26.6

Available-for-sale investments — 57.7 — 57.7

Trading securities 22.7 — — 22.7

Deferred compensation plan liabilities (22.7) — — (22.7)

Derivatives:

Forward exchange contracts-(Liabilities)(c) — (0.8) — (0.8)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2020 $ 26.6 $ 56.9 $ — $ 83.5

(a) Money market funds and time deposits are included in Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
(b) Forward exchange contracts-Assets are reflected in Other current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
(c) Forward exchange contracts-(Liabilities) are reflected in Other accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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The methods and assumptions used to estimate the Level 2 
fair values were as follows:

Forward exchange contracts – The fair value of forward 
exchange contracts were based on quoted forward foreign 
exchange prices at the reporting date.

Available-for-sale municipal bonds classified in Level 2 – The 
fair value of available-for-sale investments in municipal bonds 
is based on observable market-based inputs, other than 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. 

Deferred compensation plan
The Company offers certain employees the opportunity to 
participate in non-qualified deferred compensation plans. A 
participant’s deferrals are invested in a variety of participant-
directed debt and equity mutual funds that are classified 
as trading securities. During 2021 and 2020, the Company 

purchased $2.7 million and $3.0 million, respectively, of 
trading securities related to these deferred compensation 
plans. As a result of participant distributions, the Company 
sold $3.6 million and $2.0 million of these trading securities in 
2021 and 2020 respectively. The unrealized gains and losses 
associated with these trading securities are directly offset 
by the changes in the fair value of the underlying deferred 
compensation plan obligation.

Long-term Debt 
As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the carrying 
value of long-term debt, net of unamortized discount and 
debt issuance costs, was $1,435.5 million and $1,436.9 million, 
respectively. The estimated fair value of the long-term debt as 
of December 31, 2021 and  December 31, 2020 was $1,524.5 
million and $1,569.5 million, respectively, using quoted market 
prices in active markets for similar liabilities (Level 2).

NOTE 16 Commitments and Contingencies

Legal and Environmental
The Company is subject to various legal proceedings arising in 
the normal course of its business. These proceedings include 
claims for damages arising out of use of the Company’s 
products, intellectual property, workers’ compensation and 
environmental matters.  The Company is self-insured up to 
specified limits for certain types of claims, including product 
liability and workers’ compensation, and is fully self-insured 
for certain other types of claims, including environmental 
and intellectual property matters. The Company recognizes a 
liability for any contingency that in management’s judgment 
is probable of occurrence and can be reasonably estimated. 
We continually reassess the likelihood of adverse judgments 
and outcomes in these matters, as well as estimated ranges of 
possible losses based upon an analysis of each matter which 
includes advice of outside legal counsel and, if applicable, 
other experts.

The Company is subject to environmental laws and regulations 
which may require that it investigate and remediate the 
effects of potential contamination associated with past 
and present operations as well as those acquired through 
business combinations. Environmental liabilities are recorded 
when remedial efforts are probable and the costs can be 
reasonably estimated. The Company continues to monitor 
these environmental matters and revalues its liabilities as 
necessary. Total environmental liabilities were $6.4 million and 
$7.6 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The Company accounts for conditional asset retirement 
and environmental obligations in accordance with the 
applicable accounting guidance. The accounting guidance 
defines “conditional asset retirement obligation” as a legal 
obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which 
the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on 
a future event that may or may not be within the control of 
the Company. Accordingly, an entity is required to recognize 
a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement 
obligation if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably 
estimated. Asset retirement obligations were not material as 
of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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NOTE 17 Capital Stock
Activity in the Company’s common shares outstanding is set forth below for the three years ended December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

Common Stock

OUTSTANDING AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 54,715

Exercise of stock appreciation rights 84

Director compensation arrangements, net 10

Restricted/performance shares activity, net of forfeitures 39

Acquisition/surrender of shares (334)

OUTSTANDING AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 54,514

Exercise of stock appreciation rights 87

Director compensation arrangements, net 9

Restricted/performance shares activity, net of forfeitures 132

Acquisition/surrender of shares (359)

OUTSTANDING AT DECEMBER 31, 2020 54,383

Exercise of stock appreciation rights 147

Director compensation arrangements, net 7

Restricted/performance shares activity, net of forfeitures 101

Acquisition/surrender of shares (120)

OUTSTANDING AT DECEMBER 31, 2021 54,518

For accounting purposes, the Company treats repurchased shares as constructively retired when acquired and accordingly   charges 
the purchase price against Common Stock par value, Additional paid-in capital and Retained earnings to the extent required. 
Shares may be repurchased through the Company’s stock repurchase program, acquired by the Company from employees 
or surrendered to the Company by employees in settlement of their minimum tax liability on vesting of restricted shares and 
performance shares under the Hubbell Incorporated 2005 Incentive Award Plan as amended and restated, (the “Award Plan”). 

Shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved at December 31, 2021 as follows (in thousands): 

Common Stock

Future grant of stock-based compensation 1,684

Shares reserved under other equity compensation plans 139

TOTAL 1,823

NOTE 18 Stock-Based Compensation 
As of December 31, 2021, the Company had various stock-
based awards outstanding which were issued to executives 
and other key employees. The Company recognizes the 
grant-date fair value of all stock-based awards to employees 
over their respective requisite service periods (generally 
equal to an award’s vesting period), net of estimated 
forfeitures. A stock-based award is considered vested 
for expense attribution purposes when the employee’s 
retention of the award is no longer contingent on providing 
subsequent service. For those awards that vest immediately 
upon retirement eligibility, the Company recognizes 
compensation cost immediately for retirement-eligible 
individuals or over the period from the grant date to the 
date retirement eligibility is achieved, if less than the stated 
vesting period.

The Company’s long-term incentive program for awarding 
stock-based compensation includes a combination of 
restricted stock, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), and 
performance shares of the Company’s common stock 
pursuant to the Award Plan. Under the Award Plan, the 
Company may authorize up to 9.7 million shares of common 
stock to settle awards of restricted stock, performance 
shares, or SARs. The Company issues new shares to settle 
stock-based awards. In 2021, the Company’s grant of 
stock-based awards included restricted stock, SARs and 
performance shares.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized by the 
Company was $17.5 million in 2021, $21.9 million in 2020 and 
$14.5 million in 2019, and was lower in 2019 as the Company 
shifted the timing of its annual grant from the fourth quarter 
of 2019 to the first quarter of 2020. The total income tax 
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benefit recognized was $3.2 million in 2021, $3.2 million in 
2020, and $2.2 million in 2019. The net tax windfall recorded 
as a result of exercise or vesting (depending on the type 
of award) was $6.8 million, $3.4 million, and $3.3 million 
in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. As of December 31, 
2021, there was $18.7 million, pretax, of total unrecognized 
compensation cost related to non-vested share-based 
compensation arrangements. This cost is expected to be 
primarily recognized through 2024. 

Stock-based compensation expense is recorded in S&A 
expense as well as Cost of goods sold. Of the total 2021 
expense, $15.8 million was recorded to S&A expense and 
$1.7 million was recorded to Cost of goods sold. In 2020 
and 2019, $20.4 million and $13.5 million, respectively, was 
recorded to S&A expense and $1.5 million and $1.0 million, 
respectively, was recorded to Cost of goods sold. Stock-
based compensation costs capitalized to inventory was $0.4 
million in 2021, $0.4 million in 2020 and $0.2 million in 2019. 

Each of the compensation arrangements is discussed below.

Restricted Stock
The Company issues various types of restricted stock awards 
all of which are considered outstanding at the time of grant, 
as the award holders are entitled to dividends and voting 
rights. Unvested restricted stock awards are considered 
participating securities when computing earnings per share. 
Restricted stock grants are not transferable and are subject 
to forfeiture in the event of the recipient’s termination of 
employment prior to vesting.

Restricted Stock Issued to Employees — Service 
Condition 
Restricted stock awards that vest based upon a service 
condition are expensed on a straight-line basis over the 
requisite service period. These awards generally vest in three 
equal installments on each of the first three anniversaries 
of the grant date, however starting in December 2018 the 
Company granted a certain number of these awards that vest 
on the third year anniversary of the grant date. The fair value 
of these awards is measured by the average of the high and 
low trading prices of the Company’s common stock on the 
most recent trading day immediately preceding the grant 
date (“measurement date”).

Restricted Stock Issued to Employees — Market 
Condition
The Company granted certain restricted stock awards that 
vest subject to the achievement of a market-based condition 
(referred to as performance based restricted stock, or PBRS).  
These awards were granted to certain employees in 2017. 
No PBRS awards were granted since 2017. PBRS awards are 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 
period which starts on the date of the grant and ends upon the 
completion of the performance period. Expense is recognized 
irrespective of the market condition being achieved.

PBRS awards are earned if the Company’s relative TSR 
performance over a three year period is equal to or exceeds 
the 20th percentile as compared to the TSR of other companies 
in the S&P Capital Goods 900 Index, and service through the 
requisite service period or the retirement-eligibility date.  If 
this market-based condition is achieved, the awards will vest 
at 100% of the number of awards granted. If the market-based 
condition is not achieved the awards will not vest. The fair value 
of these awards was determined based upon a lattice model.

The three year performance period for awards granted in 2017 
ended on December 31, 2020. The performance condition 
was met and approximately 18,100 shares vested and were 
approved by the Compensation Committee in February 2021. 
The fair value of the shares at vesting was approximately 
$3.0 million.

Restricted Stock Issued to Non-employee 
Directors
In 2021, 2020 and 2019, each non-employee director received 
a restricted stock grant. These grants are made on the date of 
the annual meeting of shareholders and vest at the following 
year’s annual meeting of shareholders, or upon certain other 
events. The grant is subject to forfeiture if the director’s 
service terminates prior to the date of the next regularly 
scheduled annual meeting of shareholders. During 2021, 2020 
and 2019, the Company granted 6,741 shares, 7,413 shares, 
and 8,216 shares, respectively, to non-employee directors.

Restricted Stock Issued to Employees and Non-employee Directors
Activity related to both employee and non-employee restricted stock for the year ended December 31, 2021 is as follows (in 
thousands, except per share amounts):

Shares
Weighted Average Grant 

Date Fair Value/Share

RESTRICTED STOCK AT DECEMBER 31, 2020 222 $ 124.77

Shares granted 77 166.46

Shares vested (103) 122.76

Shares forfeited (12) 139.98

RESTRICTED STOCK AT DECEMBER 31, 2021 184 $ 141.99

The weighted average fair value per share of restricted stock granted in 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $166.46, $145.48 and 
$127.89, respectively. The total fair value of restricted stock vested in 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $12.6 million, $7.8 million and 
$8.9 million, respectively.
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Stock Appreciation Rights
SARs grant the holder the right to receive, once vested, the value in shares of the Company’s common stock equal to the 
positive difference between the grant price, as determined using the mean of the high and low trading prices of the Company’s 
common stock on the measurement date, and the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of exercise. 
This amount is payable in shares of the Company’s common stock. SARs vest and become exercisable in three equal installments 
during the first three years following the grant date and expire ten years from the grant date.

Activity related to SARs for the year ended December 31, 2021 is as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Number 
of Rights

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value

OUTSTANDING AT DECEMBER 31, 2020 1,383 $ 119.37

Granted 188 163.89

Exercised (636) 112.50

Forfeited (26) 141.69

Canceled (2) 110.15

OUTSTANDING AT DECEMBER 31, 2021 907 $ 132.78 7.1 years $ 68,458

EXERCISABLE AT DECEMBER 31, 2021 540 $ 118.30 6.0 years $ 48,567

The aggregated intrinsic value of SARs exercised during 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $46.8 million, $20.2 million and $17.8 million, 
respectively.

The fair value of each SAR award was measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 

The following table summarizes the weighted-average assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the SARs granted 
during the years 2021, 2020 and 2019:

Grant Date

Expected 
Dividend 

Yield
Expected 
Volatility

Risk Free 
Interest Rate

Expected 
Term

Weighted Avg.  
Grant Date Fair  
Value of 1 SAR

2021 2.4% 26.5% 0.6% 5.5 years $ 29.58

2020 2.5% 23.5% 1.3% 5.5 years $ 24.52

2019 2.7% 22.7% 1.8% 5.5 years $ 21.25

The expected dividend yield was calculated by dividing the 
Company’s expected annual dividend by the average stock 
price for the past three months. Expected volatilities are 
based on historical volatilities of the Company’s stock for 
a period consistent with the expected term. The expected 
term of SARs granted was based upon historical exercise 
behavior of SARs. The risk-free interest rate is based on the 
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for the 
expected term of the award.

Performance Shares
Performance shares represent the right to receive a share of 
the Company’s common stock subject to the achievement of 
certain market or performance conditions established by the 
Company’s Compensation Committee and measured over a 
three year period. Partial vesting in these awards may occur 
after separation from the Company for retirement eligible 
employees. Shares are not vested until approved by the 
Company’s Compensation Committee.

Performance Shares — Performance and Market 
Conditions
In February 2020 and December 2018, the Company granted 
63,868 and 60,008 shares, respectively that will vest subject 
to a performance condition and service requirement. The 
number of shares vested is then modified by a market 
condition as described below.

Thirty-four percent of shares granted will vest based on 
Hubbell’s compounded annual growth rate of Net sales as 
compared to that of the companies that comprise the S&P 
Capital Goods 900 index. Thirty-three percent of shares 
granted will vest based on achieved operating margin 
performance as compared to internal targets, and thirty-
three percent of shares granted will vest based on achieved 
trade working capital as a percent of Net sales as compared 
to internal targets. Each of these performance conditions 
is measured over the same three-year performance period. 
The cumulative result of these performance conditions can 
result in a number of shares earned in the range of 0% - 200% 
of the target number of shares granted. That cumulative 
performance achieved is then further modified based on the 
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Company’s three year TSR relative to the companies that 
constitute the S&P Capital Goods 900 index, to potentially 
increase or reduce the shares earned by a multiple of up to 
1.5 or 1.2, depending on the award year.  

The fair value of the award was determined based upon a lattice 
model. The Company expenses these awards on a straight-
line basis over the requisite service period which includes an 
assessment of the performance achieved to date. The weighted 
average fair value per share was $151.78 for the awards granted 
in 2020 and $98.80 for the awards granted in 2018.  

Grant Date

Shares 
Outstanding 

at 12/31/2021
Fair

Value
Performance 

Period
Payout 
Range

2020 46,374 $ 151.78 Jan 2020-Dec 2022 0-200% +up to a multiple of 150x

2018 40,623 $ 98.80 Jan 2019-Dec 2021 0-200% +up to a multiple of 120x

Performance Shares — Market Condition
In February 2021, approximately 16,100 shares vested related to 
the performance awards granted in December 2017 and were 
approved by the Compensation Committee. The performance 
period associated with this award was from January 1, 
2018 through December 31, 2020 and was based upon the 
Company’s TSR compared to the TSR generated by the other 
companies that comprise the S&P Capital Goods 900 index. 
The number of shares vested in February 2021 was based upon 
achieving 87% of the market based criteria and the fair value 
of the awards at vesting was approximately $2.6  million.

In February 2021, the Company granted 15,741 performance 
shares that will vest subject to a market condition and service 
condition through the performance period. The market 

condition associated with the awards is the Company’s total 
shareholder return (“TSR”) compared to the TSR generated by 
the companies that comprise the S&P Capital Goods 900 index 
over a three year performance period. Performance at target 
will result in vesting and issuance of the number of performance 
shares granted, equal to 100% payout. Performance below or 
above target can result in issuance in the range of 0%-200% 
of the number of shares granted. Expense is recognized 
irrespective of the market condition being achieved.

The fair value of the performance share awards with a 
market condition for the 2021 grant was determined based 
upon a lattice model. The following table summarizes the 
related assumptions used to determine the fair values of the 
performance share awards with a market condition granted 
during February 2021:

Grant Date

Stock Price on 
Measurement 

Date
Dividend 

Yield
Expected 
Volatility

Risk Free 
Interest 

Rate
Expected 

Term

Weighted Avg. 
Grant Date  
Fair Value

February 2021 $ 163.26 2.4% 40.6% 0.2% 3 years $ 198.89

Expected volatilities are based on historical volatilities of the 
Company’s and members of the peer group’s stock over a 
three year period. The risk free interest rate is based on the 
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant for 
the expected term of the award.

Performance Shares - Performance Condition
In February 2021, the Company granted 31,543 performance 
shares that will vest subject to an internal Company-based 
performance condition and service requirement. 

Fifty percent of these performance shares granted will vest 
based on Hubbell’s compounded annual growth rate of Net sales 
as compared to that of the companies that comprise the S&P 
Capital Goods 900 index. Fifty percent of these performance 

shares granted will vest based on achieved operating profit 
margin performance as compared to internal targets. Each 
of these performance conditions is measured over the same 
three-year performance period. The cumulative result of these 
performance conditions can result in a number of shares earned 
in the range of 0%-200% of the target number of shares granted.

The fair value of the award is measured based upon the 
average of the high and low trading prices of the Company’s 
common stock on the measurement date reduced by the 
present value of dividends expected to be paid during the 
requisite service period. The Company expenses these awards 
on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period and 
including an assessment of the performance achieved to date. 
The weighted average fair value per share was $151.92 for the 
awards granted in 2021.

Grant Date
Fair 

Value
Performance 

Period
Payout 
Range

February 2021 $ 151.92 Jan 2021-Dec 2023 0-200%

In December 2017 the Company granted 24,675 performance 
shares that were subject to a performance condition and 
service requirement during the performance period of three 
years. The performance condition associated with the awards 
was based on the Company’s relative sales growth compared 
to the relative sales growth of the companies of a reference 
index, further adjusted by the Company achieving a target 
net income margin, each measured over the same three year 

performance period. Performance at target results in vesting 
and a number of shares earned equal to 100% of shares granted. 
Performance below or above target results in a number of 
shares earned in the range of 0%-250% of shares granted. 
During 2021, approximately 25,000 shares vested as a result 
of the achievement of the performance metrics, and the fair 
value of the awards at vesting was approximately $4.8 million.
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NOTE 19 Earnings Per Share
The Company computes earnings per share using the two-class method, which is an earnings allocation formula that determines 
earnings per share for common stock and participating securities. Restricted stock granted by the Company is considered a 
participating security since it contains a non-forfeitable right to dividends.

The following table sets forth the computation of earnings per share for the three years ended December 31 (in millions, 
except per share amounts):

2021 2020 2019

Numerator:

Net income from continuing operations attributable to Hubbell Incorporated $ 365.0 $ 330.0 $ 361.5

Less: Earnings allocated to participating securities (1.1) (1.1) (1.3)

Net income from continuing operations available to common shareholders $ 363.9 $ 328.9 $ 360.2

Net income from discontinued operations attributable to Hubbell Incorporated $ 34.5 $ 21.2 $ 39.4

Less: Earnings allocated to participating securities (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)

Net income from discontinued operations available to common shareholders $ 34.4 $ 21.1 $ 39.3

Net income attributable to Hubbell Incorporated $ 399.5 $ 351.2 $ 400.9

Less: Earnings allocated to participating securities (1.2) (1.2) (1.4)

Net income available to common shareholders $ 398.3 $ 350.0 $ 399.5

Denominator:
Average number of common shares outstanding 54.3 54.2 54.4

Potential dilutive shares 0.4 0.3 0.3

Average number of diluted shares outstanding 54.7 54.5 54.7

Basic earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 6.70 $ 6.07 $ 6.63

Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations $ 0.63 $ 0.39 $ 0.72

Basic earnings per share $ 7.33 $ 6.46 $ 7.35

Diluted earnings per share:
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 6.66 $ 6.04 $ 6.59

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations $ 0.62 $ 0.39 $ 0.72

Diluted earnings per share $ 7.28 $ 6.43 $ 7.31

The Company did not have any significant anti-dilutive securities in 2021, 2020 or 2019.
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NOTE 20 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss 
A summary of the changes in Accumulated other comprehensive loss (net of tax) for the three years ended 
December 31, 2021 is provided below (in millions):

(Debit) credit

Cash Flow 
Hedge (Loss) 

Gain

Unrealized 
Gain (Loss) 

on Available- 
for-Sale 

Securities

Pension 
and Post 

Retirement 
Benefit Plan  
Adjustment

Cumulative 
Translation 
Adjustment Total

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 $ 0.8 $ (2.0) $ (158.7) $ (125.8) $ (285.7)

Other comprehensive income (loss)  
before Reclassifications (0.8) 0.8 (21.5) 3.7 (17.8)

Amounts reclassified from accumulated  
other comprehensive loss (0.5) 1.8 7.0 (7.7) 0.6

Current period other comprehensive
income (loss) (1.3) 2.6 (14.5) (4.0) (17.2)

Reclassification of Stranded Tax Effects — — (30.0) — (30.0)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 $ (0.5) $ 0.6 $ (203.2) $ (129.8) $ (332.9)

Other comprehensive income (loss)
before Reclassifications 0.4 0.4 (21.6) 12.3 (8.5)

Amounts reclassified from accumulated 
other comprehensive loss (0.6) — 12.8 — 12.2

Current period other comprehensive
income (loss) (0.2) 0.4 (8.8) 12.3 3.7

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2020 $ (0.7) $ 1.0 $ (212.0) $ (117.5) $ (329.2)

Other comprehensive income (loss) 
before Reclassifications 0.4 (0.4) 1.1 (11.5) (10.4)

Amounts reclassified from accumulated 
other comprehensive loss 0.7 — 8.1 — 8.8

Current period other comprehensive 
income (loss) 1.1 (0.4) 9.2 (11.5) (1.6)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2021 $ 0.4 $ 0.6 $ (202.8) $ (129.0) $ (330.8)
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A summary of the gain (loss) reclassifications out of Accumulated other comprehensive loss for the two years ended 
December 31 is provided below (in millions):

Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Loss Components 2021 2020

Location of Gain (Loss) 
Reclassified into Income

Cash flow hedges gain (loss):

Forward exchange contracts $ (0.1) $ 0.3 Net Sales

(0.9) 0.5 Cost of goods sold

(1.0) 0.8 Total before tax

0.3 (0.2) Tax (expense) benefit

$ (0.7) $ 0.6 Gain (loss) net of tax

Amortization of defined benefit pension and post 
retirement benefit items:

Prior-service credits $ (0.2)(a) $ 0.2(a)

Actuarial gains/(losses) (10.7)(a) (9.7)(a)

Settlement and curtailment losses —(a) (7.5)(a)

(10.9) (17.0) Total before tax

2.8 4.2 Tax benefit (expense)

$ (8.1) $ (12.8) (Loss) gain net of tax

Gains (losses) reclassified into earnings $ (8.8) $ (12.2) (Loss) gain net of tax

(a) These accumulated other comprehensive loss components are included in the computation of net periodic pension cost (see Note 12 — 
Retirement Benefits for additional details).
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NOTE 21 Industry Segments and Geographic Area Information 

Nature of Operations
Hubbell is a global manufacturer of quality electrical 
products and utility solutions for a broad range of customer 
and end-market applications. Products are either sourced 
complete, manufactured or assembled by subsidiaries in the 
United States, Canada, Puerto Rico, China, Mexico, the UK, 
Brazil, Australia, Spain and Ireland. Hubbell also participates 
in joint ventures in Hong Kong, and the Philippines and 
maintains offices in Singapore, Italy, China, India, Mexico, 
South Korea, Chile and countries in the Middle East. Each 
of the above references to manufacturing locations, joint 
venture participation, and office locations relate to the three 
year period ending December 31, 2021.

The Company’s reporting segments consist of the Electrical 
Solutions segment and the Utility Solutions segment, as 
described below.

The Electrical Solutions segment comprises businesses 
that sell stock and custom products including standard and 
special application wiring device products, rough-in electrical 
products, connector and grounding products, lighting fixtures, 
components and assemblies for the natural gas distribution 
market and other electrical equipment. The products are 
typically used in and around industrial, commercial and 
institutional facilities by electrical contractors, maintenance 
personnel, electricians, utilities, and telecommunications 
companies. In addition, certain of our businesses design and 
manufacture industrial controls and communication systems 
used in the non-residential and industrial markets. Many of 
these products are designed such that they can also be 
used in harsh and hazardous locations where a potential for 
fire and explosion exists due to the presence of flammable 
gasses and vapors. Harsh and hazardous products are 
primarily used in the oil and gas (onshore and offshore) and 
mining industries. There are also a variety of wiring devices, 
lighting fixtures and electrical products that have residential 
and utility applications, including residential products with 
Internet-of-Things (“IoT”) enabled technologies. These 
products are primarily sold through electrical and industrial 
distributors, home centers, retail and hardware outlets, 
lighting showrooms and residential product oriented internet 
sites. Special application products are primarily sold through 
wholesale distributors to contractors, industrial customers 
and OEMs. 

The Utility Solutions segment consists of businesses that 
design, manufacture, and sell a wide variety of electrical 
distribution, transmission, substation, and telecommunications 
products. This includes utility transmission & distribution 
(T&D) components such as arresters, insulators, connectors, 
anchors, bushings, and enclosures. The Utility Solutions 

segment also offers solutions that serve the utility 
infrastructure, including smart meters, communications 
systems, and protection and control devices. Hubbell Utility 
Solutions supports the electrical distribution, electrical 
transmission, water, gas distribution, telecommunications, 
and solar and wind markets. Products are sold to distributors 
and directly to users such as utilities, telecommunication 
companies, industrial firms, construction and engineering 
firms. 

Organizational Changes
Effective January 1, 2021 the Company consolidated the 
three business groups within its Electrical segment, and the 
segment has been re-named as Hubbell Electrical Solutions 
(“Electrical Solutions”). The Electrical Solutions segment 
unites businesses with similar operating models, products, 
and go to market strategies under one operating banner and 
common leadership to drive synergies and long-term growth 
opportunities. 

Effective January 1, 2021 the Company also moved its Hubbell 
Gas Connectors and Accessories business, from the Electrical 
Solutions segment to the Utility Solutions segment to create 
synergies with the existing gas products offered within Utility 
Solutions and better serve its utility customers. The Hubbell 
Gas Connectors and Accessories business represented 
approximately $157.1 million of Net sales and $19.4 million of 
operating profit in 2020. 

Financial Information
Financial information by industry segment, product class 
and geographic area for each of the three years ended 
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 is summarized below 
(in millions). When reading the data the following items 
should be noted:

	z Net sales comprise sales to unaffiliated customers — 
inter-segment and inter-area sales are not significant.

	z Segment operating income consists of Net sales less 
operating expenses, including total corporate expenses, 
which are generally allocated to each segment on the 
basis of the segment’s percentage of consolidated Net 
sales. Interest expense and investment income and other 
expense, net have not been allocated to segments as these 
items are centrally managed by the Company.

	z General corporate assets not allocated to segments 
are principally cash, prepaid pensions, investments and 
deferred taxes. These assets have not been allocated as 
they are centrally managed by the Company.

Item 8 Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data

PART II
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INDUSTRY SEGMENT DATA

2021 2020 2019

Net Sales:

Electrical Solutions $ 1,859.7 $ 1,603.1 $ 1,776.8

Utility Solutions 2,334.4 2,079.4 2,169.8

TOTAL NET SALES $ 4,194.1 $ 3,682.5 $ 3,946.6

Operating Income:

Electrical Solutions $ 248.2 $ 188.9 $ 236.2

Utility Solutions 284.1 305.6 290.5

Operating Income $ 532.3 $ 494.5 $ 526.7

Gain (Loss) on disposition of business (Note 4) (6.9) — 21.7

Loss on extinguishment of debt (Note 13) (16.8) — —

Pension charge (Note 12) — (7.6) —

Interest expense, net (54.7) (60.1) (68.6)

Investment income — — 1.5

Other Income (expense), net 5.4 (2.3) (12.1)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES $ 459.3 $ 424.5 $ 469.2

Assets:

Electrical Solutions $ 2,142.1 $ 1,984.4 $ 1,934.2

Utility Solutions 2,823.8 2,812.4 2,664.9

General Corporate 315.6 288.3 303.9

TOTAL ASSETS(1) $ 5,281.5 $ 5,085.1 $ 4,903.0

Capital Expenditures:

Electrical Solutions $ 31.1 $ 25.0 $ 27.7

Utility Solutions 55.8 55.9 52.6

General Corporate 3.3 1.9 6.4

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $ 90.2 $ 82.8 $ 86.7

Depreciation and Amortization:

Electrical Solutions $ 40.6 $ 41.3 $ 42.4

Utility Solutions 108.5 103.2 95.5

TOTAL DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION $ 149.1 $ 144.5 $ 137.9
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GEOGRAPHIC AREA DATA

2021 2020 2019

Net Sales:

United States $ 3,809.8 $ 3,356.9 $ 3,546.1

International 384.3 325.6 400.5

TOTAL NET SALES $ 4,194.1 $ 3,682.5 $ 3,946.6

Operating Income:

United States $ 439.6 $ 436.3 $ 458.7

International 92.7 58.2 68.0

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME $ 532.3 $ 494.5 $ 526.7

Long-lived Assets:

United States $ 3,038.1 $ 3,113.7 $ 2,950.5

International 359.0 378.7 372.2

TOTAL LONG-LIVED ASSETS(1) $ 3,397.1 $ 3,492.4 $ 3,322.7

(1)  Total Assets and Long-lived assets attributable to the Company’s formerly owned Commercial and Industrial Lighting business, totaling 
$356.6 million and $177.1 million were included in total assets held for sale, and noncurrent portion respectively as of December 31, 
2021 on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 2, Discontinued Operations, for further information on the Company’s 
sale of the Distribution business.

On a geographic basis, the Company defines “international” 
as operations based outside of the United States and its 
possessions. As a percentage of total Net sales, shipments 
from foreign operations directly to third parties were 9% in 
2021, 9% in 2020 and 10% in 2019, with the Canadian and 
UK operations representing approximately 36%, and 29% 
respectively, of 2021 total international Net sales. 

Long-lived assets, excluding deferred tax assets, of 
international subsidiaries were 11% of the consolidated total 
in 2021, 11% in 2020 and 11% in 2019, with the UK, Spain, and 
Canada operations representing approximately 34%, 20%, 
and 15%, respectively, of the 2021 international total. Export 
sales from United States operations were $227.0 million in 
2021, $233.8 million in 2020 and $256.8 million in 2019.

NOTE 22 Guarantees
The Company records a liability equal to the fair value of 
guarantees in the Consolidated Balance Sheet in accordance 
with the accounting guidance for guarantees. When it is 
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount 
can be reasonably estimated, the Company accrues for 
costs associated with guarantees. The most likely costs to 
be incurred are accrued based on an evaluation of currently 
available facts and, where no amount within a range of 
estimates is more likely, the minimum is accrued.

As of December 31, 2021, the fair value and maximum potential 
payment related to the Company’s guarantees were not 
material.

The Company offers product warranties which cover defects 
on most of its products. These warranties primarily apply to 
products that are properly installed, maintained and used 
for their intended purpose. The Company accrues estimated 
warranty costs at the time of sale. Estimated warranty 
expenses, recorded in cost of goods sold, are based upon 
historical information such as past experience, product failure 
rates, or the estimated number of units to be repaired or 
replaced. Adjustments are made to the product warranty 
accrual as claims are incurred, additional information 
becomes known or as historical experience indicates.

Changes in the accrual for product warranties in 2021 are set forth below (in millions):

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 $ 73.9 

Provision 8.2 

Expenditures/other (9.4)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2020 $ 72.7 

Provision 8.8 

Expenditures/other (15.4)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2021(a) $ 66.1 

(a) Refer to Note 10 – Other Accrued Liabilities and Note 11 – Other Non-Current Liabilities for a breakout of short-term and long-term 
warranties.
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NOTE 23 Restructuring Costs
During 2021, we incurred costs for restructuring actions 
initiated in 2021 as well as costs relating to restructuring 
actions initiated in the prior year. Our restructuring actions 
are associated with cost reduction efforts that include the 
consolidation of manufacturing and distribution facilities, as 
well as, workforce reductions and the sale or exit of business 
units we determine to be non-strategic. Restructuring 
costs are primarily severance and employee benefits, asset 
impairments, as well as facility closure, contract termination 
and certain pension costs that are directly related to 

restructuring actions. These costs are predominantly settled 
in cash from our operating activities and are generally settled 
within one year, with the exception of asset impairments, 
which are non-cash.

Pre-tax restructuring costs incurred in each of our segments 
and the location of the costs in the Consolidated Statement 
of Income for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 
2019 are as follows (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended 
December 31, 2021

Twelve Months Ended 
December 31, 2020

Twelve Months Ended 
December 31, 2019

Electrical 
Solutions

Utility 
Solutions Total

Electrical 
Solutions

Utility 
Solutions Total

Electrical 
Solutions

Utility 
Solutions Total

Restructuring costs

Cost of goods sold $ 1.1 $ 1.3 $ 2.4 $ 7.1 $ 9.2 $ 16.3 $ 10.0 $ 10.1 $ 20.1

S&A expense 0.4 1.1 1.5 2.9 1.2 4.1 6.8 1.9 8.7

TOTAL RESTRUCTURING COSTS $ 1.5 $ 2.4 $ 3.9 $ 10.0 $ 10.4 $20.4 $ 16.8 $ 12.0 $28.8

The following table summarizes the accrued liabilities for our restructuring actions (in millions):

Beginning 
Accrued

Restructuring 
Balance 1/1/21

Pre-tax 
Restructuring 

Costs

Utilization 
and Foreign 

Exchange

Ending Accrued
 Restructuring 

Balance 
12/31/21

2021 Restructuring Actions

Severance $ — $ 2.4 $ (1.0) $ 1.4

Asset write-downs — — — —

Facility closure and other costs — — — —

TOTAL 2021 RESTRUCTURING ACTIONS $ — $ 2.4 $ (1.0) $ 1.4

2020 and Prior Restructuring Actions

Severance $ 7.7 $ — $ (5.0) $ 2.7

Asset write-downs — — — —

Facility closure and other costs 0.5 1.5 (1.9) 0.1

TOTAL 2020 AND PRIOR RESTRUCTURING ACTIONS $ 8.2 $ 1.5 $ (6.9) $ 2.8

TOTAL RESTRUCTURING ACTIONS $ 8.2 $ 3.9 $ (7.9) $ 4.2
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The actual and expected pre-tax costs for our restructuring actions are as follows (in millions):

Expected 
Costs

Costs 
incurred in 

2019

Costs 
incurred in 

2020

Costs 
incurred in 

2021

Remaining 
costs at 
12/31/21

2021 Restructuring Actions

Electrical Solutions $ 0.6 $ — $ — $ 0.6 $ —

Utility Solutions 8.6 — — 1.8 6.8

TOTAL 2021 RESTRUCTURING ACTIONS $ 9.2 $ — $ — $ 2.4 $ 6.8

2020 Restructuring Actions

Electrical Solutions $ 12.7 $ — $ 10.5 $ 0.9 $ 1.3

Utility Solutions 6.3 — 4.4 0.6 1.3

TOTAL 2020 RESTRUCTURING ACTIONS $ 19.0 $ — $ 14.9 $ 1.5 $ 2.6

2019 and Prior Restructuring Actions

Electrical Solutions $ 16.3 $ 16.8 $ (0.5) $ — $ —

Utility Solutions 18.0 12.0 6.0 — —

TOTAL 2019 AND PRIOR RESTRUCTURING ACTIONS $ 34.3 $ 28.8 $ 5.5 $ — $ —

TOTAL RESTRUCTURING ACTIONS $ 62.5 $ 28.8 $ 20.4 $ 3.9 $ 9.4
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NOTE 24 Leases
Our operating leases primarily consist of office space, certain 
manufacturing facilities, and vehicles. Our finance leases are 
not material. The term of our operating leases is generally 
10 years or less, in some cases, with options to extend the 
term for up to 5 years, or options to terminate after one 
year without penalty. In general, our vehicle lease payments 
contain a monthly base rent payment which is adjusted based 
on changes to the LIBOR rate over the lease term. Certain 
other lease agreements contain variable payments related 
to a consumer price index or similar metric. Any change in 
payment amounts as a result of a change in a rate or index 
are considered variable lease payments and recognized as 
profit or loss when incurred. 

Rent expense for operating leases in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2021, 
December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019 were $34.1 
million, $35.5 million, and $37.0 million, respectively. Cash 
paid for operating leases for the year ended December 31, 
2021 and December 31, 2020 were $36.7 million and $35.5 
million reported as cash outflows from operating activities 
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Right-of-use 
(“ROU”) assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations 
for the year ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 
2020 were $17.8 million and $34.3 million, respectively, which 
includes $9.4 million related to 2020 acquisitions. 

Amounts recognized for operating leases in the Consolidated Balance Sheets is as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 81.3 $ 99.1

TOTAL ASSETS $ 81.3 $ 99.1

Other accrued liabilities $ 27.1 $ 30.6

Other non-current liabilities 58.3 71.9

TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 85.4 $ 102.5

The weighted average remaining lease term as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 for operating leases were 4 years 
and 5 years, respectively. The weighted average discount rate used to measure the ROU asset and lease liability for operating 
leases was 2.7% as of December 31, 2021 and 3.1% as of December 31, 2020. 

Future maturities of our operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2021 are as follows (in millions):

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Thereafter
Total 

Payments
Imputed 
Interest Total

Operating Leases 29.0 22.9 13.6 8.8 6.4 9.2 89.9 (4.5) $ 85.4

Future maturities of our operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2020 are as follows (in millions):

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Thereafter
Total 

Payments
Imputed 
Interest Total

Operating Leases 33.1 24.1 18.7 11.9 8.2 13.9 109.9 (7.4) $ 102.5

During 2021, we entered into two real estate lease agreements which are expected to commence during 2022. The aggregate 
lease payments for these facilities is approximately $46 million over 10 years and will be recognized using the applicable 
valuation inputs as of the commencement date.
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NOTE 25 Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
The table below sets forth summarized quarterly consolidated financial data for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(in millions, except per share amounts):

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

2021

Net sales $ 956.3 $ 1,054.3 $ 1,083.4 $ 1,100.1

Cost of goods sold $ 694.1 $ 756.0 $ 782.3 $ 810.2

Gross profit $ 262.2 $ 298.3 $ 301.1 $ 289.9

Selling & administrative expenses $ 152.3 $ 156.1 $ 155.2 $ 155.6

Net income from continuing operations $ 74.7 $ 89.6 $ 105.5 $ 101.3

Net income from continuing operations 
attributable to Hubbell $ 73.3 $ 88.8 $ 103.4 $ 99.5

Basic earnings per share from continuing 
operations $ 1.34 $ 1.63 $ 1.89 $ 1.82

Basic earnings per share from discontinued 
operations $ 0.09 $ 0.13 $ 0.10 $ 0.33

Basic earnings per share $ 1.43 $ 1.76 $ 1.99 $ 2.15

Diluted earnings per share from continuing 
operations $ 1.33 $ 1.62 $ 1.88 $ 1.81

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued 
operations $ 0.09 $ 0.12 $ 0.10 $ 0.33

Diluted earnings per share $ 1.42 $ 1.74 $ 1.98 $ 2.14

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

2020

Net sales $ 957.6 $ 837.5 $ 970.3 $ 917.1 

Cost of goods sold $ 680.0 $ 582.3 $ 677.5 $ 656.9 

Gross profit $ 277.6 $ 255.2 $ 292.8 $ 260.2 

Selling & administrative expenses $ 171.0 $ 129.9 $ 144.8 $ 145.6 

Net income from continuing operations $ 67.9 $ 86.9 $ 98.5 $ 81.4 

Net income from continuing operations 
attributable to Hubbell $ 67.2 $ 85.9 $ 97.1 $ 79.8 

Basic earnings per share from continuing 
operations $ 1.23 $ 1.58 $ 1.79 $ 1.47 

Basic earnings per share from discontinued 
operations $ 0.15 $ 0.04 $ 0.18 $ 0.02 

Basic earnings per share $ 1.38 $ 1.62 $ 1.97 $ 1.49 

Diluted earnings per share from continuing 
operations $ 1.23 $ 1.58 $ 1.78 $ 1.46 

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued 
operations $ 0.14 $ 0.04 $ 0.18 $ 0.02 

Diluted earnings per share $ 1.37 $ 1.62 $ 1.96 $ 1.48 

NOTE 26 Subsequent Events
On February 1, 2022 we completed the previously announced 
sale of the Commercial and Industrial Lighting business to 
GE Current, a Daintree Company, for a cash purchase price 
of $350 million, which is subject to customary adjustments 
with respect to working capital and net indebtedness. In 

connection with the close of the transaction, we anticipate 
recognizing a pre-tax gain of $80 million to $100 million 
within income from discontinued operations in the first 
quarter of 2022.
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Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants 
on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A Controls and Procedures
The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that 
are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed 
in Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized 
and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s 
rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and 
communicated to management, including the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow 
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management 
necessarily applied its judgment in assessing the costs and 
benefits of such controls and procedures which, by their nature, 
can provide only reasonable assurance that the controls and 
procedures will meet their objectives.

The Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision 
and with the participation of management, including the 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the 
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s 

disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e), as of the end of the period covered 
by this report on Form 10-K. Based upon that evaluation, 
each of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls 
and procedures are effective at a reasonable assurance level. 
Management’s annual report on internal control over financial 
reporting and the independent registered public accounting 
firm’s audit report on the effectiveness of our internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 are included 
in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

There has been no change in the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2021 that have materially affected, or are 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

Item 9B Other Information
Not applicable.

Item 9C Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions 
that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate 
Governance(1)

Item 11 Executive Compensation(2)

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial 
Owners and Management and Related 
Stockholder Matters

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides information as of December 31, 2021 with respect to the Company’s common stock that may be 
issued under the Company’s equity compensation plans (in thousands, except per share amounts):

A B C

Plan Category

Number of Securities to 
be Issued upon Exercise 
of Outstanding Options, 

Warrants and Rights  

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

of Outstanding 
Options, Warrants 

and Rights  

Number of Securities 
Remaining Available for 

Future Issuance Under 
Equity Compensation 

Plans (Excluding Securities 
Reflected in Column A)

Equity Compensation Plans
Approved by Shareholders(a) 1,156(c)(d) $ 132.78(e) 1,684(c)

Equity Compensation Plans Not Requiring 
Shareholder Approval(b) 59(c)(f) — 139(c)

TOTAL 1,215  $ 132.78  1,823  

(a) The Company’s (1) Stock Option Plan for Key Employees and (2) 2005 Incentive Award Plan as amended and restated.
(b) The Company’s Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors as amended and restated. For a description of the material features of the 

plan, the information is incorporated by reference to the subheading “Deferred Compensation Plan” of the definitive proxy statement 
for the Company’s 2022 annual meeting of shareholders. 

(c) Hubbell Common Stock.
(d) Includes approximately 230,000 performance share awards assuming a maximum payout target. The maximum payout target may 

not be achieved for all of these awards.
(e) Weighted average exercise price excludes performance share awards included in column A.
(f) Represents amount of shares currently deferred under this plan. These shares are not included in the total weighted average exercise 

price included in column B.

The remaining information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the subheading “Voting Rights and Security 
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” of the definitive proxy statement for the Company’s 2022 annual 
meeting of shareholders. 

(1) Certain of the information required by this item regarding executive officers is included under the subheading “Information about our 
Executive Officers” at the end of Part I of this Form 10-K and the remaining required information is incorporated by reference from our 
definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with the Company’s 2022 annual meeting of shareholders. 

(2) The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with 
the Company’s 2022 annual meeting of shareholders.
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Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 
and Director Independence(3)

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services (4)

(3) The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with 
the Company’s 2022 annual meeting of shareholders. 

(4) The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with 
the Company’s 2022 annual meeting of shareholders.
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

1. Financial Statements and Schedule
Financial statements and schedule listed in the Index to Financial Statements and Schedule are filed as part of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.

2. Exhibits

  Incorporated by Reference  

Number Description Form File No. Exhibit
Filing
Date

Filed/
Furnished 
Herewith

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as 
amended and restated as of December 23, 2015

8-A12B 001-02958 3.1 12/23/2015
 

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of Hubbell Incorporated, as 
amended on May 7, 2013

8-K 001-02958 3.1 5/10/2013

4.1 Senior Indenture, dated as of September 15, 1995, between 
Hubbell Incorporated and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust 
Company, N.A. (formerly known as The Bank of New York 
Trust Company, N.A.(successor as trustee to JPMorgan Chase 
Bank N.A. (formerly known as JPMorgan Chase Bank, formerly 
known as The Chase Manhattan Bank, formerly known as 
Chemical Bank))), as trustee

S-4 333-90754 4a 6/18/2002

4.2 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 17, 
2010, between Hubbell Incorporated and The Bank of New 
York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (formerly known as The 
Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.(successor as trustee 
to JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. (formerly known as JPMorgan 
Chase Bank, formerly known as The Chase Manhattan Bank, 
formerly known as Chemical Bank))), as trustee, including the 
form of 3.625% Senior Notes due 2022

8-K 001-02958 4.2 11/17/2010

4.3 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 1, 2016, 
between Hubbell Incorporated and The Bank of New York 
Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (formerly known as The Bank 
of New York Trust Company, N.A. (successor as trustee to 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (formerly known as JPMorgan 
Chase Bank, formerly known as The Chase Manhattan Bank, 
formerly known as Chemical Bank))), as trustee

8-K 001-02958 4.2 3/1/2016

4.4 Form of 3.350% Senior Notes due 2026 8-K 001-02958 4.3 3/1/2016

4.5 Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 3, 2017, 
between Hubbell Incorporated and The Bank of New York 
Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (formerly known as The Bank 
of New York Trust Company, N.A. (successor as trustee to 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (formerly known as JPMorgan 
Chase Bank, formerly known as The Chase Manhattan Bank, 
formerly known as Chemical Bank))), as trustee

8-K 001-02958 4.2 8/3/2017

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312515412157/d110579dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312515412157/d110579dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000129993313000873/exhibit1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000129993313000873/exhibit1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012302006304/y61092exv4wa.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012302006304/y61092exv4wa.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012302006304/y61092exv4wa.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012302006304/y61092exv4wa.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012302006304/y61092exv4wa.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012302006304/y61092exv4wa.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012302006304/y61092exv4wa.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012310106703/y87812exv4w2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012310106703/y87812exv4w2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012310106703/y87812exv4w2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012310106703/y87812exv4w2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012310106703/y87812exv4w2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012310106703/y87812exv4w2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012310106703/y87812exv4w2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012310106703/y87812exv4w2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312516488289/d151361dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312516488289/d151361dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312516488289/d151361dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312516488289/d151361dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312516488289/d151361dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312516488289/d151361dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312516488289/d151361dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312516488289/d151361dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312517246965/d433279dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312517246965/d433279dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312517246965/d433279dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312517246965/d433279dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312517246965/d433279dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312517246965/d433279dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312517246965/d433279dex42.htm
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  Incorporated by Reference  

Number Description Form File No. Exhibit
Filing
Date

Filed/
Furnished 
Herewith

4.6 Form of 3.150% Senior Notes due 2027 8-K 001-02958 4.3 8/3/2017

4.7 Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 2, 2018, 
between Hubbell Incorporated and The Bank of New York 
Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (formerly known as The Bank 
of New York Trust Company, N.A. (successor as trustee to 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (formerly known as JPMorgan 
Chase Bank, formerly known as The Chase Manhattan Bank, 
formerly known as Chemical Bank))), as trustee

8-K 001-02958 4.2 2/2/2018

4.8 Form of 3.500% Senior Notes due 2028 8-K 001-02958 4.3 2/2/2018

4.9 Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 12, 2021, 
between Hubbell Incorporated and The Bank of New York 
Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (formerly known as The Bank 
of New York Trust Company, N.A. (successor as trustee to 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (formerly known as JPMorgan 
Chase Bank, formerly known as The Chase Manhattan Bank, 
formerly known as Chemical Bank))), as trustee

8-K 001-02958 4.2 3/12/2021

4.10 Form of 2.300% Senior Notes due 2031 8-K 001-02958 4.2 3/12/2021

4.11 Description of Registered Securities 10-K 001-02958 4.1 2/14/2020

10.1† Hubbell Incorporated Amended and Restated Supplemental 
Executive Retirement Plan, as amended and restated effective 
January 1, 2005

10-Q 001-02958 10a 10/26/2007

10.1(a)† Amendment, dated February 15, 2008, to Hubbell Incorporated 
Amended and Restated Supplemental Executive Retirement 
Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2005

10-K 001-02958 10.nn 2/25/2008

10.1(b)† Amendment, dated December 28, 2010, to Hubbell 
Incorporated Amended and Restated Supplemental Executive 
Retirement Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 
2005

10-K 001-02958 10a(1) 2/16/2011

10.1(c)† Third Amendment, dated December 29, 2016, to Hubbell 
Incorporated Amended and Restated Supplemental Executive 
Retirement Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 
2005

10-K 001-02958 10.1(c) 2/16/2017

10.2† Hubbell Incorporated Retirement Plan for Directors, as 
amended and restated effective January 1, 2005

10-Q 001-02958 10i 10/26/2007

10.3† Hubbell Incorporated Deferred Compensation Plan for 
Directors, as amended and restated effective December 23, 
2015

S-8POS 333-206898 4.4 12/24/2015

 

10.4† Hubbell Incorporated Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, 
as amended and restated effective January 1, 2016

10-K 001-02958 10.5 2/18/2016

10.4(a)† Amendment 1, dated December 4, 2019, to Hubbell 
Incorporated Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, as 
amended and restated effective January 1, 2016

10-K 001-02958 10.4(a) 2/14/2020

10.5† Hubbell Incorporated Amended and Restated Top Hat 
Restoration Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 
2005

10-Q 001-02958 10w 10/26/2007

10.5(a)† Amendment, dated December 28, 2010, to Hubbell 
Incorporated Amended and Restated Top Hat Restoration Plan, 
as amended and restated effective January 1, 2005

10-K 001-02958 10w(1) 2/16/2011

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312517246965/d433279dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518030152/d516084dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518030152/d516084dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518030152/d516084dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518030152/d516084dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518030152/d516084dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518030152/d516084dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518030152/d516084dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518030152/d516084dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000048898/000119312521079782/d156140dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000048898/000119312521079782/d156140dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000048898/000119312521079782/d156140dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000048898/000119312521079782/d156140dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000048898/000119312521079782/d156140dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000048898/000119312521079782/d156140dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000048898/000119312521079782/d156140dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312521079782/d156140dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex410.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012307014336/y41197exv10wa.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012307014336/y41197exv10wa.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012307014336/y41197exv10wa.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012308002047/y49936exv10wnn.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012308002047/y49936exv10wnn.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012308002047/y49936exv10wnn.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012311014739/y88495aexv10wawx1y.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012311014739/y88495aexv10wawx1y.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012311014739/y88495aexv10wawx1y.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012311014739/y88495aexv10wawx1y.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex101c.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex101c.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex101c.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex101c.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012307014336/y41197exv10wi.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012307014336/y41197exv10wi.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312515413314/d110066dex44.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312515413314/d110066dex44.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312515413314/d110066dex44.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex105.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex104a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex104a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex104a.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012307014336/y41197exv10ww.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012307014336/y41197exv10ww.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012307014336/y41197exv10ww.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012311014739/y88495aexv10wwwx1y.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012311014739/y88495aexv10wwwx1y.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012311014739/y88495aexv10wwwx1y.htm
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10.5(b)† Second Amendment, dated January 17, 2017, to Hubbell 
Incorporated Amended and Restated Top Hat Restoration Plan, 
as amended and restated effective January 1, 2005

10-K 001-02958 10.5(b) 2/16/2017

10.5(c)† Third Amendment, dated December 4, 2019, to Hubbell 
Incorporated Amended and Restated Top Hat Restoration Plan, 
as amended and restated effective January 1, 2005

10-K 001-02958 10.5(c) 2/14/2020

10.6† Hubbell Incorporated Incentive Compensation Plan, adopted 
effective January 1, 2002

10-K 001-02958 10z 3/20/2002

10.6(a)† First Amendment, dated December 4, 2019, to Hubbell 
Incorporated Incentive Compensation Plan, adopted effective 
January 1, 2002

10-K 001-02958 10.6(a) 2/14/2020

10.7† Hubbell Incorporated 2005 Incentive Award Plan, as amended 
and restated effective December 4, 2019

10-K 001-02958 10.7 2/14/2020

10.8† Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Directors 
under the Hubbell Incorporated 2005 Incentive Award Plan, 
as amended and restated

10-Q 001-02958 10.8 7/19/2013

10.9† Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Award Agreement under 
the Hubbell Incorporated 2005 Incentive Award Plan, as 
amended and restated

*

10.10† Form of Performance Share Award Agreement under the 
Hubbell Incorporated 2005 Incentive Award Plan, as amended 
and restated

*

10.11† Form of Performance Based Restricted Stock Award 
Agreement under the Hubbell Incorporated 2005 Incentive 
Award Plan, as amended and restated

10-K 001-02958 10.12 2/16/2017

10.12† Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Hubbell 
Incorporated 2005 Incentive Award Plan, as amended and 
restated

*

10.13† Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Hubbell 
Incorporated 2005 Incentive Award Plan, as amended and 
restated

*

10.14† Hubbell Incorporated Defined Contribution Restoration Plan, as 
amended and restated effective December 8, 2015

10-K 001-02958 10.16 2/18/2016

10.14(a)† First Amendment, dated January 17, 2017 and effective as of 
January 1, 2017, to Hubbell Incorporated Defined Contribution 
Restoration Plan, as amended and restated effective 
December 8, 2015

10-K 001-02958 10.14(a) 2/16/2017

10.14(b)† Second Amendment, dated December 4, 2019, to Hubbell 
Incorporated Defined Contribution Restoration Plan, as 
amended and restated effective December 8, 2015

10-K 001-02958 10.12(b) 2/14/2020

10.15† Hubbell Incorporated Policy for Providing Severance Payments 
to Senior Employees, as amended and restated effective 
December 4, 2019

10-K 001-02958 10.14 2/14/2020

10.16† Grantor Trust for Senior Management Plans Trust Agreement 
between Hubbell Incorporated and The Bank of New York, as 
trustee, as amended and restated effective December 8, 2015

10-K 001-02958 10.18 2/18/2016  

10.17† Grantor Trust for Non-Employee Director Plans Trust 
Agreement between Hubbell Incorporated and The Bank of 
New York, as amended and restated effective December 8, 
2015

10-K 001-02958 10.19 2/18/2016

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex105b.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex105b.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex105b.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex105c.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex105c.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex105c.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012302002711/y57922ex10-z.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000095012302002711/y57922ex10-z.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex106a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex106a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex106a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex107.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex107.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000130817913000279/exhibit10_8.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000130817913000279/exhibit10_8.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000130817913000279/exhibit10_8.htm
wurl://docs.v1/doc:cbab75b459af44a2b6a363057abd7c58
wurl://docs.v1/doc:cbab75b459af44a2b6a363057abd7c58
wurl://docs.v1/doc:cbab75b459af44a2b6a363057abd7c58
wurl://docs.v1/doc:4cba7ca138fc4956a399f6c6496c82bd
wurl://docs.v1/doc:4cba7ca138fc4956a399f6c6496c82bd
wurl://docs.v1/doc:4cba7ca138fc4956a399f6c6496c82bd
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex1012.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex1012.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex1012.htm
wurl://docs.v1/doc:af98a5ccc9544f6cbeb9535d8c6bbeb9
wurl://docs.v1/doc:af98a5ccc9544f6cbeb9535d8c6bbeb9
wurl://docs.v1/doc:af98a5ccc9544f6cbeb9535d8c6bbeb9
wurl://docs.v1/doc:a6287fd78e9744f0bc89344f65728e0c
wurl://docs.v1/doc:a6287fd78e9744f0bc89344f65728e0c
wurl://docs.v1/doc:a6287fd78e9744f0bc89344f65728e0c
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex1016.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex1016.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex1014a.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex1014a.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex1014a.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828017001423/hubb-20161231xex1014a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex1012b.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex1012b.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex1012b.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex1014.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex1014.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex1014.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex1018.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex1018.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex1018.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex1019.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex1019.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex1019.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex1019.htm
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  Incorporated by Reference  

Number Description Form File No. Exhibit
Filing
Date

Filed/
Furnished 
Herewith

10.18† Trust Agreement by and between Hubbell Incorporated and 
MG Trust Company d/b/a Matrix Trust Company, as Trustee, 
as amended and restated effective November 6, 2015

10-K 001-02958 10.20 2/18/2016

10.19† Change in Control Severance Agreement, dated as of 
December 31, 2010, between Hubbell Incorporated and William 
R. Sperry

8-K 001-02958 10.1 9/17/2012

10.19(a)† Amendment, dated September 11, 2012, to Change in Control 
Severance Agreement between Hubbell Incorporated and 
William R. Sperry

8-K 001-02958 10.2 9/17/2012

10.20† Change in Control Severance Agreement, dated as of 
January 24, 2014, between Hubbell Incorporated and 
Gerben Bakker

10-K 001-02958 10.36 2/18/2014

10.21† Employment Agreement, dated as of December 22, 2017, 
between Hubbell Power Systems, Inc. and Allan J. Connolly

10-K 001-02958 10.22 2/14/2020

10.21(a)† 1st Amendment, dated July 1, 2019, to Employment Agreement 
dated as of December 22, 2017 between Hubbell Power 
Systems, Inc and Allan J. Connolly

10-K 001-02958 10.22(a) 2/14/2020

10.21(b)† Letter Agreement dated as of April 2, 2020 between Hubbell 
Power Systems, Inc. and Allan J. Connolly

10-K 001-02958 10.23(b) 2/11/2021

10.22 Credit Agreement dated as of January 31, 2018, among 
Hubbell Incorporated, Hubbell Power Holdings S.à r.l., Harvey 
Hubbell Holdings S.à r.l., the Lenders party hereto, the Issuing 
Banks party hereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as 
Administrative Agent

8-K 001-02958 99.2 1/31/2018

10.23 First Amendment, dated as of January 10, 2018, by and among 
Hubbell Incorporated, Hubbell Power Holdings S.à r.l., and 
Harvey Hubbell Holdings S.à r.l, the lenders party thereto, and 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent

8-K 001-02958 10.1 1/11/2018

10.24 Amendment #3, dated February 10, 2021, to Hubbell 
Incorporated Defined Contribution Restoration Plan, 
as amended and restated effective December 8, 2015

10-Q 001-02958 10.2 4/28/2021

21.1 List of subsidiaries *

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP *

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange 
Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

*

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange 
Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

*

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

**

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C 
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

**

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - The instance document does 
not appear in the interactive data file because its XBRL tags 
are embedded within the inline XBRL document

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex1020.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex1020.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828016011342/hubb-20151231xex1020.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000129993312002143/exhibit1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000129993312002143/exhibit1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000129993312002143/exhibit1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000129993312002143/exhibit2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000129993312002143/exhibit2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000129993312002143/exhibit2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000130817914000038/exhibit_10.36.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000130817914000038/exhibit_10.36.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000130817914000038/exhibit_10.36.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex1022.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex1022.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex1022a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex1022a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828020001557/hubb-20191231xex1022a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828021001868/hubb-20201231xex1023b.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828021001868/hubb-20201231xex1023b.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518026384/d519969dex992.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518026384/d519969dex992.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518026384/d519969dex992.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518026384/d519969dex992.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518026384/d519969dex992.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518008982/d521765dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518008982/d521765dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518008982/d521765dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000119312518008982/d521765dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828021007817/hubb20210331-ex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828021007817/hubb20210331-ex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/48898/000162828021007817/hubb20210331-ex102.htm
wurl://docs.v1/doc:a6f4c69fa66d444d88fbcd3331bc264b
wurl://docs.v1/doc:2896007f0ee8418290efa1c1fe7539e5
wurl://docs.v1/doc:58eaf7484c20493c91263603270c2525
wurl://docs.v1/doc:58eaf7484c20493c91263603270c2525
wurl://docs.v1/doc:58eaf7484c20493c91263603270c2525
wurl://docs.v1/doc:6badfa3f756944e1b5d5a8865ea0db0c
wurl://docs.v1/doc:6badfa3f756944e1b5d5a8865ea0db0c
wurl://docs.v1/doc:6badfa3f756944e1b5d5a8865ea0db0c
wurl://docs.v1/doc:0301bf46ff7349cc94c4d4fd75f183ea
wurl://docs.v1/doc:0301bf46ff7349cc94c4d4fd75f183ea
wurl://docs.v1/doc:0301bf46ff7349cc94c4d4fd75f183ea
wurl://docs.v1/doc:354d1a3d5a3c4efdbb44f552b6eebe11
wurl://docs.v1/doc:354d1a3d5a3c4efdbb44f552b6eebe11
wurl://docs.v1/doc:354d1a3d5a3c4efdbb44f552b6eebe11
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Filed/
Furnished 
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101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document *

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase 
Document

*

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase 
Document

*

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document *

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase 
Document

*

104 The cover page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
the year end December 31, 2021, formatted in Inline XBRL 
(included within the Exhibit 101 attachments)

*

† A management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit pursuant to Item 15(a)(3) of Form 10-K.
†† Schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Company agrees to furnish supplemental 

copies of such omitted schedules and exhibits to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
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 Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

HUBBELL INCORPORATED

By /s/ JONATHAN M. DEL NERO By /s/ WILLIAM R. SPERRY

Jonathan M. Del Nero William R. Sperry
Vice President, Controller Executive Vice President and  

Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 11, 2022

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.(1)

Title Date

By /s/ G. W. BAKKER
G. W. Bakker

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer 2/11/2022

By /s/ W. R. SPERRY
W. R. Sperry

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 2/11/2022

By /s/ J. M. DEL NERO
J. M. Del Nero

Vice President, Controller (Principal Accounting Officer) 2/11/2022

By /s/ C. M. CARDOSO
C. M. Cardoso

Director 2/11/2022

By /s/ A. J. GUZZI
A. J. Guzzi

Director 2/11/2022

By /s/ R. A. HERNANDEZ
R. A. Hernandez

Director 2/11/2022

By /s/ N. J. KEATING
N. J. Keating

Director 2/11/2022

By /s/ B. C. LIND
B. C. Lind

Director 2/11/2022

By /s/ J. F. MALLOY
J. F. Malloy

Director 2/11/2022

By /s/ J. M. POLLINO
J. M. Pollino

Director 2/11/2022

By /s/ J. G. RUSSELL
J. G. Russell

Director 2/11/2022

By
S. R. Shawley

Director

(1) As of February 11, 2022.
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 Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves for the 
Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 
Reserves deducted in the balance sheet from the assets to which they apply (in millions):

 

Balance at 
Beginning

of Year

Additions / 
(Reversals)

Charged to Costs  
and Expenses  Deductions

 Balance at
End of Year

Allowances for doubtful accounts receivable:   

Year 2019 $ 4.4 $ 2.8 $ (0.4) $ 6.8

Year 2020(a) $ 8.0 $ 4.0 $ (1.4) $ 10.6

Year 2021 $ 10.6 $ 2.0 $ (2.0) $ 10.6

Allowance for credit memos, returns and cash discounts:   

Year 2019 $ 32.7 $ 280.6 $ (279.8) $ 33.5

Year 2020 $ 33.5 $ 267.9 $ (269.5) $ 31.9

Year 2021 $ 31.9 $ 296.5 $ (293.7) $ 34.7

Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets:   

Year 2019 $ 19.2 $ 6.7 $ — $ 25.9

Year 2020 $ 25.9 $ 3.6 $ — $ 29.5

Year 2021 $ 29.5 $ 3.1 $ — $ 32.6

(a) The cumulative effect of the adoption of ASC 326 resulted in a $1.2 million increase to the opening balance.
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Corporate Information
SENIOR LEADERSHIP

Gerben W. Bakker
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Alexis P. Bernard
Chief Technology  
Officer

Allan J. Connolly
President,
Utility Solutions Segment

Jonathan M. Del Nero
Vice President,
Corporate Controller

Alyssa R. Flynn
Chief Human Resources  
Officer

Katherine A. Lane
Senior Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary

Peter J. Lau
President,
Electrical Solutions Segment

Drew M. Marquardt
Chief Information  
Officer

Jonathon B. Murphy
Treasurer

William R. Sperry
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer

Terriel D. Watson
Vice President,
Customer Experience

ANNUAL MEETING

The next annual meeting of the shareholders of Hubbell Incorporated will be held at Hubbell Incorporated, 40 Waterview Drive, 
Shelton, CT 06484 at 9:00 a.m., Tuesday, May 3, 2022. A formal notice of the meeting and proxy materials will be available to 
each shareholder at www.proxyvote.com, and will be mailed to any shareholder who requests a printed copy.

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

As a Hubbell shareholder, you are invited to take advantage 
of our convenient shareholder services or request more 
information about Hubbell Incorporated. Computershare, 
our transfer agent, maintains the records for our registered 
shareholders and can help you with a variety of shareholder-
related services at no charge, including:

	z Change of name or address

	z Consolidation of accounts 

	z Duplicate mailings

	z Dividend reinvestment enrollment

	z Lost stock certificates 

	z Transfer of stock to another person 

	z Additional administrative services

Access your investor statements online 24 hours a day, 
seven days a week. Enrollment is quick and easy. For more 
information, go to:  
www.computershare.com/investor.

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT

Computershare By Regular Mail: By Overnight Mail:
800-874-1136 
www.computershare.com/investor

Computershare PO Box 505000 
Louisville, KY 40233

Computershare 
462 South 4 th Street Suite 1600 
Louisville, KY 40202

MARKET LISTING

Ticker: HUBB 
The New York Stock Exchange 
New York, NY 10005

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

A Dividend Reinvestment Plan is available to shareholders of Hubbell 
Incorporated. For details, contact:

Corporate Secretary Hubbell Incorporated 
40 Waterview Drive, Shelton, CT 06484
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